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Class B.
 

CORRESPONDENCE

BRITISH COMMISSIONERS.
 

SIERRA LEONE. (General)

 

No. I.

Messrs. Gregory and Fitzgerald to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Received
. Suly 11.) .

Sia, Sierra Leone, April 29, 1823.

IN the Despatch which we have now the honour to address to you, we
propose to resume the communication of those Reports respecting the state
of the Slave-trade, which, by the Letter of the Marquess of Londonderry,
dated the 10th of March 1822, we are directed “to continue to transmit
“ from time to time, founded upon the most authentick intelligence that our
“ situation enables us to collect.”
We pursue in this Report our former mode of considering the Coast of

Africa to the Northward of the Equator as divided into three Sections :—
The first Section extending from Sierra Leone Northward, and com>

prising all theSlave-trading Stations usually visited by British Cruizers :—
The second comprising the space between Sierra Leone and Cape

Coast :-—
The third running from Cape Coast to the Equator.

In the first Section-to the Northward of Sierra Leone we have not any
intelligence of existing Slave-trade, further than some indistinctreports of
Shipments from Bissao, which may be supposed to have actually taken place
inasmuch as the Trade is always carried on at that Settlement and at Cachea
in as great extent as the opportunities of exportation will admit.—Complaints
continue to be made of predatory attacks on the African Towns in the vicis
nity of the Rio Nunez, for the purpose of supplying Slaves for those Ship-

ments ;—it is added that these attacks are not only countenanced but often
led by Portuguese Subjects of the Settlements just mentioned. A petty
warfare was until lately carried on between Bateman and Pearce, two Native
Chiefs desceuded from British Slave-dealers formerly’resident on the Rio
Nunez. The captives taken by both Parties in this warfare were.sold to ¢
Slave-dealers of Bissao and Cacheo. _
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When the boats of His Majesty’s Ship Owen Glendower visited theRio
Nunez, in the beginning of the Month of March, this warfare was considered
as terminated by decisive successes on the part of Bateman ;—and within the
present Month we have had information of the arrival of some trade from
that River at the Isles de Los. The resumption of trade is regarded as a
dicisive indication that the Country on the banks of the River has returned
to a settled state; as long as war continues, however inactive the hostility,
business is almost at a stand.

The trade of the Rio Nunez is considered of great importance; the
returns to be obtained from it in hides, ivory, wax, and other Articles of
African produce, render it next to the Gambia in the means and opportuni-
ties of beneficial commerce—unless so far as the pursuit of the Slave-trade
will lead the Traders in particular instances to Bissao and Cacheo, the
general advantages of a superior market for the disposal of their own Articles
and for the purchase of European Commodities, will induce them to resort in
preference to the British Settlements at the Zsles de Los, or to this Colony.
We have much satisfaction in being enabled to state, upon the authority of

information constantly received from sources, upon the authenticity of which
the fullest reliance may be placed, that no Slave-trade has existed in the Rio
Pongos since the date of our last Report,—nor, in fact, since the capture of
the Spanish Schooner Fosalia in that River, by Lieutenant Hagan, com-
manding His Majesty’s Brig Thistle, on the gth of January 1822.
The state of things in that River has continued nearly as it was described

in our last Report; apparently with some further advance towards the esta-
blishment ofa system of legitimate commerce.—We are, however, rather fearful
of being too sanguine in our statements touching a reformation of such recent
commencement. We, therefore, subjoin the grounds of our belief:
The advance to which we allude is inferred from the following facts and

circumstances ; ,
The person named Wilkam Lawrence, residing at Domingi, a short dis-

tance within the entrance of the River, who was mentioned in out last
Report as havirig been at Sierra Leone for the purpose of making arrange-
ments for legitimate commerce under British protection, bas applied for, and
obtained through the intervention of Afr. Kenneth Macauley, one of the
Members of Council for the Cotony, a lot of building land in Free Town, for
the purpose of erecting a residenceforhis trading people and for himself in
his future visits. .

It is said that this proceeding, aiid the previous visit of Lawrence to Free
Town, have excited much jealousy among the other Traders of the Rio

. Pongos, who have not hesitated to avow their suspicion that Lawrence has
been studying to promote his own exclusive objectsto the injury of the cha-
racters and the ifterests of his neighbours.

In confirmation ‘of these suspicions they advert to a recently prior scheme
‘of Lawrence for bringing down the Foulah Traders to the banks of the River,
where that people are much dreaded, on account of the force in which they
come, and of the absolute dominion which they assume and exercise durin
their stay, although the professed object of their coming should be purely
conimercial. .

Jit is true that Lawrence made a journey not long ago to Teembo, the capital
of the Foulahs ;—he was there at the time of Mr. O’Beirne’s arrival on the
Mission fromSierraLeone, and was mentioned in that Gentleman’s narrative as
havingused his influence in a friendly way to engage The King to expedite the
despatch of the Mission on its return. This kindness Lawrence would pro-
bably render with greater alacrity and earnestness, as it appears his own
object was to lead the commerce of the Foulahs in a different course from the
direct line to Sierra Leone, into which Mr. O’Beirne wished to turn it.
Neither of those travellers was successful in his negotiation; but the extended
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jntercourse commenced by their expeditions, and followed up by others, has
already made considerable progress, notwithstanding the unfavourable cir-
cumstances of local wars and dissentions in the Country. This improved.
facility ofenlarged communication may be considered in itself a great benefit,
as well as the means of introducing a multitude of further advantages.
Among the journies that have most materially contributed to the improved

state of intercourse, we should mention one by Captain Laing, of the Royal
African Colonial Corps, into the Country of the Solyma Nation, about 400
miles East of Sterra Leone. This journey was undertaken at the instance of
the Merchants of the Colony, for the purpose of bringing down the Gold-trade.
The object has been in some degree accomplished. Captain Laing had pre-
viously made some journies of less extent, at the instance of the Colonial
Gevernment, for the purpose of re-establishing good understanding among
some of the discordant Cliefs in the vicinity of Sierra Leone.
The jealousy entertained by the other Chiefs of the River Pongos, respect-

- ing Lawrence’s attempt to bring down the trade of the Foulahs, as well as of
his recent efforts to establish a commercial intercourse with this Colony, is
to be attributed to the narrow and selfish notions by which Africans are
generally influenced in judging of such matters. The interest of the indivi-
dual is the only impulse to action in their ordinary affairs. New and enter-
prizing designs for the advancement of the general interest are beyond their
ordinary conception, and when any individual of superior intelligence among
them devises such a plan, and takes any measure for carrying it into effect,
they are impressed with a persuasion that he is seeking his own aggrandize-
ment, by the compromise or the destruction of all around him. They dread
besides, above all things, the introduction of powerful Strangers, who, as they
conceive, will always seek ultimately to get the Country into their own hands.
A little reflection might shew, however, that the Foulahs, if once induced

to turn their trade to the River, would not confine their dealings to any
Individual, but would barter-with those whose terms they should find most
inviting, although, certainly, their numbers and overbearing characters must
make them unpleasant visitors, where a power adequate to controul them
does not exist. But the introduction and establishment of a regular com-
mercial intercourse with a rising British Settlement, presents benefits of such
general extent and influence, without any vicious accompaniment to restrain
or countervail, that the slightest consideration must be sufficient to remove
any distrust connected with them. Accordingly we find that the jealousy
which arose from Lawrence’s visit to Sierra Leone has begun to subside, in
the experience already diffused, that all participate in the advantages of a
more active commerce with the Colony.

Since the return of Lawrence from Free Town, in October 1822, he has
sent for further supplies of coffee plants for the use of the principal Persons
settled on the banks of the Rio Pongos. These plants were forwarded to
him in abundance, through Mr. Kenneth Macauley, from the farm of the
Chief Justice, near Free Town. A part of the plants sent at this time was
employed in forming a spacious plantation on the lands of §. EL. Lightburne,
of whom particular mention is made in-our last Report. This plantation was
Jaid out under the direction of a Frenchman, formerly a Planter in St. Do-
mingo, whowas specially engaged by Mr. Lightburne to come from America
for the purpose. We learn-by the latest aceounts that this plantation comes
on well. The others, and among them that of Lawrence, have suffered by
the influence of the dry season upon the young plants. re
A small vessel named the Dofphin, owned and commanded by Benjamin

‘Pearson, a Citizen of the. United States of America, arrived at Mr. Light-«
burne’s factory inthe Month ofOctober last, from Charleston, with trade-goods
and passengers, These passengers were chiefly persons of colour, Emigrants
from the United States, required to remove themselves in consequence of
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having taken part in some disturbances at Charleston. Some of theindivi-
duals were accompanied by their families. ‘The intention of these Persons in
coming to the Rio Pongos has not been ascertained; many of them perished
soon after their arrival in the River by the fever of the Place, and before the.
commencement of the year 1823, most of the survivors found their way to
Sierra Leone. The Dolphin, according to the latest accounts, was still at
anchor not far from Mr. Lightburne’s factory, unable to proceed to sea,
through the loss of nearly all her seamen.
The arrival of this Vessel-‘in the Rio Pongos gave rise to suspicions and

reports of Slave-trading-objects,—either originally contemplated in her voyage
from the United States, or likely to result from the opportunity of sending
off by her, cither the remaining Slaves of those purchased for the Spanish
Schooner Rosalia, taken by Lieutenant Hagan in the Thistle, on the 9th of
January 1822; or else a full cargo from the factory of Ormond, who avows
his determination to resume the Slave-trade as soon as a favourable oppor-
tunity shall be presented to him.
Nothing has hitherto occurred to give credibility to the rumours of the

probable employment of the Dolphin for such a purpose ;—and some who
have a personal knowledgeofPearson, the Owner and Master, express a firm
persuasion that he would not engage his Vessel in the Slave-trade.

Another surmise gave the same destination to a Schooner recently built in
the River by Ormond, and now completed. This surmise appears more cre-
dible as Ormond has, according to several concurring reports, all proceeding
from respectable authority, never ceased to express a fixed resolution to return

to his former Slave-trading habits, as soon as it should be safe for him to
do so. More recent representations, however, give credit to him, for a
growing disposition to renouncea traffick, the pursuit ot which appears
indeed in a great measure to be rendered henceforth impracticable, in the situ-
ation in which he is placed.

It is certain that the portion of the Slaves of the Rosalia not given up to
Lieutenant Hagan, when that Vessel was taken by the Zist/e, are still in the
Villages adjacent to Ormond’s factory under the charge of Francisco Freire,
late Master of that Vessel; and it is also certain that now, for a period of fit-
teen Months, no Slave-trade has existed: in the River. The Slaves of the
Rosalia remaining with Freire and Ormond are about sixty in number.
We must, however, again repeat here the conviction expressed in our pre-

ceding Report, of the expediency of causing this River to be visited occasion-
ally, and even frequently, by His Majesty’s Cruizers, lest the Traders, still
new in the abandonment of the Slave-trade, and not yet confirmed in the pur-

' suits of lawtul commerce, should, through want of due superintendence,
relapse into their former vicious pursuits. -

- The importance of bestowing this attention will appear more clearly from
the fact that, during the short period, of abandoned Slave-trade, and growing
legitimate commerce, that has elapsed since the capture of the Rosalia, the
exports of African produce from the adjacent Settlements of the Isles de
Los have increased beyond all conception. Among these Exports was a
quantity of Wax, which, although amounting only to five or six tons, is
‘worthyof particular notice, as it is now; for the first time, made an article of
industry and trade on the banks of the Rio Pongos. A larger supply may,
‘consequently, be expected in future years. The other articles included in
these Shipments are Hides, (abcut 5,000,) also recently, for the first time, ex-
ported,—and Palm-oil to the amount of 30,000 gallons, collected from two of
the Islands, Tamara and Factory, and trom an extensive range of Country on
the opposite Coast. A quantity of Ivory, not much exceeding one ton, was
also included.*

* The Rio Pongos sends supplies. of Rice to Sierra Leone,
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There are now in the Zs/es de Los three considerable mercantile Establish-
inents ; two of these are on Crawford’s Island, where the.Military Station.is
fixed; and the third is on Factory Island. Tie Island of Tamaraisentirely
occupied by a Native population, industriously and profitably ensployed in the
cultivation of rice, and in extracting oil from the fruit of the palm trees with
which the Island abounds. Of the establishment on Crawford’s Island the
more considerable is in the hands of the Agents of Messrs. Macauley and Co.,
and its transactions are in a great measure blended with those of that Firm at
Sierra Leone. The second belongs to Mr.-Proctor, a resident Merchant,
Owner of a small Vessel, the Cutter Hope, which made two trips from the
Island to England in the year 1822, with cargoes of African produce, and
returns in trade-goods adapted to the African market. The establishment on
Factory Island, belonging to Aér. Samo, is one of extensive business. Mr.
Samo, besides contributing largely to the freight of Mr. Proctor’s Vessel, has
loaded a Brig, the Humbletonian,for England, almost entirely on his own

- account.—All these Establishments have small trading-vessels and Agents on
board of them, as well as on shore, constantly employed in disposing of trade-
goods in the Rivers and along the Coast ; and in collecting the products of
the Country in return. The distance of the Isles de Los from the part of the
Continent immediately opposite, is about five hours sail; from. the Rio:
Pongos is about ten or twelve hours. The Rio Pongos lies more to the
Northward. |
The average length of the voyage from the Isles de Los to Sierra Leone, or

back from Sierra Leone to the Islands, is one day, and from this fact it is
argued that notice may be given immediately of the entrance of any suspected
Vessels into the Rio.Pongos, and that, consequently, the immediate observ-
ance of the River by the Cruizers cannot be absolutely necessary,—still oo
opinion of the expediency of occasional and even frequent visits to the River
by the Cruizers, remains unaltered.
The boats of the Owen Glendower visited the Rio Pongos in the Month of

March, in pursuance of orders.given by Commodore Sir R.. Mends.
The state ot things at the different Factories was found by the Officer com-

manding the boats, to be precisely the same as we have described it.
The boats had previously visited the Rio Nunez,as we have already mer-

tioned. Another detachment: had visited the River Casamanza, and the
Portuguese Settlement of Bissao and Cacheo. In the course of these visits
one Vessel was found off Bissao under French Colours that was supposed to
‘be engaged in the Slave-trade. We consider it incumbent on us to notice
‘these visits and the result of them thus far, without. enteringin any way
upon those details which belong more properly to the Parties immediately
concerned. So ;

In the second Section, or the range of Coast Southward from Sierra Leone
‘to Cape Coast, the roads of Gadl/inas continue most prominently distingitished:
for constant and active Slave-trade. From the date of our last Report; nearly.
-until the close of the year 1822, rarely less than threeVesselswere to. ‘be
‘found either at the anchorage in the Roads, or moving about among the.adja-
cent Stations where Slaves might be found, or whereprovisions could bepro-
-eured for the subsistence of the cargo of Slaves in the return voyage, or where
"wood or water could be most conveniently taken on board.

It is also found that these movements are convenient for avoiding Cruizers,
and for keeping aloof from all Vessels of unfriendly or doubtful appearance,
until it can be ascertained whether they may be approached with safety.
The Flags generally found at the Gadlinasactivelyengaged in the Slave-

trade are, that of Hrance principally, that of Spain in a less degree, and that
of the Netherlands in a less degree still. The Spaniards-are generally fearful
of waiting for the collection of Slaves to form a Cargo at a Station so near to
this Colony; and they very rarely encounterthe hazard, They prefer running
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at once to the great Slave-markets of Bonny and Calabar, it, on touching ta
enquire at two or three of the priticipal intermediate Stations, such as Gallinas
and Zrade Town, they find that they cannot be supplied at once, which the
state of the stock in the Factories at those Places will rarely admit.
The Vessels belonging to the Netherlands generally assume a French

character.
The extracts from the Log-book of the Netherlands Schooner 4urora,

inclosed, together with the information obtained from Alexander Boswell,
a seaman belonging to that Vessel, and from Francois Hataulx, a seaman
belonging to the French Schooner Hippolyte, contain, collectively, what may
“be regarded as an exemplification of the number of Slave-trading Vessels at
the Gallinas, and of the movements of those Vessels for a space of three
Months, from the Jast days of July to the last days of October 1822, the part
of the Season considered most favourable for the Slave-trade. It will not be
necessary to enter into the same details here, but merely to collect the general
results by inference from the facts stated in those Documents.
The total number of Vessels engaged in the Slave-trade at the Gallinas,

during these Months, was four,—a Spanish Schooner, the name of which
is unknown,—a Freneh Schooner named La Petite Eugenie, or rathera
Netherlands Schooner under French colours, commanded by Monsieur
Canes,—the Netherlands Schooner Aurora, commanded by Benjamin
Liebray,—and the French Schooner Hippolyte, Captain Galon.
Of these, two had sailed with full cargoes of Slaves—one of the two was

the _ Spanish Schooner destined for the Havannah; and the other was La
Petite Eugenie for Surinam.
“The Slaves for the other two were completely collected when the arrival of

His Majesty’s Ship Cyrene, from the neighbouring Station of Cape Mount,
with the urora under detention, and the despatcli of two boats to demand
the Slaves purchased for that Vessel, led to acts of hostility towards the crews
of the boats which were repelled with such effeet as to cause the surrender of
the Slaves ofthe Aurora, and to render the voyage of the Hippolyée altogether
abortive.

It is to be inferred that the means of collecting Slaves so as to despatch the
Vessels with an average complement, which may be taken at 90 for
100 of the number that they can carry,—is in the proportion of one Vessel
to a Month, when the number that the Vessel can carry is: limited within
200 to 250 Slaves. This would give a total yearly export of about 3,000
Slaves from Gallinas, whieh may be considered, as nearly as the matter
sean be ascertained, a correct estimate. The Flippotyte, according to the
“information given by Franeois Hataulx, was to carry 140 Slaves; the
Aurora was to take 220. ‘The Vessels that come to the Gallinas are
generally small Schooners. The estimate that fias been here made may
be considered as taken on a high scale. We have, however, heard the
gross number of this export laid down at eight, and sometimes at ten
thousand, and even at more thousands than that; but these numbers mus
have been calculated without any authentick grownds,—certainly without
any grounds of such obvious accuracy as the facts that we have stated.

In further proof of the correetness of this. calculation, in the general
sense in which alone such calculations can be made or taken, we may
mention the fact that for a Vessel carrying 150 Slaves, the time allowed.
to complete the collection of the cargo is usual from 40 to 50 days,
from the delivery of the goods, which are always paid in advance for
them, For 200, two Months are required, and the number is very rarely
made up at the day, so that it is either necessary to wait over the stipulated
time, or to sail without the full complement, Thus the Hippolyte, which
arrived on the 27th August, and was to take only 140 Slaves to be supplied
in 40 days, was still at Gallinas when the Cyrene arrived in the last days of
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October, to claim the Slaves of the Aurora. This was above 60 days after the
arrival of the Hippolyte. SO
The Aurora was to take 220 Slaves: she had been already three months on:.

the Station. This tardiness in supplying a sufficiency of Slaves for two or
three small Vessels does not allow us to believe that the Place commands any
great influx of Slaves. Considering that the Spanish Schooner, and La Petite
ugenie, had sailed with their full complements in the course of the same three

Months, and allowing that they carried an equal number—that is, 360. for the
two—the total supply for exportation in those Months would be720. Thus the
total annual export of Slaves from the Gallinas appears fairly calculated at.
not more than 3,000. oe
The course of the trade at Gallinas, as at the other considerable Slave-

markets, is tocontract with the King or ChiefHeadman, Siaea, for the supply
of the total number of Slaves wanted, and to deliver to him the goods paid in
advance for the purchase of them. He makes subordinate contracts with the

‘inferior Headmen, and with Slave-dealers of the vicinity, who undertake to.
furnish scores or dozens of Slaves according to their means of procuring them.
The fulfilment of the general contract depends. upon the performance of the
subordinate engagements, and these are rarely made good at the time stipu-
lated, the general delivery ofthe Slaves and the despatch of the Vessel are.
retarded equally in consequence.

Reports circulated at Sierra Leone, towards the latter part of the year 1822,
would induce a belief that the tract of Country from which theSlaveswere.
drawn, that were required for the supply of the exports from the Gallinas, had
extended to the banks of both the minor Rivers, which unite their streams
about forty miles above Free Town to form the great River of Sierra Leone..
It was further stated, that new paths were about to be opened by the Chiefs.
on the banks of those Rivers, for the special purpose of sending down Slaves
to the Gallinas for sale. We had strong reasons to apprehend that these state-
ments, if not actually true at the time, would be speedily realized, in conse-
quence of the cessation of the Timber-trade of Sierra Leone, and of the con-
sequent loss of the beneficial employment, and of the supplies of all Articles
of Foreign growth and manufacture, previously furnished by that trade to a
very large population, and a great extent of Country spreading into the inte-
rior from the banks of those Rivers, and embracing the tracts from which the
labouring hands were at that time said to be daily removed for the purpose of
selling them into Slavery.
_ Ina Paper which was shewn to us at that time, by a Person who possesses
the best means of information on this matter, it was calculated that the Slaye-
trade as it had been carried on in the River ofSierra Leone, in the years.imme-
diately preceding the Abolition, furnished employment for upwards of‘two
‘thousand families resident on the banksofthe streams, by the union of which
the River is formed. These families were occupiedeitherin the trade itself, or
in various labours subservient to it, but principally in raising provisions forthe
subsistence of the Slaves, while they remained in depét preparatory to embarkas.
tion, and subsequently on the voyage to the Colonies. _ From the time of the
Abolition of the Slave-trade, to the rise.of the Timber-trade, the state of the
population on these banks is represented to have heen destitute and wretched
inthe extreme. Cultivation was discontinued through the want of an immediate
and adequate market for the produce. The Foreign commodities, which custom
had rendered so familiar in use as to be ina great measurenecessary,could-only
be obtained in scanty supplies from the Coast, by the sale of Slaves at the
Gallinas, or in the Sheréro’, or atthe other side the Scarcies, or the Rio Pongos.

_ Theintroduction and establishment oftheTimber-trade, under the able diree~
tion of a few meritorious individuals, extirpated ina short time those vicious
Dabits, turning the hands of the people to profitable labour, and fixing their
tainds in-the pursuit of virtuous industry which soon-ledto affluence.
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The multitude of labourers and assistants required in the preparation and
carriage of this timber, in the various works of felling, ‘squaring, hauling,
floating and shipping, left not an idle arm in the adjacent Country. Tire.
women and young persons were employed inministering to the men. The
payments made for these services and for the timber itself, in British goods
of the descriptions most sought by Africans, diffused wealth and joy
throughout the Country, until, unfortunately, in the year 1821, the demand
for the timber ceased suddenly and almost entirely. The Country Proprietors,
as wellastheshipping Merchants, were left with a dead stock on their hands, on
which considerable time, labour and cost had been expended. The labourers
were left unpaid by their Native Masters, and without further employment.
The Merchant held torth for a time the hope of a favourable change, but when
two Seasons had nearly elapsed, (from the early part of the Year 1821, until
the approach of the close of 1822) without realizing the hope, it was regarded.
as altogether delusive. Then it was that the danger arose of a renewal of the
Slave-trade, in order to supply wants which had become indispensable, and to
provide for which no other means were left.; but happily the favourable change,
although long deferred, has at length taken place, and it may, therefore, be
hoped that the hazard of a lapse, so much tobe deprecated, is now effectually
averted fora considerable time, during which measures of permanentefficiency
may be adopted to prevent its future return.
Nothing can afford so certain a security against the recurrence of an evil so

appallingin its approximation to the Colony of Sierra Leonc, as the employ-
ment of this timber, or of a certain quantity of it, in the construction of Ships
in His Majesty’s Duck Yards, for which service it is particularly adapted. It
is very naturally supposed that if the timber shall once be known to be em-
ployed and approved in that service it will grow into general estimation, and

e introduced into general use in consequence.
The occasional recurrence of particular instances of Slave-trade, or the

more general relapses caused by the failure of the resources previously sup-
plied by better commerce, are by no means to be assumed as evidence of undi-
minished attachment to that trade in the Districts adjacent to Sierra Leone,
‘and connected immediately with the commerce of Free Town. On the eon-
trary, it is a fact well ascertained, that the character and objects of theColony,
the authority of its Government, and, above ail, the immediate and beneficial
influence of its legitimate commerce, operating in declared and direct hostility
to that trade, have generally diminished the previous devotion to it, however
strongly fixed by the depraved habits ofaccumulated ages. lt may be regarded

.as_ certain that it is only in times of particular and pressing distress that
- Slaves will be sold from these Districts; and every Year of favourable time
will leave less reason to apprehend the danger in future.

The Statement annexed to this Report, furnished cireumstantially in
verbal communication to Mr, Fitzgerald, by an intelligent Trader of Sierra
Leone, whose dealings are intimately connected with the Gallinas, describes
in minute details the vicious and depraved habits, and the abject wretchediness
of condition; the injustice, oppression and unfeeling cruelty, extinguishing all
regard to the dearest ties of natural affection; the total neglectofcultivation,
and the dependence upon the neighbouring Countries for the common necessa-
ries of life ; which are among the evils created by the determined pursuit of
the Slave-trade at that Station. .
We do not see any reason to entertain a hope of the speedy attain-

ment of such a reformation at the Gallinas as that which has taken
‘place in the Rio Pongos; but as it is of the utmost importance to the
progress of the general Abolition of the Slave-trade among the inhabi-
tants of the Coast of Africa, that due efforts should be made for the repression
of the unrestrained traffick, the existence of which, ata place so near to this
Colony, ‘must be regarded. as a most offensive and grievous outrage, ‘we
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would recommend that a small Cruizing Vessel should be specially charged
with the superintendence of this Station, with liberty to extend the range of
her operations toa certain distance on each side, as the occasions of the service

~ on which she would be placed might demand. The Vessels that trade for
Slaves at Gallinas are, it is true, generally French, and are, therefcre, not
subject to the provisions of the Treaties of Mixed Commissions; but it is
ascertained that even French Vessels will not pursue the business of the
traflick openly, within view of a Flag engaged in the restraining service.—
The proceedings in the trade are altogether suspended as soon as a Cruizer
appears, and her presence for any length of time disconcerts the operations
of the Traders in such a manner as frequently to render the veyage in a great
measure ineffective. ~

Another advantage, of scarcely less importance, would arise in the increased
facilities which the legitimate commerce of the Traders of Sierra Leone would
enjoy, when they could pursue their trade under the immediate protection of a
‘British armed Vessel, or under the knowledge that such protection is near at
hand. The two-fold influence of the repression of Slave-trade, and of the pro-
motion of lawful commerce, leaves little room to doubt that the presence of
such a Vessel would be attended with the happiest effects.
We trust, therefore, that we may not be thought to presume too far in

recommending this suggestion to favourable consideration. We further trust
that in making this recommendation, we may not be thought te have interfered
improperly with the direction or management of the Naval affairs of the
Station—for, in truth, we do no more than convey to you, Sir, as we are bound
to convey, the known opinion of all those who are capable ofjudging of the
matter in this Colony—that the Gallinas, for the reasons that we have men- |
tioned, as well as for others, should be placed under the special superintend-
ence of anarmed Vessel, stationed in the immediate vicinity for the purpose.
Information received at various times subsequent to the capture of the 4urora,
intimated that Vessels were employed in trading for Slaves at Gallinas. His
Majesty’sBrig Snapper, Lieutenant Rothery, commanding, despatched from
Sierra Leone on a special Mission to the American Settlement at Cape Mesu-
rado, visited a French Brig and Lugger off Cape Mount, with part of their
Slaves already on board. This was on the 2d of February ;—shortly after
this intelligence was communicated at Sierra Leone, it was known from other.
sources that some Slave-trading Vessels, stated to be French, but supposed to

. belong to some of the Flags of the Mixed Commissions, were at the Gallinas.
A small Vessel, late the Spanish Schooner San Rafael, fitted out asa tender
to His Majesty’s Ship Bann, was sent to look after these Vessels, but they
ned sailed with Slaves before she arrived. This was in the Month of
farch. - So
In the Month of April a respéctable European Trader of Sierra Leone was

cast on shore in a small Vessel near the Gallinas.—His exertions to recover thé
property taken from ‘the wreck through the influence of Siaca, Chief of the
Gallinas, detained him for some time in the principal Town belonging to that
Chief. He found the Slave-trade going on with unabated activity. Two
Vessels were at:the anchorage, both come for Slaves. One of these was a
French Vessel, the Commander of which had made seveti successful voyages
in the trade. The other wasa Spanish Vessel, whose Commander had made |
three successful voyages. It appears, therefore, that these successes are made
matter of boast. :
The Master of the SpanishVessel resides at the Havannah, and. was the

brother-in-law of the late Johan Krauze, who commanded the Schooner
Joseph, trading for Slaves under the pretended character of a Swedish Vessel,
but condemned as the property of Spanish Subjects by the British and Spanish
Mixed Court in June 1822. Krauze, it is understood, sent for this person
soon after the condemnationof the Joseph, to take away himselfand the Slaves
collected by him at the Gallinas for the cargo of that Vessel. These Slaves
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collected for that Vessel were transferred to another, which atrived short!
after the return of Krauze to the Gallinas; but a fresh store was collected in
their place. Krauze, and Galon, the Master of the Hippolyte, going out in
a boat at Christmas time, were overset on the bar of the Gallinas and
drowned ; but the Slaves he had collected were preserved, and it was under-
stood that they would be delivered to his brother-in-law, the Commander of
the Spanish Vessel seen at the Gallinas by the Trader who communicated this
part of our information. That Commander was well known at Gallinas.
Krauze has had a regular Slave-trading establishment at that Place for several
ears.

y Tn that part of our second Division of the African shore which extends
from Gallinas to Cape Coast, we have reason to think that the Slave-trade
has considerably diminished. The American Settlement at Mesurado,
although not possessing strength to impose any direct restraint, has, by its
mere presence and object, a strong controuling influence, and the armed
Schooner employed in connection with it, acts with a corresponding effect,
No instance has occurred for a considerable time of a Vessel being found on
the Coast engaged in the Slave-trade under the Flag of the United States,
and the American Cruizers are extremely cautious of interfering, even by
visitation, with Vessels bearing the Flags of other Powers. The influence
attending the presence of the American Cruizers consists, therefore, simply
in the view; but it may beof importance to know that, even in this sense,
that influenceis considerable.
The legitimate commerce introduced on the adjacent Coast by the Settle-

ment at Mesurado will, we may fairly hope, be speedily attended with the
sameauspicious results which have marked the progress of the commerce of
similar character established at Sierra Leone, and at the other British Settle-
ments on the Coast.
The Corvette Cyane, Captain Spence, bearing the Flag of the United States,

sailed from Sierra Leone for Mesurado in March, having in company with
her the small Cruizing Vessel recently attached to the Settlement, which was
previously repaired and refitted. Captain Spence proposed to remain fora
short time at Mesurado. The presence of such a Vessel as the Cyane, in
connection with the Settlement, and the additional arrangements which will
probably take place with the Native Chiefs, under the superintendence of
‘Captain Spence, cannot fail to establish for the Settlers a higher consideration
with the Natives, whose respect is always proportionate to the strength of the
Parties with whom they have to transact business—or rather to the fear which
that strength inspires. Captain Spence, it would appear, has been induced
to protract his stay at Mesurado longer than he had at-first intended, for he
proposed to return to Sierra Leone early in April, and he has outstayed the
whole of that Month: he did not intend to go further down the Coast.
_ In the same view in which we have regarded the Settlement at Mesurado,
but in a diminished degree, we have to mention a small factory and plan
tation established in the River Sestos, by a single British Subject, Mr. /saae
Spence. Even this establishment is not withoutits effect indiscountenancing_andrepressing Slave-trade, and promoting lawful commerce and industry.‘Mr. Spence is Owner of two large Brigs, the Ranger and Elizabeth, one of
which, the Ranger, he commands. The outward cargoes of both these
Vessels from,thePort of London, consisting of tobacco and British goods
assorted for the African trade, are disposed of either atMr. Spence’s factory
or on the. Coast adjacent, and returns are obtained in African produce—prin-
cipally in-Palm-oil, and in round and cut dollars.
A Settlement of this description, formed by an individual amidst the un-

civilized tribesofAfrica, on’a part of the Coast several hundred miles distant
from the more powerful Colonies, maintaining itself by its integrity andindustry, and by the benefits which its upright -dealings communicate, is
worthy of high commendation. Mr, Spence is desirous of placing:hisfactory
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under the protection of-His Majesty’s Government, by causing it to be re-
cognized as a dependency of the Colony of Sierra Leone. He proposes to
form plantations of coffee and arrow root in the ensuing rainy season:
supplies of plants and roots are to be furnished to him from the same quarter
that the supplies for the plantations on the Rio Pongos have been previously
obtained.

It may not be immaterial here to notice an occurrence in which Mr.
Spence’s Settlement was instrumental in the preservation of the lives of a
number of British Subjects a short time since.
On the 27th of June 1821, the Ship Union Islands, ot Liverpool, William

Muir, Master, proceeding to Calabar with a large crew, and having super-
numerary seamen on board for the service of the Ships already at that Place,
from Liverpool, in the Palm-oil trade, was wrecked off Great Drewen, near
the Kroo Country ; the people on board, with the exception of a few, got on
shore by the aid of the boats,—but the people of the Country, the most bar-
barous on the Coast of Africa, immediately plundered them of every article
that they had brought on shore, stripping them of all their clothing in most
instances, and leaving those who were most favoured merely a shirt, or a pait
of trowsers. -

- In this condition, scarcely recciving the most wretched subsistence, and
dreading every. moment the sacrifice of their. lives, these unfortunate men
were invited to the Kroo Country, the inhabitants of which, by constant
intercourse with Sierra Leone, and by the long residence of the greater number
of them there, in the character offree labourers, were disposed to-relieve the
sufferings of so many distressed Englishmen. ,

Information was, at the same time, conveyed from the Kroo Country to
Mr. Spence, who immediately gave directions to conduct the sufferers to his
factory, and sent goods to pay for any supplies that might be givento them,
and for any services that they should require. Those who survived the cruel
treatment of the Savages on whose Coast they were wrecked, and who had:
strength to perform the journey, were kindly received and hospitably enter-
tained by Mr. Spence, who clothed them and brought them. in his Vessel to
Sierra Leone. “There a liberal subscription was made for their further relief,
and they were despatched for England with every necessary supply.—We
annex to this Report a number of the Sierra Leone Gazette, containing
a particular relation of this affair.
When we venture to believe that, from the Gallinas, Southward, as far as

Cape Coast, no extensive Slave-trade has existed in the time that has inter-
vened since the despatchofour last Report, we include among the grounds of
this belief, according to our former practice, the facts, that no capture has been
made by any of His Majesty’s Cruizers between Gallinas and Cape Coast, and
that few Vessels have been met in that interval engaged in the traffick,—very _
few indeed helong to the Nations that are Parties to the Mixed Commission
Treaties. oe Ss
dn the List of the Vessels visited in the course of his cruize, published by

Lieutenant Rothery, who went down the Caast in July 1822, in fis Majesty’s.
Brig Snapper,and returned in December, only one Vessel ismentioned ashaving
been visited within the range, bearing a Flag belonging to the Commissions.
This was the Schooner De Souza, Jose Antonio Bancas, Master, under
Spanish Colours, boarded the 6th July, off Cape Mount. : Lieutenant Ro-
thery’s statement of the Vessels boarded by him was published in the Sierra
Leone Gazette of the 14th December 1822, which is amongst the Papers
annexed to this Report. oo

-His Majesty’s Ship Cyrene, Captain Grace, ran along the Coast in the
same track, after she had -taken the Netherlands Schooner furora, in the
end of October. The Cyrene returned to Sierra Leone in the first week in
February. 1823. CaptainGrace, it-appears, has.not given the List of Vessels
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visited by him for publication in the Gazette; but it is known thathe did
not, in this part of his run, fall in with any vessel bearing any of the Flags of
the Commissions. A vessel detained by him off Trade ‘I'own, on the 10th of
November, named La Caroline, was supposed to belong to Subjects of His
Majesty The King of the Metherlunds, but no proof was found to warrant the
institutionof proceedings in theBritish and Netherlands Mixed Court.—A
particular statement of the circumstances of the Case has, we believe, been
communicated to the Admiralty.—Le Caroline sailed from the Danish Island
of St. Thomas with a destination for Calabar; but the Master was induced to
open a trade by King Wise, of Trade Town, ‘whose son he brought as a.
passenger from St. Thomas, whither this youth had been sent to complete
his‘education. No other of His Majesty’s Cruizers has detained or visited
any Vessel belonging to the Commissions to the Northward of Cape Coast
since the date of our last Report. ;

Passing Cape Coast, and entering into the third Section of ourDivision,
we come ‘at once to a region of unlimited Slave-trade, extending over the
whole range of the Bights of Benin and Biafra, as far as the Equator. The
Traders are of all the Nations engaged in the traffick, but principally Por-.
tuguese. It did appear immediately after Commodore Sir Robert Mend’s
cruize in the last year, that the Portuguese Slave-trade was in a manner
altogether transferred trom the Bight of Biafra to the Stations in the Bight of
Benin. This transfer was supposed to have been made for the convenience
of markets immediately adjacent to the shore, and of anchorage close to the
markets, and with a view to facilities of escape far beyond those ot the Rivers
of the Bight of Biafra, proved to be no longer inaccessible to the Cruizers,
as they were before conceived to be.
This information was communicated by Lieutenant Hagan, commanding

His Majesty’s Brig Zhist/e, and was, without doubt, correct at the time.
Lieutenant Hagan visited the Bights in the Month of June 1822, and the
information was communicated on his return from that cruize. But on a
subsequent visit by the other Vessels of the Squadron, it was found that the
Rivers Bonny, Calabar, and Cameroons were still among the favourite haunts
of the Slave-traders, and that Portuguese Vessels were actively engaged in
the trade in all those Rivers, notwithstanding the extraordinary numbers under
the Portuguese Flag seen at the Slave-trading Stations of the Bight of Benin.
The Portuguese Brig Commerciante was taken in the Cameroons by the boats
of His Majesty’s Ship Driver, commandedby Lieutenant King, on the 7th
of September 1822; and the Portuguese Schooner Conceicao, taken at Sea,
by His Majesty’s Ship Bann, Captain Phillips, had also embarked her Slaves
in that River.
We are not sufficiently informed. to be enabled to express an opinion whether

an increased number of Vessels had been-fitted out for the Slave-trade from the
Ports of Brazi/, But.in our Abstracts of the several:‘Cases which have come
before us for adjudication in the course of the year 1822, and in ourDespatches
accompanying those.Abstracts, and in a collectiveform in ourlastgeneral
Report, we have had occasion to notice several facilities given to Portuguese
Vessels for the pursuit of illegal Slave-trade, in the Stations immediately to the
Northward of the Equator, uader pretexts connected apparently with’ objects
oflegitimate commerce.
The first and the most simple of these facilities was “a permission to call a‘

“ the Island of St. Thomas and at Prince’s Island.” This permission was in-
cluded in the regular passports for legal Slave-trading voyages to /Molembo
and Cabinda, South of the Equator. The Vessels having this permission, as
soon as their arrival at the Islands, ortheir approach to them, afforded a
favourable opportunity, ran into. Calabar or Cameroons, and there entered at
once upon illegal Slave-trade. -
More recently, the passports for legal Slave-trade in the Portuguese Terri-
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tories on the South of the Equator contained a perniission to call at the
Islands and at the Cameroons “ for purposes of lawful commerce in gold,
ivory, and Palm-oil,”—and in instances still more recent such permis ior has
been extended to the Coast of Mina. ‘The permission for legal trade in the
Cameroons was employed for Slave-trade in that river ;-and the permission
for legal trade on the Coast of Mina was employed for Slave-trade on that
Coast. oe,
A progressive laxity in those whe superintend the outfit of the Vessels des-

tined for the traffick, and the despatch of the passports and other papers ne-
cessary 10 the woyage, is distinctly observable in the introduction and enlarge-
ment of these permissions to call at Stations, North of. the Equator; and in
the present state of this matter it can be nothing else than a gross abuse. in all
the Parties concerned.
The mischievous effects of this abuse are not confined to the facilities which

it affords to illegal Slave-trade. We find that it has led to a systematic prac-
‘tice of the foulest perjury ou the part of the Masters, Officers and seamen of
the several vessels that are induced by these facilities to engage in Slave- _
trade to the Northward of the Equator.—They swear, without reserve or he+
sitation, that any Place where they happen to have taken in their Slaves to the
North of the Equator is Molembo or Cabinda; and io some instances in
which they have been taken in immediate connection with some of the
Northern Stations, they have even sworn that they took their Slaves on board
at Molembo or Cabinda, South of the. Equator; and that they afterwards
came to the North in order to obtain provisions at St. Thomas’s, which they
overshot by the force of the currents, or that they came in virtue of their
permission for lawful trade in the Coast of. Mina, to sell the remainderof
their outward cargo oftobacco, having on board at the time their return cargo
ofSlaves. _ . .
__ A roving trade ofany.kind is so clearly incompatible with the Slave-trade,
that the association can be attributed only to the design ofgiving facility: te:
illegal tratfick; which facility,.in every instance that has come under our
notice, has been followed by- actual illegal trade, aad generally also with the
foulest perjury. .

This perjury was particularly barefaced in the testimonyof the Master and
Surgeon of the San Antonio.de Lisboa, taken by His. Majesty’s Ship Bann,
Captain Phillips, .off Porto Novo, and condemned in the British and Por-
zuguese Court on the 23d of December. oF
- ‘The Master andthe Surgeon swore that the Slaves were taken on board at
Molembo, South of the Line,—that the Vessel was on the way thence to
Prince’s Island for a supply of provisions, but was carried-to the Northward
bythe influence of the current, and’ being off Porto Novo, it became necessary
to communicate.with the land in order to obtain immediate sustenance. Thé
Slaves-proved that they were purchased near to Porto Novo, and were em-
barked immediately. from that Place the day before the capture. _The Slaves
will always defeat perjury of this kind by simply proving the Place of the
embarkation, and the time that they have been on board. Francisco Xavier
Leto of Bahia, was the Owner of the San Antonio de Lisboa. Thename of
the Master was Jose Machado; his assistantin perjury, the Surgeon,was_
named Felippe Serra. 5

In the case of the Cammerciante, taken in the Cameroons, it was. sworn, in
like manner, that the Slaves were taken on board at AZoembo; and also in the
case of the Estred/a, taken.in June 1822, by Lieutenant Hagan, off Lagos.
But.in both those instances, as in that of the Sax Antonio de Lisboa, anda
multitude of others, the perjury was refuted by the authentic testimony.of
the-Slaves, as to the actual Place of embarkation. -
_ Another abuse which we. have for some time remarked, but abstained from
‘neticing in an efficial or public manner-until we should have distinctly ascer~
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tained it, in point of fact, is an overcharged estimation of the tonnage of the
Vessels engaged in the Portuguese Slave-trade, so as to enable them to carry
an extraordinary number of Slaves. Our attention was drawn to this matter
bya difference between the tonnage, as charged in the certificate of the pay-
ment of Lighthouse duties, and as it was inserted in the passport. Having
regarded it as an indispensable obligation of duty to read all the Papers found
on board prize Vessels, we were severally struck with this difference in the same
instance, and baving communicated with each other upon it, we agreed in
attributing it to a design of enabling the Vessel to carry an overcharged
number.

In the case of the Schooner Nova Sorte, detained by His Majesty’sBrig
Snapper on the 19th of October 1822, off Mina Piecaninny, and liberated by
a Decree of the British and Portuguese Court on the 5th of February last,
the tonnage by the passport was 140 tons, and the tonnage by the receipt
for Lighthouse duties, was declared to be, according to measurement by skilful
persons, 84 tons and a half. The Commissioners were of opinion that
the tonnage in the lesser estimate was correct, and having recently before
agreed that no Vessel under 100 tons burthen could, according to the Con-
vention, be entitled to demurrage under the Eighth Article of the Instruc-
tions for the Mixed Commissions, they directed the Registrar not to allow
demurrage in-calculating the damages to be awarded to the Claimant ot ihe
Nova Sorte. The Proctor for the Claimant prayed an admeasurement, the
result of which was, that the Vessel measured eighty-three and fifteenninety
fourths, English tons.

Tt was obvious that the tonnage, as given in the passport, must be an extra-
vagant overcharge, and the claim for demurrage was abandoned without
further observation.
The Magdalena da Praca San Thome, taken by His Majesty’s Ship Banz,

Captain Phillips, on the 29th of September, off Prince's Island, and con-
demned in the British and Portaguese Court on the 23d of January last,
presented a fresh instance of the cruel practice, so common in the local Slave-
trade of the Portuguese African Islands, of crowding excessive numbers into
Vessels of very small dimensions. The Magdalena was a Schooner-boat.of
twelve or thirteen tons. She had on board of her, at the time of capture,
thirty-three Slaves, embarked at Cape Lopez, about 1 deg. 20 min. South of
the Equator.
We think it likeiy that the relaxation in official strictness, touching the en-

forcement of the restraints imposed by the Convention, by the National Laws
~and the Royal Ordinances and Regulations, has arisen in Brazil, as it has been
ascertained to have arisen in the Portuguese African Islands, from the revolu-
tionary movements, followed by the establishment ofProvisional Governments.
These Governments and the Officers employed under them, consisting of
individuals of thePlace, personally interested, or immediately connected with
those who are, easily dispense themselves from the rigorous enforcementof
Jaws, which Officers, acting under the authority of the Crown, and responsible
for the fulfilment of their instructions, would havefelt themselves bound
to maintain.
_,We noticed in the case of the Spanish Schooner San Rafael, detained by

His Majesty’s Ship Bann, and released by the British and Spanish Mixed
Court, that the prohibitions against engaging in the Slave-trade, which were
before found in the Spanish passports, were omitted in the new forms, which
was entirely in the Spanish Language, and expressed merely a destination
* for the Island of St. Thomas and the cther Portuguese Islands, for the
“ purpose oftrading at them.” (“ Para commereier en ellas.”)
We find that in this Report we have been led into great length of detail,

but we trust that the interest attached to the subject of our communieation,
and our desire to. give correct information respecting it, will excuse us, :
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We shall be happy if our notice of the matters communicated can tend to
expedite the establishment of legitimate commerce, on any part ofthe African
Coast that has come within the range of our observations,—or to suggest the
means of correcting any of the crimes and abuses into which the depraved
nature of the Slave-traders is necessarily prone to lapse.
The remarks which we have to offer on the cases of the Slave-trade of illegal

character carried on by Portuguese Vessels on the South ofthe Equator, will
be most properly noticed, in the first instance, in the Special Reports of the
articular Cases, the most important of which, the decision respecting the

Slaves of the Stnceridade, detained on the 3d December 1822, 0 deg. 8 min.
South of the Equator, by His Majesty’s Ship Banz, Captain Phillips, remains
yet to be despatched.
With respect to the co-operation of armed Vessels, under Foreign Flags,

for the suppression of illegal Slave-trade, we have little to communicate.
Since the departure of the American Schooner Aiigator, in the Month of’

' January 1821, no Cruizer under the Flag of the United States has been upon
the Coast until the arrival of the Cyane, Captain Spence, in March last. We
heard of a French Squadron, consisting of a Brig and two Schooners, having
sailed from Goree on a cruize down the Coast, at the close ofthe rains of1822,
and in the Month of February it was reported at Sierra Leone that a, French
Squadron was off the Gallinas, but of the proceedings of these squadrons
nothing whatsoever is in any way known.

With the greatest respect, we have the honour to be, &c.
(Signed) . E. GREGORY.

EDWARD FITZGERALD.
The Right. Honourable George Canning,

&e. &e. &e.

P. S.—We beg leave, Sir, to apologize for the appearance of several emen-
dations in the foregoing Sheets. The writer of them has been suddenly
seized with illness, and time will not allow of their being re-copied, that they
might be laid before you in a correct form. E.G.

 

First Inclosurein No. 1.

Extracts from the Log-Book of the Netherlands Schooner Avrora, Ben-
jamin Liebray, Master, during her stay at the Gallinas prior to her
capture. by Elis Majesty's Ship Cyrene, Captain Grace; shewing the
Vessels on that Station engaged in the Slave-trade in .the interval from
the 27th ofJuly to the 8th of October 1822; and their manwuvres on the
appearqnce of strange Vessels.

/ Du Vendredi 26 au Samedi 27 Juillet.

Mouillé sur la rade de Gallinas. Tuiouvé trois batimens sur la rade de Gallinas,

Du Lundi 6 au Mardi 7 Aott.

Ecrit par une occasion deux Lettres & Saint Thomas..

Du Vendredi 9 au Samedi.10.

Appareillé et fait un bord A l'Ouest pour attrapper le Cap Mont; 4 113 heures va une voile au
§. S. ©. de nous; vire de bord et recourue sur Gallinas; des deux navires mouillés, un est ap-
pareillé et suivi comme nous Ja borde du S. Quest.

Du Samedi 10 au Dimanche I! Aoi.

Le temps assez bean: le batiment en vue (un trois mats) est venu chercher la rade de Gallinas;
ily a mouillé A 43, ayant arboré Je pavillon Americain sa corne d’artimon ; a 53 heures le bati~
ment gni avait levé Pancre et pris la borde comme nous a revire de bord et edt revenu chercher le
mouillage; il yétant assuré son pavillon d’un coup de Canon; 3 6 avons revire et continue
notre borde du Sud vers Est jusqu 8 heures, revire jusqu’d 11; de 1} jusqu’a notre arrivée sous
Je Cap Mout. A 10 beures nous est venu abard des piroyues de tous les environs ; profité d'une
pour informer de notre position. .
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De Dimanche 11 au Lundi 12 Aoit 1822. ;

‘Le-tems devénu mauvais; retourne du mouillage 4 8du Matin, La Goelette Espagnole a ta
woile est venue mouillé a.coté de nous,

Du Lundi 12 au Mardi 13 Aott, -

A 1h. une Goelette sans pavillon a mouilké en terre de nous.
* * * * * %

Du Mardi 8 au Mercredi 9 Octobre 1822,

La brise s’étant levée nous sommes venu mouiller & Gallinas ou noiis avons tronvé les autres
Goelettes. A la point du jour appercu une Goelette mouillé dans le Sud de nous; avons hissé
notre pavillon et assuré d'un coup de canon auquel il n'a pas repondueta appareillé, Avons
‘appareillé anssi et pris la borde du Nord aussi que la Petite Eugenie auquel il a tiréplusieurs coups
de canon que l'ont fait meture en travers et a para la visiter; couru au large fait diverses ma
neeuvres jusqu’a midi.

; Du Mercredi 9 au Jeudi 10 Octobre, .

La dite Goelette ayant visité Eugenie a eu lair de nous chasser jusqu’da 5 heures du soir’ que
nous les ont perdu de-vue ainsi que la Petite Eugenie que nous a paru retourner au mouillage,

Du Jeudi 10 au Vendredi 11.

‘Courant la borde au large. ‘Continue pendant toute la nuit.

. Du 12 Samedi au‘l3 Dimanche.

A-Auit heares.du soir sondé; trouvée 27 brasses d'eau; avons mis A travers jusqu’au jour que
mous sommes venu dhouiller én rade de Gallinas ou nous avons trouvé la Petite Eugenie. .

Du Mereredi 23 au Jeudi 24 Sbre 1822,

Beau tems, 2113 appereu un Navire dans le N. O.-courant sur le Cap Mont,

: Du Mercredi 23 au Jeudi 24 &bre 1822.
A 5‘b. diminue de voile, Je dit navire nous paraissant ‘@tré un batiment de guerre ; avons vire

de bord. :
* * % te * *

Bu Lundi 30 Septembre au Mardi} Octobre.
Preté ume ancre 4 la GoelettedeM, Canes (La Petite Eugenie) qui a perdu toutes les siennce,.

, Du Mardi 8.au Mercredi 9 Octobre 1822,
Za brise s’étant levée sommes venu mouiller A Gallinas ou nous avons ¢rouvée. une autre

Goelette.

  

Second. Inclosure in No. 1.

Translation of Extracts in French, and other ExtractsSrom the Log-Book
of she Netherlands Schooner Aurora, during her stay at the Gallinas,
prier to her Capture by His Majesty's Shiv Cyrene, Captain Grace,
shewing the Vessels on that Station engaged in the Slave Tradein the.
enterval from the 27th of July to the 8th of October 1822, and the
mancuvres on the appearance of strange Vessels.

From Friday the 26th to Saturday the 27th of July;
ANCHORED in the Roads of Gallinas,—Found three Vessels in the Roads of Gallinas.

From Monday the 6th to Tuesday the 7th August;
Wrote by an opportunity two Letters to St, Thomas.

From Friday the 9th to Saturday the 10th August;
Weighed anchor and made a tack to the West io order to reach Cape Mount; at half-past eleven

saw a sajl to the South West of us; tacked and ran back oo Gallinas 3 of the two Ships at anchor,
one weighed and made, as we did, a stretch to the South West. .

From Saturday the 10th to Sunday the 11th “Angust;
The weather sufficiently fine; the Vessel in sight (three masts) came into Gallinas Roads and

anchored there at half. past four, having hoisted the American Flag at the point of the gaff; at
three quarters past Five, the Vessel, which had, weighed anchor and-taken the offing as. we did,
tacked about and returned.to the anchorage, having supported her Flag by firing a gun; at
Six we tacked and continued our course from the South towards the East until Eight o'clock; then
tacked again antil eleven, and from eleven until our arrival.under Cape Mount; at ten, eanoes
fromall the vicinity.came on board of us, we availed ourselves of oné togain inforpation of oursituation. j



*

Sierra Leonz. (General.) | 17

From Sunday the 1th to Monday the 12th August;

The weather became bad; returned to the anchorage at eight in the Morning, the Spanish
Schooner under sail came to anchor close alongside of us.

From Monday the 12th to Tuesday the 13thAugust ;

At one, a Schooner without Colours came to anchor within shore of us,

Note,—(The entries for the Month of September do not contain any thing worthy of notice.
The Aurora remained generally at the Gallinas, occasionally making short trips to Sugaree and
Cape Mount).

From Tuesday the 8th to Wednesday the 9th October 1822;

‘The breeze having risen, we came to anchor atGallinas, where we found the other Schooners ;
at break of day we perceived a Schooner at anchor to the South of us; we hoisted ourFlag and
confirmed it by a gun, which was not answered, and the Schooner weighed anchor; we weighed
anchor also, and teok offing to the North, so likewise did La Petite Eugenie, at which the strange
Schooner fired many’ guns, which caused her to lie to, and she appeared to search her; we rau
farther out, and made various manceuvres until noon,” ,

From Wednesday the 9th to Thursday the 10th ;

The Schooner above-mentioned having searched the Eugenie, appeared to be in chase of us
nntil five o’Clock inthe evening that we lost sight of her, as well as of La Petite Eugenie, which:
appeared to us to return to the anchorage.

From Thursday the 10th to Friday the 11th;

Ranning along the offing; continued so. during the night.

From the 12th, Saturday, to the 13th, Sunday; . .

At eight o’Clock in the evening sounded, found 27 fatnoms of water ; welay to until day-light,
when we came to anchor in’ Gallinas toads, where we found La Petite Eugenie.

‘From Wednesday the 23d to Thursday the 24th ;

Fine weather ; at half-past eleven saw a Ship in the North-West ranning for Cape Mount.

- From Wednesday the 23d to Thursday the 24th;

At five o’Clock took in sail, the Ship before-mentioned appearing to us to be a Ship-of-War,
we tacked to the South. :

Note.—(The Ship here mentioned was the Cyrene, by which the Aurora was taken immediately
adter.)

 

Extracts from another Log-Book intended apparently for Memoranda t
be afterwardsfairly copied: So

From Monday 30th September to Tuesday Ist October ;

Lent an anchor to the Schooner of M. Canes, (La Petite Eugenie) which has lost all her own,

From Tuesday 8th to Wednesday 9th October; . on
The breeze having risen, we came to an anchor at Gallinas, where wefound another Schooner

  

Alexander Boswell, a seaman belonging to the Aurora, who speaks English very well,
‘states, in answer to some questions suggested by the entries on the Log-book of ‘the Aurora,
@uring her stay at che Gallinas ; oe

26th to27th July.—That on the arrival of the Aurora at Gallinas, on the 26th to the 27th of
July, two Vessels only were at anchor there, the Aurora made the third, One of the two was.a
large Spanish Schooner; the other was a small Schooner carryinga French Flag. (This was La
Petite Hugenie, stated by Frangois Hataulx to be a Netherlands Vessel. -

6th to 7th August.—That he does not know what the opportunity was by which the Master.of
the Aurora states that he wrote two Letters to St. Thomas, fromthe 6th to 7th August, The
Spanish Schooner did not sail from Gallinas until long after, and La Petite Hugenie sailed still later.
“9th to 10th August.—That the three masted Vessel mentioned in the Log-book under this date,

‘was under American Colours. She came fer ivory and palm-oil; she could not approach the shese
for want of a sufficient depth of water ; she passed down to Leeward.

12th to 13th August.—A hermaphrodite Brig, not having any Colours, anchored in shore of
the Aurora towards Cape Mount ; she appeared to be an American lumber Ship ; she sailed the
next day. oo

  

After the sailing of the Spanish Vessel for the Havannah, and of La Petite Engenie, only one
Vessel remained at the Gallinas with the Aurora, ‘This was the French Schooner lHippolyte. “No
sther Vessel took Slaves there, or anchored there for the purpose of taking Slaves, but thosemgn-
tioned. When the Vessels that took in Slaves there moved from the anchorage, they did not go
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far, generally not above half a day’s sail, as to Sugaree and to Cape Mount ; from Gallinas to Sugareeis a run of four or five hours, with a good breeze; to Cape Mount about the same; Cape Mountcan generally be seen from Gallinas, but Vessels in the Roads ot Gullinas can be seen from CapeMount only in very clear weather,
The armed Schooner that searched La Petite Eugenie, and chased the Aurora on the OthQctober, was an American,

  

Frangois Hataulx, a seaman belonging to the French Slave-trading Schooner lHippalyte,the Master and a detachment of the crew of which Vessel joined in the attack on the boatsof the Cyrene, ‘states, that the Hippolyte arrived in-Gallinas roads onthe 27th August. ‘The Vesselsin the roads at that time were La Petite Eugenie, the Spaniard, and the Aurora, La Petite Eu-genie was there before all; she carried the Netherlands Flag. She sailed about a fortnight beforethe capture with Slaves, (that is, about the 10th of October); her destination was for Surinam,The Master's name was Monsieur Canes. The Spaniard had sailed previously for the Havannah ;ghe sailed about a fortnight after the Hippolyte arrived, (that is, about the 1Gth of September),The Hippolyte was the only French Vessel, ‘Phe Eugenie, the Spaniard, the Aurora, and theHippolyte were the only Vessels that came to the Gallinas for Slaves during this time. TheAurora and the Hippolyte remained at Gallinas after the sailing of the Spaniard and La PetiteEugenie. They remained until they were taken, The Hippolyte, after the capture, ‘was allowedto go to Martinique with those of her crew, and of the crew of the Aurora that desired it. :Siaca, the King and principal Slave-dealer at the Gallinas, had bargained for 140 Slaves for theHippolyte; and 220 for the Aurora were to be in readiness; those that were given up were littleboys and girls taken from the Slaves of both Vessels, and picked up among the Traders; the primeSlaves were all kept back.
This person states, that there are fourteen or.sixteen white men resident at Gallinas, all con-nected with the Slave-trade; among them are two Spaniards, formerly Master and chief Mate ofa Vessel, the crew of which seized her with half her Slaves on board and carried her off, leaving theMaster and his companion on shoré.- This was about two years ago; the Master and Marehave remained at the Gallinas ever since, trading with the stock lefttothem. ‘The other white menare, principally Americans or English, they all use the English language. One of the Englishmenis a very young man of small stature (Jesse Owlet) ; heis Secretary to Siaca, that is, he writes hisletters and keeps his accounts. A School is kept wherg“the children of the principalpeople aretaught the English language, All the white people are engaged in the Slave-trade, "

 

——y

Third Inclosure in No. 1.

Information respecting the Gallinas, communicated in Substance by a Trader_ who is accustomed to visit that part of the Coast, January 25, 1823.

_SIACA, the King of the Gallinas, is the principal resident Slave-dealer and general-merchant,His -chief Town is called Kindama, his residence is there. He has several other Towns in-habited chiefly by. Slaves, or by people employed in keeping Slaves. The Towns that wereburned by Captain Grace, or rather by the boai’s crew of the Cyrene, in consequence of the In-habitants having fired upon them, when going in search of the Slayes of the Netherlands Schooner~Aurofa, were Terah and Tadia, Terah is a Town near the water-side, occupied mostly byKroomen, who employ themselves in attending on the Slave-ships ;_ and Tadia is a Town belong- |ing to a man named Bokari, who is second in authority to Siaca, and next to him in extent ofSlave-dealing and general trade. Of the Europeans who appear to be settled at the Gallinas, themost prominent and active is Juan Craz, or Johan Krauze, late Master of the pretended Swedish’ Schooner’ Joseph, condemned at Sierra Leone in the Mouth of June 1822, as a Spanish illegalSlave-trader. This individualis in expectation of a Brig and a Schooner to také away the Slaves .thathe has collected: the number of these is very considerable. Cruz sent them into the bushwhen the Cyrene appeared. Cruz took half the cargo of a Spanish Slave-trading Vessel that cametothe Gallinas a short. time since, under an engagement to pay for it in Slaves. The Slaves thatare collected by him are kept in his factory at a Fown called Debeah, which belongs to a Chiefnamed Vanni, called by the English Stephen Rogers. Cruz had loaded three guns at this factoryfor the purpose of firing upon the English, if they had come there at the time that the boat’s crewof the Cyrene went in search of the Slaves purchased for the Aurora ; but the English did notcome. This Town.of Debeah is on the water-side, .‘Since this information has been communicated, intelligence has been received of the death ofKrause, who was drowned by the upsetting of a boat in passing the bar of the Gallinas. Mon-sieur Galon, late Master of the French Scooner Hippolyte, and four European seamen perished atthe same time. Several other white men reside constantly at the Gallinas, most of them Englishor Americans, These men conceal their names, and are known only by the appellations of Tom. orBill; To the Traders who go from Sierra Leone they speak only the language of the Country, ©wishingto be consideredas Foreigners. who cannot speak English. Those who are particularly:fearful ofbeing recognized go into the ‘Country on the arrival of the Canoes from Sierra Leone, :
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and remain absent until they depart on their return, These white men are all in the Slave-trade -
they make journies into the Country in order to purchase Slaves at the Towné in the interior, and
to make themselves known for the purpose of causing Slaves to be sent down for sale to their
factories,
A young man named Owlet, lately resident at Sierra Leone, is at present Clerk or Secretary toSiaca, keeps his accounts and writes his letters, This young man had been in the service of

Government at Sierra Leone, and was subsequently employed by some of the Merchanis ; recently
again he was an Assistant Writer in the Office of the Registry of the Mixed Commissions, but
heing improvident he was involved in difficulties, and left the Colony with a small supply of trade=
goous, which he hoped to sell advantageously. At avery short distance from the Colony, on the
Southern shore of the Sherbro’, he was robbed and stripped of his clothes by the people of the
canoe in which he took his passage, and being left naked and destitute he with difficulty made his
way to the Gallinas, where he engaged in the service of King Siaca. (A.) . ,
The person who communicated this information did not know any thing particular of any of the

other white men residing at the Gallinas. He contradicted the statement of Francois Hataulx, of the
French Schooner Hippolyte, as to the establishment of Schools for general instruction by some of
the Europeans. The branches of the families of English descent, named Cleveland and Caulker,
resident at or near Gallinas, have schools for the instruction of their own children, who are nume-
rous in consequence of the unlimited extent of their female connections, but there is pot any
gene. al School, The instruction given in these family schools is confined to reading and writing
the English language, and to simple arithmetick. A few children belonging to Chiefs of the
Country may be occasionally included in these schools as matter of particular request and favour.
For more advanced edycation the children are sometimes sent’ by Slave-trading Vessels to the
Foreign Colonies where they may obtain the instruction. likely to be most advantageous in the
‘business of that trade. Mr. William Cleveland, who resides at a Town called Tasso, near Galli«
nas, has a School of the description above-mentioned. (B.) .
The Traders of Sierra Leone resort to the Gallinas to. purchase Country cloths. Scarcely any

other article in which they can deal is to be obtained there. Their trade has now beenaltogether
spoiled by the Slave-dealers, for, although these Traders do not purchase Country cloths, they
have ruined the bar, which is the general standard of calculation on the Coast of Africa, so that
double the quantity ofbaft, beads or tobacco, is now required for each cloth ; of tobacco, two pounds
is now the price of a piece of cloth,—that is, abaut 2s. 6d. Sierra Leone currency. .These cloths
are sold gt Sierra Leone for 5s each, “Rey are also sent from Sierra Leone in great quantity, to
be bartered tor rice in the Sherbro’, midway between the Gallinas and the Colony. The Slave-
traders looking for their indemnification to the vast profits to be realized in the subseqnent sale of.
their Slaves, think nothing of giving a greater price at the first purchase, ‘Lo the Traders whose
profits are limited, similar advances would be ruinous. The Slave-traders give two fathoms of
white baft for a bar, and ather trade-gaods in proportion, The Sierra Leone Traders give but
one fathom. The difficulties thrown in the wayofthe Sierra Leone Traders, by the Slave-dealers,
have causes! the Sierra Leone canoes to stop recently at a Place called Crim, a little nearer to the
Colony than Gallinas; there they await those who may be disposed to deal with them, and it
appears likely that the trade will go on better in this way, as the opposition of the Slave-dealers
was occasioned, not sq much hy any'desjre to purchase the same articles, asby feelings ot resent-
ment at the thought of haying cheir names and their proceedings discovered and reported,

. No rice is to be obtained at the Gallinas, and.but very little palm-oil. The people are so mrch
devoted to the Slave-trade,, and it is found so easy to purchase pro-isions with the goods derived
from that trade, that they will not take the trouble to cultivate the ground even for their own
subsistence, Cassada is the only article raised for this purpose, ‘The rice that they consume is
obtained from the Sherbro’. -
“The River Gallinas is large, the entrance is not direct from the trading Place of the same name

at the River’s month. It is necessary to go ont from that Place and to pass roundthebar. After
palling -, the River a day and a half or two days, the canoes come to a place where a‘Town,
called Kemmo, of considerable trade, stands some distance from the bank, ‘At that Place-the
River still continues large, and it is understood that it extends far into the Country, Bat the
Traders proceed no farther than Kemmo, rarely even so far.; the Chiefs on the banks of the River
are now at war and it is not safe to go thither. a
The Gallinas has a number of creeks and streams, by means of. which, as-well as by paths of

connection, communication.is maintained. with a vast tract of Country, both laterally and towards
the interior, By canoes nayigating the creeks and streams, and by the adjacent paths, the Slaves
dealers come down with their trains in. unlimited numbeis,. without apy interruption ‘to their
TOgTess.. , / : ‘ :

P The approach to the Station from Seaward is extremely difficult for all large Vessels on account
ot thesmall depth of water. The bar is very dangerous even to boats, which cannot at all times
easily get over, nor pass in safety through the banks within. The. concurrence of loeal circum-
stances will, it is to be feared, render the Gallinas a-den of incorrigible Slave;dealers as jong as
the Slave-trade shall maintain itself on the Coast.

{A.} The Letters sent by Siaca to Captain Grace were written by Owlet, whose hand writing was easily reeog-
nized and proved before the Registrar of the British and Netherlands Mixed Court. .

(C.) Several sons of Africans of superior condition are sent to Sierra Leone for education; more generally to
kornsome trade or business in @ private family, @nd the common use of the language, thau to obtain a knowledge
of books, : ,
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‘The condition of Slaves in the Country and round Gallinas is extemely abject. They are kept

almost naked; they are not allowed to join in the sports or in the society of the free people; and

if, occasionally, they should be admitted to any familiarity, by particular indulgence, they are sub-

ject to be deprivedofit at the caprice of a moment, with insulting taunts upon their abject con-

dition, to which cuffs and kicks, and other acts of the most degrading violence, are generally added.

Jf they are fit for sale they may be sold on the most trifling provocation, and almost at the pleasure

of their Masters.
In this, their condition is much worse than that of the people or domestick Slaves of the Chiefs

of the Rio Pongos, for there, by the customary Law ot the Country, the family Slaves, or “the

«* people,” of a Chief, as they are. commonly called, cannot be sold, unless when condemned by

regular palaver. The Chief is bound, moreover, to protect them and to maintain them properly,

taking their labour and service in return; and if he should fail in these duties, the Slaves are at

liberty to place themselves under the protection of any other Chief whom they may choose, The

_Chiet to whom they thus transfer themselves is bound to receive them and to hold them unharmed,

unless the Master should prove the complaint to be unfounded, and thus entitle himself to regain

possession of them. / :

The situation of the Slave-women at the Gallinas is the most pitiable that can be imagined,

they are alternately subject to the most toilsome labours, (C.) and to the lusts of their Owners,

and if by any lapseof natural affection, they happen to have children by other men, they are liable

to be separated from their infants at any moment that the interest or the will of the Master may

doom them to sale. The child is taken from thearms and from the breast. of. the mother, and

neither the complaints and lamentations of the parent, nor the piercing cries of the babe, can excite

a feeling of remorse in the obdurate heart of the barbarous despot, or of the inhuman traffickers.

A very common mote of obtaining an extraordinary supply ofSlaves upon urgent occasions,

such as th obligation to complete the delivery of a cargo of Slaves by a particular day, is, by the

ccllusion of the principal Chiefs and Dealers with their wives. These wives are geverally beyond

number, the husbands have long ceased to cohabit with the greater part of them. Some they have

merely betrothed to them, and have not yet commenced cohabitation with them. The women thus

separated from their husbands are allowed to go abroad without restraint, and to form intrigues:

with men whom, when they entangle, they betray. These men, according to the custom of the

Country, forfeit ten Slaves for the violation of the conjugal rights of the husband. Two of these

Slaves are for the costs of settling the palaver by the judgment of the Chiefs and Elders; the re-

maining eight are for the compensation of the injury done, The woman is by Law liable to

unishment if the hasband chooses to make palaver for her; but in cases of this nature they

receive presents of eloth and ornaments and other marks of favour, instead of being prosecuted and

punished for their criminal conduct. All these things are publick and undisguised, So litdlesbame

is there attendant upon the moral depravity of the collusive prostitution, or upon the abuse of the

forms of justice, to render that prostitution a source of base lucre to the Parties conspiring, and

an instrament of oppression to the victims of the conspiracy. Rum, the incentive of all corrup-~

tion and depravity, is in unlimited circulation, in order to promote acts of this description, while

the Slave-ships are present.
Disputes arising from other causes and accusations resulting from those ‘disputes, are also

frequent. The palaver is to be settled in these instances likewise by the Chiefs and Elders as--

sembled for the purpose. This is the Law of the Country, but as theKing, or the most powerful

Chief, is Master of the Law, and possessed of the means of influencing the subordinate Chiefs, he

can always manage'to have the judgment in his favour. Any person who becomes obnoxious to

- him may, therefore, reckon upon being cut off, or sold, or reduced to poverty with his family, by

extravagant penalties in Slaves.
When the Vessels, come for the purpose of carrying away Slaves from the Gallinas, have landed

the goods brought for the purchase of them, they seldom remain for any length of time stationary

at that place, but keep cruizing about for observation and for the preservation of the health of the

crew by exercise. They anchor occasionally at Sugaree and at Cape Mount for the purpose of

taking in wood, water and rice, for the subsistence of the Slaves; they purchase any Slaves that

may be offered to them at those Places, and convey them to the general depédt at Gallinas. When

the whole number intended for the cargo is collected, the Coast and the Sea for a considerable

distance are carefully observed. Then all the boats and canoes ure collected trom the Vessels at

the anchorage, and from the Towns on the Coast, and towards-four o’Clock, if every thing be

favourable, the Slaves are all at once embarked. The rapidity of this embarkation is so great that

it rarely occupies above an hour, and is often accomplished in one trip. As soon as all are on

hoard, the Vesselsets sail, so as to get clear of the ‘land before it ‘is dark, and thus before the next—

morning she is far out at Sea, beyond all danger of falling in with Cruizers,

. (€,) The weakness of framewhich.in other Countries, however little civilized, induces the more powerful sex ina

irit of generuds forbearance and courtesy to take upon itself every work of severe labour, and to leave to the females

{hemore delicate and more appropriate task of fulfilling domestick duties, is made in Africa, and more especially among

the Nations upon the Coast addicted to the Slave-trade, the ground of treatment altogether opposite; insomuch that,

with yery few exceptions, even the Jabours.of the field are performed by women, :
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Fourth Inclosure in No. 1.

Extractfrom the Royal Gazette and Sierra Leone Aduertiser of Saturday
August 18, 1821.

WE have been enabled to collect a more particular statement of the circumstances of the Ship-
svreck mentioned in our two last numbers.
The Union Islands, of Liverpool, William Muir, Master, sailed from that Port on the 17th May,

on a-trading voyage to the coast of Africa, for palm-oil, ivory, and other country produce. This
voyage to the Coast was favourable for forty days—that is, until the 26th Jane. At four o'Clock
in the morning of the 27th June, being then about three miles from the Coast off. Nieffou, she
struck on a rock, and immediately floated off again. Her head was put about in order to get
off the shore, but she struck ence more on the same ledge, and beat on and off several times; so
that, in several parts, her bottom was beaten in. By continual pumping, she was kept afloat for

. about three quarters of an hour, when she went down in seven fathoms: water off Drew<town, near’
Nieffou. The jolly-boat was cleared away, and as many as could, got into her; the Masterjumped
off the quarter deck, and got on board her; his brother made the attempt, and was drowned;
two others were drowned in the same way, At this time the long boat floated from the deck, and
some attempted to get on board her, but were washed off again on taking hold. They were for-
tunate, however, in regaining the Ship, The attempt was renewed with better success: she was
cleared and kept at convenient distance, and the rest of the people who clung to the rigging, the
upper part of the masts being above the water, were enabled to get on board her; some by swims
ming, others by floating on oars or spars, or pieces of wood, until they were picked up.
When all were collected, they made for the shore: it was now broad day-light, and they were

seen. from the shore. The people came offin canoes, and plundered them of every thing that they
could seize. When they reachedthe shore, they were plundered again ; their boats and oars were
seized, and the clothes torn off their backs. The Captain had put a few shirts over his clothes,
and all weretaken from him but the under one. , :

In this state they were taken up to Nieffou towa, to Tom Freeman the headsian, the fellows who
plundered them laughing at their misery in the most barbarous manner!—Tom Freeman, and the
other headnien, gave them some foud—sometimes they got cassada; sometimes, but very rarely,
alittle rice. Two black men who had gone to England on board a trading vessel, and were re-
turning in the Union Islands, were seized and kept as Slaves, Captain Spence, of the Brig
Elizabeth, heard of their distress, and sent them some tobacco to procure the méans of sub-
sistence, with a Letter directing them to make the best of their way. along shore to his factory in
the River Sestos. The Captain had gone off in a canoe to the Union, of London, which passed
on her way to Cameron and Calabar. He first swam to the canoe, which was at some distanes
from the shore. Another man, seeing that the Captain succeeded, followed his example, and alse
got on board. This man hada wooden leg; but he made his way through every thing, better than any
of the others. ‘he chief Mate, Mr. Arnold, also got off in a canoe, The rest of the sufferers made
the best of their way along the shore towards Captain Spence’s factory: but as they had to travel
through the rains, aud to swin ever several large rivers, or to pass them with the aid of pieces of
wood, the natives rarely having the kindness to assist them with canoes, many were obliged to
stop behind.on the way, and to come on very slowly. One man died on the way, another, an
apprentice, died on the night of getting on board the Elizabeth.
The total number tliat arrived at Sierra Leone on board the Elizabeth was seventeen; four of

these went to England in that Ship, thirteen remain at Sierra Leone, of whom four are sick in
hospital. The others are supplied with rations by order of the Acting Governor, A subsctiption
has been raised for the perposes of supplying them with the additional comforts necessary to theit
reduced condition; and they have, in general, experienced much private liberality.
About twenty were unable to join the Elizabeth: they remained in the Kroo country, and

would be as well attended as the nature of their situation would admit, Captain Spence having
sent them further supplies, and recommended them to the Kroo Chiefs.—The Colonial Schooner
sent for the purpose will, it is hoped, by this time, have released them altogether from their
dependence on Negro hospitality, aa
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N0. Bs

E. Gregory, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning. (Received August 18.)

Sir, . Sierra Leone, June 4, 1823.

I DEEM myself unhappy that it should be my fate to communicate to
you the loss of my valued and much respected Friend and Colleague, Mr.
Fitz Gerald, whose death took place yesterday Morning, after a short suffer-
ing from a malignant fever.

His Majesty has been deprived by this event of an invaluable Officer,
whose labours were constantly directedtopromote the humane objects that

had been confided to his trust, with that attention to the faithful discharge of
his judicial duties which accorded with his virtuous character:
Mr. FitzGerald’s Colleagues in the Mixed Commissions have to lament an

' Associate whose talents and industry, and conciliatory disposition, made him
to be esteemed, from the willingness with which they were ever exerted in
the common cause which united them. ee
Fo me, Sir, I may be permitted to add, with feelings of the deepest afflic-

tion, Mr. FitzGerald’s loss is irreparable; united to him as I had been by

His Majesty’s Commission for a period of some years, I was acquainted with
his transcendent virtues and extensive abilities, which were of the utmost

benefit to me in the discharge of my official duties. To his temperate and

moderate counsels; to his advice and assistance in the difficult and tryin

situations in which we were.sometimes placed by untoward circumstances; i
was highly indebted; and I owe it to his memory, Sir, to say, that if it
should be deemed that the British Commissioners have performed their duty

to the satisfaction of His Majesty’s Government, the praise would be due to
Mr. FitzGerald—not tome ; unhappy am I, Sir, that he is not a witnessof

this my humble tribute ofrespect for his virtues. Oo
I have this day addressed-a Letter, of which the inclosed isa copy, to

Governor Sit Charles M‘Carthy, who is at present on his way to the River
Gambia, informing him of Mr. FitzGerald’s-death. a
I conclude that Sir Charles M‘Carthy on his return to thi Colony will

take such steps as the Treaties authorize him, to fill up, temporarily, the pre-
sent Vacancy in the Mixed Commissions of British Commissioner of
Arbitration. oo .
At present there is no prize business before the Mixed Courts.

I have the honour to remain, &c.

oo. a an (Signed) © E. GREGORY.
The Right Hon. George Canning, oe

&e. Ce &e. a

 

Inclosure in No.2. oe

E. Gregory, Esq.ta Sir C. MCarthy, — -

Sik, ae . Sierra Leone, June 4, 1823,

WITH. the most profound sorrow I. comniunicate to Your Excellency the loss which His Ma-
festy’s Government has sustained in the person of Mr, FitzGerald, HisMajesty’s Commissioner of

Arbitration in. the Courts of Mixed Commission established in this Colony, whose death took

place yesterday Morning, after a very short illness. Coe

"J grieve that it should be my duty to communicate this unhappy event to Your Excellency, per«

suaded: that Your Excellency, acquainted with the virtues of which Mr. FitzGerald was eminently

possessed, will deplore in his death the loss of an invaluable publick Officer. ;
I have the honour to be, &c, me

a : (Signed) GREGORY -

Ha Excellency Brigr.-General SirCharles M‘Carthy, oe Be ,
&e. wee, oe
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No. 3.

£. Gregory, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Received Mugust 20;)

Str, Sierra Leone, June 11, 1823,

SIR CHARLES M‘CARTHY has not arrived at Sierra Leone, from the
Gambia, and the Vacancy in the Mixed Commissions, occasioned by the death
of Mr. FitzGerald, has not been filled up. There is no Prize business before
the Courts.

In addition to the death of Mr. FitzGerald, my Foreign Colleagues and I
have tu regtet the death of Mr. Frederick Sawyer, whe, since the establish-
ment of the Mixed Commissions, in the Year 1819, filled the Place of First
Clerk in the Registry Office, with much credit to himself and with great.
satisfaction to the Commissioners. Mr. Sawyer died on the 26th of May last:
his Situation, the salary of which was defrayed by the Foreign Governments
concerned, as well as by the British Government,.has been filled on the autho-
tity of the Commissioners, Foreign and British, by Mr. Henry Chuber, whe
was recommended byhis personal merit, and by his qualifications as Proctor
and Attorney in theCourts of Mixed Commission, and in the Colonial Courts of
Justice, I have the honour to be, &e.

The Right Hon. George Canning, (Signed) E. GREGORY.
&e. &e. &e.

 

No. 4.

E. Gregory, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Received September 17.)

(Extract.) Sterra Leone, July 24, 1823.

UPON the death of my respeeted Friend andColleague, Mr. Fitz Gerald,
on the 3d of June last, I did not think it expedient, in the absence of Governor
Sir Charles M‘Carthy, to take immediate proceedings in order that the
Vacancy which that unhappy event had occasioned in the Courts of Mixed
Commission might be filled. There was not any business before the Courts
which caHed for such proceedings, and advices had been received in the

~ Colony, that Sir Charles M‘Carthy’s return from the Gambia might soon be
~ expected. -

But on the 12th of June, a Petition was presented in the British.and Spanish
Court of Mixed Commision, by one of the Proctors ef the Court, on behalf
of Captain Phillips, commandingHis Majesty’s Ship Bann, stating that the
Schooner San Haphael, whose Case was reported to you, Sir, by the Com-
missioners, in their Despatch (marked Spain) of the 22d of April 1823, had
been sent to this Colony by Captain Phillips, in order to her being disposed
of by the British and Spariish Court of Mixed Commission. The San Rafael,
as a Tender, had accompanied the Bann as far as the Island of Ascension.
Captain Philips had quitted the Bann at that Island, to proceed to England
en account of ill health, and the Tender having become burthensome to the
Bann, as taking from her Officers and men, she had been despatched to
Sierra Leone. It was stated in the Proctor’s Petition that the San Rafael was
ina bad condition, and further, that if the Court did not dispose of her, as
was prayed, the Officer on board had instructions to. abandon her.

As the San Rafael had been already before the Court, I was willing’ that
she should be disposed of by sale, rather than she should perish by abandon-
ment, But I did not think that J alone had sufficient authority to order her
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sale; I was unwilling to assume an authority on the occasion, more particur
larly as I did not conceive that the Treaty contemplated the absence of a

British Commissioner; it being directed by the Treaty that, in event of the
death of a British Member of the Mixed Commission, in the absence of the -

Governor or Lieutenant-Governor, the vacancy should successively be filled,
ad interim, by the Principal Magistrate, and by the Secretary of the Colony.
I therefore wished, in order to proceed with proper authority, that the vacancy
in question should be filled according to the provisions ofthe Treaty.

Understanding that doubts existed amongst some of the Members of His-
Majesty’s Colonial Council, as to who should be held to be the Principal
Magistrate of the Colony, upon the death of Chief Justice FitzGerald, I
deemed it to be most prudent to address myself to His Majesty’s Colonial:
Council, which administered the Government of the Colony in the absence of
Sir Charles M‘Carthy ; with a view that the Members of the Council might
determine amongst themselves, who should be held to be the Principal Ma-

‘ gistrate, or who should undertake to fill the Situation vacant in the Mixed.
Commission by the death of Mr. FitzGerald.

I accordingly addressed a Letter, of which the inclosed is a copy, to the
Acting Colonial Secretary, with a request that it might be laid before the
Council ; to represent that some business had been brought before the British
and Spanish Court of Mixed Commission, which I did not think that I
possessed sufficient authority to dispose of, being alone, as a Commisioner in
that Court ; to. submit to their consideration whether it would not be proper,
in order to the despatchofthat business, that the vacancy in the Situation
heldby Mr. FitzGerald should be filled by the Principal Magistrate of the
Colony, according to the provision of the Treaty of the 23d of September
1817, and should the Council be of opinion that it would be proper that the
Situation should be so filled, I begged that such arrangement might be made.
that the Gentleman holding the Situation ofPrincipal Magistrate might enter
upon the duties attending the Situation ofCommissioner ot Arbitration.

I inclose a Copy of the Letter that I received from the Acting Colonial
Secretary, in reply to my Communication. In this Letter it is stated that the
Council, being of opinion that the Situation of His Majesty’s Commissionerof
Arbitration should be filled without delay, had accordingly sworn in the
Honourable D. M. Hamilton, Member of Council, to that Office, who would
enter on the duties of the same forthwith.
. Being thus associated with Mr. Hamilton, the sale of the Schooner San
Rafael was ordered by us jointly, and the sale accordinglysoon took place.
Mr. Hamilton did not fill the vacant Situation of Arbitrator in the British

‘and Portuguese, and British and Netherlands Mixed’Commissions; there was
nothing that required me at that time to have a Colleague under those
Commissions. . a
On the 11th instant, Sir Charles M‘ Carthy returned to Sierra Leone, from

his visits to the Forts on the Gold Coast, and to the Settlement.on the River
Gambia.

I took an early opportunity to call upon Sir Charles M‘Carthy, to request
his. attention to the Vacancy that had been occasionedin.each ofthe Courts
of Mixed Commission, by the death of Mr. FitzGerald. Sir Charles M‘Car-
thy informed me that it was his intention to appoint Mr. Hamilton to fill the.
Vacancy ; that he had already notified this intention to Lord Bathurst.)

Accordingly I received this Morninga Letter from Sir Charles M‘Carthy, -
transmitting a Copy of the Commission issued by Sir Charles; appointing
Mr. Hamilton Commissioner of Arbitration, and Mr. George RendallSecre-
tary or Registrar, vice Hamilton, until. further Instructions froin Europe. I
-‘inclose herewith, Sir, for your information, Copies of these Documents.

' This Commission only authorizes Messrs. Hamilton and:Rendall to actin
the British and Spanish Court of Mixed Commission. Sir Charles M‘Carthy
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did not make mention of the Appointments under the two other Mixed
Commissions: but Mr. Hamilton has exhibited to me the Original Com.
missions, under which himself and Mr. Rendall are to act, in the British and
Portuguese, and British and Netherlands Mixed Commissions ; as also a Cer-
tificate of his having taken the Oath, prescribed by the Treaties to the Com-
missioners on entering upon the duties of their Office.
You will bepleased to observe, Sir, that the Commission to Mr. Hamilton

expresses the “ doubts that had arisen, whether, according to the true intent
‘and meaning of the said Treaty,” (the Treaty of the 23d of September 1817),
“ the said Office of Commissioner of Arbitration must necessarily be filled and
*“ executed by the Governor in person, or whether the Governor may not fill
“ the said Office by such other Perscn as he may consider competent thereto,
* and who may most conveniently discharge the duties of the same.” I would
beg leave, Sir, to submit these doubts to your consideration, and respectfully to
solicit that you may be pleased to give your Instructions thereon, in order that
no questions may be raised hereafter upon the legality of the proceedings of
the Mixed Courts, as they are at present constituted; and that; upon future
occasions of Vacancies, the course to be pursued by the Local Government,
and by His Majesty’s Commissioner concerned, may be clearly specified.

I have communicated to Mr. Hamilton, for his information and guidance,
the contents of the Despatches that Mr. FitzGerald and myself had, from.
time to time, the honour to receive from His Majesty’s Secretary of State
for Foreign Affairs. I have the honour to remain, &c. .

(Signed) E. GREGORY.
TheRight Hon. George Canning,

Se ——&e. &e.

 

First Inclosure in No. 4.

The British Commissary Judge to the Acting Colonial Secretary.

. Sir, Sierra Leone, June 12, 1823,

_ THE lamented death of Mr. FitzGerald has occasioned a vacancy in the situation held by him,
of His Majesty's Commissioner of Arbitration in the British and Spanish Mixed Commission, es«
tablished in this Colony for the prevention of illicit Traffick in Slaves.
‘No matters ofbusiness, since the death of Mr. FitzGerald, have. occurreduntil this day, which

required that,the vacancy in the situation of His Majesty's Commissioner of Arbitration should be
filled; but on this day'a matterof business has been brought before the British and. Spanish
Court of Mixed Commission, which I donot think that I have sufficient authority, satisfactorily to
dispose of, being at this present moment alone as a Commissioner in the British. aud Spanish
Mixed Commission.

Thé, Treaty.of the 23d September 1817, entered into by His Majesty andHis Catholick Ma-
jesty, establishing a Mixed Commission on the Coast of Africa, provides the manner in which a
preaney, occasioned by the death of a British Member of the African Mixed Commission, is to be

led.
The absence of Sir Charles M‘Carthy, Governor,andthe absence of a Lieutenant-Governor, of

this Colony, make it to be my duty to request of you, Sir, to submit ta the consideration of His
Majesty’s Colonial Council, at as early a period as possible, whether it will not be proper, in
order to the despatch of the business now before. the British and Spanish Mixed Commission,
that the present. vacancy in the situation held by Mr. FitzGerald, should be filled by the Principal
Magistrate of this Colony, according to the provision of the Treaty of the 23d September 1817 ;
and sbould His Majesty Colonial Council be of opinion, that it would be proper that the situation
‘of His Majesty’s Commissioner of Arbitration should be so filled, I would beg that such arrange-
ment-maybe made that the Gentleman holding now the situation ofPrincipal Magistrate of this
Colony, may enter with as little delay as possible upon the duties attending. the situation of His
Majesty's Commissioner of Arbitration. .

_ I farther beg, Sir, that I may be favoured with the determination of His Majesty's Colorial
Council upon the question, which I deem it'my duty to request that you will submit to their con-
sideration. And I have the honour to be; &c,

; on (Signed) E. GREGORY.
The Hon, Joseph Reffell,
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Second Inclosure in No. 4.

Lhe Aeting Colonial Secretary to the British Commissary Judge.

Siz, Seeretary’s Office, Sierra Leone, June 14, 1823.

1 HAVE had the honour of laying before His Majesty’s Colonial Council your ‘Letter of the
12th instant, requesting of me to submit to. their consideration the propriety, in order to the des-.
patch of business now before the British and Spanish Mixed Commission, that the present vacancy
in the situation held by the late Mr. FitzGerald, should be filled by the Principal Magistrate of
this Colony, according to the provision of the Treaty of the 23d September 1817; and I am di-
rected to acquaint you, in answer, that the Council being otf opinion that the situation of His
Majesty’s Commissioner of Arbitration should be filled without delay, as submitted in your Letter,
have accordingly sworn in the Honourable D. M. Hamilton, M.C, to that Office, who will enter.
on the duties of the same forthwith. =:

so I have the honour to be, &c.

Edward Gregory, Eq. : , (Signed) J. REBFELL,

  

Third Inclosure in No, 4.

The Governor of Sierra Leone to the British Commissary Judge.

Siz, Governinent House, Sierra Leone, July 23, 1823.

‘WITHreference to the Letter Ihad the honour of addressing you on the 21st instant, I -here-
with inclose a Copy of the Commission IJ issued, appointing Daniel Molloy Hamilton, Esq. Com-
missioner of Arbitration, in the room of the late Edward FitzGerald, Esq, and George Rendall,
Esq. Secretary or Registrar, vice Hamilton, until further instructions from Europe.

, , I have the honour to be, &c.
Edward Gregory, Esq. (Signed) €, M*CARTHY.

  

Fourth Inclosure in No. 4.

Commission of the GovernorofSierra Leone, appointing D. M: Hamilton,
£sq. Commissioner of Arbitration, and George Rendall, Esq. Secretary
or Registrar, of the British and Spanish Court of Mixed Commission.

By His Excellency SirCharles M‘Carthy, Knight, Captain-General and Governor in Chief”
of the Colony of Sierra Leone, the Settlement of Saint Mary, in the River Gambia, the
British Forts on the Gold Coast, and the other: Britisli €erritories and Possessions on the
Western Coast of Africa, between Latitude 20 deg. North, and 20 deg. South, Vice Admi-
ral,.Chancellor and- Ordinary of the same, Brigadier-General and Commander in Chief of
His’ Majesty's Forces thereon, and Colonel of the Royal African Colonial -Copps of

. Light Infantry. , :
WHEREAS by the Thirteenth Article of the Regulations for the Mixed Commissions, forming

an. integral part of the Treaty between His Britannick Majesty and His Catholick Majesty The
King of Spain, for the purpose ot ‘preventing Their respective Subjects fronr-engaging in’ any

. illicit Traffick in Slaves, signed at Madrid, the 23d day of September, i the Year of our Lord
1817, the Two High Contracting . Parties have agreed, that, in the eventof the death of ‘one of
more of the Commissary Judges, or the Commissioner of Arbitration, composingthe above-mena
tioned Mixed Commission, their Posts shall be supplied, ad interim, in the following. manner :—~on
athe part of the British Government, the vacancies shall he filled successively in the Commission,
which shall sit within the Possessions of HisBritannick Majesty, by the Governor, or Lieutenant.
Governor, resident in that Colony, by the Principal Magistrate-of the same, and by the Secretary:
And whereas Edward FitzGerald, Esquire, the Commissioner of Arbitration appointed in- this
Colony, on the part of the British Government, died at Free Town, in the said Colony, on the 3d
day of this.instant. Month of June, and doubts-having arisen whether, according to the true intent
and nieaning of the said Treaty, the said Office ot Commissioner of Arbitration must necessarily
be.filled andexecuted by the Governor in person ; or whether the Governor may not fill the said
Office, by such other person as he mayconsider ‘competent thereto, aad whomay miost coiiveniently
discharge the duties of the same. | And we havibg taken into our consideration the impractieability
of our executing the duties of the said Office, and that our so executing the duties of the same,
would be highly detrimental to the service of our ‘Sovereign Lord His Britannick Majesty; from
the necessity therewould be in such case of our constant residence at ornear Free Town, whereby
our necessary attendance, as of late,:on the Gold Coast, and at present in the River Gambia, must
either be dispensed with, or the duties of the said Office neglected, or otherwise we must act in
such Office for a short time during our residence at Free Town, and on our departure therefrom, a
new Commissioner of Arbitration must be appointed, which must necessarily at various thes
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retard the business of the said Commission. And we having lately appointed Daniel Mollo
Hamilton, Esquire, Acting Chief Justice ‘and Judge of the. Court of Vice Admiralty, in the sail:
Colony, in the room of the said Edward FitzGerald, Esquire, deceased, and he being, by virtue of
such Office, the Principal Magistrate of the said Colony in our absence ; and we having taken into
consideration the constant residence at Free Town, the Capital of the said Colony, and the Place
where the said Mixed Commission has always sat, of the said Daniel Molloy Hamilton, and his
fitness and abilities to perform the functions of the said Office of Commissioner of Arbitration ;
have named, made, constituted, appointed, and deputed, and do, by these presents, name, make, con-
stitute, appoint and depute him, the said Daniel Molloy Hamilton, Esquire, to be His Britannick
Majesty’s Commissioner of Arbitration, in this Colony of Sierra Leone, under andpursuant to
the said-Treaty, and an Act ot Parliament made in the 58th Year of the reign of Hislate Majesty
King George the Third, intitaled «« An Act to carry into execution a Treaty made between His
« Majesty and The King of Spain, for preventing Traffick in Slaves,” to have, hold, and execute
the said Office, with all the rights, privileges and emoluments to thesame belonging, till such time
as a Successor shall be appointed thereto by His Majesty, and shall enter on the duties of the said
Office, And the said Daniel Molioy Hamilton having been appointed by His late Majesty King
George the Third, to be Secretary or Registrar to the said Mixed Commission, pursuant to the
said Treaty and Act of Parliament, and he having taken the Oath required by the said Act of Par-
Vainent, and having entered upon and performed the duties of the said Office, from the commence~
tent of the assembling of the Members of the said Mixed Commission till the present time ; and
it being requisite now, in consequence of the appointment of the said Daniel Molloy Hamilton to
the Office of Commissioner of Arbitration, that a fit and proper person should be appointed to
execute the duties of the said Office of Secretary or Registrar, during the ‘time the said Daniel
Molloy Hamilton shall continue in the said Office of Commissioner of Arbitration; and we,
reposing special contidence in the loyalty and ability of George Rendall, Esquire, have appointed,
and do hereby appoint, the said George Rendall to be Secretary or Registrar.to the said Mixed
Commission, pursuant to the said Treaty, and Act of Parliament, for and during the time the said
Daniel Molloy Hamilton shall hold the said Office of Commissioner of Arbitration,or until he, the
said George Rendall, shail be otherwise superseded by us or His Majesty.

In witness whereof we have signed these presents, and have hereunto
affixed the seal of the said Colony of Sierra Leone, at Bathurst, in the
River Gambia, the 15th day of June, in the Year of our Lord 1823,
and of His Majesty’s reign the fourth. ‘

, (Signed) C, M‘CARTHY,

- By His Excellency’s command. (Signed) J, W. Werusnext, Private Secretary.

 

No. 5.

Mr. Secretary. Canning to the British Commissioners at Sierra Leone, The
Havannah, Rio de Janeiro and Surinam.

(Circular.) | Foreign Office, August 1, 1823.
I SEND to you herewith, for your information and guidance, a Copy of the

Correspondence on the Slave Trade, which has been laid before Parliament
in the course of the last Session. Iam, &c,

(Signed). GEORGE CANNING,
Elis Majesty's Commissioners at Sierra Leone,

The Havannah, Rio de Janeiro, and Surinam.

 

No. 6.

Mr. Secretary Canning to Messrs. Gregory and Fitz Gerald.

GENTLEMEN, . ForeignOffice, August 5, 1823.
_I HAVE to acknowledgethe receipt of your -several Despatches, up to

the 29th of April last, inclusive ; and to express to you The King’s most gra-
cious approbation of the mode in which you have in general executed the
arduousdutiesentrusted to your care. = Iam, &e.

. (Signed) GEORGE CANNING.
Elis Majesty's Commisstoners, Sierra Leone.  
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No. 7.

E. Gregory, Esq. to Joseph Planta, Jun. Esq.—(Received Jan. 30, 1824.)

Sir, Sierra Leone, September 6, 1823.

CONSIDERING that it may be required of His Majesty’s Commissioners,

by the Authority under which they have the honour to act, that they should

transmit to the Department for Foreign Affairs, Duplicates of the Despatches

that they may from time to time have occasion to address to that Depart-

~ ment; I beg leave to explain to you, for the information and satisfaction of

His Majesty’s Secretary of State, that I have been prevented from forwarding

Duplicates of the Despatches that it has been my duty, lately, to address to

- the Department, on subjects connected with my Situation. _

The calamitous sickness that has visited this Colony within the last four

Months, has not only deprived me of the invaluable assistance of Mr. Fitz-

Gerald, in my Official labours, but it has taken from me the aid of three

Gentlemen who asssisted me as Writers; and I have been left to seek, often-

times in vain, the assistance required by me, promptly to forward the original

Despatches that I have alluded to. |

It is only very lately that I have beenso fortunate as to engage the services

of the-Amanuensis who writes this Despatch, but even his services have been

withheld from me by sickness. a

I have further, Sir, to explain to you, and to beg of you to have the good-

ness to represent it to His Majesty’s Secretary of State, should occasion |

require it, that it has been matter of infinite regret to me, as it was to Mr.

FitzGerald, that our Despatches could not always be written with that pre-

cision and nicety of hand writing, that would have served at once to please and

to save the invaluable time of those to whom the Despatches were addressed.

It is inconceivable, Sir, the trouble and labour which Mr. FitzGerald and

myself had in the despatch of the Correspondence which we had the honour

to hold with the Department for Foreign Affairs. Often to re-copy what

had been written by an Amanuensis, and almost on all occasions, to copy a

great part ofthe Correspondence, were tasks imposed upon us by the want of

such Writers as we would have wished to have had, for the satisfaction of the

Department under which we acted. I may be permitted, Sir, to say, that,

with a view to that satisfaction, I sought and obtained from England, at

some expence, the services of a young Gentleman of much promise; but,

shortly after his arrival here, his name was added to the list of those whose

death I have occasion to deplore. ce

_ [beg your indulgence, Sir, for thus trespassing on your valuable time.

The object of this trespass will not, I trust, be deemed trivial by you, as it

has been to explain, what otherwise might be taken to have been remissness

or inattention on my part.
I beg to assure you, Sir, that my best endeavours will be exerted to obtain,

in all matters, the approbation of the Department under which I have the

honour to act; andI dare, therefore, hope that its indulgence will be extended

‘to me, onoccasions such as those that I ‘have stated, when my desires to

obtain that approbation have been accompanied bymyregret, that the want

of skilful Assistants prevented me from giving perfect satisfaction.

: ‘I have the honour to be, &c. .

Joseph Planta, Jun, Esq. (Signed) HE. GREGORY.

&e. &e. &e.
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No. 8.

Mr. Seeretary Canning to E. Gregory, Esq.

Sir, Foreign Office, November 4, 1823,
I HAVE received your Despatch of the 24th of July, giving an account

of the proceedings which took place, on the occasion of the Vacan
which occurred in the Commission, by the death of Afr. FitzGerald; and _
submitting a doubt, whether, according to the Treaties, a Vacancy in the -
Office of one of the Commissioners must necessarily be filled up, and executed
in person, by the Governor of the Colony in which the Commission is situ-
ated, (where there is a Governor) or whether the Governor may not fill the
said Office, by such other Person as he may consider competent thereunto.

I have to state to you, in answer, that, taking the whole bearing of the
Treaties, and the emergency of the case, the Governor, Sir Charles M‘Carthy,
appears to have acted on the oceasion, in accordance with a fair interpreta-
tion of the spirit of the Treaty, on principles of reciprocity’ as between the
Contracting Parties, and with a due regard to tne beneficial exercise of the
duties required under the Treaty.
In the particular instance, however, no question of the legality of the pto-

ceedings could well in any manner arise ; since I have to acquaint you, that
His Majesty has graciously signified His intention, of confirming, “aé initio,”
the provisional nomination made by Sir Charles M‘Carthy, in the personof
Daniel Molloy Hamilton, Esq. to fill thé Office of Judge Arbitrator under
the Treaties, vacant by the death of Mr, FitzGerald.

I have further to acquaint you, for your information, that The King has
been graciously pleased to nominate James Woods, Esquire, to the Office
of Registrar to the Mixed Commission,.vacant by the promotion of Mr,
Hamilton,. .

Tam, &c,

(Signed) GEORGE CANNING.
Efis Majesty's Commissioners at Sierra Leone.

 
omy

No. 9.

Mr. Secretary Canning to the British Commissioners at Sierra Leone.

(Extract.) Foreign Office, November 6, 1823.
I AM glad to mark my sense of the satisfactory explanation which you

have afforded, as to the principles on which the Commission has proceeded, in
the appointment of a Marshal of the Court, and of the clear account which
you have given of the charges rendered in by that Officer, underthe directions
of the Court, in each particular Case. an
These charges, in themselves, appear, on the whole, to be but just and

reasonable: it is not therefore necessary, in answering your Despatch, that I
should enter into a detail on each separate item of them; and the principal
point, indeed the only point on which it remainsnecessary that I should give
you special Instructions for your guidance, is, as to the quarter from whence
these charges. are to be paid. i
The expences appear to arise, either out of the personal services rendered

by the Marshal, and by others under his supermntendance, and under the di-
reetions of the Court, orelse out of the necessity of supplying certain articles
for the due and decent subsistence of the Slaves, prior to emancipation: as
tach, they are essentially necessary tothe adj udication of the Cases, in the just
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and humane spirit of the Treaty ; and are consequently properly chargeable
upon the proceeds of the prizes, in each particular Case, to be deducted prior
to the division of the moities of those proceeds, the one for the Foreign
Government and the other for His Majesty’s Treasury. The latter moiety
to be distributed afterwards to the Captors under the Acts of the Ist and 2d
George IV. cap. 99.
To the admission of this principle, it is not presumed that the Foreign

Government will be inclined to make any objection, since it is in the necessary
furtherance of an object, which is commen both to the Foreign Power and to
Great Britain, namely, the due execution of the Treaty between ther : not
can the Captors object to the practice, since in all grants of this description
‘it has been usual to lay the burthen of adjudication upon the proceeds ; and
since, in this particular grant, the Act which gives to the Captors the moiety,
entitles them only to the nett proceeds which would belong to His Majesty
under the Treaties.

_ You will therefore consider yourselves authorized to act upon the principle
here laid down; and you will invite the Foreign Commissioners to-concur
with you upon these. points, if not definitively, at aay rate provisionally: and
an instruction will forthwith be prepared, te His Majesty’s Ministers to the
several Powers with whom those ‘Treaties were concluded, under which your
Commission was instituted, urging them to confirm to their Commissioners,
wherever difficulty or doubt arises, the decisions given according to the
opinions expressed in this despatch.

Iam, &c.

. (Signed) GEORGE CANNING.
His Majesty's Commissioners at Sierra Leone.
 

No. 10.

Mr. Seeretary Canning to Messrs. Gregory and Hamiiton.

GENTLEMEN, Foreign Office, November 17, 1823.
YOUR Despatches of December of the last Year, relative to the practice

of Commanders of British Ships in demanding, and enforcing, the embarka-
tion of Slaves from theCoast, have been submitted to His Majesty’s Advoeate-
General; and I have to acquaint you, in conformity with the opinion of that
Officer, that the demand of Slaves from Native Chiefs, on the plea that they
were held under contract for embarkation in Vessels on the Coast, is not within
the Provisions of the several Treaties, and is consequently illegal; it is also
objectionable as interfering with the Territorial Rights of Third Parties : ‘in
all Cases of this sort, therefore, which come before you, you will do well te
eonfine yourselves strictly to the several Treaties and Acts of Parliament.

For your further information on this point, I herewith furnish you with
the Copy of a Letter addressed under my direction, to the Secretary to His
Majesty’s Treasury, upon the subject of the Claims brought forward by the
Captors of the Rosalia, the Diechoza Estrella, and theAurora,for a moiety
of the proceeds of the condemned Vessels, and a bounty upon the Slaves that
wereon board of them. .

-. Lalso forward te you for your information, the Copy of a Letter addressed
under my direction to the Secretary to the Admiralty, upon the Case of the
Sinceridade, and of the attack on the Gallinas River, as detailed in the state-
ments of His Majesty’s Naval Officers, andin your Despatches to me.

Iam, &c.

(Signed) GEORGE CANNING,
His Majesty's Commissioners at Sierra Leone. YS
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First Inclosure in No. 10.

Joseph Planta, Jun. Esq. to George Harrison, Esq.

Sir, ForeignOffice, November 17, 1823,
IT HAVE received and laid before Mr. Secretary Canning your Communications of the } ith of

April, and of the 23d and the 3ist of October 1823, expressive ofa wish, on the part of the Lords of
His Majesty’s Treasury, to know Mr. Canning’s sentiments onthe Papers therein inclosed, respecting
the claims of Captors under the Slave-trade Treaties, to a moiety of the proceeds of the condemned
Vessel, and a bountyou the Slaves found on board of them, in the cases of the Rosalia, the Di-
chosa Estrella, and the Aurora, |

All these Vessels were captured at a period at which it was not lawful, by the Treaties then
existing, for a Ship of War, cruizing under those Treaties, ** to detain any Vessel whatever, not
** having Slaves actually on board.’

_ it appears from the Papers sent home by the Commissioners at Sierra Leone, under whom these
Vessels were condemned for illegal Slave-trade, that, at the time at which thé Vessels were de
tained, there were not any Slaves on board of any one of them; but that, in each case, the Captor
brought about afterwards the embarkation of Slaves, aud then carried the Vessel and the Slaves to
Sierra Leone for adjudication.

In the case of the Rosalia, in which the Slaves were embarked in consequence of a negotiation
entered into by the Captor on shore, Mr. Canning, in his Instruction to the Commissioners at
Sierra Leone, of September 25, 1822, had already declared his opivion that the conduct of her
Captor, Lieutenant Hagan, was highly reprehensible, in resorting to an expedient which was un-
authorised and illegal, with a viewto bring the Vessel colourably within theTreaty.
The Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty, to whom Mr. Canning made a.communication upon

the subject, coineided with him in this opinion, It has been satisfactory to Mr. Canning to learn
{rom your Letters of the 23d and the 31st of October 1823, that the Lords of His.Majesty's
Treasury also ‘* fully and entirely concurred in the sentiments expressed by Mr. Canning,” in his
Instruction above-mentioned, upon this subject,
Mr, Canniug further learnt trom your Letters, that, in. concurrence with these sentiments, their

Lordships had declined to recommend to His Majesty to grant to the Captor of the Rosalia, auy
proportion of the proceeds-of that Vessel, or any bounty on the Slaves,
‘From the Papers, Class B., on the Slave-trade, laid before Parliament.in.the course of the last

Session, it appears that, in the case of the Dichosa Estrella, the Slaves who were on shore, or
said to have been ready for embarkation, were embarked subsequently to the capture, upon a re=
quisition from Captain Knight, the Captor of the Vessel 3 and that in the case of the Aurora,
Captain Grace, the Captor of the Vessel, who snspected that some Slaves had been embarked, and
afterwards landed, obtained the embarkation of the Slaves subsequently to the capture, by a sum-
mons, followed by an act of force, a3 regardingtheNative Chiefs.
The cases of these Vessels are somewhat different from the case of the Rosalia, and there is, in

each of them, an evident design or attempt to carry on illegal Slave-trades as ‘referred to by the
Commissioners in their condemmation ; but it does not appear to Mr. Canning, that these circum~
stances are such as could in any ways authorise the capture, or. legalize the act of the Captors in
bringing about, subsequently, the embarkation of the Slaves. ;

Mr. Canning submits, therefore, to “The Lords of His Majesty’s Treasury to consider, whether
their Lordships will recommend to His Majesty, in these cases, the grant to the Captors- of/a
moiety of the proceeds, or a bounty upon the Slaves ; bidding me to express, at the same time; his

~ decided opinion, that His Majesty’s Naval Officers should be,by.allproper means, discountenanéed
in any departure from their Instructions, and should be constrained te regulate themselves strictly
by the Treaties, in detaining any Vessels tor illegal Slave-trade.

In respect to the incidental points arising. out of these cases-as'the Treaties now stand, (i.e.
with their additional Articles), Mr. Canning directs me to acquaint you that he has given Instruc-
dons to His Majesty's Commissioners, to insert in their sentence of condemnation, provided no
judicial inconvenience may thereby incur, the number of Slaves that were actually seized and
found on board, at the time of ‘the capture, so far as the fact shall have been ascertained by the

_ evidence given.
T am further to acquaint you, that, in the special case of the liberation of a Vessel attended by

the emancipation of the Slaves on board, Mr. Canninghas enjoined to His Majesty's Commis-
sioners, that, if they should give to the Captors some Minute of the authority by which they are
discharged from the custody of the Slaves, they should be careful to avoid confounding such Do-
cument with the ordinary Certificate of Emancipation, lest, under such.a Document,.a claim should
beinstituted, on the part of the Captors, for the bounty whicly is presumed. to be due, only in, the
cases of Slaves found, at the time of capture, on board of Vesselswhich have been afterwards con-
demned for illegal Slave-trade. .
Mr. Canningbegsto suggest, for the consideration of their Lofdships, that-in any case in which

bounty on Slaves, or the moiety of proceeds of condemned Vessels are claimed by the Captors;
under the Treaties, their Lordships should, if they feel the necessity of any further information
before theydecide-onsuch claims, have the goodness. to signify the same to Mr. Canning, whowill direct such information to be transmitted to. them on the doubtful points,,-as the. Correspon-dence in this Department can supply,and Mr. Canuing will give Instructions to theCommissioners,  



Srerra Leone.  (General.} 33

as the case may demand, for forwarding to him such further information as the Lords of His
Majesty’s Treasury may require, and the Commissioners may possess, or be enabled to obtain,
upon the case in question.
On the Minute of their Lordships, purporting that they had directed that the opinion of theLaw Officers of the Crown should be taken on the question : whether a retrospective cflect can be

attached to the Article of the 10th December 1822, additional to the Treaty with Spain of the 23d
September 1817 ;-—-I am to acquaintyou that I have, by direction of Mr, Canning, transmitted
to His Majesty’s Law Officers some further Documents which may be. useful to them in the de-
cision of this question. And I have, at the same time, submitted for their opinion the question :——
how far it would be advisable to propose any addition to the Treaty for restricting the period for
delivering in appeals under its provisions.
On the observation contained in one of the inclosures of the Minute, that, if a retrospective

effect is net attached to the Article in question, it will be advisable that the Commissiouers should
ronounce further. sentence of condemnation (and Mr, Canning supposes, also sentence of liber-

ation), in cases which they had adjudged upon the principle of the Article, but before the Article
was concluded; Mr, Canning desires that I would observe to you, that he apprehends, if'a farther:
sentence were required, a new hearing of the Case might, ‘in such instances, very properly be de-
manded; either by the Parties, or by the Foreign Commissioner; and that such a proceeding would,
in many cases, produce very. serious inconvenience and expence, and that from the distance of time,
and other circumstances, it would not be likely to answer the ends ofjustice,
Mr Canning is inelined to think that it would be advisable that the confirmiation, if necessary,

of such sentences should be obtained by a general declaration of the High Contracting Parties to
the Treaties, : Tam, &e.
George Harrison, Esq. . (Signed) J. PLANTA, Jun.

&e. Se. Se, ;
EN

 

Second Inelosure in No. 10.

Joseph Planta, Jun. Esq. to J. W. Croker, Esq.

Sig, Foreign Office, November 17, 1823,
I HAVE received, and laid before Mr. Secretary Canning, your Communication of the 11th of

May 1823, forwarding sundry Reports from Sir Robert Mends, of the proceedings of HisMajesty’s
Squadron on the Coast of Africa. These Reports, together with other Papers upon ‘the same
subject from His Majesty’sCommissioners at Sierra Leone, having been submitted to His Majesty's
Advocate-General; I am directed by Mr. Canning to state to you, in concordance with the
Report of that Officer, that the practicewhich the Commanders of British Vessels had adopted of
demanding Slaves trom Native Chiefs, on the plea that they were held under contract for embarka-
tion in Vessels on the Coast, is not within the provisionsof the several Treaties for the suppression of
iticit Traffick in Slaves, and is consequently illegal ; it is also objectionable as interfering with the
Territorial Rights of Third Parties. ‘The Cases of the attack on the Gallinas River, and of
captures made on that principle, as.stated in Commodore Mends’s Letters, ate objectionableon
these grounds. “In the Case of the Sinceridade, as describedin Captain Phillips's Letter of March.
21, 1823, the King’s Advocate sees no reason to differ from theopinions and judgment of the
Commissioners, as it is not general infererice from collateral circumstances, however accurate
and strong, but the evidence of a particular fact of having embarked a Slave or Slaves, that was
at the timemadethetest ofillegality, warranting condemnation in such Cases. a

I am directed by Mr. Canning to request that you will lay this Letter before The Lords Com-
missioners of the Admiralty, tor their Lordships information, and for such Comminication as
their Lordships may deem it right to make to His Majesty’s Naval Officers upon this subject,

Iam, &c, Co

JW. Croker, Esq. ~ (Signed) J. PLANTA, Jun.
&e. &e.  &e. . :

 

No. Il.

Mr. Seeretary Canning to Messrs. Gregory andHamilton.

GENTLEMEN, 7 . Foreign Office, November 17, 1823.
REFERRING you to the Act of the 1st and 2d George 4. cap. 9, the

6th Section of which enacts tliat there shall be paid a Bountyof £10 for
every Slaves seized andfound on board of any Vessel, condemned by theCommissioners, appointed under the Treaties with Foreign Powers for repress-
ing illicit Traffick in Slaves; I have te acquaint you, that a ‘difficulty has
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occurredto the Lords of His Majesty's Treasury, in deciding in certain Cases -
upon the Claims set forward for the Bounty allowed by the Act :—That this:
difficulty has arisen from their Lordships not being made acquainted by the
Documents on which the Claim is supported, whether, or not, the Slaves, for
whom Bounty. is claimed, were found on board at the time of capture; and
that this difficulty would be best obviated, by the insertion in the sentence of
condemnation under the Commissions, of a Clause, stating; so far as can be.
ascertained from the evidence given, whether any and what number of Slaves,
were seized andfound on board at the time of detention and capture.

I have, therefore, to instruct you to suggest to the other Commissioners
acting with you, that such a Clause should be inserted as above, provided ne
judicial inconvenience may thereby occur. ;
In reference to a question which has arisen, whether in the special Case of

the liberation of a Vessel, attended, however, by the emancipation of the
Slaves, a certificate of emancipation should be granted by the Commissioners,
T have to state to you, that the only Case in which it appears that the Com-
missioners are enjoined to grant a certificate of emancipation, is, as by the
seventh Article of the Regulations, in the Case of adjudged unlawful trading.

i have further to remind you that, in taking upon yourselves the power of
delivering over Slaves for emancipation, in Cases which are not properly Cases
of forfeiture, you can be justified only by very special circumstances, and the
sanction of Government obtained ona statement of the particular facts.—
Jt may not be unsuitable in such Cases, that the Captors should have some
Minute of the authority by which they are discharged from the custody of the
Slaves, and their responsibility therein; but you wiil be careful not to
confound such a Document with the ordinary Certificate of emancipation,
prescribed by the Treaty; and you will act on such occasions according to the
nature of each particular Case, and so as to. make the Record, or Minute of
your judgment, strictly to correspond with the principle on which you are
acting.

Upon the point of the examination of Witnesses in open Court, I have to.
state to you that if, as it appears, such a course of proceeding is found to be
more suited to the nature of the questions now raised, than was the practice at
first in use in the Court at Sierra Leone, it is nut precluded by the iaterpreta~
tion heretofore put upon the terms of the Treaty—It should however-be
very cautiously used, and with the greatest moderation and harmony of agree-
meut between the Commissioners, andby their authority, and should be used
in the first trial of the Case, rather than as a new investigation of fresh points

~ by the Commissioners of Arbitration, when recourse is had to his judgment in
~ the second stage of the business. Tam, &c. ,

(Signed) GEORGE CANNING.
His Majesty's Commissioners, Sierra Leone.

 

No. 12.
£. Gregory, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Received February 2, 1824.)

Sr, Sierra Leone, November 20, 1823.
-Y HAVE the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your Letter of the 5th

of August last, wherein you mention that. you had received theDespatches
which my late Colleague, Mr. FitzGerald, and myself, had the honour to
address to you up to the 29th of April last, inclusive; and wherein you are
pleased to express His Majesty’s most gracious approbation of the modé in
which the Commissioners had in general executed théduties entrusted to
their care;
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Iam most profoundly affected with this mark of His Majesty's most gra-
cious condescension, in noticing with favour the labours of His faithful
Servants.

In acknowledging with the most respectful feelings of gratitude this most
gracious condescension of His Majesty, I may lament, in proportion to the
very great value of His Majesty’s approbation, that Mr. FitzGerald does not
exist to reap the reward of his talents and of his virtues.
To Mr. FitzGerald I attribute the mode in which the duties ot our situa-

tions were executed. I must acknowledge that all praise belonged to him,—
none to myself.

Devoted to His Majesty's service, I have the honour to remain, &c.
(Signed) Kk. GREGORY.

TheRight Hon. George Canning,
ee. &e. &e.

 

No. 138.

Messrs. Gregory and Hamilton ta Mr. Szeretary Canning. —(Received
March 23.)

(Extract.) Sierra Leone, January 1, 1824.

THE number of Cases adjudicated under the British and Spanish Mixed.
Commission, in the Year 1823, was two. One of those Cases was deemed
to be a Case for liberation; the other a Case for condemnation.—Under the
latter Case, some Slaves were decreed to be emancipated; but the number
of these Slaves has not been ascertained, they having been: landed in a sickly
state at Cape Coast.
The number of Cases adjudicated under the British and Portuguese Mixed

Commission, in the Year 1823, was four. Of those Cases, two were deemed
to be Cases for liberation, and two for condemnation.—Under the two latter
Cases, 199 Slaves were emancipated.
There were not any Cases of adjudication, in the Year 1823, underthe

British and Netherlands Mixed Court of Justice.
We beg leave to inclose a general List of Cases adjudicated under the Mixed

Commissions to this date. You will perceive, Sir, that the number of Cases
adjudicated, during the past Year, is six; the number of Slaves emancipated
199; that the total number of Cases adjudicatedsince the establishment of the
Mixed Commissions, is 46, of which number five were Cases for liberation ;
and that the total number of Slaves emancipated is 3,915. me

We have the honour to be, &¢,

(Signed) . E. GREGORY. |
. -D. M. HAMILTON.

The Right Hon. George Canning,
- &e. &e. &e.
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No. 14.

Mr. Secretary Canning to the British Commissioners at Sterra Leone and
Surinam.

GENTLEMEN, Foreign Office, January 1, 1824.

I HAVE to acquaint you, for your information, and the information of the
other Gentlemen forming the Board ofwhich you are Members, that aCotm-
munication has been made to this Court by the Netherlands Ambassador,
purporting that the Netherlands Frigate, the Dageraad (Aurora), of 32 guns
and 250 men, Captain Van der Hart, bound for the Coast of Guinea, and the
East Indies, has been furnished withaCopy of the Treaty of the 4th of May
1818, between His Majesty and The King of the Netherlands, and of the
several Documents annexed thereto, Iam, &e.

(Signed) GEORGE CANNING.
His Majesty's Commisstoners Sierra Leoneand Surinam.

 

. No. 15.-

Messrs. Gregory and Hamilton to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Received
March23,) :

Str, Sierra Leone, January5, 1824.

WE beg leave to solicit your commands upon two questions: first, whether
we shall, as heretofore, pay into the Military Chest ot this Colony the British
moiety of the nett proceeds of the sale of vessels condemned as Prize, under
the Mixed Commissions, and transmit the accounts of the sales of such Vessels
direct to The Lords Commissioners of His Majesty’s Treasury? Second,
whether, in the absence of Spanish Commissioners, we shall continue to pay
into the Military Chest the Spanish moiety of the nett proceeds of. the sales
of Vessels. condemned as Prize under the Spanish commission?
The British moiety of the nett proceeds of the sales of Vessels condemned

as Prize under the Mixed Commissions has been paid into the Military Chest,
and the accounts of the sales of such Vessels. have been transmitted direct to
their Lordships, in conformity with the positive Instructions of their Lord-
ships, transmitted to the British Commissioners under date of the 26th of
July 1820, which Instructions were confirmed by the late Marquess of
Londonderry in his Lordship’s Letter to the Commissioners, dated the 10th
of September 1820. ae
The Spanish moiety of the nett proceeds ofthe sales of Vessels condemned

as Prize under the Spanish Commission has been paid, in order to its better
security, into the Military Chest, since thedeparture of the Spanish Commis-
sioners in the Month of April 1821, as signifiedin the Letter of Mr. Fitz-
Gerald and Mr. Gregory to Mr. Harrison of the Treasury, dated the 16th of
August 1821, which Letter was ferwarded, under the same date, by the
British Commissioners to the late Marquess of Londonderry. Co
The Lords Commissioners of His Majesty’s ‘Treasury, under date of the

43th ofFebruary 1822, signified their-approval.of this mode of disposing of
the monics belonging to Spain, arising from the sales ofPrize Vessels,

We have the honour to be, &c.

(Signcd) E. GREGORY. |
The Right Hon. George Canning, D. M. HAMILTON.

&e. &e. &e.
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No. 16.

Mr. Secretary Canning to the British Commissioners at Sierra Leone, The
Havannah, Rio de Janeiro and Surinam.

(Cireular.) Foreign Office, January 31, 1824,

IN reference to the Letter which was addressed to you by the Secretary of
State, at the time of your Appointment, specifying the 4//owances which His
Majesty had been graciously pleased to annex to the performance of the
services, for which you are appointed to the Situation which you now hold; I
have to remind you, by His Majesty’s command, that in the computation of
the period of service, after which a Pension may eventually be granted toyou,
that period only can reckon, during which you are upon service at your Post;
and I have further to state to you, that counting from the 5th of this Month
one halfonly of the Sadary attached to your present Situation, can be granted
to you, during the period at which you are absent from your Post. You will
therefore be precise in stating the periods of your departure from your Post,
and of your return thereto, that the salary to be received by you, may be
computed accordingly. Tam, &c,

(Signed) GEORGE CANNING.

His Majesty's Commissioners at Sierra Leone,
Lhe Havannah, Rio de Janeiro, and Surinam.

 

No. 17.

Mr, Secretary Canning to E. Gregory, Esq.

Sir, Foreign Office, February 6, 1824.

THE King has been graciously pleased to appoint DanielMolloy Hamilton,
Esquire, to be His Majesty’s Commissioner of Arbitration, in the Boards of
‘Commission, of which you are the Commissary Judge, at Sierra Leone, for
preventing illegal Tratlick in Slaves.

Tlie King has, likewise, been pleased to appoint James Woeds, Esquire, to
be Registrar to the said Comuinissions.
Mr, Hamilton will concert with you the mode of entering regularly upon

his Appointment; and you will communicate to him. the Instructions waich
were addressed by His Majesty’s Secretary of State to Mr, FitzGerald and
yourself, and which it is intended that Mr. Hamilton should -consider as
equally addressed tohim, ot

I forward to you, herewith, His Majesty’s Commission, appointing Mr,
Hamilton and Mr. Woods, togetherwith yourself, to these Situations.

. ee Tam, &c,

(Signed) GEORGE CANNING.

The British Commissary Judge at Sierra Leone. |
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No. 18.

Messys. Gregory and Hamilton to Mr. Seeretary Canning.—(Received

ve April 26.) a

Sir, Sierra Leone, February 7, 1824.

WE had the honour to receive, on the Ist instant, your Despatch, with its

Inclosures, of the 17th of November 1823, in which you inform us, that the

Despatches of His Majesty’s Commissioners, wherein they requested Instruc-

tions for their guidance, as to the legality ofthe practice of the Commanders
of British Ships, cruizing under the Treaties for the prevention of the illicit
Traffickin Slaves, in demanding and enforcing the embarkation of Slaves
from the Coast, had been submitted to His Majesty’s Advocate General; and,

~ that you had to acquaint us, in couformity with the opinion ofthat Officer,

that the demand for Slaves fromNative Chiefs, on the plea that they were

held under contract for embarkation in Vessels on the Coast, is not within the

provisions of the several Treaties, and is, consequently, illegal ; that itis also

objectionable as. interfering with the territorial rights.of third Parties.

We beg to inform you, Sir, that we shall conform to your recommendation

to confine ourselves strictly, in Cases of the sort upon which you have beén

pleased to instruct us, to the several Treaties and Acts of Parliament:
We beg leave to express how much we feel grateful for your condescension

in favouring us, for our information, with Copies of the Letters addressed.

under your direction to the Secretary of His Majesty’s Treasury, and to the

Secretary to the Admiralty; the first Letter being upon the subject of the
Claims brought forward by the Captors of the Rosalia, the Dichoza Lstrella,

‘and. the 4urora, for a moiety of the proceeds of the condemned Vessels, and
a bounty upon theSlaves that were emancipated, as belonging to them ; the:
second Letter being relative to the Case of the Stnceridade, and of the attack

‘on the Gallinas River, by the boats of His Majesty’s Ship Cyrene. - |

We have the honour to be, &. ©

_ (Signed) E,GREGORY.
The Right Hon. George Canning, _ 2D. M. HAMILTON,

. &e. Se, Fe. . . _ - CS

 

No, 19.

‘Messrs. Gregory and Hamilton to Mr. Secretary Canning—(Received
. April 26.) a

Sir, Sterra Leone,February 9, 1824,

WE had the honour to receive, on the 6th instant, your Despatch of the

“1st of November 1823, (marked Portugal), stating that you.had referred to

His Majesty’s Advocate-General the Despatch which HisMajesty’sCommis

sary Judge had the houour to addresstoyou on the 7th of June 1823,foran
opinion, whether a sentence pronounced in full Court by the Mixed Commis-

sion under the Treaties. for the suppression of illegal Slave-trade,isfinal; or
whether a New Trial may, in such case, be granted. _ oe

- That the opinion ofThe King’s Advocate, which you had togive us,for our
guidance and information, is,that a new trial cannot be granted on any. rules

of analogy derived from the practice of the Courts of Common Law;orothet-.



40 Sierra Leone.  $(General.)

wise than as matter ef speeial exemption arising out of some conduct of the
litigant parties, of fraud or surprize on the Court.
‘We are ‘happy, Sir, to have this Instruction upon so important a point

under the Treaties. And weare glad to learn that, in the particular Case of
the Alova Sorte, The King’s Advocate is of opinion that the Commissioners
were perfectly right in refusing the prayer for a new trial.

We have the honour to be, &c.

(Signed) E. GREGORY.
The Right Hon. George Canning, ' D.M. HAMILTON.

6 &e. &e. &e.

No. 20.

Messrs. Gregory and Hamilton to Mr. Secretary Canning.— (Received
April 26.)

Sir, Sterra Leone, February 9, 1824.

_ WE beg leave to acknowledge the receipt, en the Ist instant, of your
Despatches to the 17th of November 1823.

Referring us to the Act of the first and second George 4th, cap. 99, the
sixthSection ofwhich enacts that “ there shall be paidaBounty of10 for
every Slave seized and found on board of any Vessel condemned by the Com~
missioners appointed under the Treaties with Foreign Powers for repressing
illicit Traffick in Slaves,” you acquaint us thata difficulty had occurred to the
Lords of His Majesty’s Treasury, in deciding in certain Cases upon the Claims
set forward for the Bounty allowed by the Act. That this difficulty had
arisen from their Lordships not being made acquainted by the Documents on
which the Claim is supported, whether or not theSlaves, for which Bounty
is claimed, were foundon board at the time ofcapture; and that this diffi-
culty weuld be best obviated by the insertion, in the Sentence of condem-
nation under the Commissions, of a Clause stating, so far as-can be.ascertained
from the evidence given, “ whether any and what numberofSlaves were seized
and found on beard at the time of detention and capture.” .
You, therefore, instruct us to suggest to the Commissioners acting with

us, that such a Clause, as above, should be inserted, provided no judicial in-
~ convenience may thereby oecur.
~ "We do not see that any judicial inconvenience can occur by the insertion
in the Sentences of condemnation of a Clause, such.as the one stated by you,
which shall prevent the recurrence of the difficulty that has occurred to the
Lordsof His Majesty’s Treasury, in deciding upon the Claims set forward for
the Bounty allowed by the Act of Parliament. We will, therefore, act upon
your Instruction, and, in future Sentences of coridemnation, we will cause,

“the concurrence of our Foreign Colleagues being obtained, that a Clause stating
whether any and what number of Slaves were on board of the condemned
Vessels at the time of their detention and capture, so far as the same may be
ascertained from the evidence given, shall be inserted in such Sentences.
Webeg leave to suggest that the enquiries of the Commissioners,asto the
number ofSlaves that may be on board of Slave-vessels at the time of their
capture, would be greatly facilitated, if His Majesty’s Naval Officers, who are
‘authorised under the Treaties to make captures of such Vessels, were in-

’ structed to ascertain with precision, on the mstant of the capture, the number
of the Slaves that may be on board ofthe captured Vessels, in the presence of
the. Masters, or principal Person or Persons of such Vessels, who may be
intended: to be sent before the Mixed Court as Witnesses, and who may thus
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be enabled to satisfy the enquiries of the Commissioners upon the point to be
ascertained. In the eighth Article of the Instructions for the Cruizers under
the Convention with Portugal; the sixth Article of the Instructions fur the
Cruizers under the Treaty with Spain; and the third Article cf the Instruc-
tions for the Cruizers under the Treaty with the Netherlands, it is provided
that the Captor of a Slave-ship “ sliall deliver to the Master of the detained
“ Ship a signed Certificate of the Papers found on board, as well as of the
« number of Stavesfound on board at the moment of detention.”
We would beg leave, also, to suggest, that the fulfilment of this Insiruction

be enjoined to His Majesty’s Naval Officers employed under the Convention
and Treaties ; as well as that it be enjoined to them to take, on all occasions
of capture, the most efficacious measures, in order that the best possible proof
may be afforded to the Commissioners, -as to the number of the Slaves on
board ot Slave-ships detained by them.
We shall bear in mindthe observations made in your Despatch, relative to-

' the question that had arisen, whether in the special Case of the liberation of
a Vessel attended by the emancipation of the Slaves, a Certificate of emanci-
pation shall be granted by the Commiissioners. As we shall also attend to
your observations upon the point of the examination of Witnesses in open
Court. We have the honour to be, &c.

. (Signed) KE. GREGORY.
The Right Hon. George Canning, D. M. HAMILTON.

&e. &e. &e. |

 

No. 21.

Mr. Secretary Canning to the British Commissioners at Sierra Leone, and
at Rio de Janeiro.

GeEnTLEMEN, Foreign Office, February 10, 1824.

I HEREWITH furnish you with ten Copies of Articles signed at Lisbon
on the 15th of March 1823, additional to the Convention for preventing
illegal Traffick inSlaves, which was concluded at London on the 28th of July:
1817, between The King and His Most FaithfulMajesty.
You will consider these Articles as binding upon you,forthe guidance of

your conduct in giving effect to His Majesty’s intentions in regard to the
Stipulations therein recorded: _ _
You will communicate these Articles to your Colleagues in the Board of

Commission of which you are Members, and you will invite them to act in
conformity with the tenour thereof. Iam, &c.

(Signed) GEORGE CANNING.

The British Commissioners at Sierra Leone,
andat Rio de Janeiro.

 

No. 22.

Messrs. Gregory and Hamilton. to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Received
_ April 26.)

Sin, Sierra Leone, February 10, 1824.

WE had the honour to receive, on the 6th instant, yourDespatch of
the 4th of November 1823, stating, that you had.received the Des»atch
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of His Majesty’s Commissary Judge, of the 24th of July 1823, and with
reference thereto, that, taking the whole bearing of the Treaties, and the
emergencyof the case, Sir Charles M‘Carthy appeared to have acted on the
occasion, in accordance with a fair interpretation of the spirit of the Treat ;
on principles of reciprocity as between the Contracting Parties, and with a
due regard to the beneficial exercise of the duties required under theTreaty.

That, in the particular instance which was referred to you, Sir, no question
of the legality of the Proceedings, could well, in any manner, arise, since His
Majesty had graciously signified His intention of confirming, ab initio, the

provisional nomination made by Sir Charles M‘Carthy in the Person of Mr.
amilton, to fill the Office of Judge Arbitrator, vacant by the death of

Mr. Fitzgerald. And stating, further, that His Majesty had beengraciously
pleased to nominate Mr. James Woods to the Office of Registrar to the
Mixed Commissions, vacant by the promotion of Mr. Hamilton.

We have the honour to be, &e.

(Signed) E. GREGORY.
The Right Hon. George Canning, D. M. HAMILTON,

&e. &e. &e.

 

No, 28.

Messrs. Gregory and Hamilton to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Reeeived
April 26.)

(Extract.) | Sterra Leone, February 11, 1824,

WE had the honour to receive, on the 6th instant, your Despatch of the
6th of November 1823.
We are happy, Sir, to learn that the Despatch, therein referred to, was con-

sidered by you to afforda satisfactory explanation of the principles on which
the Commissioners had proceeded, in the Appointment of a AZarshalof the
Court, and the charges rendered in by that Officer, under the directions of
the Court.
We shall act, Sir, upon your Instructions, relative to the charges of the

Marshal, in future cases in which his services may be required.
We have the honour to be, &c.

. (Signed) E. GREGORY.
The Right Hon. George Canning, D. M. HAMILTON.

Se. = &e. &e.

 

No. 24.

Mr. Secretary Canning to Messrs. Gregory aud Hamilton,

GENTLEMEN. Foreign Office, April 8, 1824.

IN reference to the subject of your Despatch, (marked General) of the 5th
of January last, I have to acquaint you, that it appears to be expedient that
you should, in the absence of the Spanish Commissioners, pay into. the
Military Chest the Spanish moiety of the nett proceeds of the sales ofprizes,
‘and that you should continue to pay into the Military Chest the British
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moiety of the nett proceeds of the sales of prizes. In respect to the accounts -
of those sales you will send them, in duplicate, to His Majesty’s Secretary
ot State for Foreign Affairs, who will transmit to His Majesty s Treasury such
Papers as it may be necessary to furnish to that Department upon the subject.

Iam, &e.

(Signed) |GEORGE CANNING.
His Majesty's Commissioners, Sierra Leone.

 

No. 25.

Mr. Secretary Canning to Messrs. Gregory and Hamitton.

(Extract.} Foreign Office, April 25, 1824.

I HAVE the satisfaction to convey to you His Majesty’s gracious appro-
bation of the circumspection, and diligence, and due regard to your duty,
which have marked your conduct upon the difficult and doubtful Cases which
have come under your investigation, since the date of those Despatches, the
receipt of which I acknowledged to yeu in my Despatch ofAugust 5, of the
dast year. Tam, &c.

(Signed) GEORGE CANNING.

Lis Majesty’s Commissioners, Sierra Leone.

 

No. 26.

Mr. Secretary Canning to the British Commissioners at Sierra Leone, The
Havannah, Rio de Janeiro, and Surinam.

(Circular.) Foreign Office, April 30, 1824,

I HEREWITH transmit to you, by The King’s Command, for your in-
formation and guidance,—Copies of the Act of the Legislature (5 Geo. 4,
cap. 17,) providing that British Subjects, and Persons residing within the
British Dominions, who shall be concernedin the Trade in Slaves, contrary
to the Statues now in force, shall be adjudged to be guilty of Piracy, and be
subject to the Penalties which are visited upon thatcrimeaccording to the
Laws of England. I am, &c.

(Signed) GEORGE CANNING,

His Majesty's Commissioners at Sierra Leone,
Lhe Havannah, Rio de Janeiro, and Surinam.

 

No. 97.

Mr. Secretary Canning to the British Commissioners at Sierra Leone and
Surinam.

GENTLEMEN, Foreign Office, May 6, 1824.

I HAVE to acquaint you, for your information and guidance, that In-
structions, under the Treaty with the Netherlands for the prevention of the
Slave Trade, have been furnished to the following Ships and Vessels of His
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Majesty’s Navy; Zsts, of 50 guns, Thomas Forrest, Commander; AZaidstone,
of42 guns, Charles Bullen ; Lden, of 26 guns, John Lawrence; and Suri-
nam, of 18 guns, Charles Crole; and that the Instructions, which had been
issued to His Majesty’s Ships Gloucester and Cyrene, have been recalled and
cancelled, Iam, &c.

(Signed) GEORGE CANNING.
His Majesty's Commissioners at Sierra Leone and Surinam.

 

No. 28.

Mr. Secretary Canning to Messrs. Gregory and Hamilton.

GENTLEMEN, Foreign Office, May 7, 1824,

I FURNISH you, for your information, with the Copy of an Instruction
which was given to Mr. J. P. Clarke, on proceeding to his Post, as His
Majesty’s Consul-General at the Cape de Verds,* directing him to collect and
transmit to His Majesty’s Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs; to the Com-
manders of His Majesty’s Ships upon the Coast, and to yourselves, whatever
intelligence he may be able to procure for facilitating the execution of the
Treaties and Acts of Parliament, and of His Majesty’s Instructions thereupon,
respecting the Slave-trade.

Advices have recently been received of the arrival of Mr. Clarke, at his

 

Post at St. Jago. Tam, &c.

(Signed) GEORGE CANNING.

His Majesty's Commissioners, Sierra Leone. |

* See No, 33.

No. 29.

Mr. Secretary Canning to Messrs. Gregory and Hamilton.

GENTLEMEN, Foreign Office, May 7, 1824,

IN teference to your Despatch, (marked General) of the 9th of February
1824, I furnish you, for your information, with the Copy of a Letter which
has been addressed under my direction, by one of the Under Secretaries of.
State for this Department, to the Secretary to the Admiralty, recom mending
the adoption of the suggestion which you had made, that HisMajesty’s
Naval Officers might be specially instructed upon certain points, with a view
of obtaining evidence as to the numberof Slaves who may be on board of
Slave-trading Vessels at the time of their detention.

Lam, &e.
(Signed). GEORGE CANNING.

His Majesty's Commissioners at Sierra Leone.
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Inclosure in No. 29.

Joseph Planta, Jun. Esq. to J. W. Croker,Esq.

Sin, Foreign Office, May 7, 1824,

. AM directed by Mr. Secretary Canning to send to you, to be laid before the Lords Com-
missioners of the Admiralty, the accompanying Copy of a Despatch from His Majesty’s Com-
missioners at Sierra Leone, written in reference to an Instruction given to them, that, in their
Sentences of condemnation of Vessels for illegal Slave-trade, they should insert a Clause, stating,
whether any and what number of Slaves were on board of the condemned Vessels at the time of
their detention,'so far as the same may be ascertained ;—and I am to request, that you will be
pleased to submit to their Lordships, that itappears to Mr. Canning that it would much facilitate
the execution of the Instructions given to His Majesty’s Commissioners, if His Majesty’s Naval
Officers, acting under the Treaties for the prevention of Slave-trade, were enjoined to pay par--
ticular attention to the suggestions contained upon this subject in the inclosed Communication.

Tam, &c.

' J. W. Croker, Esq. (Signed) J, PLANTA, Jun..
&e, Se. Se,

No. 30.

D. M. Hamilton, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Received May 16.)

- Sir, Serra Leone, March 31, 1823.

IN obedience to the Instructions of the 20th of February 1819, I have the
honour herewith to inclose, a certified Copy of the Registry of Slaves that have
been emancipated by the Courts established at this Place for the prevention of
illicit Slave-traffick, for the period between the 5th day of July 1822, and
the 5th day of January 1823.* .

- J have the honour to be, &c.

(Signed) =D. M. HAMILTON,Registrar.
The Right Hon. George Canning,

§c. =&e. Se. .

* The Inclosure gives an account of the Registryof 1254 Slaves,
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No. 31.

D. M. Hamilton, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning.-=—(ReceivedSeptember 22,)

(Extract.) Sierra Leone, July 21, 1823,

I HAVE the honour to inform you that Sir Charles M‘Carthy, the Go-
vernor of this Colony, has been pleased to appoint me to perform the duties
of Commissioner of Arbitration to the Mixéd Commissions, established at
this Place for preventing the illicit Traffick in Slayes, in the room of the late
Mr. Fitzgerald, till such time as His Majesty’s pleasure respecting a Successor
to that Gentleman shall be known. _

I have the honour to be, &c.
The Right Hon. George Canning, (Signed) D. M. HAMILTON.

&e. =&e. &e. |

 

No. 32.

G. Rendall, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning.

Sir, Sierra Leone, August 15, 1823.

I HAVE the honour to transmit, herewith, a certified Copy of theRegistry
of Slaves emancipated by the Courts of Mixed Commission, established in
this Colony for the prevention of the illicit Traffick in Slaves, for the period
between the 5th of January 1823, and the 5th day of July last *.

_ Ihave the honour to be, &e.
(Signed) G. RENDALL, Acting Registrar.

The Right Hon. George Canning,
Se. Se. &e.

* The Inclosure gives an account of the Registry of 230 Slaves.

 

No. 33.

Mr. Secretary Canning to the British Consul-General at the Cape de Verd
Istands.

Sir, Foreign Office, October 28, 1823.
I SEND toyou herewith, for your: information, a Copy of the Treaties

concluded between this Country and Spain, Portugal and The Netherlands,
for repressing illicit Traffick in Slaves. .

I send to you, likewise, a Copy of the several Papers which have been laid
before Parliament, relating to the execution of those Treaties.
_T have to desire that you will transmit to me any information which you
may be able to obtain, respecting the carrying on ofthe Slave-trade, either by
any of His Majesty’s Subjects, or, contrary io Treaty, by the Subjects of
Foreign Powers. .

You will furnish to His Majesty’s Ships upon the Coast, whatever intelli-
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gence you can procure, which may facilitate the execution oftheir Instructions
under the Treaties, and under the several Acts of Parliament (copies of which
I also inclose to you), upon the subject of the Slave-trade.
You will forward to His Majesty’s Commissionersat Sierra Leone, whatever

accounts you may collect respecting the proceedings of Slave-traders.
Iam, &e.

J. P. Clarke, Esq. (Signed) GEORGE CANNING,

 

No. 34,

J.P. Clarke, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Received April 5.)

(Extract.) Villa de Praia, St. Jago, January 20, 1824.

I HAVE the honour to acquaint you of my arrival at Bonavista, on the
22d day of December 1823, after a passage of 35 days. I proceeded from
thence on the 5th, and arrived here on the 6th instant; and have great
pleasure in stating, for the information of His Majesty’s Government, that
the Authorities have evinced every respect to His Majesty’s Commission.
So short a time has elapsed since my arrival, that I have not been able to

gain any information, that militates against the existing Treaties, relative to
the Slave Trade. I have the honour, &c.

(Signed) J. P, CLARKE, Consul-General.

The Right Hon. George Canning,
&e. &e. &e.

 

No. 35.

G. Rendall, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Received March23.)

Siz, Free Town, Sierra Leone, January 24, 1824,

I HAVE the honour to acquaint you, that, from the 5th day of July 1823,
to the 5th day of January 1824, no Slaves have been registered in the Office
of the Registrar to the Courts of Mixed Commission, established in this
Colony for the prevention of illicit Traffick in Slaves.

In the Case of the Schooner Maria La Luz, Don Jacinto Llobet, Master,
condemned in the British and Spanish Court of Mixed Commission,on the
8th day of September 1825, the Slaves having been landed at Cape Coast,
no Registry of them could take place here. The number stated to have been
so landed, was 183. Thesurvivors ofwhom were, by the Court, declared to be
emancipated. , .

I deem it my duty to state also, that in the Case of the Spanish Schooner
Fabiana, M. M. de Compos, Master, still pending in the British and Spanish
Court of Mixed Commission, the Slaves, viz: 50 men, 12 women, and 56
children, being in the whole 118, were landed by the Captors on the 21st day
of October 1823, and handed over to the Colonial Government. .

I have the honour to be, &c.
The Right Hon. George Canning, (Signed) G. RENDALL.

&e. &e. &e. .
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No. 36.

Messrs. Gregory and Fitzgerald to Mr. Secretary Canning. —(Received
June 30.)

Sir, . | Sierra Leone, April22, 1823.

THE Case of the Spanish Schooner San Rafael, an Abstract of which
accompanies. this Despatch, is remarkable for the circumstances of the
detention. The Declaration of the Captor, among the many grounds alleged
in it, does not impute any embarkation of a Slave or‘Slaves, for the purposes
ot the Traffick, during the voyage in which the detention took place; neither
did any such act appear in the scanty Evidence which was furnished to the
Court. .
The Master of the San Rafael was on shore at Whydah at the time of the

capture, employed, most probably, in purchasing Slaves, as the Vessel was
evidently fitted out for that Trade. The Pilot and Boatswain, and the rest of
the Crew, were allowed to land at Princes Island, consequently, there was
riot any Person belonging to the Vessel forthcoming, to be examined by the
Commissioners, nor to claim her, nor to receive her, when it was found that
no ground of condemnation existed upon the shewing of the Captor himself:
The indulgence of the wish of the Pilot and crew of the San Rafael to land

at Princes Island, might, probably, have been caused, in a great. measure, by:
a mistaken notion, prevalent among the Captors and Proctors, that the Com-
missioners are bound to condemn in all Cases in which the detainedVessel is
not claimed. This notion has never been countenanced by the Commissioners
to the extent, that a detained Vessel not claimed, is to be condemned in the
absence of all Evidence to criminate her. The Decisions of the Commissioners
have uniformly rested upon the Evidence obtained in every Case, and upon
the application of the corresponding Provisions of the Treaties to that
Evidence. ;

The inconvenience of having no Person to receive the Vessel upon her
being liberated, fell, in the present instance, so forcibly upon the Captor,
that we have reason to hope that the Masters and crews of captured Vessels
will,in future, be sent with them for the purposes of justice.
The resource of a condemnation to realise and preserve the value of the

Vessel, which was adopted in the Case of the Spanish Schooner “Rosalia,
because there was not any Person capable of taking charge ofher on the part
of the Owners, was not any longer available in the Case of the San Rafael.
TheCommissioners had not any other means, to disposeof, or to preserve
the Vessel. She was, therefore, left in the hands ofthe Captor. —
An application made by the Captor to be exonerated from liability to

demurrage, on the ground of being led into the error of the detention, by a
voluntary and reprehensible fault on the part of the Master of the detained
Vessel, was thought to be premature in the absence of the other Party; but
the Vessel, and the Articles ofthe outward cargo still on board, were appraised
by order of the Court, at the Captor’s instance. a a
_the.Case of the Spanish Schooner Muestra Senora de Reglu, taken by
His Majesty’s Ship Morgiana, Captain Strong, is mentioned in the Declara-
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‘tion of the Captor of the San Rafael, as a precedent, according to which he
conceived it his duty to detain that Vessel. But the Case of the Regla was
different in every material point. There was one Slave on board, who was
proved to have been embarked for the purposes of the Traffick, and all the
Commissioners present agreed that the one ‘Slave was sufficient. The Master,
it is true, was on shore near the place of capture, and the opportunity was
presented to him of claiming his Vessel in the same manner as in the present
jnstanee; but the two Mates, the Boatswain, and the crew of the Regla
were brought to Sierra Leone for examination, so as to enable the Commis-
sioners to do justice impartially in the Case. .
We have thought it-right to state these matters in detail, in order to furnish

the means for any explanations which may become necessary, touching the.
Case of the San Rafael; for the same reason the Abstract of the Case is made
more comprehensive than is usual, and a Copy of the Declaration, with
Copics of the written Decisions delivered by us on the Case, accompany this
Despatch. .

‘We have the honour to be, ‘&c.
(Signed) E. GREGORY. a

The Rig Hon. George Canning, ~ EDWARD FITZGERALD.
C. &e. &e.

first Inclosur« in No. 36.

 

Abstract of the Case of the Spanish Schooner San Rafael, Francesco Chin-
churreta, Master, liberated on che 2yth ofJanuary 1823.

THE Schooner San Rafael, Francisco Chinchuarreta, Mascer-and ostensible Owner, was detained
by Captain Phillips, of His Majesty’s Ship Bann, on the 27th of August 1822, in Latitude 6d. 19 m.
Worth;.Longitude 2d. 26 m. Hast, ; _

The ‘San Rafael, after the capture, was despatched for Sierra Leone, ‘where she arrived on the
15th of November, but, from the pecriliar circumstances of the Case, the Agent abstained from
taking any proceedings until the arrival.of the Captor from his cruize to the Southward; conse-
quently the Case was not brought before the Court until the Month of January 1823,
_ It appeared-by the Papers of the Vessel, that the San Rafael sailed from the Havannah, -on ‘the
39th of February 1822. She had a Royal Passport for “ free conimerce for a voyage tothe Island
«* of St, Thomas and the other Portuguese Islands, and thence back to tlie Port of her. destination,”
‘This Paper is entirely in the Spanish language; no mention js made in it of any restiiction to

Jepitimate commerce for “ gold, ivory, palm-oil and cloths,’ as we have seen in the-other Spanish
Passports; neitheris there any mention made of the Slave-trade in the prohibitory forms that we
have been accnétomed to find, either inserted in the body of the Document, or indorsedbya memo-
rarilum ou the outside, denouncing the penalties of the Law and of the Royal Ordinances on any
violation which should-be committed in this matter. : . :

There ic a. Note of Indorsement correcting the amount of tonnage, set down in the body of the
Passport at éwo hundred and nineteen tons and a half, to one hundred and nineteen, The Passport
is datéd the 13th of February 1822, :

It appears bya bill of sale executed by Cuesta, Manzanal y Hermano, a Company ofMerchants
tesident at the Havannah, to Francisco Chinchurreta, as well as by the Passpert, that Chinchur-

reta was,at.least ostensibly, the sole Owner; but the bill of sale being only dated on the Sth of
February 1822, about fourteen days before. the sailing, at a time when the outfit for thé-voyage

may fairly be supposed to be in an advanced state, is liable to the suspicion of being a mere colour-
able transfer. ; ‘
There are two.log-books, oné a rough one and the other apparently copied from that. From

these we collect that the ‘San Rafael came in sight ot the Coast of Africa,. on the Sth April, ja

Latitude 4d. 46m. North. On the 12th, she was off Piccaninny Bassa, in Latitude 5.43 m.
The entries are continued without any thing remarkable until the 19th of April, from which day
they cease in thefaircopy. The Latitude on that day is 5d. 9m. North. .
. The rough entries in the other book are continued in a very imperfect and irregular mauner,
intended, apparently, to denote the mere passing of the day, or, if any thing further, to.serve as
memoranda to guide the memory of the party making them, in mafters purposely disguised. It
could be ascertained, however, by these entries, that the San Rafael had gone to the Southward,
and had been in some Port, and that the Master was not on board of her at the time. The Captor
stated in Court, in consequence of some observations from the Bench upon this Paper;—that he
had learned from the crew that they had been at the Island of Annabona, where.they toak in
darina as provisiolis for the Slaves, of which the homeward cargo was,to.consist.
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‘Nothing beyond the particulars already enumerated could be collected from the Ship's Papers.
‘The other evidence consisted of the Declaration. of the Captor, and of some Affidavits in con-

firmation of some of the facts alleged in the Declaration. ‘The Declaration is very long ~The
following Abstract comprehends all the material points :

After-stating the Latitude and Longitude in which the detention took place, and that the San
Rafael, at the time of the capture, was sailing under. Spanish Colours, and that she was armed
with two guns, six-pounders, the Declaration adds, that ‘ the Mate who stated the Master to be
*«-on shore at Whydah, declared the Vessel to be bound from the Havannahto St. Thomas, with
** a crew of twenty-two men”
The Declaration then states, that the cause of the detention. of the Vessel is,—*“that she was

* cruizing off Whydah, without any Master on board ; that she endeavoured to elude His Majesty’s
‘* Ship by every possible means, resolutely carrying sail, notwithstanding a heavy fire of grape
“and musketry, until the musket-shot drove the men from their sweeps; which she used in the
“ light airs; that-she was fully prepared for the reception of Slaves, her irons on board; ‘that
“her guns and muskets were all loaded, the former with grape; and in short—every preparation
*¢made for action.” .
The Declaration then states, that *¢ instead of pursuing the honest intent of ‘her destination,

** the San Rafael had been cruizing off and on the Port of Whydah for four Months, during which
*«time several piratical acts had been committed by a Spanish Schooner, particularly. one onan
*¢ English Vessel commanded by a Captain Foster.”
-A former-voyage found to have been made by the San Rafael, in the Slave-trade, partly with

the same-crew, is mentioned in the -Declaration as having steengthened the Captor's persuasion,
that the present voyage was in the Slave-trade. he Declaration says, moreover, ‘that the
“** people who have-been all engaged‘in the same trade, are hired on the condition that they shall
« receive their wages if the-cargo arrives safe, and none if it does not. and that if the Vessel be
«* condenmed by the Court they will lose their pay; that she is a Vessel not calculated for com-
*¢ mercial purposes from her build, and that she has always been a Privateer or Slave-vessel, and

that as the Spanish Government have agreed, according to the tenour of the first and second
** Articlesof the Treaty of the 23d of September 1817, wholly to abandon the Slave-trade, the
** Captor has deemedit his-duty, without infringing on-the tenth Article of the said Treaty, to
*¢bring the Vessel before the Court for being on the high seas, fitted out for the reception. of
«* Slaves, and for warlike purposes, and for being within five or ‘six days sail of the Port of her
«* destination for nearly four Months without ever going near it, thereby causing great. suspicion
** of the honesty of her intentions, and making it the Captor’s duty, accerding to his belief, to
« bring ber to the nearest Court of Justice‘for adjudication.” o /
Phe Declaration further adds, —‘¢ as a corroboration of her illicit conduct;”’ that the Captor“sent

* the San Rafael the Morning after the capture to anchor off Whydah, where she remained fer 56.
* hours without any claim being made personally, or by writing, by the alleged Master,”’ 4

It is also stated in the Declaration, that the frst Pilot and all-his crew requested to be landed
-at Princes Island; and that the Captor * not requiring his presence as evidence on his behalf before
*«the Court, and at thesame time being a great:eaving by not having to supportthem, complied

' © with their wishes by allowing them to go on shore.” a Te
- This Abstract contains all the materialallegations offered on the part ofthe Captor, in support
of his supposed rights to detain the San Rafael. ee
The Declaration was filed on the 14th January 1823... ‘ ‘ Se,
in consequence ef the absence of the Master at the.time of the capture, and of the landing of

the first Pilot, and of the rest of the crew at Princes Island, there wasnot any Claini nor any
Person belongingto the San Rafael forthcoming to be examined. __ Co .
The whole of the Evidence, in addition to the Ship’s Papers, andthe Declaration of the Captor,

consisted of Affidavits'in cerroboration of the matters-contained in the Declaration. ° _
One of these was the Affidavit on lodging the Papers of the San Rafael in the Registryofthe

Court, by Captain-Philips, oe ne
“This ASidavit,filed the 14th day of January, states, that the San Rafael was detained, —** by reason

“that the said Schooner was employed in the Trade in Slaves, contrary to the existing Treaties
‘Centered.into between His Britannick Majesty and His Catholick Majesty The King of Spain”
‘An Affidavit of Lieutenant Hudson, proves the opportunity given ‘to the Masterofthe San

Rafael, to claim and detend his Vessel, by anchoring off Whydah, where theMaster appeared to
be then residing, and remaining therefor 56hours,—as stated in the Declaration, |
An Affidavit byFrancisco Guandiola states, that the Deponent was aseaman onboard of the

Spanish Schooner Josefa, lately condemned in the British and Spanish Court, and further, that the
Deponent went on board of the Saa Rafael, when that Vessel, was.in courseofoutfit at the Havan-
nah for her present voyage, in order to obtain payment of a debt due to the Deponent trom one of
the seamen of the San Rafael, namedAugustin: that the said Augustin told the Deponent that
the said-Schooner was about to proceed to the-Coast-of Africa, and that it was intended to bring
from thence 200 Slaves in her, she havingbrought but 150 last-yoyage,—and further, that the said
Schooner. was in every respect perfectly fitted fur a Slave-trading voyage, and that lie sawher sail
from the Havannah in.that. state. ,

_ Fhe Marshal of the Court, upon a survey made by the order of the Commissioners upon the
Petition of the Captor, declared, that the San Ratael «‘ «was furnished with leg and deck Slave-irons,
»* Slave-coppers, a ground tier uf leaguers, fore and alt poopoo tubs, mess-kids, and iron hatcliway
** gratings, such as are usually furnished toVessels filted-out forthe Slaveetrade,—that she was supe,
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“¢ plied with a great quantity of farina. rice, and medicines, also with pistols, muskets, powder, ball,
“« cartridge and cutlasses.”” “
The Commissioners, when they came to pronounce their Judgment upon the evidence, the

material facts of which have been thus minutely recapitulated, found that, although there were un-.
questionable proofs of Sfave-trading intent and outfit, there was not any proof of the embarka.
tion of a Slave for the purposes of the traffick, in any part of the voyage in which the detention
took place—consequently they could not condemn the Veasel.
The Captor subsequently applied to the Court, by Petition, for the benefit of that provision of

the eighth Article of the Regulations for the Mixed Commission, which declares the Master of the
detained Vessel not entitled to demurrage in the event that the Captor should appear to have been
Jed into the error of the detention, by ‘‘a voluntary and reprehensible fault" on the part of the-
Master of the detained Vessel. .
The Court did not think it proper to pronouce uponthis matter at present,—it was ordered.

that the Petition should remain on the file of the Court.
On a further Petition from the Captor, a Commission was issued for the appraisement of the

San Rafael, and the goods, wares, and merchandize on board of her; the Vessel remained in the
hands of the Captor, as the party responsible to the Owner; ‘no person belonging to her having
been brought to the Colony to whom she could be restored: and the Court having no means of-
well disposing of her without a Decree of condemnation,

(Signed) -E. GREGORY.
EDWARD FITZGERALD.

  

Second Inclosure in No. 36.

Declaration of Captain Phillips.

1, CHARLES PHILLIPS, Esquire, Commander of His Britannick Majesty's Ship Bann,
hereby declare, that, on the 27th day of August 1822, being in or about Latitude, 6 deg. 19 min.
North; Longitude, 2 deg. 26 min. East; I detained the San Rafael, sailing under Spanish
Colonrs, armed with two guns (six-pouniers), commanded by Francisco Chinchurreta, The Mate,
who states the said Captain to be on shore at Whydah, has declared her to be bound from the
Havannab to St Thomas, with a crew consisting of 22 men; and I do further declare, that the
cause_of her detention is, that she was cruizing off Whydah without any Master on board; tbat she

endéavoured to elude His Majesty’s Ship by every possible means, resolutely carrying sail, notwith-
standing a heavy fire of grape and musketry, until the musket shot drove the mea from their sweeps,
which they bad used in the light winds ; that she was fully prepared for the reception of Slaves, her
irons, &c ou board; that her gans and muskets were all loaded, the former with grape ; and in
shortevery preparation was made for action; that her destination was tor the Island of St. Thomas
front the Havannah, which she had left seven Months ago, and instead of pursuing the honest
intent of her destination, she had been cruizing off and ow the Port of Whydah for four Months,
during which time several piratical acts had been committed by a Spanish Schooner, particularly
in one instance on an English Vessel commanded bya Captain Foster; that the Schooner had been
employed in the Slave-trade; that the Boatswain and part of her crew were in. her daring ber
last voyage; and that she ie manned by people who have been all engaged in the aforesaid trade ;
that. they are hired on the conditions,—that they shall receive their wages if the cargo arrives safe,
andnone if it does not; and that if the Vessel be condemned by your Honourable Courtthey will

thus lose their pay; that she is a Vessel not calculated for Commercial purposes from her build, as

she has always been either a Privateer, or Slave-vessel, and that as the Spanish Government have
agreed, according to the tenor of the first-and second Articles of the Treaty of the 23d September
1817, wholly to abandon the Slave-trade, I have deemed it my duty, without infringing on the
tenth Article af the said Treaty, to bring this Vessel before your Honourable Court, for being on
the high ‘seas, fitted for the reception of Slaves, and for warlike purposes, and for being withid
five or six days sail of the Port of ber destination for nearly five Months, without even going neat
it, thereby causing great suspicion as to the honesty of her intention, and making it my duty,
according to wy belief to bring her to the nearest Court of Justice for adjudication. As a corros
boration of her iflicie conduct I- sent her into Whydabh Roads.to acchor, the Morning after her
detention, where she remained 56 hoars ; that the alleged Master, or Captain, who appears to be
the sole Owner, neither, by writing or in person, made any claim for the Vessel, or stated any
reason why she remained there so long, although the Officer on board had communication with the
shore by a canoe, and that | consequently was led to believe that no such person exists, or if he
does, that he considers himself acting contrary to the Laws of his Country, which he cannot
support, and that in the latter belief, I am borne out by the statement of the Master of the
Spanish Schooner Antonio (a case nearly similar to this, but which I allowed to pass, consider-
ing the decision of the Court in the San Rafael’s Case would be a guide for my future proceedings,
without incurring any greater risk by her detention), who was boarded by us since off Whydab,
who sas the said alleged Master and sole Owner, and who told him that if the San Rataet was

taken, it was the fault of the crew, meaning that they had not used every endeavour to escape.

When all these points are taken iuto consideration, J trust you will consider me borne out iv her’
detention, particularly as her case may be a‘means' likely to stop the Spaniards trafficking,in  
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Slaves on this Coast, as in this kind of Vessel they cruize off the Port, where they mean to obtain
their Slaves from, never remaining at anchora single night, avoiding every thing like a Maun-of-
War, keeping their Captain, Supercargo, or Agent, on shore to collect their cargo, and which, when
ready, the Schooner goes in to embark; that unless, by one of the greatest chances in the world,
a Man-of-War goes in at the precise moment, which is scarcely possible, from their smallness in.
number on this Coast, there is no chance of catching them, or even then, if the Vessel-of-War.
does vot sail well; consequently they must escape, and the trade will thus go 6n unchecked ; but,
if the San Rafael is condemned under the first and second Articles of the atoresaid Treaty, as it is
clear she came for no other purpose than to embark Slaves, prepared as she was in every way for
their reception, so conscious of it was her Captain and Owner, that be has not even attempted to
defend her ; that I trust your Honourable Court, appointed purposelyfor the suppression of the Slave
Trade, and anxious, I am sure, to bring delinquents to punishment, will consider this as a Case
meriting the strictest scrutiny, and as an example of the utmost consequence to Slave-dealers. I
have kept the Schooner with me, until I had an opportunity of sending her, in company with
another Vessel, to Sierra Leone, or until my arrival at that Port, as-it was near the conclusion of
my cruize, fearing some-accident might happen on her passage, similar to what did occur to the
Prize of the Iphigeuia. ; :

Enclosed you will receive all the Papers I have been able to collect on board her, in number
six, among others will be found a rough and fair log, noting every occurrence that happened on
board the Schooner until her arrival at Whyddh, and from that period it seems every remark
ceases, more than that they anchored on the 2ist of April last, which can only be discovered by
the Latitude and Longitude; from thence forward, no remaik has been made respecting her pro-
ceedings. What was I tosuppose from such an event, but that she was acting in.a way contrary |
to the common ends of justice, which clearly demanded my bringing her betore your Tribunal for
adjudication. : :
On the Bann’s arrival off Princes Island, a second time, the first Pilot, together with all his

erew, requested to be landed, and not requiring their presence as evidence on my behalf before the
Court, and at the same time being a great saving, by nct having to support them, I complied with
their wishes by allowing them to go on shore, : ,

It now, alone, remains for me to cite a Case relevant to my own, which is that of the Schooner
Nuestra Senora de Regla, Santiago Mazano, Master, captured by His Majesty's Ship Morgiana,
on the 10th August 1819; a Case which occurred before the Law was: altered, constituting one
Slave a sufficiencyfor condemnation ; having, like the San Rafael, no Log-book,—being, like the
San Rafael, fitted for Slaves,—but at a time when it was not eriminal for a Subject of Spain to
Praffick in Slaves.—At present Spain notonly condemns the trade by her Publick Manifestoes, but
in her internal Regulations ; makes it one of the gravest crimes that a Subject can commit; and
thus in every way is the conduct of the San Rafael more criminal than that of the Regla, with the
exception of her having one Slave on’ board, when most likely the succeeding Night of the cap-
ture of the San Rafael, she would havehad 200, as she was perfectly ready to receive them, and.
immediately off the Port where her Agent was residing for that purpose.
Fhe Regla’s capture was off the Kroo Country, a Nation in amity with ourselves, and. where

no Slaves are shipped. The San Rafael is voluntarily abandoned by her Officers and crew; the
Regla'I believe was defended,—the one betrays conscious guilt,—-the other apparent innocenee;
butI have dwelt long enough on the subject, to shew the Hosourable Court, [ trust, circumstan-
tially, that the San Rafael is guilty of Trafficking in-Slaves, and that she falls under the first and:
second Articles of the Treaty, and with this belief, I throw the Case into the hands of a Triba-
nal, whose decision I must abide by, and in whomI have the highest confidence, I have further
to state that, on the capture of the San Antonio de Lisboa, 1 found by her Log-book, that the
St. Antonio, Spanish Schooner, formerly wiluded to in.my Letter, went intoPorto Nova, on the
29th ult., to purchase Slaves there, but not finding any there, proceeded further down the Coast,
for that purpose, which is a clear proof of the intention of the Spanish Schooners onthat Coast.

His Britannick Majesty's Ship Bann. a (Signed). CHARLES PHILLIPS,

. (Signed) JOHN HUDSON,Senior Lieutenant.
Witnesses,{ O'S" ALEXANDER STEWART, (2) Surgeon.

  

ThirdInclosuré in. No. 36. .

Mr. Gregory's Opinion on. the. Case of the Spanish Schooner; San. Rafael,
Chinchurreta, Master, given on the 27th of Fanuary, 1823,

NONE of the crew of this Vessel having been brought to Sierra Leone for examination, her
history to tle time of her detentiqn, can ouly.be gathered from the tew Papers belonging to her
that have been lodged in the Registry. These Papers consist of a Bilt of Sale, a Passport,
Muster-roli, Mediterranean Pass, and of Two Log-books, From. these Papers it woald appear,
that the Schooner belonged to Francisco Chinchurreta, of the Havannah; that Chinchurreta
sailed. in theSchooner as Master5:that,he obtained from the Authority of the Havannah a Pass-
port, dated the 13th of February 1822, authorizing him, to proceed to St.Thomas, and other
Portuguese Islands, for purposes of a Free Trade; that the crew consisted of 25 men, and that



54 Srerra Leone. (Spain.)

shesailed from the Havannah on the 20th of February 1822. By the Log-books, it appears, that
the San Rafael made the Coast of Africa, near Petit Bassa, in-about Lat. 5 d.43m. North, on the
12th of April; that from thence she went down to the Bight of Benin. The entries in one of the
Log-books are discontinued altogether on the 20th of April; the general entries in the other
Book are discontinued on the 2!st of April, but from that day to the 15th of August, short
entries of the course of the Vessel, with a Note of the Observations taken each day, are made,

It would appear as if the Vessel had touched on the 21st of April, at one of the Stations in the
Bight of Benin, aud that, subsequently, she had left that Station, and had gone as far as St,
Thomas, and the Equator, and had returned to her. former Station in the Bight, about the 15th
of August.
On the 27th of August, in Lat, 6.4, 17.m. North, and Long. 2d. 20m. East, the San Rafael was

detained by His Majesty’s Ship Bann, Captain Phillips.
_ In Captain Phillip’s Declaration, it is not stated that the Vessel had any Slaves on board at
the time of her detention, nor at any time previous, The reasons given by Captain Phillips
for her detention are many; those that bear upon the question of the legality or illegality of the
detention, are—-that the Vessel was fitted for the reception of Slaves, and that she had long been
hovering otf the Port of Whydah under suspicious circumstances.
The point, then, on which I am to decide, is, whether an jutent to take on board a cargo of

Slaves, will subject-a Vessel to forfeiture under the Treaty of the 23d of September 1817.
Although His Catholick Majesty has engaged, by the Ist Article of the Treaty, that the Slave.

trade shall now be abolished throughout His Dominions, yet the provision of the Treaty under which.
Slave-vessels may alone be detained, remains unaltered. That Provision which is contained in
the 10th Article ot the ‘Treaty, expresses. that ‘the full commission of a Slave-trading act, by
the embarkation of a Slave for the Traffick,-shall only warrant the detention of a Slave Ship
I say that this Provision remains unaltered, for it remains so in principle, although an enlarged
construction has been put upon it by superior Authority, to the effect—that the tact of a Slave.
having been on board for the Traffick, and re-landed, shall warrant the detention efaVessel, and
her condemnation. This construction still turns on the principle, that the full commission of the
crime of Slave-trading, by the embarkation of a Slave, is only to warrant the detention and con-
fiscation ofa Slave-vessel, _ e
‘This principle has been the guide of the Commissioners, when Cases have appeared that required

a reference to. it; and. ithas been the guide of the. Cruizers upon this Coast, with a very few
exceptions, from the time of their being first furnished with Instructions under the Treaty, to the
present period, These exceptions, which arose from the zealous desire of Officers to check the
nefarious Trafick in Human Beings at an important stage of the Traffick (when the Slaves were
collected in depdt on shore) were not supported by the decisions of the Commissioners.
The Case which first gave rise to the expression of the opinion of che Commissioners upon the.

construction of the J0th Article of the Treaty, was that’ of the Rosalia. In that Case actual
Slave-trade was proved; it was proved that Slaves had been actually purchased, and collected in
depdt at the Factory of a chief Slave-dealer, in order to their being embarked on beard of the
Rosalia at a safe opportunity; but it was not proved, or attempted to be proved, that any Slave
had been put on board at any time ‘by the Master of the Rosalia, or the Native Slave Dealers.
The Captor caused the Slaves to be embarked, and then declared that he had seized the Vessel.
The Commissioners were of opinion, that this embarkation by the Captor was not an embarka~
tion within the meaning of the 10th Article of the Treaty,
By their opinion on the Case of the Rosalia, the Commissioners regulated their decision upon

the principal point in the Case of the Dichosa Estrella, which was, that it was alleged by her
Captor, that four Slaves had been embarked on board of that Vessel for the Traffick. The Com-
missioners deemed that this ground could not be sustained, as the embarkation of these Slaves
turned out to be the act of the Captor, aud aot.of the captured,
The decision given by the Commissioners in the Case of the Rosalia, has received the approba-.

tion of superior Authority, so far as that decision was confined to the construction put by. the:
Commissioners on the 10th Article of the Treaty, .

If, in a Case where the intent to trade in Slaves was carried into effect by the actual purchase
and collection of Slaves, the Commissioners did not deem themselves watranted to decree the con-
fiscation of the Vessel, on board of which the Slaves were soon’ to have been embarked, I do not
see how they couldbe justified in decreeing the condenmation of a Vessel in a Case where the
anere jntent to Traffick in Slaves be only proved. .
With respect to the present Case of the San Rafael, the Slave-trading outfit of the Vessel is

only proved; much suspicion may be raised by this outfit, and the circumstances of the Vessel
being so long upon the Coast, but no actual Slave-trade is proved, _ ‘The Captor bas deprived him-
self of some advantage, by: permitting the total absence of the Spanish crew. -The crews of
Slave-vessels, in spite of themselves, often furnish matter that serves to throw light upon the
transactions in which they may have been engaged. By their absence in this Case, the opportu-
nity, at least, of investigation:is lost.
_1f I were permitted to decide the point which this Case involves, by the measure of expe-

diency, I should certainly say, that it would be proper, in order to prevent the commission of
Slave-trading acts, that the iutent to trade in Slaves should cause the forfeiture of a Slave-
vessel; but, besides that I am bound to bear in mind the spirit of the stipulations of the Treaty,
IT must-not overlook the general understanding that has.prevailed amongst all—that no Slaye-
vessel can be detained, unless a Slave shall have been on board for the purposes of the traffick,
Many proofs of this understanding might be given:—it is needless for me to cite them now, as
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the experience of those who hear me will testify, that scarcely a Vessel is detained with Slaves on
board, and brougbe hither for adjudication, but what has been boarded whilst the Traflick was
pursued on shore, or about to be pursued, Captain Phillips himself, frankly states, in his Decla-
ration, that he met with a Spanish Schooner, the San Antonio, whose Case was nearly similar to
the present Case, but which he, Captain Phillips, allowed to pass, considering that the decision of

the Court in the Case of the San Rafael, would be a guide tor his future proceedings, without

incurring any greater risk by her detention, thereby shewing that the step that he bad taken in

regard to the San Rafael was one of novelty.
Adverting to the Case of the Nuestra Senora de Regla, cited by Captain Phillips, as being a

Case wherein the decision of the Commissioners exceeded the letter of the Treaty, to forward
the ends for which the Treaty was framed, I think that there is a wide difference betwist that
Case and the present Case, and that there would be an essential difference betwixt a decision
given in this Case with a view to further the humane objects of the Treaty, and the decision

that was given in the Case of the Nuestra Senora de Regla, .

The facts proved in the Case of the Nuestra Senora de Regla, were these :—the Vessel was
fitted out for the Slave-trade ; she went to Petit Bassa, where the Traffick in Slaves was strictly
forbidden to Spanish Subjects to engage in that Trade; she commenced the Trade; one Slave
was pat on board of the Vessel at Petit Bassa, for the purposes of the.Traffick ; the Vessel. was
blown out to-'sea, where she was met with by one of the British Cruizers, ‘with this Slave on
board. Inthe Case of the San Rafael, the only fact proved is her Slave-trading outfit ;.no
Slave-trading on shore at Whydah is shewn to have taken place, and no Slave for the Traffick
was on board at the time of the detention. _ : .

In the Case of the Nuestra Senora de Regla, a Slave for the Traffick having. been found on
board, the decision of the Commissioners, condemning the Vessel, was. evidently in the spirit of
the Treaty, for the crime of ‘Slave-trading was fully. committed, by the embarkation.of this one
Slave; but in the Case of the San Rafael, no Slave having heen embarked,.a decision of Con-
demnation would be opposed, both to the letter and to the spirit.of the Treaty, which, throughout,
directs that the guilt, it I may so express myself, of the Vessel, shall be determined by the proof
of the embarkation of a Slave for the traffick.

Considering that the intent to trade in Slaves cannot warrant the detention and condemnation
of a Slave Vessel, I am of opinion, that the San Rafael was not legally detained, and that she is

notdiable to condemnation under the Treaty. . .
(Signed) _ E. GREGORY.

  

Fourth Inclosure in No. 36.

Opinion of Mr. Fitzgerald, His BritannickMajesty's Commissioner of

“Arbitration, in passing Judgment on the Case of the Spanish Vesset,

San Rafael. m .

THE Spanish Schooner, San Rafael, Francisco Chinchurreta, Master and ostensible Owner,

sailed from the Havarmah, on the [9th day of February 1822. She had a Royal Passport for free

commerce (para libre commercio), for a voyage to the Island of St. Thomas, and the other Por-

tuguese Islands, and thence back to the Port of her departure. This Paper is entirely in the Spanish

language; no mention is made in it of any limitation to legitimate. commerce for gold,ivory; palms ©

oil-and country cloths, as we have seen in other Spanish Passports, issued subsequently to the

total abolition of the Slave-trade, in any of those prohibitory forms in which we have been ae-

customed to see it, either included in the body of the Document, or indorsed by a memorandom

on the outside, denouncing ‘* the penalties of the law, and of the Royal Ordinances on any ‘yio-

lation that should be committed in this matter.” , :

There is a Note of Indorsement, correcting the amount of tonnage set down in the body of the

Passport at two hundred and nineteen tons and a half to one hundred and nineteen, The Passport.

is dated the 18th-of February 1822. : : nr po

Tt appears by a bill of sale from Cuesta, Manzanal y Hermano, that a company of Merchants

resident-at the Havannah, under that firm, had, for.a price ‘stated, sold the San Rafael to Chin-

churreta, so that he was, at least ostensibly, the Owner;—I say ostensibly, because the bill of

sale is dated on the 5th of February 1822, so short.atime before the sailing of the Vessel on the

19th, that the transfer must naturally be suspected to have been merely colourable. ©

‘There are two log-books, one.a rough one, and_ the. other apparently copie from it. From

these we collect that, on the Sth of April, the San Rafael came in sight of the Coast,. in Latitude

44,46m, North. On the 12th, she was in Latitude 4d, 43 m, Bast, of Piccaninny Bassa... The

entries-are continued without any thing remarkable until the 19th of April, from which.day they

cease in the fair copy. The Latitude on that day is 5d. 9m.North. ; a

The rough entries in the other bock are continued. in a very imperfect manner, intended merely

to note the passing of the day, or, if any thing more, the notes are designed for purposes. of de-

ception. It may very naturally be inferred that the object of this deception was to carry on a

Traffick for Slaves ; but no further information respecting that or any other object can be gleaned

from the Ship's Papers, —From the Papers of the Ship I proceed to notice thoseof the Captor.—

‘The Declaration written immediately after the capture, states, that the Captor, Captain Phillips,
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of His Majesty's Ship Bann, “ on the 27th day of August 1822, being in or about Latitude 6d:
19m. North, Longitude 2d. 26m. West, detained the San Rafael, sailing under Spanish

** Colours, armed with two guns, six-pounders, commanded by Francisco Chiuchurreta.”. The
Declaration adds here, that ‘‘ the Mate, who stated the Captain to be on shore at Whydah, has
** declared her to be bound from the Havannab to St. Thomas with a crew consisting of 22 men.”
The Captor then declares, that the cause of the detention is, ‘* that she was cruizing off

** Whydah without any Master on board; that she endeavoured to elude His Majesty's Ship, by
*¢ every possible means, resolutely carrying sail, notwithstanding a heavy fire of grape and musketry,
* until the musket-shot drove the men from the sweeps, which she had used in the light winds;
«that she was fully prepared for the reception of Slaves; her irons on board; that her guns and |
* muskets were all loaded, the former with grape; and in short—every preparation made for
«* action.” Mention is then made of certain ‘piratical acts said to -have been committed by a
Spanish Schooner, which might be suspected to be the San Rafael; that ‘instead of pursuing the
** honest intent of her destination, the San Rafael remained cruizing off Whydah for four Months,”
Former voyages discovered to have been made, ‘partly with the same crew, in the Slave-~trade,
strengthened the persuasion of Captain Phillips that this voyage was to be in the same trade. The
Declaration states further: ‘* that the people who have been all engaged in the same trade, are
*¢ hired on the condition that they shall receive their wages if the cargo arrives safe, and none if
“it does not; and that if the Vessel be condemned by this Court they will lose their pay ;.that
** she is a Vessel not calculated for commercial purposes from her build, as she has always been a
*€ Privateer or Slave-vessel, and that as the Spanish Government have agreed, according to the
** tenour of the first and second Articles of the Treaty of the 23d of September 19)7, wholly to
** abandon the Slave-trade, he (the Captor), has deemed.it is duty, without infringing on the
“tenth Article of the said Treaty, to bring the Vessel before this Court for being on the high
*¢ seas, fitted for the reception of Slaves, and for warlike purposes, and being within five or six
*€ days sail of the Port of her destination for nearly five Months, without even going near it,
“* thereby causing great suspicion of the honesty of her intentions, and making it the Captor’s
** duty, according (o his belief, to bring her to the nearest Court of Justice for adjudication.”

Captain Phillips adds further,—‘* as a corroboration of her illicit conduct, that he sent the San

* Rafael the Morning after the capture to anchor off Whydah, where she remained 56 hours,
** without any claim being made personally, or by writing, by the alléged Master.”,
The Declaration further says, that all the seamen.belonging to the San Rafael were allowed to

land at Princes Island. The Declaration has the following statement respecting this matter :
“On the Bann’s arrival off Princes Island, a second time, the first Pilot, with all his crew,

*€ requested to be landed, and not requiring their presence as evidence on my belialf before the
“ Court, and at the same time being a great saving by not haying to support them, J] complied
*¢ with their wishes, by allowing them to go on shore.”

This Absiract contains al! the material allegations of the Declaration in support of the supposed
right to detain the SanRafael. . /

There is not any claim, the Master having been away from the Vessel at the time of capture,
and all others belonging to her having been allowed to depart subsequently, there is not any
person who would claim.
_ The evidence by. which the allegations of the Captor are substantiated, consist entirely of
Affidavits.
The Affidavit of Captain Phillips, on lodging the Ship’s Papers in the Registry of the Court,

declared, that ‘* on the 27th day of August 1822, being in Latitude 6d. 19m, North, and
«« Longitude 2d. 28 m, Hast, he detained the Schooner called the San Rafael, whereof Francisco
** Chinchurreta, was Master, by reason that the said’ Schooner was employed in the Trade ia.
£* Slaves contrary to the existing Treaties entered into between His Britannick Majesty and His
*€ Catholick Majesty The King of Spain.”
“The Affidavit of Lieutenant Hudson proves the opportunity given to the Master of the San

Rafael to claim and defend his Vessel, by anchoring off Whydah, where the Master was understood
to be. oS .
_ The Affidavit of Francisco Guandiola proves the outfit and destination of the San Rafael to
have been for the Slave-trade, This Affidavit is founded on information given to theDeponent
on board of the San Rafael, at the Havannab, in December 1821, and by his personal observation
at the'same time. Francisco Guandiola was then a seaman on board of the Josefa, lately con-
demined in this Court, which Vessel was fitted out for the Slave-trade at the same time and place.
The Marshal of the Court, upon an inspection ordered by the Court ‘at the instance of the

Captor, reports that ‘‘ the San Rafael has now on board of her most of the Articles of outfit peculiar
** to the Slave-trade, such as Slave-irons, gratings-for the hatchways, fore and aft poopoo-tubs, &¢,””
The-proof of outfit for the Slave-trade is therefore clear, ‘
Coming now to the application of the Law, as established by the Treaty with His Catholick

Majesty, to the facts as far as they are established by the evidence which-I have recapitulated, It
is proper to observe; at the outset, that the only legal ground for the detention of Vessels under
these Treaties, is that declared in a general way in the Affidavit of Captain Phillips on filing the
Papersofthe San Rafael, chat is, for being employed in the Trade for Slaves; and it is further —
required that such employment should be proved by the most decisive acts.
; ‘The provision of the Treaty, which is more particularly applicable in the present Case, is the
tenth Article, as the Captor appears to have been well aware, when he says in his Declaration,
“«€ Thaye deemed it my duty, without infringing on the tenth Article of the said ‘Treaty, to-bring:
**the Vessel-before your Howourable Court,” Gg  
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‘The words of the tenth Article are these:
«* No British or Spanish Cruizer shall detain any Slave-ship not having Slaves actually on

« hoard; and in order to render lawful the detention of any Ship, whetherBritish or Spanish,
« the Slaves found on board of the Vessel, must have been bronght there for the express purpose
< of the traffick,—and those on board of Spanish Ships must have been taken from that part of
«* the Coast of Africa, where the Slave-trade is prohibited conformably to the tenour of the present
«« Treaty.” :
The Stave-trade is now altogether prohibited to the Subjects of Spain, and therefore the: dis-

tinction contained in the last Clause of the tenth Article is done away.
The meaning of the first Clause of the tenth Article is rendered more clear in this respect, that

it is agreed between the High Contracting Parties that, ‘‘if there shall be proof that a Slave or
** Slaves had been, for the purpose ot illicit traffick, put on board a Vessel in the course of the
« yoyage on which she was captured, such Vessel might be justifiably detained by the Cruizers,
« and finally condemned by the Commissioners.” ;

Tf the Commissioners could be disposed, as I trust they never could be, to go beyond the fair
extent and the fair limitation of the authority for the condemnation of Vessels charged with
illegal Slave-trade, as established -in the provisions that 1 have read, a recent Instruction from the
Superior Authority, to which they look for the due guidance of their decision, and for the cor~
rection of any errors into which they may casually fall, would recall them to their true course,—
inasmuch as it reminds them, that the extension of the provisions of the tenth Article of the
Treaty with Spain, which has just been cited, while it enables them to act up to that extension,
strictly limits the propriety of condemnation to the Cases which may come under that extended
provision.
The question now is, whether the Case of the San Rafael comes under the original provision of

the tenth Article, declaring what shall be legal cause for the detention of Spanish Vessels liable
to be charged with violating the Treaty; or does it come under the extension of that provision in
the sense just stated,

It is obvious that it does not come ander either, for it is not alleged, neither does it in any way
appear, that any Slave or Slaves were on board of the San Rafael at the time of the capture, nor .
that any had been on board, for the purpose of illegal trade, at any time during the voyage on.
which she was detained.

It is obvious, therefore, that the San Rafael cannot be condemned.
I should not think it necessary to say any thing further, if the Captor had not adverted to the

Case of the Nuestra Senora de Regla, taken by His Majesty's Ship Morgiana, and condemned ia
this Court in its earliest sittings, iu the Year 1819, as a Case relevant to this of the San Rafael.

Whatever relevancy there may be in any other point, there is at least-a clear distinction in the
main point, that the Nuestra Senora de Regla had on board at the time of capture one Negro,
avho was considered by all the Commissioners that sat in the Case, to be a Slave embarked for the
purposes of the traffick. ,

It is true, as Captain Phillips says in his Declaration, that the Slave-trade was at that time pro-
hibited to Spanish Subjects, only to the Northward of the Line,—but itis also true that the deten-
tion of the Regla took place within the range of the prohibition. ,

Jt is true, that the Case of the Regla occurred, as Captain Phillips expresses it in the Declara-
tion,—before the Law was altered, constituting one Slave a sufficiency for condemnation. But
what Captain Phillips calls an alteration of the Law, was in fact, little more than the confirmation
of the construction of the original provision on this head, adopted upon mature consideration
and ample discussion in the Case of the Regla.

Having been one ofthose who were concerned in forming that decision, and having taken part
in all the arguments and deliberations connected with it, the Spanish Court being then composed,
as the Portuguese and Netherlands Courts are now, of the three remaining Members of the Com-
mission, in_consequence of the inability of the Spanish Commissary Jadge to act through severe
sickness. While I have to regret that I did not make any note of the reasonings that. were
employed—I can well recollect all that was material in the sentiments of the other Commissioners,
as well as in my own, : .
The Commissioners who sat on the Case were Mr, Gregory the elder, then His Majesty's

Commissary Judge; Don Joze Camps, the Spanish Commissioner of Arbitration; and myself,
the British Commissioner of Arbitration. It was not for a moment matter of doubt with any ope
of the Commissioners named, that one Slave was sufficient to warrant condemnation.. ‘The only
way in which a doubt was intimated, was on the part of the Spanish Arbitrator: in this manner ;
that there being only one Negro on board, and the fact of his being a Slave being strenuously
denied by the people of the Regla, the proof of an embarkation of Slaves for the purposes of the
traffick was so much the more doubtful than if there had peen a considerable number, or even if

. there had been two or three more, or even one more. Mr, Camps being finally satisfied that the
ove Negro found on board of the Regla was there as a Slave for the purposes of the traffick, no
further question was made of the sufficiency of that one to warrant a Decree of coudemnation,
‘and the Nuestra Senora de Regla was condemned accordingly, with a particular reservation,
_ ‘That reservation was a right to the Master, not merely te appeal to the Havannah, but also to
come into this Court and prove his title (o the proeeeds of the sales consequent upon the con-
demnation, at any time within twelve Months, and to receive those proceeds if he could bring
-proofs sufficient to refute those upon which the condemnation was founded. | - .
’. This reservation was made on the ground that the opportunity offered to the Master, of coming
to Sierra Leone to assert his claim and to defend his Vessel, might not have been: understood’ by  
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‘him, or might not have been ‘thought eligible, and that he might, within a reasonable time, availhimself of some other opportunity. .
The opportunity that had been offered to him, was nearly the same as that offered in the presentCase, by approaching the shore, and shewing a disposition to communicate, and making efforts togive effect to that disposition. But, in that instance, Lieutenant Head held up in his hand, in aboat close to the shere, a letter which he made signs to the Master to-come and take, and he didwot desist until the Master, and a party that was with him, shewed a determination to fire on the‘boat if she should approach farther,
The two Mates of the Regla, however, and the remainder of the crew, were brought to SierraLeone, These were net enly competent to furnish the evidence required by the Treaty; but theMates werefullyqualified to defend the Cause of the Vessel, and “they did in fact make a very ableand a very persevering resistance te the efforts of the Captorys for the condemnation ; the Casewas decided by the Negro himself, and by the facts and circumstances which he stated, provinghim to have been treated on board of the Regla, as a Slave destined for the Traffick,Thus the Case of the Regla differs from that of the San Rafael, not only in the first and mostmaterial point of having hada Slave on board for the purposes of the Traffick ; but also in thefarther material point, that, although in the Case of the Regia, the Captain was absent, as well as‘in the Case of the San Rafael, yet the other Officers and all the seamen were present in that Case;whereas in this, there is not a single Person to claim the Vessel, nor to defend her cause, nor toweceive -her in the event of her liberation, nor to give evidetjce to the Commissioners upon thematters connected with the detention, according to the provisions of the Treaty to that effect.. On these Jast points J have been led te expect some allusion, on the part of the Captors, te thecourse followed by this Court ia the Case of theRosalia, taken by Lieutenant Hagan, command-ing. His Majesty’s Brig Thistle, onthe 9th of January 1822, in the Rio Pongos. The Slavesbrought on board of that Vessel, appeared to the Commissioners to have been embarked at theanstance of the Captor, in a manner that would not be considered to correspond with the kind ofembarkation of Slaves for the traffick, which is to be regarded and required as proper cause for con~demnation according to the Treaty. .In that Case also, as well as in the Case of the Regla, although the Master was absent, therewere men belenging to the Vessel, who by no means abandoned the legal defence ; but did infact defend the Vessel by their evidence, perseveringly, and effectual'y : for, upon their evidence,confirmed by the testimony of the Negroes, and by other testimony, including that of theCaptorsthemselves, the Case was declared to be a case fer restitution, if any body could be found tewhom the restitution could be made.
As no Person of that description could be found, it appeared to me that the best course to beadopted, was to make the Case in some measure a reserved Case, the final settlement of which‘would be most properly arranged by Superior Authority, and for this purpese to’ cause the‘Vessel to -besold, and the proceeds to be realized and retained, to be applied as the judgment ofthe Superior Authority concerned shall ultimately direct.
The objects could be affected by the Commissioners in no other way than by a Decree of con-demnation, for without such a Decree, the Vessel could not be sold, but must remain to rot in‘the Harbour of Sierra Leone, -A Decree of condenmmation was, therefore, adopted, with specialexplanations of the grounds upon which it rested, and of the objects for which it was intendedto provide.
Pie whole of the Case, with the opinions stating the propriety of a Decree of restitution, if aClaimant had appeared, or any Person competent to take charge of the Vessel ; and the ultimateadoption of a Decree of condemnation with the special grounds of that Decree, which was itselfspecial, was reported to His Majesty's Government, and the result has been, a full concurrence inthe opinions in favour of a restitution, if any Person competent to receive’ the Vessel hadbeen present; but an equal disapprobation of the Decree of condemnation finally passed, giving atthe same time full credit to the motives by which that Decree was suggested,The Commissioners, consequently, are not now at liberty to pass a similar Decree, even if asimilar Case should be brought before them, but the present Case is by no means similar in thepoint in which alone similarity could be supposed to exist; for in the Case of the Rosalia, as Ihave already observed, the seamen were not allowed to depart from the Vessel, before she wasbrought to adjudication, but were forthcoming in due course to be examined in the Cause.But even, if the Commissioners could still hold themselves at liberty to pronounce a Decree ofcondemnation, and if they could hold themselves warranted in other respects, in a case ofdetentionso manifestly illegal, to condemn the Vessel, on the ground that there is not any Person present toclaim, or to receive her ; still the Commissioners would be bound to leok at the cause and thecircumstances attending the absence of all such Persons, aud to guard against the establishment ofa practice, of the admission of a precedent, which by allowing every person found on board ofthe detained Vessel at the time of her detention, to depart from her before her arrival at thePlace of adjudication, would necessarily make every Case of detentiona Case of no claim, and ofHo proper evidence to Support or to annul the detention, Such a practice wauld go altogether tosupersede the functions of this Court, and to do away the provisions of the Treaty, for the con-firmation of detentions Jegally made, and tor the reparation of the wrongs committed in thosethat are egal. 4 would be the introduction of a system so opposite to a fair and legal course ofproceedings, and to impartial and effectual investigation and trial accordingto the Treaties, thatthe Commissioners are bound in duty to pronounce their o1 omsi pinions in the strongest manner against.it, hefore it has yet becomematter of habitual usage,
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If the first Pilot and the Crew of the San Rafael had been brought to Sierre Leone, they
would in all probability be held competent to claim the Vessel, and to take charge of her upon
her restitution. The inconvenience of their absence will, in this respect, be most severely felt by
the Captors themselves; but there is another view in which the consequences may be still more
injurious to them, Those very Persons, however, urgent in their wishes to depart at the earliest
opportunity, will, probably, avail themselves of that very opportunity to accuse the Captors of
having sent them away, on purpose that their evidence might not be forthcoming to prove the
illegality of the capture, and thus, what was asked and granted as afavour, will be employed
to fasten a foul imputation on the character of those who granted it. In framing the decision in
the present Case, the Commissioners cannot condemn the Vessel, for the reasons already men-
tioned ; and as there is no Person to whom restitution can be made, they cannot in effect restore.
Their desire is to frame their decision consistently with justice according to the Treaty, and at
the same time with as little loss or inconvenience to anyofthe Parties, as circumstances will
admit. The San Rafael is therefore left in the hands of the Captor, to be employed by him in the
way that may seem to him best suited, to enable him to meet the responsibilities incurred by the
detention. ,

29th January 1823. (Signed) EDWARD FITZGERALD.

 

No. 37.

Mr. Secretary Canning to Messrs. Gregory and Fitxgératd.

GENTLEMEN, Foreign Office, June 2, 1823.
I HAVE received your Despatch (marked Spain,) of the 15th of August,

1822, inclosing a Statement of the Case of the Schooner Joseph, and
requesting Instructions for your conduct in certain otherCases therein men-
tioned.
With respect to the particular Case of the Joseph, there does not appear

to be any reason to object to the applications of the principles of Law on the
Evidence referred to, as stated in the Papers inclosed in your Despatch..
Since the connection of that Ship with Matanzas, and the employment of
it in the Spanish Trade prohibited by Treaty, fully warrant the construc-

. tio put upon the Character of that Ship in the final Sentence, . 7
As to any turther Instructions, with a view to meet Cases which may

possibly arise, I have to observe to you in the first instance, that, as His
ajesty’s Commissioners, you are to act to the best of your judgment,

according to the Treaties and Acts of Parliament underthe Oath which you
have taken; and that it would be vain to attempt to forsee and provide for
every variety of Case that may by possibility occur. .

I think. 1t only necessary further to caution you, wer to consider those
Clauses in the Treaty, which contain general Declarations of illegal partici-
pation in Slave transactions, as grounds of Condemnation of Ships or Cargoes
ostensibly belonging to order Powers, not Parties to such Treaty, ,

I-add, for your information, the Copyofa Letter which has been addressed
to the Admiralty by my direction, respecting the means resorted to for the
capture of the Joseph. Iam, &e. -

(Signed) GEORGE CANNING.
Ihs Moajesty’s Commissioners, Sierra Leone.

  

Inclosure in No. 37.

Joseph Pianta, Jun. Esq. to J. W. Croker, Esq.
Sir, Foreign Office, June 2, 1823. .

1 TRANSMIT to you the Extract from a Despatch which has lately been received from, His
“Majesty's Comaiissioners ut Sierra Leone, dated 15th August last, enclosing a Statement of the
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Proceedings in the Mixed Commission Court, at that Colony, in respect to the Spanish Schooner
Joseph :—and lam directed by Mr. Secretary Canning to request you will Jay these Papers before
the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty, and call their Lordships particular attention to the
circumstance, that Lieutenant Clarkson, of the Iphigenia, effected the capture of the Joseph while
on board the United States Schooner 4ugusta; in order that their Lordships may judge how far
it may be advisable to discourage the use of such means {unauthorised by any of the Treaties) on
future occasions. lam, &e.

J. W. Croker, Esq. (Signed) J. PLANTA, Jun,
&c, &e. &e.

 

No. 38.

Messrs. Gregory and Hamilton to Mr. Secretary Canning.—
(Received September 17.)

Sir, Sierra Leone, Mugust 14, 1823.
WE have had the honor to receive your Despatch, {marked Spain,) of the

16th of May 1823, inclosing ten copies of certain Articles explanatory of,
and additional to the Treaty of the 23d of September 1817, concluded at
Madrid, for preventing illegal Slave Trade; which Explanatory and Addi-
tional Articles were signed at Madrid, on the 10th of December 1822,
between thePlenipotentiaries of His Majesty and The King of Spain duly
authorised to that effect. oo.
We shall, agreeably to your Instructions, consider these Articles asbinding

upon us, for the guidance of our conduct, in giving effect to His Majesty’s
intentions in regard to the stipulations therein recorded.

We have the honour to be, &c.
(Signed) E. GREGORY,

The Right Hon. George Canning, D.M. HAMILTON.
&e. &e. &e.

 

No. 39.

Messrs. Gregory and. Hamilton to Mr. Secretary Canning—(Received
January 15, 1824.)

Sir, Sterra Leone, September 10, 1823.
WE have the honour to acknowledge: the receipt of your Despatch,

{marked Spain) of the 2d of June last, with the Copy of a Letter inclosedtherein, addressed by Mr. Planta to the Secretary to the Admiralty, relativeto the Spanish Schooner Joseph, adjudicated ‘in the British and Spanish
Court of Mixed Commission at this Colony, in the course of the last Year.
We are happy to understand trom you, Sir, that the Mixed Court wasfully

warranted in the construction put upon the character of that Ship in the final
Sentence.
With respect to Cases similar to that of the Joseph, as well as in other

Cases, we shall act to the best of our Judgment according to the Treaties
and Acts of Parliament, under the oath which we have taken, bearing in mind
your caution, that we shall not consider those Clauses in the Treaty, which
contain general Declarations of illegal participation in Slave transactions, asgrounds of Condemnation of Ships or Gargoes, ostensibly belonging to otherPowers, not Partiés to such Treaties.

We have the honour to be, &e.
_ (Signed) E. GREGORY.

The Right Hon. George Canning, ~ DD. M,. HAMILTON.
Be. &e. Be. - .
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No. 40,

Messrs. Gregory and Hamilton to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Received
February 2, 1824.)

Sir, Sterra Leone, September 10, 1823.

WE have the honour to lay before you a Report of the Case of the Spanish
Schooner Maria La Luz, captured by the boats of His Majesty’s Ship
Owen Glendower, in New Calabar River, in 4 deg. 24 min. North Latitude,
and 7 deg. 11 min. East Longitude, on the 3d of July 1823.
The Maria La Luz at the time of her capture, was about to depart from

. New Calabar River, with a cargo of Slaves for Saint Jago de Cuba. On the
approach of the capturing boats, she was abandoned by her crew, who, at the
same time relanded the greater part of the Slaves. :
The Vessel was taken possession of by the British, and the Slaves that had

been relanded were given up to them by the Chief of New Calabar, and put —
on board of the Schooner; but, unfortunately, when leaving the River, the
Schooner was run on shore, through the ignorance of a Native Pilot, and was
totally lost. The Slaves were conveyed on board of the Owen Glendower,
and were subsequently landed at Cape Coast, by Sir Robert Mends, on the
ground of their ill health.
You will observe, Sir, by the inclosed Report of her Case, that some of the

crew of the Maria La Luz stated, that the French Flag had been used on
board of her, doubtless for the purpose of eluding the search to which, as a
Spanish Vessel, she was liable from British Cruizers, under the Slave-trade
prevention Treaty ; under the circumstances ot the Case, as proved in evidence;
we did not hesitate so tojudge of this use of the Flag of France, and to treat
the Case as it merited according to the Treaty.
The Maria La Luz was sentenced to have been liable to condemnation at

the time of her capture, and her Slaves were decreed to be emancipated.
By our direction, a Letter was addressed by the Acting Registrar to the

Colonial Secretary, requesting that he would communicate to His Excellency
the Governor, the fact that the Negroes of the Maria La Luz had been landed.
at Cape Coast by Sir Robert Mends. Should these Negroes not be sent:
hereafter to Sierra Leone, we propose to take such measures as may ensure to
them the receipt of the certificates of their emancipation, which may be
of use to them in the present unsettled state of affairs in the Country about
Cape Coast. :
A Schooner was captured in Old Calabar River, by Commodore Sir Robert

Mends, on the 10th of June last; she is named the Conchita, and is from
Saint Jago de Cuba; her character is not determined; shehad a Danish
Flag; her Log-book, which was kept in the Spanish language, states her to
be a Danish. Vessel. Sir Robert Mends, the Captor, declares her to be a
Spanish Vessel. , , OO
The Papers alleged to belong to this Vessel were brought into the Regis-

try of the Mixed Court on the 29th of August, and the Proctor for the
Captors wished to institute immediate proceedings against her; but neither
the Vessel, nor any person who could properly depose to particular facts rela-
ting to her detention, and to herPapers, had been sent to Sierra Leone by Sir
Robert Mends, and no proper reason was assigned why she had not been sent
to this Place for adjudication, as we conceive she ought to have been sent upon
her capture without delay.  
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We, accordingly, did not think it right that proceedings should be instituted
as against the Vessel, until her arrival.at Sierra Leone, or until her absence
was properly accounted for.

We have the honour to be, &c.

(Signed) E. GREGORY.
The Right Hon. George Canning, D. M. HAMILTON,

&e.  &e. &e.

   

Inclosure in No. 40.

Report of the Case of the Spanish Schooner Maria La Luz, Jacinto Llobet,
Master, condemned on the 8th of September 1823.

THE Declaration of the Captor in this Case, Commodore Sir Robert Mends, was brought into
the Registry on the 29th of August 1823, with a Paper, the oly one that was stated to have
been found on board the Maria La Luz at the time of her capture. This Declaration, dated on |
board of His Majesty’s Ship Owen Glendower, off New Calabar River, the 6th of July 1823,
stated, that Sir Robert Mends sent the boats of His Majesty’s Ship Owen Glendower, under the
command of Lieutenant Pringle Stokes, up the River of New Calabar, situated in 4 d;.24m, North
Latitude, and-7.d. 11 m, East Longitude; that on entering the River, Lieutenant Stokes, on the |
3d of July, found and took possession of a Schooner-abandoned by her crew, and having on
board seven Slaves, one ofwhom was in irons; that this Vessel had dropped down to the entrance
of the River, and was on the point of sailing with 221] Slaves on board, when, perceiving the
approach of the boats, she put back and landed all the Slaves except seven ; that on the following
day, 184 Negroes were sent on board by the Chief of New Calabar River, as composing the cargo
of this Vessel, which he declared to be Spanish, and that these Slaves had been purchased by her
Captain from him and his. people, and landed from the Vessel on the approach of the English
boats; that seven of the Spanish seamen, composing part of the Schooner’s crew, delivered
themselves up to the Captor; that, on taking possession of the Schooner, a white Flag and’an
American Pendant were found, but no Papers, except a small Note written in the Spanish language,
and signed Llobet; that.she was armed with one long nine-pounder; that she appeared to be
-about 190 tons, and was provided with a sudficient quantity of provisions, water, and every other
necessary for a voyage to the Island‘of Cuba, with 221 Slaves; that this Vessel was recognised
by Lieutenant Stokes, and the Officers and men under his orders, ‘to be the same which, on. the 4th
of June: 1823, in the same place, fired on the boats of the Owen Glendower when they were pro-

ceeding to examine her with English Colours displayed. ;
‘This Declaration further stated, that the said Schooner in coming out of the New Calabar River

was, through the ignorance and carelessness of a Native Pilot who had the chargeof her, run on
shore, and, notwithstanding every exertion was made to get her off, was. totally wrecked on the
5th of July 1823; that the Slaves were all-taken into the boats, and taken on board of the Owen
Glendower.
The Slaves were subsequently landed from the Owen Glendower, at Cape Coast, as appeared

froma Declaration of Sir RabertMends, dated on board of the Owen Glendower, off Cape Coast,
the 6th of August 1823, This Declaration stated that the Slaves having become unhealthy. and the
Owen Glendower being unavoidably detained off Cape Coast, for the defence of the Forts against
the Ashantee army, her return to Sierra Leone being uncertain, it was indispensably necessary,
ander these circumstances, to land the Slaves at Cape Coast, to be taken care of iti the Castle by
the Government of the Place, as their longer detention on board would be attended with greater
loss amongst them, with the danger of spreading the contagion through the Ship, It was not
stated what was the nature of the contagious disorder which prevailed amongst the Slaves, but by
an Affidavit of an Officer of the Owen Glendower, made in the course of the proceedings in the
Case, it appeared that only 183 Slaves were landed at CapeCoast from the Owen Glendower, as
belonging to the Maria La Luz, and that the number of deaths that occurred amongst them, be-
twixt-the period of their capture and landing at Cape Coast, was theretore eight. On the 29th of
August, the Proctor for the Captor prayed that a monition might be issued, citing the Master, or.
others interested in the Vessel, to appear before the Mixed Court. A monition was accoruingly
issued on the next day. ~
‘wo of thé seven seamen who had delivered themselves up to Sir Robert Mends after the capture

of: the Schooner, and who liad been sent. by Sir Robert Mends to Sierra Leone in an English
arading Vessel, with. some of the Officers of the Owen Glendower, were examined upon the
standing Tnterrogatories,
‘These seamen deposed, that ‘‘the voyage of the Maria La Luz commenced at, Saint Jago de

Cuba; and: was to-have ended there; that the Master, who was named according to the one,
Jacinto,: according to the other, Jacinto Llobet, was a Native of Barcelona; that there were
about twenty Officers and mariners on buard, exclusive of the Master; that there were ten
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Spaniards, four Italians, and others of different Nations ; that they were hired at Saint Jago de
Cuba hy the Master; that they alt went on board at the same place ; that the Schooner sailed
under French Colours; that they did not see any other colours on board; that they proceeded
from Saint Jago de Cuba to New Calabar River, and there traded in Slaves ; one of the seamen
said, that 221 Slaves, and the other that 231 Slaves, were embarked on board of the Schooner,”

In the Depositions of these seamen no mention was made of the re-landing of the Slaves ofthe
Maria La Luz, which Sir Robert Mends, in his Declaration respecting the capture of the Vessel,
had stated as having taken place on the approach of the English boats. The Commissioners re-
quired of the Proctor for the Captor to prove that the Slaves were re-landed from the Maria La
Luz, as stated by Sir Robert Mends, and to prove that the Slaves that were delivered to Sir Robert
Mends by the Chiet of New Calabar, were the same that had been purchased by the Master of the
Schooner, embarked on board of that Vessel, and re-landed from her by her crew. ;

This proof was given on the 4th of September, by the Proctor tor the Captor, by the Affidavits
of six of the seamen of the Maria La Luz: they deposed as follows, viz.: ‘* that they embarked
upwards of five Months ago, (that is. from the 5th of September), at the Port of Saint Jago,
in the Island of Cuba, as seamen on board of a Spanish Schooner, called the Maria La Luz,
proceeding on a voyage to the Coast of Africa for Slaves, and commanded by Don Jacinto
Llobet, a Native of Barcelona, in Spain; that the Captain was the person who engaged them
for the voyage, and he paid each of them the sum of 25 Spanish dollars as one Month's advance;
that the crew consisted of 2] in number, all Spaniards, except four, who were Italians ; that
they-fitted out. at Saint Jago de Cuba, with a cargo of goods snitable for the African trade, and
‘sailed from that Place, on or about the 13th day of March last, and without touching at any
Port arrived at New Calabar, in the Bight of Biatra, about the middle of last May; and Depo-
nent, Andrew Gomez, states, that the Owner of the Maria La Luz is a Merchant, residing at
Saint Jago de Cuba, of the name of Jean Jacques; and Deponent, Joze Azuere, saith, that the
said Jean Jacques sold the said Schooner to the Captain, Don Jacinto Llobet; and Deponent,,.
Simon Auguere, saith, that, previous to his embarkation,Spanish Colours were always used on
board of her; but all the Deponents declare; that they sailed from Saint Jago de Cuba without
hoisting any Colours, but on their approaching’ towards the Coast of Africa, the Captain ordered
a white Flay to be hoisted. Lo

That immediately upon theirarrival ‘at New Calabar, they commenced trading for Slaves, and
had. collected 25, when, on the 4th of June 1823, they observed a gredt many. Englishboats
advancing towards them, displaying English Colours, upon which they immédiately got undet
weigh in the Schooner, and wentfurtherup the River, where they landed their Slaves by the
Captain's orders, and, in concert withthe war canoes, opened.a fire on the boats—that
two or three days after the departure of the boats from the River, they re-embarked thé
Slaves, and continued purchasing others; and when they had bought to the number of
221 Negroes, they dropped down to the entrance of the River, and were on the point of
sailing for Cuba, when they received intelligence of the approach of the boats a second.tine.
That they immediately returned with the Scheoner to New Calabar where they landed somé of
their Slaves, and abandoned the Vessel. That on the 3d day of July 1823, these Deponents were.
taken by the English boats andconducted on board His Majesty's Frigate, the Owen Glendower ”
The six seamen, who deposed as above, further swore, that, at the time when the boats of the
Owen Glendower were approaching the said Schooner, Don Jacinto Llobet ordered the whole of.
the Slaves then on board, amounting to the number of 221, to be landed ; and Deponents say, that.
the Slaves so landed were the identical Slaves that were afterwards delivered up by King Agu,
Chiet of the River New Calabar, as composing the cargo of Negroes purchased from him by the
said Don Jacinto Liobet.—That the said Captain, Don Jacinto Llobet, absconded at the time when
the crew and Slaves abandoned the Vessel, and has never since been beard of, or seen by any of
these Deponents, nor are they able to form avy: conjectureas to where or whence he is gone.” An.
Affidavit made by an Officer of the Owen Glendower, shewed that 183 Slaves belonging to the Maria
La.Luz, were landed at'‘Cape Coast from the Owen Glendower,,
Upon this evidence, the case was decided on the 8th of September. The Commissioners wreé

of opinion that the MariaLa Luz, being owned by a Spanish Subject; navigated by a Spanish
crew ; fitted out at a Spanish Port ; and designed to return to that Port. with a- cargo of Slaves,:
must be taken, in the absence of all proof to the contrary, .to be a Spanish Vessel, and as such
liable to the operation of the Treaty of the 23d of September 1817, ' The Commissioners were of
opinion that, as a Spanish Vessel, she had violated that Treaty, by having had on board Slaves
intended for the Traffick, and were, therefore,of opinion that she was liable to condenmation at
the time of her captare, and that the Slaves belonging to ber should be emancipated,

. (Signed) E. GREGORY.
Sierra Leone, September 10, 1823. D. M. HAMILTON,
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No. 41.

Messrs. Gregory and Hamilton to Mr. Seeretary Canning. —(Received
February 2, 1824.

Sir, Sierra Leone, November 20, 1823. |

IN our Despatch of the 10th of September, we had the honour to
address you, informing you of the adjudication of a Spanish Vessel, named
the Maria La Luz, and of some circumstances relating to a Vessel named
the Conchita, that had been taken by Sir Robert AZends, commanding His
Majesty’s Ship Owen Glendower. .
We have now the honour to acquaint you with certain proceedings, that

have recently passed in the British and Spanish Court ofMixed Commission,
relative to a Spanish Schooner named the Fudiana. —
The Fabiana was brought to Sierra Leone on the Evening of the 16th of

October. On the next day her arrival was reported to us by the Principal
Clerk of the Mixed Commissions, and by the Medical Officer attached to the
same. In the Report of the Medical Officer it was stated that the Fabiana
had on board 170 Negroes, of both sexes, the whole of which number, with
the exception of three men and three women, were in a healthy condition.
“The Report of the Clerk stated, that two Negroes had died on the passage.
from Bonny River, the place of capture, to Sierra Leone. .
On the 18th of October a Petition was presented by the Proctor for the

alleged Captor, Sir Robert Mends, praying that all the Negroes might be
landed, on the ground of the great sickness that then prevailed, and of the
great mortality that had existed amongst them.
The matter of this Petition being considered to be quite at variance with

-the statement contained in the Report of the Medical Officer, it was with-
drawn by the Proctor for the Captor, and another Petition, referring to the
matter of that Report, as a ground for the landing ofthe sick Negroes only,
was substituted in its stead. It had been represented to the Procior for the
Captor,that a landing of the Negroes, who were in a healthy: state, would not
be expedient, until the Papers of the Vessel had been brought into the Re-
gistry, and until the Commissioners were satisfied that she had a Spanish
character. ‘The sick Slaves were landed in the Evening of the 18th of
October.
On the 20th, the Papers alleged to belong to the Fabiana were brought into

the Registry, and presented to the Commissioners with an Affidavit of a Mr.
Batt, acting Second Master.on board of His Majesty’s Ship Owen Glendower,
who brought the Fabiana to Sierra Leone. .
The Athdavit made by Mr. Batt was to the effect, that the Papers delivered

in by him were the same as were given by the Mate of the Schooner to
‘Lieutenant Gray, the Officer in charge of the boats capturing the Schooner,
and afterwards given to. Mr. Batt. 2
The Papers stated to belong to the Fabiana seemed to. shew that she was a

Spanish Vessel, which had sailed from the Havannah on the 5th of May
1823. ‘There were some Clearance Papers from the Authorities of that
Place, allowing her to sail from thence for the Island of St. Thomas for pur-
poses of a traffick of a licit nature.

' To her Passport a Note was subjoined, expressing, that “the Fabiana was to
return from St. Thomas with articles of a legal commerce, and on no account
was she to return with Slaves, as the Trattick in Slaves was prohibited by
several Royal Orders, and by the Penal Code.” The name of her Master was
Manoel de Maria.



Srerra LeEone. (Spain) 65

On the 21st, a Petition was presented by the Proctor for the Captor, pray-
ing that all the Negroes on board of the Fabiana might be landed. This
Petition was granted, and the Negroes were landed on the same day. On the
21st also, a Paper purporting to be a Declaration of Mr. Joseph Batt, was
presented to the Commissioners. This Declaration was as follows, viz.

«J, Joseph Batt, acting Second Master of His Majesty’s Ship Owen Glen-
«« dower, do hereby declare, that on the 14th day of September 1823, being
*‘in about 4d. 28m. North Latitude, and 7 d. 21m. East Longitude, the
* Vessel or Schooner called the Fabiana, sailing under Spanish Colours,
“‘ armed with. one long six-pounder gun, commanded by Manoel de Maria,.
“ was seized by the boats of His Majesty’s Ship Owen Glendower; that the
* Captain of the said Schooner Fabiana, declared her to be bound trom
** Bonny River to the Havannah, with a. crew consisting of 21 persons, in-
«¢ cluding the Captain and Mate, the greater part of whom were Spaniards;
«that on the boats boarding her, she had every appearanceof. having just
«© Janded her Slaves; coppers large enough to cook for 200 persons were
“ fitted up, with every other article and apparatus usual in those Vessels, and
«< necessary for the maintenance of Slaves ; that the Captain, Mate and Crew,
“ excepting two sailors, went on shore to Bonny.

«« That on the 16th day of September, after the said Vessel had been so
“ taken, King Peppel, one of the Chiefs of Bouny, delivered up 120 Slaves,
“ stating that they were the Slaves that were landed from the said Schooner |
“on the Evening of the 8th of September 1823, and that they were only
“a part of her cargo, the rest having been lost in the hurry of landing them.” .
The general practice in the Courts of Mixed Commission had been, that

the Commander of a capturing Vesscl should send into the Registry a De-
claration, stating the circumstances of, and the reasons for, the detention.
ofa Vessel suspected to be engaged in the illegal Traffick in Slaves. No
such Declaration was sent into. the Registry in the present case. The
Declaration before the Commissioners was merely that of a very subordi-.
nate Officer of the Owen Glendower, which Ship was alleged to have detained.
the Fabiana. — oo

Besides this departure from the general practice of the Courts. of Mixed.
Commission, the Declaration of Mr. Batt wasin itself defective, as it did not
state that the-detention of the Fabiana was made under the authority of Sir
Robert Mends, the Commander of the Owen Glendower, to which Ship Mr.
Batt was attached. inthe Affidavit of Mr. Batt, made upon bringing the
Papers of the Fabiana into the Registry, it was stated ‘that the Fabiana was_
taken by the Owen Glendower, commanded by Sir Robert Mends. It is
always expected, that the Atfidavit made in regard to the Papers ofa detained
Vessel, and the Declaration detailing the circumstances of the. detention.
should agree with regard tv the person by whom the detention was made, |
Further, no reason was given for the absence of a Declaration on the part of
Sir Robert Mends; nor were the circumstances. attending the detention
clearly explained. Taking all these matters into consideration, we, on the
24th, intimated to the Proctor for the Captor, that we would hold a Court to
receive proof, touching these matters, and touching the absence of the Master —
and inferior Officers of theFabiana, and to consider of the other matters of the

Case, as soon as the Captor should beready to offer such proofs; =

On the 4th of November, an Affidavit of Mr. Batt. was presented to the
Commissioners by the Proctor for the Captor, with Depositions of two of
the seamen of the Fabiana, and with a Petition praying that a Monition
might be issued, citing all-Parties in the Case to appearbefore the Court.

Mr. Batt in his Affidavit, after re-stating most of the matters contained in
his Declaration, deposed, that “ the Captain and, Mateofthe said Séhoo-

“ ner Fabiana, together with all the crew, except two, by their own consent
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and request, were allowed to go on shore to Bonny on the day the seizure
*€ was made, that the Instructions of Commodore Sir Robert Mends to him,
«Mr. Batt, and to the Officer in charge of the boats employed on the expedi-
“tion, at the time of their quitting His Majesty’s Ship Owen Glendower,
*¢ were to the effect, that in the event of any captures being made, any Vessel
“ so captured, was to be immediately despatched to Sierra Leone under
“‘ the charge of the Deponent, without waiting to report the same to the
*«« Commodore.”

"Fhe two seamen of the Fabiqna, amongst other matters, with which we
willnat now, Sir, trouble you, deposed that the Captain and crew, excepting
themselves, went on shore.at the River Bonny at the time of the capture of
their Vessel.
Upon a consideration of the facts disclosed in Mr. Batt’s Affidavit, that the

Fabiana was sent hither.for adjudication at the discretion of a subordinate
Officer of the Owen Glendower, that her detention was not expressly sanc-
éioned by the Commander of the Qwen Glendower; we were of opinion, that
such a.sending in, for adjudication, was irregular, inasmuch as it appeared to
he opposed tothe.letter and to the spirit ofthe Treaty. with Spain. We cons
ceived that that Treaty solely vested in the Commander of a Ship of the
Royal Navy, properly authorized to make seizures of Vessels suspected to be.
engaged in the Traffick in Slaves, the discretion to send in for adjudication,

' Vessels detained by: him, or under bis authority by boatsof his Ship.
The limitations to the right of search are such, under the Treaty, that it

appears to. be thevery foundation of-that right, that it should be exercised with
the greatestprecaution. by the Commanders of Ships ofWar, to whom the In-
structions under the ‘Freaty are issued ;—that, consequently, the more im-
portant right of sending in a Vessel for adjudication should only be exercised
by those Commanders, in order. that. the Powers concerned in the Treaty, may
be fully assured. thatsuch right will not be exercised, but upon a mature consi-
deration of, the reasons for her detention, and. upon a proper reference to the
Commander'sInstructions.
We, therefore, did net think ourselves authorized to proceed further with

the @ase, unless the Proctor for the Captor should give us good reasons why,
we.should.adopt.a. contrary course, and this we signified to the Proctor on
‘the. 4th of November,intimating. to him at the same time, that we would.
hold.a. Court for the purpose ofhearing him, should. he think fit to address
us. He hag. not hitherto expressed anydesire to do so.

The. Fabiana remains under the care of the Prize Master.
We entreat, Sir, your attention to the point of itregularity in thisCase,

which it has been our duty to bring under your view, in order that the in-
convenience, which may follow the continuance of. such.irregularity, may be.
prevented by such measures as you, Sir, in your wisdom may think fit ta
adopt. .

imay not be unlikely that the irregularity which prevents, for the present,
our proceeding with the Case of the Fabiana, maybe removed -hereafter b
Sir Robert Mends, the alleged Captor. Should it be removed, we think that
it-may.be proper to proceed: with the Case. .

It.1s. said that Sir Robert Mends.is at present.at Cape Coast, and that he
may be expected here about Christmas. _ —

. Wehave the honour. to be, &c.

(Signed) E. GREGORY.
. D..M.HAMILTON,
Ihe Right Hon. George Canning,

Se.  &e. Se.
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No. 42.

Messrs. Gregory and Hamilton to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Receised
April 26.)

Sir, Sterra Leone, January 20, 1824.

WE have had the honour to address to you, on the 20th of: November
last, a Despatch, acquainting you with certain proceedings that had then
recently passed in the British and Spanish Court of Mixed Commission, re-
specting a Spanish Schooner, namedthe: Fabiana. oe
Towards the conclusion of. that Despatch, we stated, that we did not

think ourselves authorised to proceed further, at that time, with the Case of
the Fabiana, unless the Proctor for the alleged Captor shouldgive good
reasons why we should pursue a contrary course;. that we had signified the
same to the Proctor, intimating to him, besides, that we would hold a Court
for the purpose of hearing him, should he think fit to address us; that, up
to the date of our Despatch, the Prector had. not expressed any desire
to do so. .
We further stated, that it might not be unlikely that the irregularity

which prevented our proceeding with the Case, might be removed by Sir
Robert Mends, the alleged Captor, on his arrival hither from Cape Coast ;
and that, should the irregularity be removed, we thought that it might be
proper to proceed with the Case. Oo

His. Majesty’s Ship Owen Glendower, arrived at Sierra Leone on the 14th
December 1823, but without Sir Robert Mends, who had, unhappily, died. at.
Cape Coast on the 4th of September. a

. tratil the 20th of December, nothing further was done in the Case ofthe
Fabiana, except that a Petition was presented towards the end ofNovember,
by the Proctor for the alleged Captor, praying that some of the Stores of
that Vessel might be landed, in order to their better security; but the Petition
was subsequently withdrawn, as it was conceived that the Stores would,
without causing expence,. be as safe, at that Seasonof the Year, on board of
the Vessel as on shore. /

_ On the 20th of December, a Declaration was tendered: of Lieutenant:
Gray, dated on that day, on board of His Majesty’s Ship Owen -Glenidower,,
then lying in this Harbour. Lieutenant Gray. was the Officer who:commanded
the boats of the Owen Glendower, that made the capture of the Fabjaha,;
as stated in our Despatch abovementioned.
In his Declaration, Lieutenant Gray stated, that he was deputed by Coni-

modere Sir Robert Mends, Captain of the Owen Glendower, with part of the
erew, and two boats ofthat Vessel, to seize and detain any Vessels ‘which he,
Lieutenant Gray, might find in the River Bonny, under the Spanish, Por-
tuguese, or Netherlands Flag, trading in Slaves. Lieutenant Giay. then
stated.the circumstances of the capture of the-Fabiana, in the River Bonny, -
and proceeded to declare, that, having orders from Sir Robert Mends to send
such Vessels as he, Lieutenant Gray, might capture, direct to this’ Port, for:
adjudication, and finding her supplied with a sufficient stoek of provisions,
and other necessaries, for that purpose, he sent her to this Port forthwith,
Lieutenant Gray further declared, that Sir Robert Mends died before he
returned to the Owen Glendower, Co

_ With the. Declaration of Lieutenant Gray, was presented a Petition of
Mr. Macauley, as Agent for. the Captain ofHis Majesty’s Ship Owen

. Glendower, her Officers and crew. This Petition prayed that the Com-
taissioners would direct the usual Monition to issu¢ in the Case. .
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_ Upon the 24th of December, we heard Mr. Macauley. in open Court in
support of his Petition.
Mr. Macauley stated, that it had not been intended that the Case of the

Fabiana should have been brought before the Court, immediately after the
arrival of the Vessel at Sierra Leone; that the intention of Sir Robert
Mends had been, that the Vessels captured by Lieutenant Gray, should be
sent to Sierra Leone to await his arrival, in order to his, Sir Robert Mends,
-bringing their Cases before the Court; that, if Sir Robert Mends’ intetition
had been followed, and Sir Robert Mends had lived to arrive at Sierra Leone,
his Declaration of the capture would have been filed, and the Casewould have
been adjudicated in the usual manner.
The proceedings against the Vessel had not been commenced by Mr.

Macauley. .
Mr. Macauley stated, that he was prevented by the circumstance of Sir

Robert Mends’ death, fromfiling his Declaration, but he conceived that if
Captain Stokes, who succeeded Sir Robert Mends in the Owen Glendower,
were here, that it would be competent for him to file a Declaration in the
Case. That Captain Stokes’ Declaration could not at present be filed, by
reason that Captain Stokes had proceeded to England from Cape Coast. Mr.
Macauley stated, that, for these reasons, he had filed the Declaration of Lieu-
tenant Gray, who had made the capture of the Fabiana.

Mr. Macauley particularly urged the unavoidable absence of Captain
Stokes, as a reason why the want of a Declaration ofthe Senior Officer of the
Owen Glendower, at the time of the capture of the Fabiana, should not
prevent the issue of a Monition. Mr. Macauley seemed to piace Captain
Stokes in the situation of the Captor of the Fabiana. Mr. Macauley read
part of a Letter which Captain Stokes had addressed to him from Cape
Coast, stating, that he would share in the benefit to be derived from the
Condemnation of the Fabiana, as Captain of the Owen Glendower, the cap-
ture of the Fabiana having taken place on the 14th of September, ten days
after the death of Sir Robert Mends.
Mr. Macauley, with reference to the opinions that had been expressed by

_us,—that a Declaration placed the Captor of a Vessel to be adjudicated before
the Court, and fixed upon him the responsibility attending the adjudication,
asked us whether we would admit Captain Stokes’ Letter, or such part of it as
related to the Fabiana, as an acknowledgment on the part of Captain Stckes,
that he would take upon himself the responsibility attending the adjudication
of the Fabiana, or, in effect, whether we would admit that Letter, or such

> parts.of it as were applicable to the Case in question, instoad of the usual
Declaration.

Taking the matters urged by Mr. Macauley into consideration, we gave our
opinions upon them in open Court on the 15th instant.
‘The principal reason for our not proceeding with the Case, when it was first

brought before us, was, as you are informed, Sit, by our former Despatch, the
irregularityof the act ofLieutenant Gray, in capturing and sendipg the Fabiana
hither for adjudication, at his sole discretion, contrary, as it appeared, to the
letter and to the spirit ofthe Treaty with Spain. ‘The want of a Declaration
on the part of Sir Robert Mends, who was set forth in the Papers as the
Captor of the Fabiana, was another irregularity which required that we
should not proceedimmediately with the Case. _

In deciding upon the matters urged by Mr. Macauley, in support of his:
Petition for a Monition in the Case, as already mentioned, weexpressed our
opinions, that it appeared from the Papers before us, that Lieutenant Gray
had captured the Fabiana, and had sent her hither, not that she’should await .
the arrival of SirRobert Mends, in order to his bringing her before the Court,
as stated by Mr. Macauley, but, in order that she should be ‘promptly
brought to adjudication; that this act was irregular, as it was done by 2  
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subordinate Officer of the Owen Glendower, unauthorised by the Treaty to
send in Vessels for adjudication.

That % had been conceived, that, if this irregularity could have been re-
moved by Sir Robert Mends, the Case might have been prosecuted in the
asual manner, but it was now doubted, upon an extended consideration of the
Case, whether the irregularity could have been removed by Sir Robert
Mends, as the eapture, and the sending for adjudication, had been the sole
act of an unauthorised Person. ,
At all events, Sir Robert Mends was no more, and the original irregularity,

as before, existed to stop our proceedings. - .
The impediments in the way of our proceeding in the Case, were greatly

increased by the knowledge of the fact, that the capture of the Fabiana had
been made ten days after the death of Sir Robert Mends, in whose name the
prosecution had been commenced, and by the fact of a Pretender to the
benefits to be derived from the Condemnation of the Vessel, or, which was
the some, that another Captor had sprung up in the Case.
Weconceived, Sir, that Cases for adjudication ought to come before the

Commissioners unembarrassed by such questions as the Case of the Fabiana
now involved. We conceived that it ought not to be for the Commis.
sioners to determine who shail be the Proseeutor in a Case, but that.the
Prosecutor shall be determined before the Case be brought into the Court
for prosecution. | .

_ With regard to Captain Stokes’ Claims, to ‘be considered as the Captor of
‘the Fabiana, we expressed an opinion that we could not admit that his Letter
to Mr. Macaulcy brought him formally before the Court. That it was not
to beoverlooked that the Case was burthened with an irregularity which did
not arise from any act of Captain Stokes, and that Captain Stokes was not
aware of this irregularity, as he had proceeded to England from Cape Coast
without having any knowledge of the view which the Commissioners had
taken of the Case. We stated that we were unwilling, however, to close the
proceedings in the Case against Captain Stokes, as there was not. any parti-
cular reason which called for a speedy decision. That if Captain Stokes
should choose, hereafter, to appear formally before the Court, the Com-
missioners would consider how they should act with respect: to him, but.
we wished it to be clearly understood that we did not pledge ourselves to
admit him as the Captor in the Case. . .

Expressing the above opinions we did not direct the issuing a Monition..
We were inclined to think that as the capture and sending in for adjudi-

cation appeared to be the acts of an unauthorised or incompetent Person,
that the Case did not come under the operation of the Treaty, and that, as it
stood, it could not be adjudicated by the Mixed Court.
Mr. Macauley then asked whether the Fabiana might not be sold by order

of the Court; the proceeds of her sale to be lodged in the Registry of the
Court. We did not see any objection to the sale of the Vessel, and, upon
the motion of Mr. Macauley, she was ordered to be sold accordingly..

In our former Despatch we took leave, Sir, to draw your attention to this
Case. We (now that all the circumstances of the Case have been presented
to you), respectfully request that it may again be taken into your consideration,
and hope that we may be honoured with your Instructions upoa theparticular
points which the Case involves. .
Of forty-six Cases that have, to the present period, been adjudicated in the

several Courts of Mixed Commission, there are, we believe, only two Cases of.
adjudication which bear any analogy to the present Case of the. Fabiana,
One of those Cases was that of the Portuguese Brigantine Conde de Villa
Flor, That Vessel was taken by the boats of His Majesty’s Ship Iphigenia,
commanded by Sir Robert Mends, and no Declaration was given in to the  
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Registry by that Commanier. But in that Case, Sir RobertMends, who was
at Sierra Leone when.the Conde de Villa Flor was brought hither, informed
himselfof the cireumstances of the capture,.and the proceedings were com-
menced and almost brought to a close under the view of Sir.Robert. Mends,-so
that the want of a Declaration in that Case, can only be.considered as a mere.
informality.
The other Case, was that of the Spanish Schooner Joseph. The Case ot

the Juseph certainly approaches very near to the Case of the Fabiana, .but in,
that Case, which involved many points for consideration, the question of the
capture by a Lieutenant of the Iphigenia, and the want of a. Declaration of
the.Commander of that Ship,did not come so nakedbefore. the Commis-
sioners,.as does. the: point.which is.involved in the-Case of the Fabiana.
The Joseph was captured at the Gallinas, by a detachment.from.the:Iphi-

genia, whilst the Iphigenia was lying.in this Harbour. The Joseph arrived
at Sierra Leone before the Iphigenia quitted the Harbour. The Joseph was
not immediately brought into.this.Court, but was,:in the-first. instance, prose-
euted in the Court of Vice Admiralty. Sir Robert Mends, who -commanded
the Iphigenia, was absent from Sierra Leone when the Case -of. the Joseph
was brought.into the Mixed Court; but as the Joseph was brought into this
‘Harbour, whilst.Sir Robert Mends was still within it, the question of the
capture, by the Lieutenant of the Iphigenia, did not attract particular
‘attention. .

The principal object ofattention, was the ‘fact thatthe-detachment from.
‘the Iphigenia, was on board of theUnited. States:.Schooner.Augusta, when the
Joseph was detained. This fact gave :rise .to some discussion betwixt. the
Parties in the Case. _The Commissioners decided in favour of theCaptor;
but they have since learnt from you, Sir, that the means by which the
.Joseph:was detained, are not altogether to be encouraged.
We think it right, Sir, to observe, for your further .information:in the Case

of the Fabiana, that two seamen of that Vessel deposed,-on their examina-
tion upon the standing Interrogatories, that the Fabiana, at the time-of her
-capture, was about .to sajl from .the River Bonny for. the Havannah, with.
-about 236 Slaves on board.; that perceiving the capturing:boats,she put back
-and Janded the Slaves, who.were afterwards given up to the English by the

 

Native ‘Chiefs. ‘We have the:honour to be, &c.
. {Signed) E. GREGORY.

The Right Hon. George Canning, D..M.HAMILTON.
&e &e  &e. :

No, 43. _

Mr. Secretary Canting to the British Commissioners at Sierra Leone
and The Favannah. oF

GENTLEMEN, _ Foreign Office, February28, 1894.
1 HEREWITH ‘furnish you, for.your information and guidance, with the .

Copy of a Deelaration* which His Majesty’s Ambassador at Madrid and-the
Spanish Minister of State concluded and signed at Madrid, on the 2d of
February 1824, in correction of a Clerical Error which had crept.into the
Additional Article, of the loth December 1 822,.to the Treaty between His
Majesty and The Catholick King, for the. preventionofillegal Traftick in
Slaves. - Lam,&c. oo
a (Signed) -GEORGE CANNING.

His Majesty's Commissioners-at Sierra Leone and The Havannah.
-* See Class.A, Spain,
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No. 44.

Messrs. Gregory and Fitegerald toMr. Secretary Canning.
(Received June 2.)

Srr, Sterra Leone, April 22, 1823.
WE have the henour to address to you,in connection with our present

Despatch, .a Statement of the first part of the Case ef the Portuguese
Schooner Stnceridade, terminating with the restitution of the Vessel. The
Case respecting the Slaves found on board of the Sinceridade, at the .time
of her detention, was reserved for further-consideration.

_ The Sinceridade was taken on the 3d of December 1822, by His
Majesty’: Ship Bann, Captain Phillips, in Lat. 0 deg. 8 min. South; ‘Long.
5 deg. 26 min. West.
The Sinceridade had on board ofher at'the time of capture, one hundred

and: twenty-three Slaves, embarked at Fetiche Point, near Cape Lopez, in
about 1 deg. 20 min. South Lat. The Territoryof“CapeLopez is not -sub-
ject to the Crown of Portugal, neither is it within the range of Coast in
whick-the Slave Trade is preserved and declared legal for Portuguese Subjects,
by the second Article of.the:Convention.
The illegality of this-embarkation was urged in argument in various

forms,as being contrary.to the direct object-of the Treaty and Convention,
between His Britannick Majesty and ‘His Most Faithful Majesty, for the
purpose-of preventing their Subjects from engaging in any illicit Traffick in
Slaves. It was thence contended, that. this illegality should.countervail and
outweigh the consideration of the restraint.impesed on the detention of all
Portuguese Merchantmen and Slave-ships.to.the Southward of the Equator,
by the Fourth Article of the Instructions for-Ships-of-War, annexedto. the
Convention.:—Art. 4. ‘ No Portuguese Merchantman or Slave-ship shall,
*on any pretence whatever, be detained, which shall be found any where
“ nearthe Land, or on the High Seas, South of the Equator, unless after a
“ chase, which shall have commenced North of :the Equator.”
The Commissioners considered the terms of -this Article to admit no

exception, but the single one included in it,—ofdetention after a chase, com-
mencing Northof the Equater. No chase of that description had preceded.
the capture of the Sinceridade.; consequentlythe detention was.illegal, and:
the Commissioners félt themselves boundto decree—thatthe Vessel should.
be restored, reserving for further consideration the Caseof the Slaves found
on board of her at the time of capture.
Wetrust, Sir, that it will be satisfactory to you.to be.informed, that an

arrangement has taken place respecting the Slaves, by which they are
exempted from‘being personallyliable to-restitution. That arrangement has
been framed by the Parties, under the sanction of the Court, upon the prin-
ciple of a reserved Case. The amount for-compensation of the Slaves, to be
paid in the event of a decision in favour of the Claimants, upon the point
reserved, is estimated according to the original cost, with the expences
incurred. a
The amount thus calculated,:is to be received in full satisfaction, if, upon a

question.reserved, as.to therightto receive compensation underthe ‘circum.
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stances of illegality, connected with the.place of embarking the Slaves, and
the want of a legal Passport for the voyage, such question should be deter-
mined in favour of the Claimant. -
This question is to be decided by the two Governments, or by those to

whom they may refer it.
If the decision should be—that the Hlegality ef the Place of Purchase, and

Shipment, and the further iHegality of the want of a Passport, extinguish
the right to compensation for the Slaves, ail further claim respecting them is
renounced.
A composition for all other damages, is included ia the arrangement. We

shall have the honour to transmit to you, Sir, the particulars by the next
conveyance. The total amount very little exceeds ten pounds for each Slave.

With the greatest respect, we have the henour to be, &c.

(Signed) E. GREGORY.
The Right Hon. George Canning, EDWARD FITZGERALD.

Se. &e. S&e. .

P.S. We beg leave, Sir, to inclose herewith, for your information, Copies
of the written Opinions delivered by us in open Court on the Case of the
Sinceridade. (Signed) E.G,

° a.

 

First Inclosure in No. 44.

Abstract of the Case of the Portuguese Schooner Sinceridade, J. Gomez
de la Roche,Master, berated on the 13th of February 1823.

THE Declaration of the Captor, Charles Phillips, Esquire, Commander of His Britannick
Majesty’s Ship Bann, states, “‘ that, on the 3d day of December 1822, being in or about the Latitude
of 0 deg. 9 min. South ; and Longitude, 5 deg. 26 min. West; he detained the Sinceridade, sailing
under Portuguese Colours, commanded by Joze Gomez de la Roche, who declared her to be bonad
from Cape Lopez to Pernambuco, with a crew consisting of 14 men, and having on board 123
Slaves, said to have been taken on board at Cape Lopez.”
The Declaration concludes thus, *‘ and 1 do further declare that the Sinceridade was fallen in

with to the Southward of the Line, without any regular Passports.”
This Declaration is without a date, but it is to-be supposed that it was made out, as it ought te

‘he, immediately upon the detention. ‘The Declaration is attested by John Hudson, and by Alex
ander Stewart, second Surgeon.—Mr. Hudson is one of the Lieutenants of the Bann. .

_ The time and place of the capture, as well as the other circumstances included in the Declara-
‘tion, are, therefore, to be considered as marked and authenticated with perfect precision on the
part of the Captors,—the circumstances of the locality being of the utmost importance towards
the decision to be passed upon the Case, inasmuch as the detention took place so very near to the
Line,—but still distinctly to the South of the Line. ,

In a Memorandum, found in the private Note-book of the Master of the Sinceridade, it is
stated that ‘* the Sinceridadewas takenby an English Frigate,ander American-Colours, in Latitude
0 deg, 8 min. South; Longitude, 4 deg. 54 min, East, from London,” ‘The Memorandum adds,
that ‘‘ the Captors detained the Sinceridade as a good prize, with 123 Slaves ; that from. the time
when the Sinceridade had commenced trading, 152 had been purchased, of whom 29 had died ip
Port, leaving 123 who were taken.’ , :

This Statement of the Master of the detained Vessel, coincides with the Declaration of the
‘Captor, as to the point of Latitude in which the detention took place. _

. It appeared by tie Papers of the Sinceridade, that the Wessel belonged to Joze Manoel Vieyra
da Silva..and to Doarte Joze de Mello, of ‘St. Paul de Loando, that she was lespatched thence,
about the 9th of August 1822, professedly on a legal Slave trading voyage, to go first to the Island
of St. Thomas, with a particular shipment of goods, to heitben sold or exchanged for particular
goods in return, which were to be carriedtoBrazil, for the benefit of theQwners. At St-Thomas
provisions were to be laid in for theSlaves that were to compose the cargo ; and these were to-be
taken on board at Molembo, to which Place the Sinceridade was to proceed from St. Thomas fer
the purpose. . / :

‘There was not any Royal Passport for the voyage, in. the form required by the Convention, nor
yet any local Passport, such as the Persons in Authority, in the Portuguese Settlements on the
Coast vf Africa, are:in the habit of substitutingforRoyal Passports,  
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The only Official Document that had reference to the nature of the voyage, was one from the
Custom-House of St. Paul de Loando, which makes mention of a bond and sureties for the pay-
ment of The King’s duties, within twelve months. This Paper states that the Sinceridade was to |
go to Molembo, and to take ina cargo of Slaves to be carried to Pernambuco: no mention is made
of the specifick number to be carried, nor of the tonnage of the Vessel, according to which that
number sbould be fixed, in the proportion of five to every two tons, according to the Alvara of
His Most Faithful Majesty, . .

It appeared. by examination ofthe Master and seamenofthe Sinceridade, upon the standing Inter-
rogatories, that the Slaves on board ofthe Sinceridade, were embarked, not atMolembo, butatFetiche
Point, near Cape Lopez, about } deg. 20 min. South of the Line,—a Place not within the Domi-
nions of the Crown of Portugal on the Coast of Africa, and not included within the limits in
which the Slave-trade is declared legally open to Portuguese Subjects, by the second Article of the
Convention added tu that 'Treaty, :
When the Commissioners came to pronounce their Judgment upon the Case, (all the material

facts and circumstances of which are comprized in the preceding recapitulation), it appeared to
them that the provision of the Law of the Court most immediately applicable, was the fourth
Article of the Convention. ‘That Article declares, that “ no Portuguese Merchantman or Slaye-
‘ship shall, on any pretence whatever. be detained, which shall be found any where near the
“land, or on the high seas, South of the Equator, unless after a chace which shall have com-
** menced North of the Equator.” .

It appeared to the Commissioners that the prohibition imposed by that Article was so absolute
aod universal, as not to admit any qualification or exception beyond the single one included in it—
of captures to the South of the Line, after a chace commencing to the North of theLine.
The Captor did not in any way allege that there had been a-chace. commencing North of the

Eynator; but it was stated particularly by hin, in Court, that he had gone in search of the Sin-
ceridade, in consequence of information derived from Papers found on board of the Magdalena,
taken by him sonie time before. A Letter written by the Master of the Sinceridade, addressed to
a Person at St. Tuomas, forwarded by the Magdalena, and found among the Papers of that Vessel,
was invoked by the Captors at the close of the proceedings, for the purpose of putting the Court
in possession of the information supposed to be contained in it; and it was contended, in argu-
ment, that going in search of the Sinceridade, in consequence of this information » Was to be re~
garded as equivalent to a chace. ,

. This Letter was translated on the Bench, by Mr. Altavilla and Mr. Gregory, but it did not
contain the information that was supposed by the Captors, and it had no.date of time or place,
The Magdalena; however, had taken in her Slaves at the same Place, and the Masterofthe
Sinceridade had proved, on the trial of that Vessel, that two Slaves, mentionedin this: Letter,Were:
sent by him on board of the Magdalena to the Person to whom the Lerter was addressed. The
Commissioners, therefore, from their. previous knowledge of these and other circumstandés, were
disposed to give full credit to the statement, alleging that Captain Phillips had gone in search of
the Sinceridade in consequence of information derived by him from the previous éapture of the
Magdalena;which information, as he further stated to the Court, led him to think that the
Sinceridade would be ready to sail about the time. oe mo
The Magdalena was taken by the Bann, on the 29th September,offPrinces Island, and was’

delivered over to the Persons in Authority in that Island, on the 30th of that Month,for safe
custody until adjudication, ‘Che Sivceridade was taken gn the 3d of December, .and the Decla-
ration of Captain Phillips simply states, that ‘* the Sinceridade was fatlen it with to the South-
‘ward of the Line,” without saying any thing of being in search of her, The Commissioners
could not think themselves warranted to consider a going’ in search, at so long an interval after
the information received, equivalent to the kind of chace eontemplated by the fonrth Article of
the Convention, which appears to be a chace actual and immediate, It. wasalso. Hrygned that a
capture so near to the Line as 8 minutes could hardly be regarded as beyond the bowndary... The
Commissioners seeing that the Equator was fixed by the Convention as the Line béyond which
detention should not be legal, could uot avoid hokling as iNegal any detention distinctly beyoud
that Line. . a
The other principal arguments were—that the object of the Treaty end Convention wasto‘put

a stop to illegal Slave-tiade; that the limitation imposed by’ the fourth Article upon the exercise.
of the right of detention, ought not to be so construed as ‘to exempt. d Vessel, having’a cargo of
Slaves embarked on a part of the Coast where the traffick: is illegal,.from the penalties and for.
feitures by which the Treaty and Convention sought to. restraia and prevent such illegal traffick.
‘The want of a proper Passport was represented as an aggravation of the illegality. ” -
The Commissioners considering the restraint upon the detention of Portuguese Vessels to th

Southivard of the Equator as absolute and peremptory, with the single exceptiou of Cases in
which there should be a previous. chace commencing North of the Line; could not allow the
restraint to be superseded by the consideration of the illegality of the shipment of the Shwves found
on-board, or of the other points of illegality stated in argument. 7 . :
“It was, therefore, the opinion of all the Commissioners—that the Vessel should be restored to
thé Master, who had filed his Claim a few days before. The admission of this Claim at so late 4
petiod was opposed on behalf of the Captor; but the Commissioners were sensible, fram expe-
rience, of the extreme difficulties that are attendant upon the liberation of -détained Vessels when
there is not any Person qualified to receive them 5° they were desirous also to give every faciiity fo
those, having rights and interests it matters before the Court, who may be resirained, ia the’ first  
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instance, by prejudices natural to Foreigners, or bythe dread,of incurring Jegal expences too bur--
thensorre for the limited means that they possess, independent. of their Vessels, The Claim was
therefere admitted, Mr. Altavilla had previously suggested to the Claimant, the expediency of
giving a Claim. ; . / a eeOn the 13th of February the Court passed a Decree for the restitution ofthe Vessel, The
Case respecting the Slaves on board of her was reserved for further consideration,

(Signed) E. GREGORY. |
EDWARD FITZGERALD ©

 

(Second Inclosure inNo. 44.)

Mr. Gregory's Decision on the Case of the Portuguese Schooner Sinceridade,
J. Gomez de la Roche, Master.

THE Sinceridade was detained on the 3d of December 1822, by His BritannickMajesty's Ship
Bann, Captain Phillips, on a charge of illicitly trading in Slaves... ne
The Sinceridade is stated to have had 123 or 124 Slaves on board at the time of her detention

by theBann, | . : : : : : 7 z-

‘It is admitted on bothsides that these Slaves were purchased, and taken onboard_at Fetis Point,
otherwisecalled Litile Gaboon, in the vicinity of Cape Lopez. Much discussion has arisen upon
the question—whether the Slave-trade can be legally carried on at that Place or not. On the one
side it is contended that the Slave trade is illegal betwixt the Equator and the 5th degree 12th
minute South Latitude; and on the other side, that the Trade is, legal to the South of the
Equator. The fact that the Sinceridade was not provided with a Royal Passport, conformable.
to,the Model annexed to the Convention, has also been noticed andcommented upon.
The Place of the shipment of the Slaves, and the absence of a Royal Passport, dre circum.

stances that cail for some observations, a a
Ip the Case of the Magdalena, lately condemned in this Court, 1 expressed myself that the.

Traffick in Slaves could not be legally carried on without the limils laid down in the Convention,
those limits being on the Eastern Coast of Africa, from Cape Delgado to the Bay of .Lou-
senco Marques ; and on the Western Coast, from the Sth degree 12th minute to the 18th degree
of South Latitude. Sinee that Case was decided, [ have given a further attention to thepoint
which the Case of the Magdalena involved, and I must confess, that the idea that I then entere,
tained.that the Slave-trade. was illegal beyond the limits mentioned, remains unchanged,

That there is a seeming ambiguity in the Convention on this. point js evident, bythe doubts
that have been expressed upon the matter, but it does appear to me that this ambiguity is re-
moved upon a near viewof the Convention. , . -

Hadthe Contracting Parties to the Convention intendedto have‘allowed, the continuance of
the Traffick in Slaves on all parts of the Coast of Africa, South of the Equator,their intention,
would, doubtless, have been clearly expressed. Instead of describing boundaries that the Slave-
trader would regard asnarrow and confined, the Contracting Parties would at once have broadly.
drawn tlie line which their intentions would have plainly pointed ont to them, But what is it
that we find in the Convention? We find that a perfect freedom to trade on all the Southern
Coast of Africa, is not expressly granted to the Slave-dealer; wefind that boundaries have been
described on different parts of that Coast within which boundaries the Trade is declared to be
permitted. ey . Lo.

' The Second Section of the FirstArticle of the Convention states, that © the Slave Trade shall be
considered as illicit when cartied-on by Portuguese Vessels, in any of the Harbours or Roads of

~ the Coast of Africa, which are prohibited by the First Article, of the Treaty of the 22d, of
January 1815.” Referring to this ‘Treaty we find that the prohibition is ,confined to the trading
North of the Line. Then the Sixth Article of the Convention, which states the circumstances
ander which Slave-ships may be detained, says, that “in order to render lawful thedetention of 2
Portuguese Ship the Slaves on board’mast have been taken from that part of the Coast.of Africa
where the Slave-trade was prohibited by the Treaty of the 22d of January 1815.” Now, for
what purpose could the Second Article of the Convention have been framed, except to explain
the Treaty of Vientia. It is difficult to conceive any other purpose, when we find in that
Article that ‘ the Territories in which the Traffick in Slavescontinues to be permitted, under the
‘Lveaty of the 22d of January 1815, to the Subjects of His Most Faithful Majesty, are the
following : / —— . :

Ist othe Territories possessed by the Crown of Portugal upon the Coast of Africa to the
South of the Equator; that is to say, upon the Hastern Coast of Africa, the Territory laying
between Cape Delgado and the Bay of Lourengo Marques ;. anil upon the Western Coast all that
which is situated from the 8th to the 18th degree of South Latitude. __ — oo

Qdly,—Those Territories on the Coast of Africa to the South of the Equator, over which His
Most Faithful Majesty has declared ‘that He has retained his rights, namely ; —
The Territories of Molenibo and’Cabinda, upon the Westérn Coast of Africa, from the 54h

degree 12 minute to the Sth degree of South Latitude.”  
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This Article I do conceive must be taken to be an explanatory Declaration upon the Treaty of:
‘Vienna, intended to extend its operation, for to. set boinds -to the Slave-trade 3 and yet to allgaw
it to be pursued, elsewhere than within those bounds, would be.a.contradictign, , oe

I must observe by the way, that the Portnzuese copy of the Convention does not express. that.
the Slave Trade continuesto be permitted within the Territories described in the Second Articleof
the Convention, but it states, that the Traffic in Slaves continues to be legal (*fica sendo licito’’7.
under the Treaty of Vienna, within the Territories in-question. ‘The Portuguese expression is-
stronger, and appears to me te attach the idea of illegality to a Trade in Slaves, carried on else~
where than. within those Territories, . . me
‘One of the principles laid down by Vattel, regarding the interpretation of Treaties, is, that

*¢4f he who has expressed himself in an. obscure er equivocal manner, bas spoken elsewhere
«* more clearly on the same subject, he is the best Interpreter of himself. We ought to interpret
** his obscure or vague expressions in such a manner that they. may.agree with those terms that.

are clear, and without ambiguity, which he has used elsewhere, either in the same Treaty, or
«in some other ef the like kind. In. fact, while we have no proof, thata man.has changed his
“* mind or manner of thinking, it is presumed. that his thoughts have been the same, on she
* same occasions; so that if he has any where clearly. shewn his intention, with respect to any"
“thing, we ought to give the same sense to what he has elsewhere said obscurely on the same
“affair,” Applying this principle to the question,—whether the Slave-trade be legal ar illegal
betwixt the Equator and the 5th d. 12thm. South Latitude, I will refer for a clearermanifestation
of the intentions of the ContractingParties, to the Additional Article to the Convention that was
signed at London on the 3d of April 1819, by Viscount Castlereagh and the Count. de Palmella,
respecting the sitastion of Molembo and Cabinda. The commencement of this Additional.
Article (Declaration) is as follows :— . “. a

_ ** Whereas 4 Convention, having for its object the preventionof the illicit Traffick in Slaves,
* was concluded between His Britannick Majesty and His Most Faithful Majesty, and signed at.
* London, on the. 28th of, July 1817. And, whereas,. by the second Article of that Con-
** wention, the Traffick in Slaves was declaredstill to be permitted to Portuguese Subjects, only
“‘ within certain Territories therein deséeribed. And, whereas, the Territories of Molembo ahd
“¢ Cabinda, are described: by that Article to be on the: Eastern Coast of Africa.’ &e.
“The Traffick in Slaves is here declared sult to be: permitted to Portuguese Subjects,

only within certain Territories which are described. [ think that the terour of these
expressions justify me in conceiving, that the Parties. to this Additional Article. took,
when they framed that Article, 2. general view of the Convention, and were guided,
by the intentions with which the Convention was concluded, that they definitely expressed
the intention with which the first and second Articles of the Convention were framed,
namely, that the Slave-trade should not be permitted to Portuguese Subjects, beyond the bounda-
ties of the Territories claimed by Portugal;. or, to use the words of the Portuguese copyof the
Convention, that the Slave-trade shculd. only be legal within those Territories. .
The Proctor for the Claimant has laid weight upon the circumstance, that thePortuguese:

Alvara of the 26th of January 1818,. relating to the Slave-trade, only attaches the penalty of the
confiscation of a Vessel, to such Vessel as shall be fitted out fora Traffick in Slaves to the North’
of the Equator. It does appear, that this Alvara only attachés a penalty to acts of,Slave-trade
North of the Equator; but, with all deference for.the.Authority from whom that Alvara ema~
nated, I do conceive, that, according tothe tenour ofthe Model for the Royal Passport for Slave-
ships, which is annexed to. the Convention, and which forms an integral part. thereof, the Alvar3
should have attached a similar penalty to acts of Slave-trade, on. parts of. the Coast of Africa,
South of the Equator, where the ‘Trade is not permitted to Portuguese Subjects. The words of.
the Passport are as follows :—*! The said -—- Muster, and : Owner of. the said
** Vessel, being under an obligation to enter solely such Parts on the. Coast. of Atrica where the
** Slave-trade_is permitted to the Subjects of the United KingdomofPortugal, Brazil, and
** Algarves, and to return from thence to -any of the Ports of thisKingdom, where alone they
** shall be permitted to land the Slaves whour they carry, after going through the proper forms,
** to shew that they have, in-every respect, complied with the pravisioris of the Alvara of the. 24th
‘‘ of November 1813, by which His: Majesty was -pleased to regulate the conveyance of Slaves
«* from the Coast of Africa, to His Dominions af Brasil.. And should they fail to execute any of
«* these contitions" (what conditions ?—the obligation to enter solely such Ports on the Coast of
Africa, where the Slave-trade is permitted to Subjects of Portugal, is assuredly one of the.con-
ditious,) * they shall be liable to the penalties devounced by the Alvara of ” - {the:Alvara
was to hea subsequent Act.) ‘* against those who shall carry on the Slave-trade in an ‘illicit
“* manner.”* . . . te
The 2dArticleof the Convention poiutsout where tlieSlave-trade is permitted to Portuguese Subs

_ jects; theAdditional Article (Declaration) of the3d ofApril 1819, contiuesthepermissionto trade ia
Slaves strictly to the Territories mentioned in the 2d ‘Article; and, therefore, the Penalties to be
applied to illicit Slave-traders,according to.the-tenour of the Medelof the Passport, are not méant
to be applied merelyto those who shall trade in Slaves to the Nurth of the Line, but they are,
as I conceive, to be applied indifferently-to those who shall trade in Slaves North or South of the
Eguaror, beyondthe limits described in the 2d Article of the Convention, /

With respect to what has beon observed on both sides, upon the ,circumstance of the Sin.
ceridade not being provided. withaRoyal Passport, I.think ,that ‘all Vesselsfitted out for the
degal Traffick in Slaves, ought to be furnished with such a.decumeat. The 4th Article of the
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Convention is express, that ‘every Portuguese Vessel which shall be destined for the Slave-trade,
°* on any point‘of the African Coast where this Iraffick still continues to be lawful, must be pro-
«¢ vided with a Royal Passport, conformable to the Modelannexed to. this present Convention,
«* and which Model forms an inteyral part of the same.”’
The Passports of Vessels sailing from’Rio Janeiro, are to be signed by the Minister of

Marine, and of Vessels ** sailing from any other Ports of the Brazils, or from any other of'
«* the Dominions of His Most Faithful Majesty, not in Europe, the Passports must be signed
«* by the Governor in Chief of the Captaincy to which the Fort belongs.” The objeet of jthe
Convention being to restrain the Slave-trade to certain bounds, | take it that the formofthe’
Slave-trading Passport was considered essential to the maintenance of the system of restraint
which the Convention imposed on Slave-traders,’ but whether the want of such Royal Pass-
port be a circumstance that will, of itself, and independent of all other circumstances, subject a’
Vessel to condemnation, is matter of doubt, In expressing an opinion on this point, in the Case
of the Magdalena, I did not mean to go so far as to say, that the detention of a Vessel not
having a proper Passport, would be legal in all Cases. In Cases where there be not a suspicion
that Slaves are on board, or have been on board of a Vessel wanting such Passport, the detention
of such Vessei, I apprehend, would not be legal, as by the 6th Article of the Convention, and’
ist Article of the Instructions for Cruizers, such a suspicion is required to legalize the. detention
of a Slave-vessel. ‘The Case in which the wane of a proper Passport might lay the foundation ot
the detention ofa Slave-vessel, would be the Case of a Vessel found to the North ot the Equator,
having Slaves ou board, shipped within the limits described in the 2d Article of the Convention,
Such a Vessel would want the requisite Authority to engage in any Traffick in Slaves,
Ihave dwelt thus long on these points, that a right. auderstanding should exist asto my opinions

respecting them. 1 consider, according to these opinions, that in this Case of the Siaceridade,
the purchase and the shipment of the Slaves, at Fetis Point, or in its vicinity, was illegal, and
that not being provided with a proper Passport, the Sinceridade was not authorized to engage in
the Traffick in Slaves on any part of the Coast of Africa. I should without hesitation pronounce
for her condemnation, if I were not arrested by an Article of the Instructions for the Cruizers,
which ‘bids me Jook to the situation in which the detention of the Sinceridade took place.-
The Declaration of Captain Phillips, relative to the detention of the Siuceridade, states that

** the Vessel was detained, oa the 3d of December 1822, being in ov about 8 min: South Latitude ;
**and5 deg. 26min. West Longitude.’ ‘The Declaration further states, that ‘* the Sinceridade was
** fallen in with eight miles to the Southward of the Line.” .
The Question is, whether the detention of the Sinceridade,to the South of the Equator, be legal

or not ? This Question depends on the right to search,and to detaij Slave-ships, in Southern Latitudes,
It is matter of notoriety that, at the period just preceding the cate of the Convention, there did

not exist, on the part of Great Britain and Portugal, a right to visit and to detain Ships of either
Nation on the high seas. It is notorious that one of the objects of the Convention, of the 28th
of July 1817, was the mutual agreement of Great Britain and Portugal, that a right should be
established, to visit and detain the Ships of either Nation, under certain circumstances and
restrictions, :
The fifth Article of the Convention, establishes this mujual right of search and detention;

This Article is as follows : . oe
** The Two High Contracting Powers, for the more complete attainment of their object, namely,

“* the prevention of all illicit Traffick in Slaves, on the part of their respeciive Subjects, mutually
** consent, that the Ships-of-War of Their Royal Navies, which shall be provided with special
«© Instructions for the purpose, as hereinafter provided, may visit such Merchant-vessels of thetwo
** Nations as may be suspected, upon reasonable grounds, of having Slaves on board, acquired by
** an illicit Tratiick, and, in the event only of their actually finding Slaves on beard, may detain and
“« bring away such Vessels, in order that they may be bronght to trial befure the Tribunals esta-
** blished tor this purpose, as shall hereinafter be specified,”

** Provided, always, that the Commanders of the Ships-oi-War of the two Royal Navies, who
** shall be employed ou this service, shall adheie strictly to the exact tenour of the Instructi
«which they shail have received for this purpose.”

It appears’to me, that this Article simply states, that a right of search, and of detention, shall
exist, and that it refers to another part of the Convention (the Iustructions for the Cruizers) fur
the provisions under which the right is to be exercised.

I do not at all think that an unlimited right of seareh, and of detention, is given by this Article
to the Cruizers. tis said, that ** the Ships-of-War of the two Royal Navies, which sitll be
“* provided with special Instruetions for this purpose, as hereinatter provided, may visit,” &cv&e. ;
and furtber on, it is said, © Provided, always, that the Commanders of the Ships-of- War of the
** two Royal Navies, who shatl be employed on this service, shail adbere strictly to the exact
© tenour of the Instructions which’ they shall have received for this purpose. mo

These Instructions are clearly referred to as the guide for the proceedings of the Cruizers, and“to them we must refer for our-guidance in the matter before us,
The first Article of the Tustrac.ions for the Cruizers, states, that every British or P

Ship-of-War shall, in eonformity with the fifth Article of the Convention, have a rigt

ions

ortuguese

° : oe sito visit
the Merchant-ships ofeither of the. two. Powers, actually engaged, or suspected to be engaged
in the Slave-trade. “The second Article states, that no Merchaniman, or Slave-ship shall-be
detained on any account, or pretence whatever, whilst in the Port or Roadsted of either of ‘theHigh Contracting Powers. The third Article cacepts certain Cases, otherwise included iu theprohibition of the second Article, . .

“
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The fourth Article states, that ‘* no Portuguese Merchantman or Slave-ship shall, on any
* pretence whatever, be: detained, which shall be found any where near the land, or on the high
«seas, South of the Equator, unless after ‘a chace that shall have commenced North of the

« Equator,”
| he second.and third Articles appear to Lave been framed in the contemplation of the exercise
ofa vight of search to the North of the Equator, The fourth Article appears clearly to have been
framed with the understanding—that the right to search andto detain Merchantmen or Slave-ships
should not be extended to. the seas South of the Equator. Portugal, that may, from known cir-
cumstances, be taken to have been the conceding Party in this Convention, withheld her consent
to the right being exercised:in those seas, and they remain now as they were at the period just
precedingthe date of the Convention, open to Traders of all descriptions.

In the Papers relating to the Slave-trade, that were presented to the British Parliament in the
year 1819, there is a Memorandum that was inclosed in a Note from Viscount Castlereagh to the
Puke de Richelieu, under date ‘of the 29th of October 1818; this Memorandum is explanatory of

the Conventions entered into by Great Britain with Spain, Portugal and the Netherlands,
With regard to the sphere of the operation of the Spanish and Portuguese Conventions
it is stated in the Memorandum that “in the Spanish and Portuguese Conventions there is no
** other restriction as to the limits within which detention, as above, may take place, than what
‘arose naturally out of the state of the Laws, viz.:—-That so longas either Power might
«« lawtully trade in Slaves to the South of the Equator, no detention should take place within
** those limits.”’

I consider that no right to search and to detain Slave-sbips exists to the South of the Equator,
unless in the Case provided tor by the fourth Article of the Instructions for Cruizers when a
Vessel may be detained. South of the Equator, after a chace that shall have commenced North. of
the Equator, But it does not appear to me that this Case can be extended to the present Case of
the Sinceridade.

in the Declaration of Captain Phillips, no chace after the Sinceridade is stated to have taken
place; it is stated that the Vessel was fallen in with eight miles to the Southward of the
Line, It has indeed been said, that ‘* a chace after this Vessel commenced a day or two previons

<< tg her detention on information received respecting her; but I cannot understand how that
can be a chace, in which there is not an object Aying from pursuit, The detention in this Case
took place upon an interception of the Vessel to the South of the Equator, and uct upon a chace
according to the meaning of the Convention,

Again, it is said, “« the Line, or Equator, exists but in imagination, and, for aught is known,

‘* the detention of the Sinceridade may have taken place to the Northward of the Equator, or

«at least upon the Equator.’ 1 must think the Declaration of the Captor to be correct, which

states, with the franknessbecoming a British Officer, that ‘the Sinceridade was fallen in with, eight

se miles to the Southward of the Equator.” Further, itis asked, ‘‘ whether it was intended that the

«* illicit Slave-trader should be permitted to escape from the punishment which he may merit by

« his illicit acts.’ ‘Tbe Convention I take to be decisive on the point,—that no Portuguese Mer-

chantman or Slave-ship shall be visited and detained to the South of the Equator. If the Con-

tracting Parties have. withheld the means to punish, Iam not permitted to visit the sins of the

illicit Dealer in Slaves, with the confiscation of his Ship in this Case, which does not present any

uncommon or extraordinary feature of illicit Slave-trade, . . .

In conclusion, considering that the Convention does uot give to Cruizers a right ta search and

to detain Slave-ships to the Southward of the Equator, and that it does not appear that a chace

commenced North of the Equator; I nmst deem that the Sinceridade was not legaily detained,

and that she is not. liable to condemmation. Iam of opinion that the Sinceridade should be

restored to the Claimant. Ireserve my opinion as to the Slaves on’board, until I shall have heard

the opinions of my Colleagues upon the point of the detention of the Vessel, and until I shall have

had the benefit of hearing the arguments that may be brought for and against the Slaves by the

Counsel on both sides.

If 1 were permitted‘to decide this Case, by the dictates of my feelings, my decision would be ~

diferent from the one that J have given, but I am imperatively bound to govern my decisigus by

the Jetter and spirit of the Convention. As by the Convention I must judge, so my decisidns wilt

be judged in turn by the Convention, and not by the private feelings or apprebensions which I, or

others, may entertain upon the Question of the Slave-trade. :
(Signed) E, GREGORY.

  

Third Inclosure in .No. 4A.

Mr. Fitegerald’s Opinion on the Case of the Portuguese Schooner
Sinceridade.

The Declaration of the Captor, Charles Phillips, Esq., Commander of His Britannick Majesty's

Ship Bann, states, that on the 3d day ofDecember 1622, being in or about Latitude 0 deg. 3 min.

South, ‘and Longitude 5 deg. 26 min. West; he- detained the Sinceridade-sailing underPorthgnese

Colours, armed with two guns, four-pounders, commanded byJoze Gomez de la Roche-—who de-  
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clared her-tobebound from Cape Lopez to Pernambuca, with a crew consisting of 14 men, and
having on board 123 Slaves, said to bave been taken on board at.Cape Lopez. .

The Declaration concludes thus: and ‘* I do further declare the Sinceridade was fallen in with,
“to the Southward of the Line, without any regular Passports.’

There is not any date to this Declaration, but it is to be supposed that it.was made out, as it
ought to be, immediately upon the detention—for the Instructions for Ships-of-War, annexed to
the Convention require that a corresponding Document should be delivered to the Master of the
detained “Vessel, upon the detention. “Iam thus partictlar, because this Declaration very dis-
‘tinctly states the circumstances of locality in-which the detention took place ; and these circum.
‘stances are most ‘material. in directing the Court to a proper decision in this Case, The
Declaration is attestedbyJohn Hudson, and by Alexander Stewart, Second Surgeon.

It appears by the Ships Papers connected with the present yoyage, that the Sinceridade sailed.
‘from Pernambuco-on or about the 3d of April 1822, for Loando, consigned by Fraucisco Antonio
‘Vieyra da‘Silva,.of Pernambuco, to JozeManoel Viera da Silya, and Doarte Joze de Mollo, of
Loando, who are describedas the Owners, These facts appear by the Letter of Instructions
“written at Pernambuco, by the Consignee at that Place, to the Master, who, on his arrival at
‘Loando, was to.deliver the «cargo shipped at Pernambuco to these Persons, and to place the
Vessel at their disposal.

It does not appear that the present Slave-trading voyage was in any way connected with the
ast voyage from Pernambuco, or that any Persons-resident at Pernambuco are connected with
this Slave-trading- adventure, The Sinceridade arrived at Loando from Pernambuco on the 25th
of May, and sailed‘from Loando again about the 19th of August, professedly for Molembo, for
the purpose of taking a cargo of Slaves, thence to Pernambu¢o, ‘The Papers from the Custom-
house of St. Paul de Leando, for this voyage, contain a permission to call at the Island of St.
“Thomas, and at Princes Island, Bond is given for the due performanee of the voyage in the
‘course specified, and for the payment of the appropriate duties within a Year from the date ot
the Bond, which isthe 9th of August 1822. / -

The-object of the call at St. Thomas, was, it appears, to abtain provisions for the Slaves that
‘were to be carried.from Molemboto Pernambuco, and also to dispose of a particular shipment of
goods destined for the ‘market of the Island.

There is a Letter of Instructions written at Loando, the 19th of Angust 1822, by Joze Manoel
Vieyra da Silva, to.Antonio Joze Ochoa, respecting the disposal of that particular cargo, and the
mode of investing the proceeds. ‘Ihis Antonio Joze Ochoa, appears to have been on board of the
Sinceridade in the capacity of Supercargo. He is entered in the Ship’s-roll as Clerk.
There is another Letter of Instructions, respecting the general Slave-trading voyage, proposed

to be made from Molembo to Pernambuco. ‘This Letter is addressed in regular succession to the
Master Roche, in the first instance, aud in his absence to Ochoa, and in the absence of him also,
to Jeronimo-Joze Simoens, the Seeond Pilot. -

This Letter gives-charye of the cargo to the Parties -to whom it is. successively addressed ;
italso contains some directious for the management of the Trade, and for the good treatment of
theSlaves, ,

This Document constitutes the Parties to whom it is addressed in regular succession, the repre-
sentatives of theOwners :iu the same successive order, and I do not think, that this Court bas
any authority to supersede the appointment, by admitting a different Person to Claim, as it was
‘at one time proposed, for particular reasons, The Master is, moreover, by his Office, the proper
Representative ofthe Owners, and the Natural Claimant.

' There is not any Royal Passport for the voyage, in the formin which the Convention with Por-
tugal provides, touching the legal Slave-trading voyages of Portuguese Subjects to the Southward
of the Line; there-is not even the Passport from the Local Authorities, which -bas been found
usually ‘substituted in other recent Cases of Slave-trading voyages, commencing in the Portuguese
Settlements on the Coast of Africa, -or in the Portuguese African Islands. 1 do not think that
the Custom-lousePapers, or any others that usually accompany such Passport, can be taken as a
substitute for it, or as a dispensation frem the obligation ofhavingit, as the Proctor for the Claim-
ant has contended. / .

’ There is a-Letter, dated at the Island of St. Thomas, the 13th day of September, .or rather .a
Copy of aLetter from-the ‘Correspondent at that Place, named Manoel Perez de Sacramento,
advising Manoelde Silva, of Loando,.of: the outfit and supplies for the voyage to Molewbo, received
at that Place.

‘Fhere is got any Log-book for the voyage from Loando.to St. Thomas, nor-for the. voyage from
St. Thomas to the-Rlace where theSlaves were embarked.
“Whe entries for the voyage professed to be from Molembo:to Pernambuco, commence on the
page next to that on which the entries. of the former-voyagefrom Pernambuco to Loando are closed.

_. The date -of the departure alleged .1o.be from Molembo, is the 24th of November For the
four days following that, ne notice of Latitude or Longitude is put down, it is only in the
-Sth day of the-voyage, being 29th. of November, thatva regular observation is.entered, the Lat,
‘being | deg. 7.min. South:; the'Long I deg.20 min. Bast, trom London. ;

‘Te is noted on that-day, that since the departure from Molenibo, the course had been along the
‘Coast, in consequence of contrary winds ‘W.and Wis W.. On the 29th of November, che wind

| Being W.S.W., the coursewas altered, and the head of the Vegsel put N.N.\WW ‘These cireum-
stances are mentioned in the Log-book, as tee reason why the usual entries were cot made on

‘thepreceding:days: but wemay fairly suppose the real cause of that omission, to be-the fact  
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subsequently disclosed in evidence,—that the Vessel did not sail from Molembo, but from Fetiche
Point, where also her Slaves were taken on board; a Place not included in the limits within which |
the Slave-trade is declared by the Convention, legally open to Portuguese Subjects. I was inclined
to suspect, that the object of this concealment was of more, importance ;—that it would be found, in
all probability, a Shipment of Slaves tothe Northward of the Line, but that suspicion has not beer
verified. In the Memoranda of the Master, entered in a small book of a private appearance, a note
jsmade of the capture of the Sinceridade, by an English Frigate under American Colours, in Lat.
8 min. South, Long. 4 deg. 54 min. East, from London. The Memorandum adds, that ‘* thé
Ceaptors detained the Siuceridade as a good Prize, with one hundred and twenty-three Slaves;
that from the time when the Sinceridade commenced trading, one hundredandfifty-two, had been
purchased, of whom twenty-nine had died in Port, leaving one hundred and twenty-three who-
were taken, and who were in such fine condition, that the English themselves could not avoid
expressing their admiration of them.’ :

This is as far as I could collect a pretty accurate detail of the material facts contained in the
‘Papers. The evidence given by the Witnesses examined before the Registrar may ‘be thus
recapitulated : ;

. Ivis proved by the testimony of the Master, and of those ofthe crew examined on the standing
Interrogatories, that the Slaves were e:mbarked at Fetis Ponte, a Place near Cape Lopez, a short
distance South of the Equator; about one degree, according to the best authorities. This Place
is not under the dominion of Portugal, neither is it within the limits in which the Slave-trade is
legally open to Portuguese Subjects. Some of the answers appeared at first to place the locality
‘of the embarkation in some ambiguity, by stating that it took place at Gaboon ; but this is sub-
sequently explained, by the same Persons, stating, on special Interrogatories, that the Slaves were
taken on board at the Coast of Gaboon ; one of them says near Fetis Ponte, which Place is com-
monly called Little Gaboon. Thus it appears that the meaning was in every instance the same;
‘and that it was an embarkation on what is called the Coast:of the Gaboon Country,. South of the
Line, immediately, and not in the River Gaboon, which, being immediately to the Northward of
the Line, would have been an embarkation of Slaves within the strict prohibitions of the first
Article of the Treaty of the 22d January 1815, and of the first Article of the Additional Con-
vention. ‘
When the whole of the original and explanatory examinations, that have been thus recapitulated,

were completed, and when the Case may be considered to have been in readiness for the Commis-
sioners to deliver their opinions upon it, a Claimwas given bythe Master Dela Roche, for the Vessel
and for the Slaves.—-This Claim is dated the 28th January. 1823.
On the Ist February, a Petition was presented on behalt of the Captor against the admission of

that Claim, on the ground of unreasonable delay in bringing it forward; and on. other grounds,
one of which is,—‘* that the Person intending to claim the said Vessel, did, from the first, intend
“*to do so, but on perceiving that the Captor was. in possession of good informationon the
*¢ subject, changed his mind.” . : oe,
It is certainly desirable that all Parties interested in the Causes that come before these Courts

should: come forward in the -earliest stage of the business in which they are concerned; but if
through ignorance-or neglect, or indeed through any other cause they hold back, it does not follow
that. the Court is bound to exclude them altogether. The due administration ofjustice is always
tore easily, more effectually, and more satisfactorily carried on when all Parties are before the
Court; and the Court eught, therefore, at all times, to give every facility to the intervention of
those who may have been im the first instance tardy in coming forward,—always making that -
intervention subject to sach consideration in respect to costs and charges as the circumstances of
the case may require. | .

I take occasion here to notice a mistaken opinion that seems to prevail among the Proctors
and Suitors of this Court,—that in all Cases ‘of total absence of Claim the Court is bound to pro-
nounce a Sentence of Condemnation. | co .

The Senior Advocate. for the Captors‘in this Case, has often pressed a demand of that kind, but .
he is well aware, that the Court never yielded to it; never countenanced it.—Courts of Admiralty
have a special course in Cases’ of want of Claim, suited to their jurisdiction, and to those to
which it is subordinate. But in the Courts of Mixed Commission there is, aecording to the Treaties
‘by which they are governed, one course of proceeding tor all‘Cases of capture, whether there be
‘Claim or not. That course, as established by the third Article of the Regulations for the Mixed
Commission, is : . . ; ,

*© To examine the Ship’s Papers, and to receive the Depositions of the Captain, and.two or
-€ three at least of the principal Individuals,-on board of the detained Vessel, aswell.as the Deela-
-*© ration on oath of the Captor, if it should appear necessary, in order to be able to judge and to
«€ pronounce, whether the said Vessel has been justly detained or not, according to the stipulations
*¢ of the Additional Convention, in order that, according to this judgment, it may be condemned
-€€ or liberated.” / . /

Thus, according to the impression-made upon the minds of the Commissioners, by the Declara-
‘tion of the Captor, by the perusal of the Papers of the captured Vessel, and by the evidence of
the Witnesses examined in the Cause, the Vessel is to be condemned or liberated, without any
distinction, whether there be a Claim or not,—and it is essential to justice that there should not

be any distinction in that respect, as there is not any appeal from the decisions of these Courts.

The extreme inconvenience of having: to liberate Vessels, without having any Person to reeeive
them, has in more than one instance, beenfelt by the Captors of such Vessels, as wellas by the Court,  
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In one instance, in the Spanish Court, that of the Rosalia,—a specialDecree of condemnation
was adopted, not on account of the want of Claim, but in consideration that not any Person
could be found competent to receive the Vessel on behalf pf the Owner, nor qualified tu take
charge of her: a Becree of condemnation was, in these circumstances, passed as the only means of
realizing the value of the Vessel, and of preserving the proceeds, so that they should be forth.

coming to the Party, who, upon future shewing, should appear justlyentitled to them, The con-
sideration of all resulting interests, whatever they may be, was at the save time specially reserved
for the Superior Authorities, to whom the Commissioners of these Courts are subordinate, This
appeared the best mode of obtaiuing reliet, from the immediate difficulties of such a Case ; and
of providing, at the same time, for the satisfaction of the interests of justice, as those interests
should, upon due explanation, be found to require. But the condemnation in that instance, guarded
as it was with so many reservations, and dictated by circumstances of such peculiar force, has in-
curred the disapprobation of the British Goverament, and ‘the British Commissioners are not nt
liberty to make it availabic in any further instance. It is, therefore, the more strongly incumbent
on them not to discourage the intervention of Claimants, even at the latest moment.

With respect: to the changes that may bave taken place in the mind of this Claimant,—first,
having bad the intention to Clatu, ‘then relinquishing thac intention, on learning that the Captor
was in possession of good information, as is stated in the Petition of the Captor, against the |
‘admission of the Claim :;—such alrerna:ion of confidence and hopelessness, are common to all
Parties in cases of uncertain event; and there is no reason why. this Person should not resume
the determination, which he had originally, bat afterwards gave up. Neither is it any good
ground of objection, if the determination to claim was ultimately adopted upon advice—nor is
there any reason why any body should be dissatisfied with that advice, or with the conse.
quences of it. .
The Claim itself, and the Affidavit annexed to it, have little in them to require observation,

farther than in the view of bringing the practice of the Court, in respect to these matters, to some
regular standard, ‘These Documents, the Claim, and the Affidavit annexed, are generally framed
80 as to contain the Pleas upon which the Claimaur founds his title to restitution. In this view,
these Papers are rather defective in the present Case, inasmuch as they do-not set torth the
Property in the Slaves, who are claimed as well as the Vessel. There is also a defect in not
sufficiently raising the Point of Law upon which this Case is mainly to be decided—that Point
being, not that the Slaves were embarked to the Southward of the Line—but, that the Vesset
was detained to the Southard of the Line, without a chace commencing to the Northward of
the Line, according to the fourth Article of the Instructions for Ships-of-War annexed to the
Convention, ©
There is a further Affidavit on the part of the Claimant, describing more particularly the

situation of the Place in which the Sinceridade took in her Slaves at Fetiche Point, near
Cape Lopez. .
The Conmnissioners have one advantage in proceeding to Judgment upon this Case, which they

have had in few prior instances, that the facts of the Case are clear and unquestionable, agreed
upon, and admitted on both sides, stated alike by the Captors aud the Claimant, and by the
Witnesses for both Parties, . ;

It is hardly necessary for me to say, that no idea of anyalteration in this uniformity can. arise
from the ingenious argument of the Senior Advocate for the Captors, according to which, the
Place of capture, stated in the Declaration of the Captor, and in the Memorandum of the Claimant,
to be eight minutes Southof the Line, might be, and ought to be taken to be, alittle to. the
Northward of the Line, or, at least, on the Line itself3 as little doubt can arise of the fact,that there was not any chace commencing to the Northward of the Line, trom the new definition
of a chace put forth by that Advoeate, -when he contends, that the Bann having proceeded to the_Southward in search of this Vessel, in consequence of information received respecting her, mightbe, and ought to be, considered as being in chace of her all the time that she was so proceeding.
I can suppose a search, or a persuit, upen information received of a Vessel not immediately ‘in’sight, which might be considered as a chace in the proper and legal sense, but according to. the
idea of a chace here given to us, the Bann would have been equally in chace of the Sinceridade,
while that Vessel was at anchor at Cape Lopez, and while the Bann, herself, was at anchor atPrinces Island, after receiving the information, or was sailing about in search of other Vessels.That infornsation, it appears, was derived from the capture of the Magdalena da Piaca San Thome,which Vessel was taken on the 29th of September, in Lat. 1d, 9m. North, and Long. 7d. 54 m.East, and was delivered over on the 30th of that month, to the persons in Authority wt/ PrincesIsland, the crew being also allowed to remain there. The Sineeridade was met and taken on the3d of December—thus there would be an interval of upwards of two wonths between the receipt
of the information, and the going in search of the Sinceridade.|
The concluding paragraph of the Declaration of the Captor decides at once that the Place ofcapture was to tle Southward of the Line, and that there was not any chace commencing to theNorthward of the Line —That paragraph is thus expressed:

_** And I do turther declare, the Sinceridade was fallen in with to the Southward of the Line,** without any regular Passport.” . .
It remains now only to apply the Law as provided by the Convention to the facts thusclearlyestablished, and if the High Contracting Parties in framing that Convennon bave made a Lawfor the South of the Line, differing very widely from that. made by the same Convention for theNorth of the Line, insomuch that what would be highly punishable on the North cannot even betouched on the South, it is not for those whose duty it is to administer that Law, whatever may
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‘be their wishes or their opinions in other views, to think themselves at liberty to administer i
otherwise than as they find it in the Convention: that illegal Slave-trade should, in any instance
be protected from the penal visitation provided by the Convention, may be matter of painfal con-
sideration, and according as the particular Case of protected illegality approaches, as it does in the
‘present instance, very uearly to the Line, beyond which due punishment would be applicable, the
regret upon the impunity will be more painful. But we must suppose that the High Contracting
Parties found it necessary to draw a Line somewhere, and they fixed wpon the Equator. That
Line having been fixed by them, it is not for those who are charged with the fuldlment of their
‘Ordinances, whether executive or judicial, to go beyorid it in any other manner than as those
Ordinances have authotised and permitted ; and if they could be allowed to go one step beyond it,
‘where would a limit to the transgression be found ?—where could a fresh Line be drawn ?

The provision of the Law of this Court most immediately and most prominently applicable to
the present Case, appears to be that which regards the locality of the capture, contained in the
‘fourth Article of the Instructions for Ships ef War.—* No Portuguese Mercliantman or Slaves
** ship shall, on any pretext, be detained, which shall be found any where near the land, or on the
‘chigh seas, South of the Equator, unless after a chace which shall have commenced North of
«* the Equator,’ oe
This Article is so absolute and so peremptory, in prohibition ofall captures whatsoever, to the

Southward of the Line, unless after a chace commencing to the Northward, that it seems not
capable of any construction which would allow a countervailing influence to the strongest facts
uad circumstances of existing Slave-trade, connected with a Vessel so captured, without the quali-
fication which alone is admitted of a chace commencing to the Northward. The burthen of tle
proot is, in this Case, on the Captors, and it is not even alleged on their part that there was any
chace of that description, unless, indeed, it be in the constructive sense urged in Mr. Macauley*s
argument, which cannot be recognized, The concluding paragraph of the Captor’s Declaration
is decisive that no such chace existed.
Ihave now to notice another point in Mr. Macauley’s argument, which, if I understood him

right, (as I studiously endeavoured to do, by asking explanation as he went on,)—came ultimately
to this,—that althongh the fourth Article of the Isistructions to Ships-of- War imposedarestraint
South of the Line, on the general powerofdetaining Vessels engaged in illegal Slave-trade, provided
by the fifth Article of the Convention; yet, in consideration ofthe broad and glaring illegal Slave-
trade existing in this Case, the Vessel having on board of ber 123 Slaves, embarked in a Place
where the Slave-trade is not legally permitted to Portuguese Subjects,—the Court ought to
‘tnaintain the exercise of the power, ‘provided by the fifth Article of the Convention, in its unre-
‘strained and unlimited sense. . . ;

The argument, in its first shape, went upon the ground that the restraint imposed,by the fourth
Article of the Instructions for Ships-of-War, was at variance from the original power: but Mr,
‘Macaulay was soon made sensible, that this position could not be maintained. It is matter of:
daily experience that almost every legal instrument creating or conveyinga power, contains pro-
visions directing aud regulating, restraining and limiting, the exercise and operation of that power,
‘The restriction, far from being at variance with the power, confirms it by explaining and guidibg
the ‘proper ‘mede of employing it The restriction is the condition of the tenure under which the
power is ‘held, and is to be observed with ‘strictness, proportionate to the nature of that tenure,
aud to the value of the power. As the nature of the tenure is exalted, and the value of the
power great, in the ‘Cases that generally come under the consideration of this Court, so oughtthe
restrictions acconypanying them to be culy upheld and maintained.
Surely it is not to be pretended in a Court of Justice, that a power granted by one Party, subject

to certain restrictions, is to be exercised by the other Party, withaut regard to those restrictions,
at any moment when they come particularly into operation: yet this is in fact the tenour and.
effect of the argument of the Senior Advocate for the Captors in the present Case, -
The Convention, and the Papers annexed to it, contain many other restrictions upon the general

power of detention, given by the fifth Article; and these restrictions are generally accompanied
with certain qualifications and relaxations, dispensing with the obligations of them, in certain cir-
cumstances, Of that nature is the relaxation, in respect to the restriction, now under our consi-«
deration, when the Vessel detained to the South of the Line, had been chased from the Noerthward.

‘ Bat there is uot one of those restrictions which admits se little qualification in any other. view;
which so entirely precludes all discretion, as this Case,—which does not leave raom even to con-
sider an embarkation of Slaves to the Northward of the Line,—auless in the single Case of deten-
tion, afterachase commencing to the Northward. : oe

If any further qualification was connected with thisrestriction, if any exercise of discretion
could be supposed to be allowed to the Commissioners, it would betheir duty to consider how far
the actual presence of 123 Slaves, on board ot this Vessel at the time ot-capture, embarked at
a Place where the Traffick in Slaves is not legally permitted to Portuguese Subjects, might bé
supposed to countervail and to: supersede the illegality of the detention,—upon the same principle
that theillegalembarkation of Slaves, which’formed the subject of the secondary Case in the trial of
the Nova Sorte, woul, if sufficiently sustained in evidence,-have been allowed to countervail and
supersede the illegality of the original detention, upon the ground of an embarkation of Slaves,

_ Inade at the instance of the Gaptor,—upon the same principle that the multitude of instanees of
flagrant and grossly criminal Slave-trade, connected with the Case of the Conde de Villa Flor,-
were considered to have countervailed and outweighed the local illegality of taking that Vessel,
immediately under the Fortifications of the Portuguese Settlement of Bissao, egntrary to the
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provisions contained in the second Article of the Instructions for Ships-of-War. But the restraint
upon captures near to Portuguese Settlements is largety qualified in the third Article of the In-
structions for Ships-of-War, and the Slave-trade in that paiticular Case was of the worst and
most flagrant character —-the Governar of Bissao himself being distinctly coucerned in it, In the
present instance the restraint upon capture admits but the single qualification which is not to be
ound in the Case; and the Slave-trade connected with the Case, although uot sufficient to con-
troul the illegality of the capture, may be open to considerations adapted to it in other forms—so
as not to be allowed to pass altogether without redress.

T have new only to deprecate, if | may be bokl enough to dq so, the appeals so frequently made
to the humanity of the Commissioners, with a view to obtain decisions favourable to injured
Africans, and adverse to unfeeling Slave-dealers. ‘The Commissioners are, it is to be hoped, never
insensible to the feelings of humanity—never wanting in sympathy for the snfferings of the. op-
pressed, nor in aversion for the oppressors. But under the Treaties which form the Law of these
Commissions, enslaved Africans can be liberated, and nefarious Slave-traders can be punished,
only so far as the Treaties will admit: so far as the Treaties will admit the Commissioners wilt
not fail to do justice to the relief of the injured, and to the punishment of the oppressors, with-
out requiring to be stimulated by any appeal: and to excite ‘their feelings, when they cannot
overstep the limits beyond which relief is placed, is to put them to useless pain, and to expose.
them to the imputation of being deficient in the interest for their suffering fellow-creatures which
they are not permitted to indulge. / ,

I would deprecate still more the imitation of the precedent, which I was sorry to see introduced.
by Mr. Macauley, of making a separate appeal to the British Commissioners, in turtherance of
the British objects under these Treaties. Although these Commissions are composed partly of
British and partly of Foreign Members, yet there is no distinction in the obligation of their duties;
each is bound, sworn, and specially instructed « to judge fairly and faithfully, to have no prefer-
** ence or favour either for Claimants or Captors, or for any other Persons whatsoever, and to
“‘ act in all bis decisions, in pursuance of the Stipulations of the Treaty of the 22d January 1815,
** and of the Additional Convention to the said ‘Ireaty.” Besides the original Instructions in The
King’s name, accompanying the Commission, enjoining them ‘f never to lose sight of their judicial
§* character, but to unite a fair zeal for the suppression of the Slave-trade, with the strictest impar-
** tiality;"° every successive Conimunication addressed to the British Commissioners has been framed

“in the spirit of equal attention ta Foreign and to British rights, according to the Treaties. If the
British Commissioners could, in any instance, allow themselves to make the distinction that has
been suggested, and to pursue British objects and interests, without equal regard to the Foreign
objects and interests associated with them, there cannot be a doubt that they would incur the
decided disapprobation of their Government and of their Sovereign, , :
There is another view in which 1 would deprecate, in a still stronger manner, any distinction

between the British and -Foi eign Commissioners, in addressing the Bench ; that is, the tendency
of such a practice, to the interruption of the harmony which has so long and so happily subsisted
between the British Commissioners and their Foreign Associates, in no instance morecordially
nor more happily than with the esteemed Foreigner now present, The mischief of introducing
in the place of that harmony, divisions and disseutions, equally fatal to social happiness and to
the due administration ofjustice under the Treaties, cannot, I'am sure, réquire any enforcement
of mine to make every one connected with these Courts sensible how much it is to be avoided,
T have only to express my coincidence in the Decree for the restitution of this Vessel, and it

is only the restitution of the Vessel that is to be considered as being decided by this Judgment.

(Signed) - EDWARD FITZGERALD.

 

No. 45.

E. Gregory, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning.-—(Received August 20.) |

‘Sir, . - Sierra Leone, June 6, 1823:

-1 HAVE the honour to transmit to you with this Despatch, a Statementof the Proceedings of the British and Portuguese Courts of Mixed Commis-Sion, upon the question of compensation and damages consequent upon therestitution: of the Portuguese ‘Slave-trading Schooner Sinceridade, illegallydetained by His Majesty’s Ship Bann, Captain Phillips, on the 3d December1822, in Latitude 0 d. 8 m. South of the Hquator. -The decision, as you will observe, Sir, is in the form of a reserved Case.The Slaves found on board of the Sinceridade were delivered over to theColonial Authorities, and the damages in compensation.for them,are fixed
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at s£1250, to be paid, contingently, in the event that those to whom the re-
served question may be referred, shall decide that the Claimant is, under all
the circumstances, entitled to compensation for those Slaves. Upon this
question the Commissioners could not themselves satisfactorily decide, for
while on one side the illegality of the capture appeared to imply a right to
such compensation as would replace the Claimant in the situation from which
he was illegally taken, the illegality of the embarkation of those Slaves, in a
Territory not belonging to the Crown of Portugal, without a regular Slave-
trading Passport, or even a Passport from the Persons in Local Authority at
Saint Paul de Loando, the Port from which she sailed, appeared to defeat the
right of compensation so far as the Slaves were concerned, and more espe-
cially to defeat that right, with respect to the eventual profits upon the con-
veyance uf those Slaves to Brazil. ,

If compensation should not be allowed, it would seem that encouragement
was given to the infringement of the special prohibition against the detention
of any Merchantman or Slave-ship found to the South of the Equator; and if
compensation should be allowed, it would seem that encouragement would.
be given to the violation of the special object of the Convention, which is to
prevent illegal Slave-trade.

In this dilemma the Commissioners felt that they could not come to a deci-
sion in cither way, without overstepping considerations of the most serious
importance in the due administration ofjustice under the Treaties ; and al-
though they were extremely unwilling to trouble the Superior Authorities
with questions which it might be thought that they were themselves bound
to decide, without any ulterior reference, they were persuaded tliat the justice
of the particular Case under deliberation, would be best consulted by
placing it at once, unencumbered by any decision of theirs, under the view
of those Authorities who might, by reference to the views in which the Con-
vention was concluded, more easily ascertain which branch of the alternative
that embarrassed the Commissioners was to be preferred; and if the dilemma
arose from defect or inconsistency in the Convention, might immediately
apply the proper remedy bySupplementary provision. —_ . :

I have the gratification, Sir, to execute the intention which my lamented
Colleague, Mr. Fitzgerald, entertained, oflaying before you the inclosed
Statement of the reasons for which he persevered in promoting an arrange-
ment between the Parties in the Case. I, at the same time, beg leave:to
transmit herewith a Copy of the Agreement that was entered into by the.
Parties, in regard to the matters at issue between them. I trust, Sir, that
the terms of this Agreement will be satisfactory to you; and that you will
see in the motives, sufficient reason to excuse the reference with which His
Majesty’s Commissioners would not have troubled the Superior Authorities,
if they could themselves have properly decided the question referred. -—

Conceiving, Sir, that you will be desirous to be in possession of the Evi-
dence upon which the Commissioners gave their decision on the question of
the legality of the detention of the Sinceridade, I beg leave to add to the
Inclosures already mentioned, Copies of the Examinations of the Witnesses
taken, with Copies of several Documents brought forward in the Case. _

. I havethe honour to be, &e. .
The Right Hon. George Canning, (Signed) E. GREGORY.

&e. &e. &e.  
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First Inclosure tia No. 45.

Statement of the Proceedings of the British and Portuguese Court of
Mized Commission, upon the Question of Compensation and
Damages, conseyuent upon the Restitution of the Portuguese Schooner
Sinceridade. .

IMMEDIATELY after the Judgment for the restitution of the Sinceridade was pronounced,
the Proctor for the Claimant intimated to the Court a disposition to make an arrangement

- respecting the Slaves, on conditions which would leave them in this Colony, in possession of the
benefits of the Establishment for liberated Africans, subject to the decision of the British and
Portuguese Governmients, as to the Compensation that may be due to the Claimant

Te was recommended by the British Commissioners, that the Captor should conimmuicate with
the Proctor for the Claimant, so as to inform himself of the precise nature of the arrangement
proposed, and, if it should appear reasonable, that it shouldbe brought before the Court by both
Parties conjointly.
The Parties did not come to any understanding in consequence of this recommendation, and

the Case was brought to a hearing on the adverse views which the Parties reciproca'ly had of
their rights respecting the Slaves. .

In the argument in behalf of the Captor, it was contended, that the Slaves ought to be eman-
cipated, inasmuch as they had been illegally embarked on a partof the Coast of Africa, not under
the Dominion of Portugal, and not included in the limits within which the Slace-trade is by

the Convention preserved to Portuguese Subjects. The want of the Passport necessary to a
legal Slave-trading voyage, was enforced as a further reason for not holding the Claimant enti-
tled to the restitution of these Slaves.
* On the part of the Claimant, a right to the full restitution of the Slaves was maintained, and
generally to tull compensation, in order that he may be replaced ina situation equivalent to that-in

which the illegal detention took place. . .
The restitution of the Vessel, as having been detained illegally, implied, as it was contended

by the Proctor for the Claimant, a right to the restitution of every thing onboard, at the time
of capture, in the condition in which it was at the time, or to compensation for every thing that
aight be deficient or deteriorated. It was farther contended, that the Place of the embarkation
af the Slaves was not within the limits in. which the Trade is declared iegal, and the want of a

Royal Passport might be considered sufficiently supplied, by the Paper from the Custom-house of
St. Paul de Loando, describing the intended Slave-trading voyage from Molembo to Bahia. A
right to all the farther compensation provided by the éiglith Article of the Regulations for the
Mixed Commissions, was also asserted.

The Commissioners, on consulting together, after they had heard the arguments of the Parties,
felt. considerable difficulty, or rather the British Commissioners,—for Mr. Altavilla, the Portuguese
Commissioner, regarding a Decree for the restitution of the Slaves as consequent of right,
according to the provisions of the Convention, upon a Decree for tbe restitution of the Vessel as
having Leen illegally detained, had not the same feeling of tbe difficulties which stood in the waj
of the execution of such a Judgment ; conceiving that the British Governnient would be bound to
carry the Judgment into effect. :

Mr. Gregory thought, that any Judgment that he might give upon the Case, might be liable to
objection, considering that the arguments of both the Parties in the Case had considerable
aveight. Mr. Gregory coufessed, that his mind inclined to the restitution of the Slaves to the:
Claimant, yet he felt that a Decree ot restitution would be attended with difficuity in its execu~
‘tion, in regard to a portion of the Slaves that had been landed through sickness, and that it
would be a measure painful to humanity in regard to those that remained on board.

Mr. Fitzgerald had doubts of the right of the Claimant to the restitution of the Slaves per-
sonally, or to any compensation for them, ‘The personal restitution could not be carried into
effect, if it should be decreed; nearly half of the Slaves had already been landed under the orders
of the Medical Officer attached to the Court, and others were landed in the same manner every
day; these could not again be put on board. ' It was known’ to the Commissioners that the pro-
visions for the original voyage were consumed, and that the Claimant had not the-means to lay in

- afresh stock for the voyage from Sierra Leone to Pernambuco. It would not be fair towards
the Claimant, if he were justly entitledto restitution, to require him to accept the Slaves without
the.means of subsisting then:; much less would it be fair towards the Slaves, to re-consign theth

to slavery, with the additional misery of exposing them to the hazard of famine. Upon these

considerations, Mr. Fitzgerald recommended a decision upon the principle of ‘a reserved ‘Case, in
which the Slaves should be exempted from liability to personal restitution; and a pecuniary
compensation for them, calculated upon fair and moderate principles, should be adjudged in lieu
of the Slaves, subject to a question as to the right of the Claimant to receive compensation under
the circumstances of illegality attached to the Place of the embarkation of the Slaves, and the
avant of a legal Passport.

Mr, Fitzgerald, on a subsequent occasion, explained his proposition further, by stating-—that
the question of the right to compensation should be determined by the British. and Portuguese
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Governments, or those to whom they should refer the determinations, upon the alternative,
whether the illegality of the detention of the Sinceridade to the South of ‘the Equator, should be
held to supersede the illegaliry of the embarkation of the Slaves on a part of the Coast of Africa,
not subject to the Crown of Portugal, and not within the limits in which the Slave-trade is pre-
served to Portuguese Subjects by the said Article of the Convention; or whether the legality of
the embarkation in the place described, together with the further illegality of having no legal
Passport for a Slave-trading voyage, should be held to extinguish the right to compensation for
the Slaves thus illegally embarked and carried. ‘The compensation to be awarded, subject to this
decision, should not, as Mr Fitzgerald thought, exceed the original cost of the Slaves on board
at the time of capture, together with the expences incurred respecting them.
Mr, Gregory expressed his desire to favour any arrangement, which might bring the question

that was involved in the Case, at its outset, before Superior Authority, and that might enable bina
to avoid the personal restitution of the Slaves; but Mr. Gregory considered that the consent of
_the Captor to such arrangement, was absolutely necessary, before a pecuniary compensation could
be substituted in lieu of personal restitution, : ‘ .
Mr. Airavilla wouid be disposed to givehis sanction to a pecuniary compensation, if the Parties

should concur in praying for it, but not otherwise. .
On the next Conr.-day, the 22d of February, Mr, Fitzgerald urged to the Court, and to the

Parties, the expediency and the necessity of an arrangement upon the principle of a reserved
Case. Besides the argements already mevtioned, he stated, that it was a fallacious supposition
that fimds might be obtained for provisioning the Slaves for a voyage to Brazil by means of pe-
euniary damages, to be awarded under collateral heads. Demurrage, the principle head of
pecuniary damages, contd not be adjudged in this Case, as the Vessel was under 100 tons burthen,
and the scale anvexed to the Sth Article of the Instructions for the Mixed Commissions, was
formed ou ‘an ascending principle, from 100 tons upwards, without any provision for Vessels
under that size. The Conmissioners, therefore, in the present Case, could not award demurrage

_ under that Article. It could hardly be suppused that any damages whicy might be awarded,
would be in cash, neither could it be expected that a certificate of the award of damages could

- be discounted in the present state of the exchange and money market at Sierra Leone, as, in a

former instance, that of the Gaviao, when the means of remittance to England were difficult to be
obtained in the Celony, ‘
Mr. Gregory stated, that he could not object to the arrangement which had been proposed by

Mr Fitzgerald, aad would feel happy in giving to it his concurrence, if the Captor would consent
to its adoption: but Mr. Gregory conceived, as the tenour of the proposed arrangement affected
the interests of the Captor, inasmuch as it required the Captor.to pay for the value of the Slaves,
in ease of an adverse decision, that the Captor’s consent to the arrangement was, therefore,
necessary, Mr, Gregory joined his earnest wishes to those of Mr. Fitzgerald, that the Captor
would consent to such arrangement. i

-. After some further discussion, it was again strongly recommended to the Parties, that they
should endeavour to come to an udterstanding for am arrangement on the principle proposed,
The Court adjourned, in order to afford further opportunity.
When the Court met,-on the 25th of February, after the adjournment, it was found that the

‘expected agreement had not taken place. The Judgment of the Court was moved for by the
Procteis on both sides. Mr. Fitzgerald, thinking that the arrangement that-bad been proposed
by him had been prevented, by-not bringing the matters in’ question to any distinct and precise
basis, therefore put it to the Proctor for the Claimant, whether he would agree to receive com-
pensation for the Slaves in the amount of their original cost, and of the expences incurred res
speeting them, subject to the decision of the two Governments, or of those to whom they should
refer, upon the question previously stated of the existence of any right to be compensated. It
was to be understood that, in the event that the right to compensation should be established, the
sum to be agreed upon should be taken in full satisiaction ;—in the event that the right should be
negatived, all Claims whatever should be abandoned, and thatthe exemption of the Slaves from
being in any event liable to personal restitution should be considered as the first principle of the
arrangement. If the Proctor for the Claimant should agree to this proposition, Mr. Fitzgerald
did uot think that the Captor could reasonably refuse to come to an arrangement upon it.
\: The Proctor tor the Claimant having expressed his assent, the Proctors for the Captor stated,
that they would use their endeavours with the Captor to induce him to consent to theadoption of
an arrangement whicl to them appeared to be reasonable. The British Commissioners urged the
Proctors for the Captor to consult with their Client upon the matter. Mr. Gregory stated, that.
if he were compelled to prenouncea decision upon the Case, by the refusal of the Captor'to accede
to the proposed arrangement, his decision must. be for the restitution of the Slaves to the
Claimant ; that it must be felt that to pronounce such a decision must be painful in the extreme,

- under the circumstances of doubt in which the question of the restitution was. involved; he
intreated the Proctors for the Captor to save him the pain of pronouncing upon a question which
involved the freedom-or slavery ot a portion of his fellow-creatures, by exerting their best. en-
deavours with the Captor to consent to the proposed arrangement, . ;
The Captor subsequently concurred in adopting the basis of the arrangement, proposed by Mr.

Fitzgerald. The agreement formed in consequence was submitted, on the 15th of March, to the
Court for the sanction of the Commissioners, who approved .of it, in the form of which the
accompanying Paper is a Copy. . oo

When the Paper containing the agreement between the Parties in this Case, was presented to
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the Commissioners in Court fortheir approval, theProctors for the Captor, said, that they requested
ithe attention of the Commissioners to the ninth Article ot the Regulations for the Commis.
sioners, which provides that ‘* when the Proprietor of a Ship Suspected of carrying on anillicit
*« "Trade in Slaves, released in consequence of a sentence of one of the Mixed pommissions,“ (or in the Case, as above-mentioned,. of total Joss), shall claim indemnification for the loss of
“* Slaves which he may have suffered, he shall in no case be entitled to claim formore than the
‘number of Slaves which his Vessel was by the Portuguese Laws authorized to carry, which
«6 hall always be declared in his Passport.” Co,
The Proven fae the Captor thought that this provision of the Convention, | barred the

Claimant in this Case tromclaiming the Slaves brought to Sierra Leone, in the Sinceridade, as the
Claimant had uo Passport te produce which could shew the number of Slaves that theSinceridade
‘was allowed to carry, by the Portuguese Laws. Certainly, the Proctors for the Captor thought
that the Claimant in this Case could not claim the value of the Slaves that might have died on
ithe passage to, or after their arrival at,SierraLeone, The Proctors for the Captoraut that as
they had already entered into an agreement with the opposite Party, in regard to t he Slaves, they
would not then contend for. the construction of the ninth Article, that the Claimant was not
entitled to compensation for the Slaves; but they requested that the Commissioners in reporting
the Case to their Governments, would bring under their notice this provision of the ninth —
Article of the Regulations for the Commissioners. _ The Commissioners said, that this Article had
not escaped their observation. The British Commissioners would bring it under the notice of the
British Government, as requested by the Proctors for the ‘aptor, (Signed) %, GREGORY.

— ens

  

Second Inclosure in No. 45.

Portuguese Schooner Sinceridade. Reserved Question respecting the dis-
posal of the Slaves.

Notes read by Mr. Fitzgerald, His Britannick Majesty's Commissioner.of Arbitration,after the Proctors of both Parties were heard; the decision of the Court being furtherreserved for another day, 22d of February 1823,
HAVING reason to think that the opinions which Ihold respecting this Case are in manypoints peculiar to myself, I conceive that it will be expedient to state them new, in a manner outof the ordinary routine, in order that the. opportunity may. be afforded of marking any thing inthem which may be entitled to consideration, available towards an adjustment between the Parties,or for adoption by my brother Commissioners: for if a decision adverse to my views of the Caseshould be virtually pronounced by their concurrence, 1 would not be disposed to offer any peculiaropinions of mine as a dissentient from theirs 3 although I have always thought it my daty to ex~press my concurrence when I coincided with them, lest it should be imagined that a difference:existed when the greatest unanimity prevailed. I have another motive for stating these opinionsnow, in the hope that some suggestions may be found in them by which facility may be affordedfor abridging the miseries of the unfortunate beings whose fate depends upon the Judgment thatshall be given, ;
in proceeding to consider the reserved part of the Case of the Sinceridade,that presents itself is,—-<whether itbeabsolutely imperative upon the Court-to cause the Captorto replace the captured Vessel in circumstances actually the same, or adequate to those in whichshe was at the time when the illegal detention took place; the detention having been made to theSouthward of the Equator, without a previous chace commencing to the Northward, coutrary tothe express prohibition contained in the fourth Article of the Instructions for Ships-of- War, an-nexed te the Convention, ,It would seem that the strictness of this prohibition should be upheldby a corresponding rigourin the enforcement: but if we should be called upon to enforce it to the extent of a completereplacement in this instance, another question will arise prior to that replacement, and suggestedin opposition to it, by considerations resulting from the primary object of the Convention, thatobject being the repression of illegal Slave-trade,
The Sinceridade had on board of her, at the -time of capture, 123 Slaves, who had been em-barked on a part of the Coast in which the Traffick in Slaves is not legally open to PortugueseSubjects. Shall the replacement, to which at first view the Claimant might seem entitled, be con-sidered to comprehend these Slaves, thus embarked in coutravention of legal right, without alegal Passport, in a Vessel, according to my opinion, not legally qualified for the conveyance ofSlaves? Mast those Slaves be given up to the Claimant in their actual persons ; or must be beCompensated for them in pecuniary value, in the manner directed by the eighth Article of theRegulations tor the Mixed Commissions 3
There would be in this such obvious remuneration of the Claimant for his own wrong-doing,that it appears to me almost impossible to adopt the measure; and comparing the difficulties attend-ing it, with the difficulty of satisfying the strict prohibition of captures to the Southward of theLine, without a total restitdtion of every thing detained, or @ full compensation for every thing

the first question
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ayvot restored, I do not see how the Court can discharge its duty, amidst the obligations and the
difficulties pressing with equal weight on both sides, in any other manner, than by a speciad
Judgment ; reserving the final decision for the Superior Authorities, to whom the Commissioners
are bound respectively to report their proceedings, and from whom they receive their Instructions,
kt would be, at the same time, the duty of the Commissioners to state the material facts and cir-
cumstances of the Case, with their opinions upon them, so that the Superior Authorities may
have the clearest view of the whole of the matters in question, and the fullest means to enable
them to decide with facility upon the points reserved to them, ‘Thus.it would be seen, that the
reservation was not adopted without due effort by the Court, to form a proper judgment on its
own view of the circumstances of the Case, and of the Law as applicableto those circumstances,.
if the clashing nature ef different provisions of the Law, touching some of the facts, and of other
provisions touching other facts equally prominent in the Case, did not disable them from forming
a consistent and satisfactory decision.
The Treaty and Convention, which are the Law of this Court, are a diplomatick Law, not yet

so perfectly framed as to meet the circumstances of various Cases of daily occurrence, some of
which are of such nature that different provisions ot the Convention, of equal importance, are
found to come in collision with each other when applied to those Cases, and of that description is
the present Case most particularly. : .
By the course that I propose of making the decision of the Court special, and subject to areserved:

Case, if the Superior Authorities should decide that the Claimant is entitled to full replacement,
or to compensation adequate to that replacement, it would only remain to calculate the market value
ofhis Slaves, and to remunerate him accordingly, with the further allowances. provided in such cases.
But in the event that he might not be holden to have a just title to that full replacement, and

I am free to own that the. impression of my mind inclines strongly to that result, more especially
with respect to the Slaves, the way to the final decision would be still more clear, ,

In stich a reserved Case the Slaves must be excluded from the means by which the. replacement.
6r compensation that possibly may be adjudged, would, remain to be satisfied. I have, indeed,
understood that the Slaves are, in a great measure, already so excluded, many of them having been
Janded from various causes, so that they cannot be replaced on board of the Sinceridade in their’
former circumstances ; others being rendered by sickness and long confinement unfit to undertake
so long a voyage as that trom Sierra Leone to Pernambuco,

This state of things appears to me to furnish additional reasons for pursuing the course. that
I have ventured to point cut, But a difficulty has been suggested in this respect, that the Captor,
if he should be liable to make restitution, ought not to be deprived of the means of restoring the
thing takea, and subjected to the hazard of being called upon to make compensation in money to
a large amount, while the thingitself, —that is, the Slaves, —would be wholly unproductive to him,
and would not. even be allowed to remain inhis possession. Se a
The liability of the Captor is, in my view of the Case, a matter of very improbable contin-~.

geucy; but even if it was within the range of fair and reasonable anticipation, I cannot think
thatthe Claimant would be, in all circumstances, bound to. accept the. personal restitution of the
Negroes ; nor that the Court would be, in all circumstances, bound or warraated to decree that
restitution, The contingencies of sickness, or reduced condition, causing anfitness for undertak-
ing a new, and a long, and hazardous voyage in the confined space of a Slave-hold, would bejust
cause for the Claimant to refuse te receive the Slaves personally, as a satisfaction for damagés held
to be justly due. The same contingencies would render it the duty of the Court, not to decree
personal restitution. Other circumstances would be justly entitled to thesame consideration, and
among these I would be disposed to place the consumption of the provisions, intended for the
subsistence of the Slaves, in the voyage from Cape Lopez to Pernambuco, in the course of which
the Vessel was illegally detained, and the inability of the Claimant to lay in here, fresh
supplies to subsist them in the voyage hence to Pernambuco. : Co

. thas been said, in opposition to this, that the funds for laying in fresh supplies of provisions,
might be furnished by means of pecuniary damages likely to be awarded-under other heads, But
it is to be remembered, that the want of provisions is immediate and urgent ; that the adjudication
of pecuniary damages is contingent, and uncertain in fact, as well as in amount, that if such
damages should be adjudged, it does not follow as a matter of course, that they would be paid in
ready cash, or that the security to be given for them, would be casily convertible into cash, in
the present state of the exchange and money-market at Sierra Leone, -1 do not think; however,
that the kind of damages which may be most confidently anticipated, can in this Case. be awarded.
it has been. put as a question,—how ean you adjudge demurrrage, if you think that the Slaves
eught not to be restored? Tothis I answer, that the Court has not any authority to adjudge
demurragein this Case, not merely that it ought not to be adjudged, in consideration of the various
circumstances of illegality attending the particular Slave-trade, with which the Vessel. stands con-
nected, but because the Convention contains not any scale by which to measure and to adjust
the rate of that demurrage. re

We learn from the Passport for a former voyage in the Slave-trade, in the year 1821, found
among the Papers of the Sinceridade, that her measurement was taken as for eighty-three tons.

' We know that ia the Portuguese Slave-trade the tonnage ofVessels is put down at the highest
possible rate, in order to enable them to carry the largest possible number of Slaves. In some
instances, indeed in all recent instances, the grossest exaggeration has-been employed in this
respect, insomuch, that it will be necessary to make it the subject of a special, representation and
remonstrance. The schedule of demurrage, annexed to the eighth Article of the Convention,
commences with Vessels from one: hundred tons to one hundred-and twentyinclusive. It pro-  
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ceeds upwards by regular and proportionate gradations of increase until it reaches three hundred
tons, where it closes with a note of furtherdirection, in these words, “and so on in proportion.”
There is not any note saying, ‘« and se back” or so ‘* downwards,” or <«so under in proportion ”
It is altogether an ascending, and not a descending scale. :
H it be argued, that justice requires that compensation should be made in similar

proportion, to Vessels under one hundred tons, as well as to Wessels over one hundred
tons ; and that the Commissioners may assume a discretion to award that demurrage, and
‘to adjust it according to the principle of the schedule annexed to the eighth Article of
athe Convention, I can only say, that my opinion is in opposition to such an argument. I
do not think that justice does require, that compensation should be equally made to Vessels under
one hundred tons, and to Vessels over one hundred tons, employed in this ‘Trade, and Ido net
think that the Commissioners can assume a discretion to fix a iescending scale to adjust that de-
murrage, although the gradation and proportion established in the existing schedule, might, with.
perfect accuracy, be applied in a descending scale also. If such a diseretion could be assumed,
where would it stop; or how could.any limit be put to it without assuming a further discretion,—
that is, a discretion upen a discretion? If a discretion tu fix ‘adescending scale could he
assumed, we might expect to see ourselves in the situation of being called upon to award demur-
rage to Vessels of the same size and description as the Magdalena, asthe San José Xallaca, as
the NovaFelicidade, Vessels, at the employment of which, forthe conveyance of Slaves, and at the
sufferings of the Slaves, when pressed duwn ia the dungeens made fur their reception on board of
them, human nature shudders.

I consider it te be very clear, that the High Contracting Parties, in framing the schedule of
demurrage upon an ascending principle, from one hundred tons upwards, and in onitting to frame
any schedule ‘upon a descending principle, for Vessels under one hundred tens, as far as they
anight think it proper to carry that principle downwards, regarded one hundred tons as the
smallest sizeof Vessel that ought to be, er that could reasonably be expected to be, employed in
this Trade; and considering the miseries resulting to the Slaves from the employment of smaller
‘Vessels, and the abuses that may be, and that notoriously are, practised, by crowding small
Vessels with excessive numbers, I do think that-justice and reason, and feeling, should withhold
the Commissioners from encouraging the employment of smaller Vessels, by exercising in their
favouradiscretion to allow demurrage, even if it could be supposed that such a discretion was
vested in the Comniissioners ; but, I am firmly persuaded, that it is not. The utmost discretion
that can be assumed, must, as 1 conceive, be limited to some. reasonable allowance in the nature
of freight, or of transport-hire; seme compensation upon general principles for loss of time,
and for service done out of the iatended line of the original voyage, under the controul of the
Captor. An allowance of this kind was made te the Portuguese Brig Gaviao, for the convey-.
ance of a certain portion of the Slaves of the Constante, whom it was found.expedient to remove
in consequence of the crowded state of that Vessel.

In this view, I have considered the question of demurrage upon the principle of want ot right, to
claim it for Vessels under 100 tons, and want of authority in the Commisstoners to award it, 1
davenotincluded the consideration of the circumstances of illegality which should operate against
the exercise of the authority in this instance, if the Commissioners possessed it. I think itright
to say, however, that in all claims for demurrage, and damages consequent upon a simple Judge.
ment of the restitution of the Vessel, the Claimant becomes the Plaintiff, er Prosecutor, and he
és bound to make out his Case according to recognised and established principles: he is bound to
present himself in a character givinga title to legal. redress: he is bound to sustain that character
in matters.of Law, and in matters of Evidence. I do not think that the Claimant, in this in-
stance, can be considered to have made out a goed Case for compensation and damages, more
especially for demurrage, according to the eighth Article of the Regulations for the Mixed
Commissions, where, in every act alleged and proved by him, in every factand circumstance
connected with the Case, he is a manifest wrong-doer. and if damages be allowed to him,
will be in the situation of profiting by his own illegal acts. He proceeded on this Slave-
trading voyage without the Passport, which is a necessary legal authority to vearry Slaves; he
bought and embarked his Slaves at Cape Lopez, on a part of the Coast of Africa where thetrade is not legally open to Portuguese Subjects, a part for which no legal permission could, be
granted, and for which he could not avow his destination, going for the purpose ofpurchasing
Slaves.’ His clearance Papers are, therefore, made out for a voyage from Molembo, where the
Trade is legally open, to Pernambuco. He carried the Slaves thus purchased, without the
legal Hints, ina Vessel of a size and description, in which, as I think, they ought not to be
carried; a Vessel of a description not contemplated by the High Contracting. Parties, as fit
for this commerce, or at all likely to be employed in it; a Vessel, to which, as 1 think, no
allowance of demurrage can be made accordingto the Treaty, in the event of her being illegally
detained.
The difficulty of allowing compensation to so much, and such manifest wrong-doing, is sogreat, thatI cannot see how it is possible te get over it here; By making the Judyment in the

form of a reserved Case, the Superior Authorities will be enabled to decide to which branch of the
- alternative the balance should incline. F think it is only by the Superior Authorities that this Case
can be so decided.. ,

If the Case should be reserved in the manner thathas been suggested, giving my opinion upon the
principle that has been already mentioned, that the opinion of the Commissioners. should aceompany
the Case, I think, that if it should be held right to-award compensationto this Claimant, the prime
cost, ofthe Slaves, the allowanceprovidedby the Convention for subsisting them, and ayeasou»
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able allowance for freight, or transport hire, or a sum certain in lien of all these, ought to
comprehend the total of all the matters to which that compensation ought to extend. 1 would
not certainly hold him entitled to compensation for full profits according to the price of Slavea
at the present moment in the Brazil market,

Whatever the decision may be, the continuance of the abuses disclosed in this Case, will, I
trust, be prevented, and this would be a further benefit likely to be derived more immediately,
‘and more effectually, from a reserved Case. .

 

Further Notes read by Mr. Fitzgerald, on the 25th of February 1823.

T think it right to say, that an alteration has taken place in the opinion expressed by me in
this Court on Saturday last, touching one particular point. :
That alteration has arisen from the declaration made in Court on that day, by the Proctor for

the Captors, stating, that the Captor would be immediately ready to satisfy any damages that
might be awarded against him, Applying this declaration to the object to which the statement
of the Claimant was applied—that is, the subsistence of the Slaves, it would seem that an imme-
diate payment of the sum which might be due for subsistence, at the rate fixed by the eighth
Article ofthe Convention, would not be far from being adequate to purchase a new supply of
provisions sufficient for the voyage from Sierra Leone to Pernambuco, Atleast, this application
of the statement made by the Proctor for the Captor, would be a ground for particular examina-
tion, in order to ascertain whether the sum thus arising, and to be received, would not be suffi-
cient to purchase the necessary supplies, if the Judgment of the Court should stand, in such cix+
cumstances as that a determination to restore the Slaves would be suspended and impeded by
considerations of doubt, as to the means of subsisting them during their further voyage. But [
think that the removal of this one difficulty, if it should be removed, will only serve to
make aun inlet for a multitude of others that will aecessarily be found to connect themselves with
any judgment, formed upon the principle of a personal restitution of the Slaves.

J have carefully abstained from urging any of those arguments of feeling, which so directly and
so powerfully present themselves respecting these Slaves. upon the question—whether they shall
remain free, and in the enjoyment of all the benefits of British protection, or whether they shall
be delivered up, as the Captor forcibly expressed it, to Joze Gomez de la Roche, the Slave-dealer;
and whether they shall be so delivered up,.to be by him conveyed to the Slave-market at Per-
nambuco, there to be sold to the highest bidder. I have so abstained, because I do think it not
fair to raise considvrations of feeling, to which I know the minds of my Brother Commissioners
to be as much alive as those of any other men, in opposition to those considerations of duty to
which their feelings must, accordiug te their views of this Case, be sacrificed. Much less would
I be disposed to distress the feelings so pathetically expressed on behalf of the Captor, and so
strongly manifested by himself in the prior part of the Case, by exciting those feelings in oppo-
sition to considerations of interest of such magnitude as to render it a-duty of the first obligation”
in him not to lose sight of them. 7
Bat being fully persuaded that this Case, whatever may be the present Judgment, will, and

must come immediately to the decision of the British Government, and probably, also, of the
British Parliament ; 1 am fully persuaded that it would come in a more acceptable form to both,
if the personal restitution of the Slaves could be avoided. .

In this persuasion, with a desire, if it be possible, to prevent that restitution from taking place,
I woukt propose sone conditions to the Claimant, to which, if he should agree, I think. no
reasonable ground of objection would remain to the proposal for putting the Judgment in the
shape of a reserved Case, subject to the decision of the two Governments,

J have attentively considered the proposition made by Mr. Gregory to the Proctor for the
Claimant, that he should release the Captor, and besides that, I think it fairly open to the
objection which was made by the Proctor for the Claimant at the time—that releasing the
Captor would in effect be to release the Government, whose obligation attaches only eventually,
upon default of the Captor. I think it liable to greater objection s'ill, on other grounds, more
particularly affecting the Commissioners themselves, ;

The arrangement proposed, although it pretesses to consult the interests and the dispositions of
the Parties, end te be tounded upon a combination of those interests and dispositions, for the
better attainment of the ends of justice, is an arrangement to be made under the discretion of the
Court, and with its sanction. The British Government is, by the sixth Article of the Instraes —
tions for the Mixed Commissions, bound to defray, within the term ofa Year, the indemnifica~
tions which may begranted; but this obligation is conditional, upon the defanlt of the Captor-
himself—and surely the Commissioners, but more especially the British Commissioners, have no
right to overstep that condition, or to set it aside, and at once to exclude the British Govern-
ment. If it be matter of discretion in the Government to release Captors from damage inenrred by.
zent in the discharge of their duty, when the nature of that duty may naturally lead chem ‘in

. doubtful Cases, to pass somewhat beyoud the strict lineof the- Law ; the Commissioners would not
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be warranted in sanctioning a measure which would preclude the fair exercise of that discretion,by
- fore-stalling its result.

If it be matter of liberality, the Government ought not to be prevented of the grace
attending the free and spontaneous exercise of its generous disposition, The bounty of. the
Crown should be allowed to flow by its own munificent impulse; the Party in whose favour it is
to be exercised, being always at liberty to employ all proper means to prove himself worthy of it;
and Tam sure, that in this Case, the Captor would best recommend himself to the favourable
consideration of his Government, by shewing, on his own part, a spirit of corresponding
generosity, and a disposition to enter into any arrangement with the Claimant, which, without
involving too great hazard of his own immediate interests, would establish the freedom of the
Slaves of the Sinceridade as its first principle, With a view to bring about such an arrange-
ment, if it be yet practicable, 1 would prepose these Questigns to the Proctor for the Claimant :

Are you satisfied to rely altogether upon the decision of the British and Portuguese Govern-
ments, or upon the decision of the Persons to whom those Governments may refer the questions
to be reserved to them, in the event of this Court, putting its Judgment in the Case of the Sin-
ceridade, into the form of a reserved Case ?
Agreed to by the Proctor for the Claimants.
Are you willing to release all Parties, except insomuch, and for such heads of charges, and

to such amount, as they may be held answerable by the decision of those Governments, or of the
Persons to whom they may refer the questions reserved to them ?
Agreed to as far as relates to the Slaves.
Are you satisfied to release all Parties from all Claim, andall responsibility whatsoever, in the

event that the two Governments, or the Persons to whom they may refer the questions reserved to
them, should decide that the Claimant in this Case is not entitled to any compensation what-
soever ?

Agreed to by the Procter for the Claimants.
Would the Claimant be disposed to namea sum certain, by the payment of which, within

twelve Months, he would be tully satisfied, in lieu of all demands founded upon the capture of the
Sinceridade ?
Yes, ;
Would the Claimant be satisfied with the amount of the prime cost of his Slaves ; of the

charges incurred for their subsistence at the rate fixed by the Treaty ; and a certain allowance
to be fixed by competent Persons in lieu of freight, transport hire, or demurrage ?
He would be satisfied,
All these propositions are to be considered as founded on the principle of an entire and abso-

dute abandonment of all right whatever to the Slaves.
Having proposed so many conditions to the Claimant, in the event of the adoption of a

Judgment in the form of a reserved Case, I think it right to suggest one, at least, to which
the Captor ought to be subject, preliminary to a decision involving the restitution of the
Slaves.

I have not a doubt, that the statement made on behalf of the Captor by his Proctor, of perfect
readiness to satisfy any damages that may be awarded to the Claimant, was made with all the
sincerity and good faith that should belong to such statements, but it must be borne in mind,
that this Court has notpowers to compel the payment of any sum whatsoever. - Consequently, it
wouldbe expedient that asum necessary for the subsistence of the Slaves shouldbe deposited in the
hands of the Registrar, before a Decree for the restitution of the Slaves could be passed; for to
restore the Slaves, without giving the means of subsisting them, would not be conformable to
that perfect spirit of fair dealing towards all those concerned, which ought to characterize every
judicial decision, and least of all, would it be fair towards the unfortunate Slaves.
Due provision for the subsistence of the Slaves being made, and due assurance being obtained,

of the competency of the Slaves in point of health, to undertake a voyage from Sierra Leone. to
Pernauibuco, and the sea-worthiness of the Ship for such a voyage being ascertained, if a Judg-
ment involving the restitution of the Slaves must be pronounced, these consolations at least will
remain, that all due efforts were made to avert the necessity of pronouncing it, and that proper
precautions were adopted to prevent the evils of slavery to avhich these Negroes are consigned,
after a delusive prospect and confidence of freedom, from being further aggravated by the hortors
of famine, pestilence and shipwreck. :

  

Third Inclosure in No. 45.

Agreement between the Captor and the Claimant. -

THE Commissioners being disposed to make their further Judgments, consequent upon the
restitution of this Vessel, in the form of a Case, reserving to the two Governments the decision upon
certain questions arising out of the particular circumstances connected with the detention of the
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Vessel, and also out of the particular circumstances conuected with the embarkationand carriage
of the Slaves, found on board of her at the time of her detention, so as to render it doubtful in the
view of the Commissioners, whether the Claimant should be entitled to compensation for those Slaves,
on the groundof the illegal detention of the Vessel, to the Southward ofthe Equator, or held to be de-
barred trom all right to such compensation, by the want of a legal Passport for the Slave-trade, and.
by the illegality of the embarkation of the Slaves at Cape Lopez, where the Trade in Slaves is not
permitted to Portuguese Subjects : .

It was recommended to the Parties by the Commissioners, to agree upon a certain sum to be.
given and accepted in lien of all claims,.on account of the detention of the said Vessel, and
more especially of the said Slaves, who must be understood in such a reserved Case, to be alto-
gether exempted and excluded from restitution in their persons ; the sum so agreed upon to be
paid and accepted in full satisfaction, in the event that the two Governments, or those to whom:
they.should refer the decision of the points reserved to them, should decide that the Claimant is
entitled to compensation for the detention of the said Slaves, notwithstanding the want of Pass-
port, and the embarkation at a Place where the traflick for Slavesisnot permitted to Portuguese
Subjects: but in the event, that the decision upon these points so to be reserved, should be, that the
want of Passport, and the embarkation at a Place where Trade is not legally open; should be con-
sidered to deprive the Claimants of all right to’ such compensation, then, that the sum agreed,
should no longer be demandable, nor any other sum in lieu thereof, but that the Captors and all
others concerned, or liable in any way, should be released for ever, from all claims on account of
such detention. , ‘
The Parties, in pursuance of the recommendation so given, and for the purpose of facilitating

the decision of the Case so to be reserved, have agreed as follows, viz :-— :
- The Claimants agree to relinquishall claim to the personal restoration of the said Slaves, and t
agree to their full and complete emancipation, in any manner which may be thought proper by the
said Commission Court, or the British Government,

- The Captors aud the Claimants agree, that if the two Governments, or the Person or Persons
to whom they may refer this question, shall decide that the Claimants are entitled to compensa-
tion for the seizure, detention, and freedom of the said Slaves, the sum of twelve hundred and
fifty pounds (without interest, until such decision shall have been given) shall be paid and received
as a full and complete satisfaction and compensation for the cost of the said Slaves, the freight,
and provision of the same, and all other claims whatsvever on account of the seizure, detention,
or freedom of the said Slaves,

_ The Captors and Claimants further agree, that in Case the said Governments, or the Person or
Persons to whom the said question may be referred, shall decide that the Claimants are not enti-
tled to such compensation, then the said sum shall be no longer demandable, nor any other sum
in lieu thereof, but that the Captors, and all others concerned or liable in any way, shall-be re-
leased for ever from all claims whatsoeyer, on account of such seizure, detention, and emanci=—
ation. -

; P And it is further agreed between the said Parties, that a Decree of the Commission Court for
one hundred pounds, shall be allowed and received as a full and complete satisfaction and coms
pensation for all claims whatsoever, forcosts of suit, damages, demurrage, or expences, on account.
of the seizure, detention or prosecution of the said Vessel.

(Signed) CHARLES PHILLIPS,

Capt. of H. B. M. Ship Banns

JOSE GOMEZ DE LA ROCHE,
Master and Claimant of Sumaca Sinceridade.

(Signed) ~K. MACAULEY, Proctor of Captors.
W.H. SAVAGE, Proctor for Claimants,

-- Free Town, Sierra. Leone, March 10, 1823.

 

Fourth Inclosure in No. 45.

- Schedule of Papers in the Case of the Portuguese Schooner Sinceridade,
. Joze Gomes de la Roche, Master.

Medical Report - + “ - ee - January 6, 1823.I. - -
2. Marskal’s Report 68 - « « . - - - - —_— =
3. Medical Report - ~ « - - « - ” « some 3,
4,- Declaration of Captain Phillips “ - - - - - — 4M —
5 ~ ~ - ” - - — . 14, —. Affidavit of Captain Phillips
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6. Examination of Joze Gomez dela Roche, Master of Sinceridade + January 16, 1893
7, Examination of Manoel Justino, Boatswain of Sinceridade = — 16, —
8. Examination of Domingo Joze Antonio, Mariner of Sinceriaade — 16 —
9. Monition - - - =. = - - - - - —~ 15, —

10, Petition of Captain Phillips, for speedy trial - , - - — 22, —
J]. Petition of Captain Phillips, for leave to put the 8th and 14th In-

terrogatories to Joze de Coza, Seaman of Sinceridade - - ~— 23, —
12. .Answers of Joze de Coza, Seaman ~ ~ * - - — 2, —
13, Petition of Captain Phillips, for speedy trial - r - - — 24, —
14. Petition of Captain Phillips, praying the Master's Ciaim berejected - February 1, —
15, Master's Affidavit, with Claim - - - , - - _ 5, —
16, Question put to Manoel Justino, Mariner, by desire of the Com-

missioners, with Answer thereto - - - ” - - —_ 6 —
17, Question put to Domingo Joze Antonie, Mariner, by desire of the

Commissionets, with the Answer thereto - - - - — 6, —

18, Question put to Joze de Coza, Cook, by desire of the Commis-
. sioners, with bis Answer thereto - - - * - - _— 6, —

19.. Affidavit of Manoel Justin, with Proctor’s Petition for same to be
filed - - - — 8, ante,

20. Petition of Captain Phillips, that the Master'sLetter filed in the
Case of the Magcalena, may be read in Evidence in the Case of
the Sinceridade - - - - - - r - - —- i, —

21. Translation of Master’s Letter te Senhora Maria das Nieves . —~ Wa

22. Petition of Proctor for Claimants, as to landing the Slaves from
the Sinceridade, with Affidavit of Master, andNotes of Proctor
for Claimant, and Proctor for Captor, annexed . - - ee

23. Medical Report - - - - - ~ ” - - — 22,
24, Petition of Captain Phillips, praying that the Prayer of Claimant, :

as to the landing of the Slaves of the Sinceridade be rejected - _—>
25. Medical Report = - - - - -. - ~ ~~ « — 2, —

26. Medical Report - - - - - - “ - - — 2, —
27, Petition of Proctors, with Agreement between Captor and Claimant

made in regard to the Slaves of the Sinceridade + - - March 12, —

  

t

(1.) Medical Report. January 6, 1823.

‘The Report of John Shower, Surgeon,

. HAVING been on board of the Sinceridade, Portuguese Brigantine, Slave-vessel, brought into
_ this Harbour as prize to His Majesty’s Ship Bann, Charles Phillips, Esq. Commander, with 116
Slaves on board, as well as one Slave taken in a former Vessel, I find that there are 20 cases of
Variola, (Small Pox,) on board, but in a very favourable way of doing well; there are a few
cases of slight bowel complaints, and one woman in an advanced state of pregnancy, who has
fever, JI humbly submit the whole of the variola cases be allowed to be landed without delay, as
weil as the pregnant woman with fever,

Sierra Leone, January 6, 1823. (Signed) JOHN SHOWER, Surgeon.

 

(2.) Marshal's Report. January 8, 1823.

The Report of the Marshal of the Portuguese Court of Mixed Commission.

THE Marshal has proceeded with the Medical Officer, on board the Brigantine Slave-vessel,Sinceridade, now lying in this Harbour, captured off Cape Lopez, by His Majesty’s Ship-of-War
Bann, Charles Phillips, Esq. Commander, and finds the number of Slaves to amount to 116, andone man belonging to another Vessel. There are a few cases of small pox and bowel complaint,
and one woman pregnant, All of which is humbly submitred by

(Signed) =-_Rd. GROVE, for C. BORRETT, Marshal.

 

(3.) Medical Report, January 8, 1823.
. 1

The Report of John Shower, Surgeon.

HAVING been on board of the Vessel Sinceridade, and examined as to the state of Slaves on
board, I find; with the exception of one Woman Slave,. who has the small-pox, came out on hersiuce my, Report of the 6th instant, ro be generally in good health and spirits. I humbly submitthat the Commissioners may be pleased to allow of this Siave being landed at Foura Bay

ogpital,

Sierra Leone, January 8, 1823. (Signed) JOHN SHOWER, Surgeon,.
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(4.) Declaration of Captain Phillips. January 14, 1823.

TY, CHARLES PHILLIPS, Esquire, Commander of His Britannick Majesty’s Ship Bann,
hereby declare, that, on the 3d day of December 1822, being in or about the Latitude of 0 deg.

8 min, South; and Longitude 5 deg. 26 min, West; I detained the Sinceridade, sailing under Por-
tuguese Colours, armed with two guns, four-pounders, commanded by Joze Gomez dela Roche, who
declarcd her to be bound from Cape Lopez to Pernambuco, with a crew consisting of fourteen men,
and having on board 123 Slaves, said to have been taken on board near Cape Lopez, and are ena-
merated as follows, viz: - Healthy Sickly

Moen ...ccccccccece 47 cecaenseceraess
Women ..cccecccees 21 sec cceccces ence
Boys .. ccc ecceesces SS cece ecesecveecs
Girls occ. cececee 1B ca ccc ccc ce eens

Total... Iv4

And I do further declare the Sinceridade was fallen in with, eight miles to the Southward of
the Line, without any regular Passport. (Signed) CHARLES PHILLIPS.

(Signed) JOHN HUDSON.

ALEXANDER STEWART, Second Surgeon.

 

(5.) Affidavit of Captain Phillips. January 14, 1823.

Our Sovereign Lord The King, against the Sumaca Sinceridade, Joze Gomez de la Roche,
Master, her tackle, apparel and furniture, and the goods, wares, merchandize and Slaves
on board the same, taken by His Majesty's Ship-ot-War Bann, Charles Phillips, Esquire,
Captain, and brought to Sierra Leone,

APPEARED personally, Charles Phillips, Esquire, Captain of His Majesty’s Ship-of- War
Bann, duly authorized and empowered, according to the provisions of the Additional Convention to

the Treaty between His Britannick Majesty and His Most Faithful Majesty, to make seizures of
Vessels under Portagnese Colours engaged in the Slave-trade, being duly sworn, maketh oath,

that, on the 3d day of December 1822, being in Latitude 0d, 8 m, South ; and Longituded d. 26m.
West ; he seized and detained the Polacca or Vessel called Sinceridade, whereof Joze Gomez de la
Roche was Master, by reason that the said Vessel was employed in the Traffick in Slaves, contrary

to existing Treaties entered into with His Britannick Majesty and His Most Faithful Majesty The

King of Portugal; and the Deponent farther maketh oath, that the Paper, Writings and Doea-

ments hereunto, matked from No. 1] to 17, and from No, 19 to 20, inclusive, were given and de»

livered up to this Deponent by the Master of the said Vessel, and that the packet of Papers marked

No. 18. was seized by this Deponent, and that the same are now brought and delivered up, in the

same plight and condition as when so received by this Deponent, without any fraud, addition,

subduction, alteration or embezzlement whatsoever, save the marking and numbering thereof.

. (Signed) CHARLES PHILLIPS..

On the 14th day of January 1823, the said Charles Phillips, Esquire, was duly sworn to the

truth of this Affidavit, before me, (Signed) E. GREGORY,
Commissary Judge.

 

(6.) Examination of the Master. January 16, 1823.

JOZE GOMEZ DE LA ROCHE, Master on board the saidVessel,being produced, sworn,

: and examined upon the Standing Interrogatories, deposeth as follows, viz:

To the Ist.—Saith, that be was born at Parahiba, in the Brazils, lives at no particular Place;

is a Subject of The King of Portugal; has never been Subject to any other; is not a

married man. . / .

Yo the 2d.—Saith, Manoel Joze Viro- da Sa. one of the Owners, appointed him to the com-

mand of the Vessel taken ; he lives at Saint Paul de Loanda, in the Province of Angola, on

the West Coast of Africa; he is a Subject of The King of Portugal; that possession was

delivered of said Vessel to Deponent by said Owner ; he took possession of ber at Saint

Paul de Loanda aforesaid, in August 1821; has known said Vessel six or seven years, saw

her first in Angola, believes her to have been built in the Brazils,

To the 5th.—Saith, he was present at the taking the Vessel, about which he is now examined;

she was seized for being engaged in the Slave-trade; she sailed under Portuguese Colours,

there were no other Colours on board.

. Yothe 6th.—Saith, the Name of the Vessel taken is the Sinceridade, she hasbeen so called

ever since he has known her, knows, of no other name or names by which she has been called ;

she is about eighty tons burtben; there were about twelve Officers and mariners on board
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(exclusive of the Master); they were all Portuguese ; they all came on board at the same Port,
and were shipped by the Owner aforesaid, and himself; they were shipped at Saint Paul
de Loanda, on or about the 15th day of August last past.

To the 7th.—Saith, that himself had two Slaves, and all the rest of the Officers and seamen
one Slave each belonging to the lading, but they had no share or interest whatever in the
Vessel taken; that he belonged to said Vessel in the capacities of Captain and first Pilot; there
were five Passengers on board, none of them were secreted at the time of captures does not.
recollect the names of the Passengers, two were Spaniards, and three Portuguese ; the two
Spaniards were seanien, -but he knows not what the Portuguese were ; they were taken on
board at Angola, in September last, and the two Spaniards were takea-on board at Saint
Thomas, in the latter end of September last; they were destined to Pernambuco; they were
going there to procure work; none of the said Passengers bad any concern or authority,
directly or indirectly, regarding the Vessel and cargo, or any part thereof.

To the 8th.—Saith, the present voyage began’ at, Angola, and was to have ended at Pernambuco ;
the last clearing Port the Vessel sailed from was Fetis Ponte, about 21 miles to the
Northward of Cape Lopez; she first sailed to-and touched at the Island of Saint Thomas,
the next and last Place she touched at was Fetis Ponte, she went to Saint Thomas to get,
farina, and to Fetis Ponte for Slaves; communication took place at Saint Thomas, where
farina’ was purchased for Slaves to eat, and at Fetis Ponte he procured Slaves,

To the 9th.—Suaith, he first saw the capturing Vessel in 0 d.7 m, Latitude South of the Equator, ia
December last, but does not recollect theday ; the Place of capture was in Latitude, 0d. 7 m,
South of the Equator, and Longitude 5 deg. 54 min. Kast of London; the chace began at
nine o’clock ia the Morning; the Vessel was steering towards Pernawbuco, at the time of
her being first pursued, he did not alter the course, nor did he make any additional sail, upon
the appearance of the Vessel by which he was taken. me

To the 10th.—Saith, that two guns are mounted on board the Vessel captured,—there were ten
muskets, and four or five cutlasses, with half a barrel of guspowder on board at the time of
eapture,--she was so armed for the defence of the Vessel against the Natives on theCoast ;
had no directions or instructions for resisting, or endeavonring to avoid capture, or for destroy-
ing, concealing, or refusing to deliver up, either the Vessel’s Documents or Papers on
board. , ‘

To the 1Jth.—Saith, that the Owners of the Vessel, about which he is now examined, at the time-
she was seized, were Manoel Joze de Sa. and Duarte'Joze de Mello, there were two others,
one named Francisco Joze Viera deSilva, the name of the other he does not recollect; he
only knows they were Owners, because they were so when he sailed from Angola; all four of
them are Portuguese by birth, the first mentioned two live at Angola, and the other two at
Pernambuco, where their respective wives and families reside; they are ali Subjects of ‘The
King of Portugal; those two resident at Angola, lave resided there about eight Years, one
of them resided before at Oporto, and the other at {t:0 Janeiro; the uther two have resided at
Pernambuco, about five Years, thty lived before at Opurto. ,

To the 12th.—Saith, that he knows no Bill of Sale beiug made to the aforesaid Owners of said
Vessel; he verily believes in his conscience, that shouid saul Vessel be restoved she will belong

_ to the Persons now asserted to be the Owners, and to none others.
ohe 13th.—Suaith, that he is the lader of the Slaves and nierchandize; he is the Owner. of the
merchandize;all the Slaves belong to the two Ow-ers before-mentioned, resident atAngola,
except two belonging to himself, and one to each of the Officers and mariners; the Consign=
ees of the whole of the Slaves, are the owo before-n.entioned Owners, resident at Pernam-
buco; the merchandize is consigned to himself; the said Slaves and merciandize were to be
delivered at Pernambuco, for the account, risk aud benefit of the espective Owners,

To the 14th,—Saith, that the Vessel brought out on her last voyage, aquadente, cloth, iron,
muskets and gunpowder; it was shipped at Saiut Paul de Loanda; ihe present cargo con-
sists of Slaves, some ivory, coffee, wax and matts; 123 Slaves were taken on board trom the
time he commenced trading to the time of completing the present cargo, but does not re-
member the number of males, females and children; the suid Slaves were ail taken on board
at Fetis Ponte aforesaid ; they were all taken from the shore; none of said Slaves died pre-
vious to the capture; does not know whether any have died between the capture and the
present time; does not know whether the Vessel has been carried into any Port or Place
since the capture. ‘

‘To the 15th.—Saith, that all the Passports and other Papers found on board the Vessel taken
_ Were true and fair, and none of themfaiseor colourable; knows of no circumstance to affect
their credit. .

To the 16th.—-He saith, that the Vessel about which he is now examined was not provided with .
a Passport, conformable to the Model annexed to the Convention between His Britaunick

_ Majesty and His Most Faithful Majesty, signed at London the 28th July 1817.
To-the 17th.—Saith, that none of the Papers, Bills of Lading, Letters or otber Writings which—

were on board the Vessel at the time she touk her departure from the Jasi Port, and before
the capture, were burnt, torn, thrown overboard, destroyed, or cancelled, concealed or
attempted to be concealed. None. of the Papers were delivered out of the said Vessel, or

__ ° carried away in any manner whatsoever prior to the capture. : -
¥Fo the 18th.—Saith, that there is not in any other Country any Bills of Lading, Invoices, Letters,

' - or other Writings relative to ihe Vessel and cargo concerning which he is now examined,
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To the 19th.—Saith, there was no Charter Party that he knows of, signed for the voyage in which
the Vessel was seized anil taken, .

To the 20th.—Saith, that he knows not whether the Vessel. and goods were insured for the present
voyage; Manoel Joze Vire, da Sa, has generally had the direction and management of the
Vessel with respect to her employment in trade; he, Deponent, corresponds with the whole
of the Owners ou the concerns of the Vessel.

To the 2ist-—Saith, bulk was broken during the present voyage, at Fetis Ponte; since the cap-
tore, he knows not whether any Slaves have been disembarked at any time, or whether bulk
has been broken or not. (Signed) JOZE GOMEZ DE LA ROCHE.

JOHN ANTONIC.
Taken and sworn this 16th day of January 1823, througlithe interpretation of John Antonio,
who was first duly sworn faithfully to interpret, before me,

(Signed) D. M. HAMILTON, Registrar.

 

(7.) Examination of the Boatswain. January 16, 1823.

MANOEL JUSTINO, Boatswain. on board the Sinceridade being produced, sworn and examined-
upon the Standing Interrogatories, deposeth as follows :—

To the 3d.—Saith, Jose Gomez de la Roche is the name of the Master of the Vessel taken; has
known said Master five months; he was born at Cotendira; does not know where he resides;
he is not married. ne

To the 4th—-Saith, the Owner appointed the Master to the command; said Owner resides at
Angola; does not know where the Master took possession, nor the time, nor the name of
the Person who delivered to him such possession; has known said Schooner five
months; first saw her at Angola ; does not know where she was built. .

To ‘the 5th —Saith, he was present at the time of seizure; does not know for what
"reason said Schooner was seized. She sailed under Portuguese Colours, had not any other
Colours on board. ;

To the 6th.—Saith, the name ofthe Schooner taken is the Sinceridade ; does not know of her being
called by any other name or names; does not know her tonnage ; does not know the number of
Officers and mariners on board (exclusive of the Master ;) they are all Portuguese; they
all came on board at one Port ; they were hired by the Captain the month of August last
ast, at Angola. , a

To the 7th.—Saith, himself, Officers and mariners on board, had some interest in the cargo; the
Captain had three Slaves, the Mate two, the Boatswain one, and the Sailors had also one
each ; he (this Deponent) is Boatswain on board the said Schooner at present, but he shipped,
as a mariner; there are five Passengers on board; none of them were secreted at the time of
capture; doesnot know their names; three of them are Portuguese, and the other two are
Spaniards ; they were working their passage from Angola to Pernambuco ; had not any interest
either in the Vessel, or her cargo.

To the 8th.—Saith, the voyage commenced at Angola, and-was to have ended at Pernambuco ;
the last clearing Port said Schooner sailed trom, previous to capture, was Angola 3. said

. Schooner anchored and touched during the voyage in which she was taken, first at Se. Tho-
mas, then at the River Gaboon ; anchored and touched at St. Thomas to purchase provi-
‘sions, and at the River Gaboon for Slaves. , :

To the $th.—Saith, he does not know at what time he first observed the capturing Vessel; said
Schooner was captured ten days after leaving the Gaboon. The chace commenced at
twelve A. M. on the third day of December last past; said Schooner at the time of
being pursued, was steering for Pernambuco; her course was not altered, nor any
additional sail made, upon the’appearance of the Vessel by which she was taken.

To the 10th.—-Saith, two guns are mounted on board the said Schooner, also six muskets. and
twelve cutlasses; she was so armed to defend herself against the Slaves; mio resistance was
made at the time of capture, nor had he any instructions to resist capture, or for destroying or
refusing to deliver up any of the Schooner’s Documents or Papers, =~

To the 1Ith.—Saith, he docs not know the name of the Owner; the Owner is a Portuguese ;
he resides at Angola.

‘To the 12th.—Saith, he does not know if any bill of sale was made to the aforesaid Owner ;
if the Schooner should be restored, she will belong to the aforesaid Owner, and to’ none
others. . , ‘ .

fo the 13th.—Saith, he does not know the name of the Lader and Owner of the merchandize or
Slaves on board the said Schooner; the Supercargoisthe Captain; they are both Portuguese;
the merchandize and Slaves were to have been delivered at Pernambuco,. for the risk or
benefit of the aforesaid‘Owner, oe co

To the 14th.—Saith, he does not know what cargo the Schooner brought out on her last voyage ;
"her present cargo consists of Slaves; 123 Slaves were taken onboardthe: said “Schooner,

from the time they commenced trading, until completing their cargo; said Slaves wére taken
on board at the Gaboon ; they were all taken from the shore; none of them have been-
transhipped ou board any other Vessel; two Slaves died before the capture ; does notknow
how many have died since capture, oo  
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To the 15th.—Saith, that all the Passports and other Papers are entirely true and fair.
To the 16th.—Saith, the said Schooner was provided with a Royal Passport ; does not know at

what time said Passport was delivered, nor the Person to whom it wasdelivered ; the present
Governor.of Angola is the Minister of Marine of His Most’ Faithtul Majesty; the signa-
tures affixed to the said Passport are true and genuine.

To the 17th.—Saith, not any of the Schooner's Papers, or other Writings have been burnt, torn, —
thrown overboard, or cancelled at any time, Nor have any of the Papers been delivered
out of the Vessel.

To the 18th.—Saith, not any Papers belonging to the said Schooner are in any other Country,
To the 19th.—Saith, he does not know if any Charter Party is signed fur the voyage.
To the 20th.—Saith, he does nut know if the Vesselor cargo is insured,
To the 2ist.—Saith, bulk was broken at the Gaboon.

(Signed) = MANOEL JUSTINIO:
MANOEL FILIPE.

Taken and sworn this 16th day of January 1823, through the interpretation of Manoel
Filipe, who was first duly sworn to interpret faithfully,before me,

(Signed). =D. M. HAMILTON,
: Registrar,

  

(8.) Examination of D. J. Antonio, Seaman. January 16, 1823.

DOMINGO JOZE ANTONIO, Seaman on board the SchoonerSinceridade,being produced, sworn,
and examined, deposeth as follows, viz:—

To the 3d Interrogatory.—Saith, he does not know the name of the Captain of the detained
Schooner; bas known the Captain about five months} said Captain was born at Per-
nambuco; does not know where he resides; he is not married

To the 4th.—Saith, the Owner appointed the Master to the command; said Owner resides “at
Angola; the Master took possession of said Schooner at Angola ; does not know the time
the name of the Person who delivered the possession to him is Sen. Viel; he lives atAngola ;
has known said Schooner about four Years; first saw her at Angola; does not know where -

_ she was built.
To the 5th.—Saith, he was. present at the time of seizure; she was seized for having Slaves

on board; sailed under Portuguese Colours ; had not any other Colours on board.
To the 6th.—Saith, the name of the detained Schooner is the Sinceridade; does not-know of ber

being called by any other name or names ; does not know her tonnage; there are 14 Officers
and mariners on board (exclusive of the Master) ; they are all Portuguese ; they all came on.
board at one Port; they were all hired by the Owner at Angola.

Tothe 7th.—Saith, neither himself, nor any of the Officers and mariners on board, had any interest
either in'the Vessel or her cargo. .He (Deponent) is a mariner on board the.said Schooner;
there were five Passengers on board the said Schooner; they were not secreted at the time of
capture; does not know their names; three of them are Fortuguese, and the other two Spa-
niards ; the three former came on board at Angola, aud the two latter at St. Thomas; they
were going to Pernambuco; the two Spaniards were mariners ; .does not know the occupa-
tion of the Portnguese; they had not any interest either in the Vessel or cargo,

To the 8th.—Saith,theVoyage commenced at Angola, and was to have ended at Pernambuco;
the last-clearing Portprevious to capture was Angola; the said Schooner anchored and
touched during the Voyage in which she was taken, first at St. Thomas, and. then at the
Gaboon; she auchored and touched at St, Thomas to get provisions, and at the Gaboon to
purchase Slaves, _ -

To the 9th.—Saith, that he first saw the capturing Vessel at Two o'clock, P.M.; does not knowthe month or day; said Schooner was captured nine days after leaving Gaboon ; saidSchooner was steering, at the time of being pursued, for Pernambuco ; her course was not .altered, nor additional sail made upon the appearanceof the Vessel by which she was taken.
To the 10th.—Saith, there are two guns mounted on board the ‘said Schooner, also some cutlasses

and _ muskets ;° she was’ so armed. io make signals in case of distress, or otherwise 3 No re-sistance was made at the time or capture, nor had he any Instructions for resisting capture, orfor destroying or refasing to deliver up any of the Schooner’s Documents or Papers.
To the 1ith.—Saith, Sen. Viel is the Owner of the said Schooner; he knows hiw to be theOwner, because he (this Deponent) lives at the same Place ; he is a Portuguese; he livésat Angola, .
To the 12th. —Saith, he does not know if any Bill of Sale wag made to the aforesaid Owner; ifthe said Schooner should be restored, sbe will belong to the aforesaid Owner, and to none.others, .
To the 13th.—Saith,‘theaforesaid Owner is the Lader and Owner of the merchandize or Slaves,on board the Schovser taken, and the Captain is the Consignee;.the merchandize or Slavesnow on board, were to have been delivered at Pernambuco 3 does not know for whose ac-count, risk, or benefit. , .To the 14th.—Saith, he does net know what cargo the Schooner broaght out on her last voyage ;her present cargo consists of Slaves; they took on board the said Schooner from the time of
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commencing Trade, until completing the same, 126 Slaves 3 said Slaves were taken on board
at Gaboon, from the shore; two Slaves died before the capture; does not know how many
‘have died since capture,

To the 15th.—Saith, he does not know if the Vessel’s Papers are true and fair, orif they are false
or colourable ; does not know of any matter or circumstance to affect their credit.

To the 16th.—Suaith, he does not know if the said Schooner is provided with a Royal Passport.
Tothe !7th, 18th, 19th, and 20th.—Saith, he does not know any thing relative to these In-

terrogatories.
To the 21st.—Saith, bulk was broken at the Gaboon. his

(Signed) DOMINGO JOZE ANTONIO.
MANOEL FILIPE. Mark,

Taken and sworn this 16th day of January 1823, through the interpretation of ManoelFilipe,who was first duly sworn to interpret faithfully, before me,

(Signed) D.M. HAMILTON, Itegistra r

 

(9) Monition. January 15, 1823.

George the Fourth, by the Grace of God of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and
Ireland King, Defender of the Faith; To Charles Borrett, Gentleman, or his
Deputy whomsoever, greeting:

WHEREAS onr trusty and well-beloved Edward Gregory, and Joao Yaconio, Esquires, His
Britannick and His Most Faithful Majesty's Commissary Judges, and Edward Fitzgerald, Esq.
‘His Britannick Majesty's Commissioner of Arbitration, appointed by Us and His Most. Faithful
Majesty The King of Portugal, to hear and determine ali aud all manner of causes and complaints,
as to Ships, Goods and Slaves, seized aud taken tor the illegal Traffick in Slaves, and'in contra
vention of the Treaties or Conventions between Us and His said Most Faithtul Majesty, specially
constituted and appointed, rightly and duly proceeding at the Petition of Charles Phillips, Esq.
Commander of Our Ship-of-War Bann, have decreed all Persons in general who have, or pretend
to have, any right, title, or interest in the Brig or Vessel culled the Sinceridade, whereof J. G, de
la Roche was Master, her tackle, apparel, and furniture, and the goods, wares, merchandize, and
Slaves, on board the same, taken by Our said Ship-of-War Bann, to be monished,; cited, and
called to judgment at the time and place underwritten, and to the effect hereinafter expressed (jus-
tice so requiring). We, therefore, strictly charge and command you, jointly and severally, that
you omit not, but that by affixing these Presents upon oneofthe Pillars ‘on the Crane at the Pub-
lick Wharf, at the usual time of the publick resort of Merchants and other Persons thither,
and by leaving thereon affixed a true Copy thereof, you do monish and cite, or cause to monished
and cited, peremptorily, all Persons in general, who have, or pretend to have, any right, title, or
ivterest in the said Brigantine, her tackle, apparel and furniture, and the goods, wares, merchan-
dize and Staves, laden therein, to appear before the said Commissary Judges and Commissioner of
Arbitration, in Our Colony of Sierra Leone, upon the 3d day after service of these Presents, if it |
be a Court-day, or else on the Court-day next following, between the hours of Ten and Twelve
A.M. of the same day, then and there to shew and allege, in due form of Law, a reasonable and
lawful cause, if they have any, why the said Brigantine, her tackle, apparel, and furniture, andthe
goods, wares, merchandize, and Slaves on board the same, should not be pronounced to have
been employed illegally, and to be disposed of as is directed by the Treaties or Conventions in _
such case nade and provided; and farther, to do and receive in this. behalf as to justice shall ap~
pertain, and that you duly intimate, or cause to be intimated, peremptorily, to‘all Persons afore-
said in general, to whom, by the tenour of these Presents, we also intimate, that if they shall not
shew a reasonable and lawtul cause to the contrary, the aforesaid Commissary Judges and Com-
missioner of Arbitration, do intend, and will proceed ta adjudication on the said capture, and may
pronounce that the said Brigantine Sinceridade, her tackle, apparel and furniture, and the goods,
wares, and merchandize as aforesaid; are linble and subject to be adjudged, forfeited; and to be.
disposed of, as directed by the Treaties, in. that case made and provided ;and also to pronounce
all and singular the Slaves to be emancipated, the absence, -or rather contumacy, of the Persons
so cited and intimated in anywise notwithstanding; and that you duly certifyto the said Com.
missary Judges and Commissioner of Arbitration what you shali do.in the premises, together with
these presents.

: ‘
Given at Sierra Leone aforesaid, under-the Seal of the saidCoinmission, this 15th

day of January, in the Year of Our Lord 1823; and of Our Reign the fourth.

(Signed) D. M. HAMILTON, Registrar,
Lhereby certify that T duly affixed this Monition for some time upon one of thePillars of the

Crane atthe Publick Wharf, and left'a true Copy thereof affixed to the said Place. —

(Signed) R. GROVE, for the Marshal.
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(10.) Petition of Captain Phillips. January 22, 1823,
THE humble Petition of Charles Phillips, Esq. Captain of His Majesty’s Ship Bann, sheweth,-~

that the evidence in this Cause having been filed in your Honourable Court, and no Claim having .
been made on the part of any Person or Persons, humbly prays,—that your Honours will be
pleased tq name as early a day for passing Sentence, as in your wisdom your Honours may deem
meet :—and your Petitioner, as in duty bound, will ever pray.

Free Town, January 22, 1823. (Signed) CHAS, PHILLIPS.

 

(11.) Petition of Captain Phillips. January 23, 1823.

THE bumble Petition of Charles Phillips, Esq. Captain of His Britannick Majesty's Ship
Bann, sheweth,—that your Petitioner wishing to shew clearly the Portor Place from whence thesaid Polacca took on. board her Slaves, humbly prays,—that the eighth and fourteenth Standing
Interrogatories may be put to Joze de Coza, one of the seamen of the said Vessel :—and your
Petitioner, as in duty bound, will ever pray.

Free Town, January 23, 1823. (Signed) © CHARLES PHILLIPS,

 

(12.) Answersof Fore de Coza, Seaman, January 23, 1823.

JOZE DE COZA being produced, sworn and examined, by leave of the Court, upon two of the
Standing Interrogatories, deposeth as follows, viz:—

To the 8th Interrogatory.—Saith, the voyage commenced at Angola, and was to have ended at
Pernambuco ; the last clearing Port the Schooner sailed from, before the capture, was Saint
‘Fhomas ; said Schooner anchored and touched, during the voyage in which she was taken
fiyst at Saint Thomas, and then at the Gaboon, she anchored and touched at the former Place
to purchase farina, and at the latter to purchase Slaves, —

To the H4th Interrogatory.—Saith, the said Schooner. brought out on her last voyage, powder,
aquadente, muskets, cloth, and copper kettles; her present cargo consists ofSlaves ; 196
Slaves were taken on board from the time of commencing trade, until completing the same;
does not know the number of each sex; said Slaves were taken in at the Gaboon from the

“shore; two Slaves died previous to capture; does not know. how many have died since
capture. (Signed} JOZE DE COZa.

JOHN ANTONIO,
‘Taken and sworn this 23d day of Janyary 1823, through the interpretation ofJohn Antonio, who

was first duly sworn to interpret faithfully, before me.
(Signed) D. M. HAMILTON; Registrar;

 

(13.) Petition, of Captain Phillips. January 24, 1823.

THE. humble Petition of Charles Phillips, Esquire, Captain of His. Britannick Majesty'sShip Bann, sheweth,—that the evidence in this Cause having been filed in your HonourableCourt, and.no Claim having been filed by. any Person. or Persons, hambly prays,—that, yourHonours will be pleased to name as early a day for passing Sentence as in your wisdom yourHonours may deem meet :—And your Petitioner, as in duty, bound, willever pray. ,
Free Tewn, January 24, 1823. (Signed) CHARLESPHILLIPS:

 

(14.) Petition of Captain Phillips. February 1, 1823.
FHE humble Petition ofCharles Phillips, Esquire, Captain of His Britannick Mojesty’sShip

Bann, sheweth,—that your Petitioner, understanding. that the said Master of said Vessel lias pre~
sented a Petition for leave to put in his Claim on behalf of some Person or ‘Persons, humblyprays,—that inasmuch as the’ Sinceridade was brought before your Honourable Court, on the 8thday of January last, that your Petitioner was perfectly prepared for trial, on the 22d of the sameMonth, when a Petition for speedy trial was submitted.to’ the Court, thata second Petition wassubsequently presented,—that the Person. pretending to claim the said Vessel did, from. the firstintend to do.so, but on perceiving that the Captor was in possession of good information on thesubject, changed his mind; that the Monition of your Honourable Court distinctly states, thataiter three days, your Honours do intend and will proceed to Judgment; that the said Person whopretends to Claim. was well aware of that, and yet didhe, either through contumacy or otherwiseneglectto make his Claim in due and regular time 5——your Petitioner, therefore, prays, that your‘Honourable Court. will, in its wisdom and justice, reject the said Claim, asbeing tendered at toolate a time :—and your Petitioner, as in duty bound, will ever pray.
Free Town, February 1, 1823. . (Signed) CHARLES PHILLIPS.
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(15.) Master's Afidavit, with Claim. February 4, 1823.

APPEARED personally Joze Gomez daRocha, the Master of the Smack Sinceridadé, and,
by the interpretation of Francisco Gomez, first duly sworn faithfully to interpret, maketh oath,
that he is a Subject of His Most Faithful Majesty, The King of Portugal, and was Master of the said
Smack at the time of the capture thereof, by His Majesty’s Ship-of-War Bann, Charles Phillips,
Esquire, Commander, and that the said Smack was so captured, on ‘the 13th day of December now
dast past, in the prosecution of her voyage from Fetiche Point, on the Coast of Africa, to the

Brazils, with a cargo consisting of 123 Natives of Africa, Slaves on board the said Smack, and
brought to Sierra Leone; and he further maketh oath, that Manoel Joze Ura. de Silva and Duante
Joze de Millo, Subjects of His Most Faithful Majesty, were at the time of the said capture, and
now are the true lawful and sole Owners and Proprietors of the said Smack Sinceridade, her tackle,
apparel and furniture, and of the said cargo of Slaves on board the same; and he further maketh oath,
and saith, that all and every of the said Africans were shipped on board, in pursuance to the
atoresaid Treaty, to the Southward of the Line, and that at the time of capture, the said Smack was
found also to the Southward of the Line, and had not the said Vessel been hindered by contrary
winds and current, operating on her inferior sailing, the said Smack would bave been found still
more to the Southward; and he further maketh cath, that no Person or Persons, other than the
Persons betore-mentioned, have any right, title, or interest in the said Smack, her tackle, apparel
and furniture, goods, wares, merchandize, or Slaves on board the same, at the time of the capture
and seizure thereof; and that he is duly authorized to make the Claim hereunto annexed, and the
same is a true andjust Claim, and that he shall be able to make due proof and specification thereof,

(Signed) JOZE GOMEZ DA ROCHA,
: : ' his

FRANCISCO x GOMEZ.
Mark,

Qa tle 4tly day of February the said Joze G. da Rocha was duly sworn to the truth of this
Affidavit, and-of the Claim thereto annexed, before me,

(Signedy _D, M. HAMILTON, Registrar.

THE Clainx of the said Joze Gomez da Rocha, Master of the said Smack, a Subject of His
Most Faithful Majesty TheKing of Portagal, for said Smack, her tackle, apparel and furniture,
goods, wares, merehandize, and 123 Africans, or so many thereof as were on board. said Smack
at. the time of the capture thereof, by His Majesty’s Ship-of-War Bann, Charles Phillips, Esquire,
Commander, and brought into Sierra Leone, and for the value of such of the Slaves as may have
departed this life since the said capture, for the said Smack, her tackle, apparel and furniture, and

. her cargo, as the sole property of Manoel Joze Ura, de Silva, and Duarte Joze de Millo, Inhabi-
tants of Angola, the former being aNative of Lisbon, the latter a Native of Rio Janeiro, and as
rotected by the Treaty or Convention between His Britannick Majesty and His said Most Faithfal

NM jesty, dated 28th July 1817; and for all’ costs, charges, losses, damages, demurrage ‘and
expences as have arisen, or shall or may arise, by means of the capture and detention of the said
Sinuek,, and her cargo as aforesaid, |

(Signed) JOZE GOMEZ DA ROCHA;

 

16.) Question to, and Answer of M. Justino, Mariner. Feb. 6, 1823;

Question to be put to Manoel Justino, Mariner on board the said Vessel, by desire of thé
Commissioners, with his Answer thereto. :

Question. —You have stated that the Slaves at present. on board of. the Schooner Sinceridade,
' were taken on board at the Gaboon : which do you mean, the Coast of Gaboon, or the
River Gaboon? : . /

Answer.—The Slaves were taken on board the said Schooner near Fetis Ponte, which Place is
commonly called Little Gaboon.

(Signed)... MANOEL JUSTINO.
SIMAO RODRIQUE:

“Paken-and:swora this. 6th day: of February’ 1823, through the interpretation of Simao

Rodrique, whowas first duly swora-to interpret faithfully, before me, ,
(Signed), D.M. HAMILTON,

Registrar,

 

(17.) Question to, andAnswer of D. JF. Antonio, Mariner. Jan. 28, 1823.

‘Question to be put to Domingo Joze Antonio, Mariner on board the said Vessel, by desire ot
the:Commissioners, with hi Answer thereto,

Question:-~Yow have'statedthat the Slaves-xt present on board: of the: Schooner: Sinceridade,
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were taken on board at the Gaboon; which do you mean, the Coast of Gaboon, or the
River Gaboon.

Answer.—The said Slaves were taken on board the said Schooner from the Coast of Gaboon, and
not near any River. his .

(Signed) DOMINGO JOZE ANTONIO. >
mark.

SIMAO RODRIQUE.

Taken and sworn the 6th day of February, 1823, through the interpretation of Simao
Rodrique, who was first duly sworn to interpret faithfully, before me, *

(Signed) D. M. HAMILTON, Registrar,

 

(18.) Question to, and Answer of J. de Coza, Cook. Feb. 6, 1823.

Question to be put to Joze de Coza, Cook on board the said Vessel, by desire of the Commis.
sioners, with his Answer thereto,

Question.—You have stated that the Slaves at present on board of the Schooner Sinceridade,
were taken on board at the Gaboon: which do you mean, the Coast of Gaboon, or the
River Gaboon.

Answer.—The said Slaves were taken on board the said Schooner from the Coast of Gaboon, and
not near any River.

(Signed) JOZE DE COZA,
SIMAO RODRIQUE.

Taken and sworn this 6th dayof February 1823, through the interpretation of Simao
Rodrique, who was first duly sworn to interpret faithfully, before me,

(Signed) D, M. HAMILTON, Registrar. /

(19.) Proctor’s Petition, with Affidavit of M. Justino, Mariner.

"FHE humble Petition of W. H. Savage, Proctor on behalf of the Claimant, sheweth,—that
your Petitioner deeming it absolutely necessary, and to the endsofjustice, to point out in as clear
a, manner as possible, the actual Place where the said Snack did lie at Auchor while receiving her
cargo of Slaves,-—prays, that the annexed affidavit may be admitted to be filed in the Registry of

the said Court, and be admitted as part of the evidence in the Cause :—and, as in duty bound, your
Petitioner will ever pray, &c. (Signed) W. H. SAVAGE, Proctor for the Claimants,
Free Town, February 8, 1823.

Appeared personally, Manoel Justina, Mariner on board the said Smack, and through the inter-
pretation of Francisco Gomez, first duly sworn faithfully to interpret, maketh oath and saith,.
that the Natives of Africa, Slaves on board the said Smack at the time of capture, by His
Majesty’s Ship-of-War Bann, Charles Phillips, Esquire, Commander, were all and every one
thereof shipped on board the said Smack,while she lay in a bay within Cape Lopez, and within
sight of said Cape, which said Cape being low, is not to be seen from a great distance, and near
to a certain Place called Fetis or Fetish Point, and that the adjoining shore he anderstands is
known by the name of Little Gaboon, as well as Fetish Point,

(Signed) MANOEL JUSTINO.
, his

FRANCISCO >¢ GOMEZ
mark

The said Manoel Justino sworn to the truth of the aforesaid Affidavit, through the interpreta-
tion aforesaid, the 8th day of February 1823, before me,

(Signed) ©D, M. HAMILTON, Registrar.

 

 (20.) Petition of Captain Phillips. February 11, 1823.

THE humble Petition of Charles Phillips, Esq. Captain of His Majesty's Ship Bann, prays,—
that a Letter from the Master, fled in- your Honourable Court, in the Case of the Magdalena
de Praga, may be read-in evidence in this Cause :—and your Petitioner, as in duty bound, will
ever pray.

Free Town, February 11, 1823. (Signed). CC. AUSTIN, for CHAS, PHILLIPS,

(21.) Adaster’s Letter to Senhora Maria das Nieves. February 12, 1823.

Senora Maria pas Nizves, (Translation.)

MY much beloved of my heart, my concern for your welfare makes me shed tears of blood ; my
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dear and faithful love; by the Captain of the Schooner I send you three pieces of printed red
gingham, three pieces of red handkerchiefs, and two bed covers, and one pack of beads, one doz.
ot Dutch knifes, quarter pipe of aquadeute, and when the Schooner shail come, I will send you
two Slaves for your farm; and take care that you behave yourself so that you may be esteemed,
because you have me for your protector as long as I live: If you continue to go with black boys,
as I have understood you have been kept by a black boy that resided at St. Thomas ; it ! should
learn any thing when [I retarn from Brazils, you may immediately hide yourself, for I will destroy
you; make yourself respected, because you have enough to live upon; 1 intend to make you rich
if God pleases, for intend to set upa shop at St. Thomas, and you, if you make yourself esteemed,
shall be my heiress ; so may fortune permit, That J should love you well, I recommend to you
to make yourself esteemed ; farewell, until we see each other again.

J am your faithful lover,
(Signed) J. GOMEZ DA ROCHA.

 

(22.) Petition of Proctor, with Affidavit of the Master, &c.

THE humble Petition of William Henry Savage, Proctor, on the part of J. G. de la
Roche, Master and Claimant, sheweth,—that by a Decree of your Honourable Court, pronounced in
the above Cause, the said Vessel was restored to Claimants, and the question of the Slaves, the
cargo then on board, left for further arrangement and order of Your Honourable Court.
That at the time ofpromulging said Decree, your Petitioner offered to come to some arrangement

with Captor for landing of said Slaves, which was rejected by Captor ; rejected even to hearing of
said proposal of arrangement.
That since that period, your Petitioner hath handed to the Proctor of the Captor, the said

proposals in writing, as directed by Claimant, being the same now inelosed, marked A.
That your Petitioner hath received the answer thereto, as perinclosed Note, marked B.
That the Claimant hath not the means of provisioning said Slaves now on board, or is other-

wise able to remove and support them in his present circumstances—circumstances into which he
hath been brought by the sole effect.of the illegal capture and detention of said Vessel
Sinceridade, ;

That, therefore, your Petitioner is instructed to state to your Honourable Court, that no
means is left to the said Claimant, but to procure your sanction and urder for the landing and
provisioning of said Slaves.
Wherefore the said Claimant, through your Petitioner, humbly prays, that the circumstances

of the Case may be taken into your Honout's consideration, and that the said Slaves may be
landed and provided for, as in other Cases, and that such Order, Decree, or Notice may be made
thereon, so that the said Claimant shall not be divested of his interest (for those he claims) in the
said Slaves. °

And your Petitioner, as in duty bound, will ever pray.

February 19, 1823. (Signed) W.H. SAVAGE, Proctor for Claimant.

_ A.—Proctor for Claimant, hath instructions to propose that a Letter shall be addressed to Captor
by Claimant's Proctor, stating, that in consequence of the want of provisions, sickness, &e, he is
willing to deliver him the Slaves to be landed, then a Petition shall be made by Captor for landing
alluding to said Letter, and Claimant's Proctor agree to its prayer in another Petition, on this ex-
press condition, that there shall be (with permission of Court) inserted in the Decree—that. the

. Said Slaves are ordered to be Janded on the Petition of both Parties, and that the question of
emancipation, and for damages by landing of said Slaves, shall be left to the respective Govern-
ments composing the Cominission.

14th February 1823.

B.—In the Case of the Sinceridade, the Proctor for Captors has Instructions to state, that
as the Proctor for Claimant declined making any proposal in the first instance, when.
the former was authorised to listen to such, that such authority is now withheld, and the Cause-
must take its course. mo :

Wednesday, 18th February 18238.

Mr, Savage, Proctor for Claimants. :

JOZE GOMEZ DA ROCHA, Master of the above-named Vessel, the Sinceridade, now
lying in the Port of Sierra Leone, maketh oath and saith,—that, by the Judgment and Decree of
this Honourable Court, the said Vessel was-restored to the Claimants, but that the question with
respect to the Slaves, the cargo then on board was reserved. And this Deponent further saith,
that he, this Deponent, hath been informed and believes that his, this Deponent’s, Proctor did, at
the time this Honourable Court gave Judgment in this matter, make proposals to the Captors of
the said Vessel, or their Prociors, to come to an arrangement for the landing the said Slaves from
on board the said Vessel, which said proposal was then rejected by or on the part of the said
Captors, as this Deponent hath been informed and believes. And this Deponent further saith,
that, in compliance with his, this Deponent’s, Instructions, proposals inthe words or to the effect
subjoined to the Petition hereunto annexed, and marked with the letter A, were made in writing
by this Deponent’s Proctor to the said Captors, on the day of the date thereof, and that the Paper,
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Writing marked withthe letter B, also annexed to the said Petition, was received by this Deponent's
Proctorin answer to the said Proposals, on the day of the date of the said answer, as this Depo-
nent is informed and verily believes. And this Deponent further saith, that, in consequence of
the loss, costs, charges and expences which he hath been put to by the illegal capture of the said
Vessel, and the detention thereof, he, this Depouent, is rendered unable to provide for the suste-
nance and suppoit of the said Slaves.

(Signed) JOZE GOMEZ DA ROCHA,

‘Sworn at Free Town, this 24th day of February 1823, before me,
(Signed) D. M. HAMILTON, Registrar,

 

(23.) Medical Report. February 22, 1823.

‘The Report of John Shower, Surgeon,

AGREEABLY to an Order of the Court, dated this day, I proceeded on board of the Brigan-
tine Sinceridade, and found on board sixty-nine Slaves* apparently in a good state of
health, with the exception of one Slave, who complained he had a pain in his side, There was
also one female who had small pox, butis now sent to’the Hospital, . in consequetce of an order
to that effect being granted,

Sierra Leone, February 29, 1823. (Signed) JOHN SHOWER, Surgeon,

* Females 15; Males 54 ;—Total 69.

(24.) Petition of Captain Phillips. Hebruary 22, 1823.

THE humble Petition of Charles Phillips, Esqnire, Captain of. His Majesty’s Ship Bann,
sheweth,—that your Petitioner, wishing to bring this Case to a conclusion without further trouble
to your Honours, did authorise his Proctor to receive any comauunications from the Proctor for

 

Claimants, which might tend to that desirable end; that your Petitioner's Proctor did, in cone | ---

sequence of such authority, notify the same, in writing. to the Proctor for Claimants, and did
likewise communicate the same, viva voce, to said Proctor, in the presence of. the Registrar of

your Honourable Court; and further, that the only answer which the said Proctor forClaimants .
_ did vyouchsafe, was, ‘‘ that he was afraid to have any thing to say to Captain Phillips,” which
answer having been communicated to your Petitioner, he did in consequence withdraw from his
Proctor his authority to treat on the subject; and further, your Petitioner conceiving that the
said Slaves are legally entitled. to'a full and complete emancipation, having been.purchasedin vio-
lation of the Treaty between Great Britain and Portugal, and of the Laws of Portugal; that both
these Nations are a guarantee for the freedom of those very Slaves, and that the maxim of Law
which shews your Petitioner’s want of authority to seize this Vessel, and which saved the Claimant
from the punishment which his illegal conduct has made him liable to, cannot go to deprive these
third Parties of their rights, especially when the rightsin question 3amount to their freedom, and
that he doesnot, therefore, conceive bimselfauthorised to join in any Petitionin which the rights
of their freedomis not unequivocally declared. “Your Petitioner, therefore, prays, that as the Pe-
tition of the Proctor forClaimants, praying said Slaves to be landed, does not state their just and
perfect right to freedom, that the prayerof the said Petition be rejected: —and your Petitioner,
as in duty bound, will ever pray.

Free Toun, Februar y 22, 1823. (Signed) CHARLES PHILLIPS, Captain.

 

(25.) Medical Report. ‘February 25, 1823.

The Report of John Shower, Surgeon.

HAVING been on board of the Brigantive Sinceridade this Afternoon, I found afemale
Slave With small pox newly broken out on her, I therefore humbly submit, that she be allowed
to be landed and sent to the Small Pox Hospital. (Signed) JOHN SHOWER,

Sierra Leone, February 25, 1823, : Surgeon, —

 

(86.) Medical. Report-Februaryy 28, 1823.

“The Report. of John. Shower, Surgeon.

. HAVING Deen onboard theBrigantine Sinceridade this Afternoon, I found one female and
one male Slave with the small pox, J therefore humbly submit that they be allowed to bé
landed as soon as possible, at the Small Pex Hospital. —

I have also to add, ‘that imany.of:-the Slaves complain.ot bowel complaints; this T attribute to

arise from the farina they are now‘fed upon, it beingin a decayed and wiwhbvlesome state; I
humbly submit that thé Court- will allow some rice or yams to be issuedin lieu ot it.

(Signed) ' JOHN SHOWER,
SierraLeone, February 25, 1823, Surgeon. ee
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(27.) Petition ofProctors, accompanying Agreement between Captor
and Claimant. March 11, 1823.

THE homble Petition of K, Macauley and W. H. Savage, Proctors, sheweth,—that the accom-
panying Document* doth contain an arrangement entered into between the Captors and Claimant,
and which is humbly submitted to the consideration of the Honourable Court. = :
Wherefore your Petitioners pray, that the same may be filed in the Case, and such proceedings

had therein, as your Honours may deem fit :—and yourPetitioners, as in duty bound, will ever
pray. (Signed) K. -MACAULEY, Pr. of Captors,
March 11, 1823. : W. H, SAVAGE, Proctor for Clts.

* See Agreement, page 91. —— .

 

No. 46.

E. Gregory, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Received October 16.)

(Extract.) . Sterra Leone, June 7, 1823.
I HAVE the honour to lay before you a Report of theProceedings of the

British and Portuguese Court of. Mixed Commission in the Case of the Por-
tuguese Schooner .Vova Sorte, E. C. Lima, Master. |. a

I have thought it best, Sir, to lay before you a detailed Report of this Case,
rather than such an Abstract as the Commissioners have been accustomed to
form for your. information, in Cases that have hitherto come before them.
My motive for this has been that you may be enabled tojudge upon the merits
of this Case with a knowledge of every circumstance thatthe Case contained..
You will think it right, Sir, that you should have this knowledge, that you
may form a proper estimate of the proceedings of the Commissioners, and be
enabled to decide betwixt them and the unsuccessful Suitor in the Case. A brief
account would not have sufficed for this purpose in a Case thatpresented some
extraordinary points for consideration. —

I may, however, Sir, considering the length of the Report, be permitted to
present for your immediate information, a Summary of the principal matters
which the Report contains. -

‘The Nova Sorte was taken off Mina Piceaninny, in Latitude 6 d. 5m.
North, and in Longitude 1d. 25 m. East, on the 14th October 1822, by His
Majesty’s Brig Snapper, Lieutenant Rothery. The pretence for the detention
was an embarkation of Slaves on board of the Nova Sorte, which embarkation,
in reality, took place at the instance of the Captor. The Nova Sorte was
brought to Sierra Leone, on the 20th December 1822, with the Slaves, 122
in number, that had been put on board at the instance of the.Captor. The
Case was brought before the Mixed Commission. Witnesses were examined
in the Case by the Registrar. As the Case came to be developed, it was seen.
‘that it was not the intention of the Captor to prosecute: the Vessel on the
original ground for which he detained her, (as indeed he could not prosecute
her on that ground with success, the embarkation of the Slaves having been
his own act, and not the act of the crew of the Nova Sorte),-butto proceed
against her on account of an- embarkation of Slaves, said to have taken place
four days previous to.the arrival of the Nova Sorte at MinaPiccaninny, which
Slaves were said to have been concealed on board of.+he Nova Sorte at. the
time that the Captor first visited her, whichwas in theevening of the 12th of —
October, and to have been relandedin the night of the 12th of October.
A day, the 21st of January, was appointed for the decision. of the: Commis-
stoners; when this day came, Mr. Altavilla, the Commissioneron.the part of
His Most Faithful Majesty, declared that he could not: then satisfactorily
decide upon the Case; he had not made up his mind-upon it, nor could he
determine upon the Case as it then stood; he wished .that the Master:should
be allowed further time to come forward, in order that the Case might be-pre-
sénted to him in a clearer form than it was then presented... The Master had
not hitherto appeared to defend himself,or to.claim the Vessel. The British
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Commissioners consented to the postponement of the Case, that the Master
might have the further opportunity to defend himself, and that Mr. Altavilla
might be enabled to come to a decision upon the Case. The Master formally
appeared as Claimant; fresh evidence was taken in the Case; the 1st of Fe-
bruary was the day appointed for the decision of the Commissioners. The
Commissioners met in Court on that day. Mr. Gregory thought that an
embarkation of Slaves on board of the Nova Sorte had taken place previous to
the arrival of the Snapper at Mina Piccaninny; that these Slaves had been
re-landed, unknown to the Captor, on the night of his arrival; and Mr. Gre
gory’s opinion was, that the Nova Sorte should be condemned as prize. Mr.
Altavilla did not believe that any embarkation of Slaves had taken place before
the arrival of the Snapper at Mina Piccaninny, that therefore there had not
been any re-landing of Slaves unknown to the Captor; and his opinion was
that the Nova Sorte should be restored to the claimant. Upon this difference
of opinion betwixt the two Commissary Judges, Mr. Fitzgerald, His Majesty’s
Commissioner of Arbitration, to whom the Case then went for final decision,
said, that it was necessary for him, in order that he might be enabled satis
factorily to arbitrate betwixt his brother Commissioners, that he should
examine some of the Slaves who were stated to have been embarked and re-
Janded by the crew of the NovaSorte: he wished that the Slaves should be
examined in open Court by himself. Seven of these Slaves were accordingly
examined in open Court by Mr. Fitzgerald ; some ofthem had been previously
examined in the Case by the Registrar on the part of the Captor, but they
had not been asked what became of them after they were put on board the
Nova Sorte by the Portuguese, and hid by the Portuguese, as they had said
they were, on the approach of the Snapper. This question was asked by Mr.
Fitzgerald: six of the Slaves said that they had never gone on shore after the
time that they were.embarked; that they had never, to use their own ex-
pression, put their feet on shore from that time until they came to Sierra
Leone. The answers of the seventh Slave were contradictory, but they raised
an opinion on the part of the Proctor for the Captor, that if the Slaves had
not been relanded they had remained concealed on board. The Proctor for
the Captor brought forward a boy to prove that part of the Slaves had been
re-landed, and part concealed on board.. The boy was said to be one of the
Slaves who had been put on board of the Nova Sorte by the Portuguese: The
Proctor for the Captor wished that this boy should be examined out of the
Court by the Registrar, but as the Court was sitting when this wish was ex-
pressed, and as the Slaves recently examined, had been examined in open
Court, Mr. Fitzgerald refused this request. The boy was examined in open
Court. Upon being asked who had put him on beard of the Nova Sorte, he
said that the person who had put him on board was not then in Court; the
Master and some of the crew of the Nova Sorte were in Court at that time;
the boy had pointed to the Master as the person who had bought him. The
boy said, that the person who had put him on board had something on his
shoulder like what was on the shoulder, to which he pointed, of a person who
was sitting near to him. This person was Captain Phillips, the Commander
ot His Majesty’s Ship Bann. It was clear that Lieutenant Rothery was meant
as the person who had put the boy on ‘board of the Nova Sorte. The Proctor
for the Captor, when the boy pointed to the Epaulet on the shoulder of
Captain Phillips, said, that the Interpreter was not a good one. Mr. Fitz-_
gerald told him that he might get another. The Procter for the Captor asked
whether the boy might be examined out of Court. Mr. Fitzgerald said no.
The Proctor for the Captor then said that he should not go on with the
examinations, and that he protested against the examinations being taken in
open Court, as being irregular. The examination was thus not continued.
‘The Case was closed, and Mr Fitzgerald gave judgmentupon it, on the 5th
ofFebruary.’ Mr. Fitzgerald did not think that there had been an embark-
ation anda re-landing of Slaves by the Portuguese; his opinion was thet the
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Nova Sorte should be restored to the Claimant. When Mr. Fitzgerald had
delivered this opinion, Mr. Gregory said, that he deemed it to be a duty that
he owed to his Situation, to his Colleagues, and to himself, to state, that the
evidence of the Slaves, who had been examined in open Court, had changed his
opinion upon the Case;-he concurred in the opinions of Mr. Fitzgerald and
of Mr. Altavilla. The Nova Sorte was accordingly restored to the Claimant.
The foregoing, Sir, is a summary of the principal matters contained in the

Case of the Nova Sorte.
Much dissatisfaction was expressed on the part of the Captor upon two

points in this Case: the first point was, the postponement of the trial, on the
21st of January, in order to allow the Master of the Nova Sorte, a farther
opportunity to appear for the satisfaction of Mr. Altavilla’s mind.

I think it may be necessary to observe, that an impression has existed in the
minds of many in this Colony, that the British Commissioners ought to use
every’ means to bring about the condemnation of Slave-ships. {[t is not
matter of surprise, then, that dissatisfaction should be expressed at the post-
ponement of the trial. But, Sir, the British Commissioners have ever turned
from the idea that they should seek pretences to bring about the condemna-
tion, of all Vessels prosecuted in the Courts of Mixed Commission, or that
they should act in opposition to the just opinion of their Foreign Colleagues.
The British Commissioners have deemed themselves to be, not Advocates for
Captors, but Judges betwixt Captors and the Party against whom charges of
illegal Slave-trade might be brought. The British Commissioners have
strived to rule their judicial conduct by the Convention, and to act in the
execution of their Office, according to the tenour of their oaths “ faithfully,
“impartially, fairly, and without preference, or favour, either for Claimants

_ “ or Captors.”
In consenting to the postponement of the trial, the British Commissioners

had a regard to Mr. Altavilla. It was obvious that Mr. Altavilla could not
give decision that should be reconcileable to his conscience. Were the British
Commissioners to press Mr. Altavilla to a deeision at that moment? Suppo-
sing it to have been possible that Mr. Altavilla would have allowed himself to —

_ have been so pressed,—could the British Commissioners be instrumental to the
7 wrong, which Mr. Altavilla would do to himself, and to the Parties in the Case,
by pronouncing a decision of which his conscience could not approve? The
British Commissioners I am sure, Sir, you will think, could not press Mr.
Altavilla to a decision : it would neither have been decorous nor honest in theni-
to have done so, however they might regret, as they did, that time would be
lost by a postponement of the trial.
The second-point, in the Case, upon which much dissatisfaction was ex

_ pressed on the part of the Captors, was the examination of Witnesses in open
Court. I have stated that the Proctor for the Captor said, that he protested
against this mode of examination as being irregular. The Witnesses who had
been examined, previous to the ist of February, had been examined by the
Registrar. :
The authority under which the British Commissioners acted, in taking the

examination of Witnesses in open Court, was contained in the Letter, dated the
30th of October 1821, which the British Commissioners had received from-
His Majesty’s Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs, inwhich Letter it is said
“with respect to the Question, whether or not the Commissioners shouldbe
present when the Interrogatories are put to the Witnesses, I have to acquaint
you, that it is the opinion of His Majesty’s: Legal Advisers that, unless such
examination take place in open Court, it will be more proper that the Com-
missioners should not. be present, moreespeciallyunder the particular form of —
Judicature authorised by the Commissioners under the Treaties.”
The examinations did take place in open Court,-in the presence of the

Proctors for both Parties, and in.as publick a manner as they could takeplace.:  
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Mr. Altavilla, the Portuguese Commissioner, conceived that it was quite com-
petent for him to interrogate Witnesses in open Court. .

I must confess, Sir, that it. appeared strange to the Commissioners, as the
Court bad been changed from a close Court to an open Court, upon the repre-
sentation, principally, of the Naval Gentlemen, (as the Commissioners weré
given to understand), that Captors should turn round and desire that proceed-
ings, which they before wished should be as publick as possible, should now be
as private; an irregularity, Sir, that would defeat the ends of justice :—the
Commissioners conceived there could be, possibly, none in those publick ex-
aminations, neither that there could be any irregularity as proceeding from
an assuniption of power on the part of the Commissioners which did not
belong to them; for they conceive: that the exception made in the Despatch,
thatI have mentioned, gave to them the power of examining Witnesses in
open Court.

Possibly, Sir, there may be reasons why examinations should not be takea
in open Court. The Commissioners, however, saw no substantial reason why:
‘they should not be so taken in the Case of the Nova Sorte.
As it is likely that the Commissioners may again think fit to examin

‘Witnesses in open Court, and as periiaps such examinations may again be
objected to; I beg leave to request that you will be pleased to instruct His
‘Majesty’s Commissioners upon this point. I would only beg leave to repeat,
for your consideration, that the Portuguese Commissioner thinks that he has
authority to take the examinations of Witnesses in open Court.
-If the Case of the Nova Sorte was not deemed to be one which came

within the operation of the Convention, it certainly was a.Case that shewed.
the necessity of an enlargement of the powers given to the Mixed Commission
under the Convention. The Slaves that had been put on board of the Nova
Sorte, by Lieutenant Rothery, and brought to this Colony, were proved to
have been purchased by the Master of that Vessel, and to have been collected
in-depét on shore, to be in readiness for embarkation. I nced not, Sir, make
any detailed observations upon these facts. .

- [beg leave to inclose, with the Report of the Case of theNova Sorte, Copies
ofthe whole of the Examinations taken, with Copies of the several Papers
brought. forward in that Case, up to the period of the decree of restitution. .

I have the honour to remain, &c.

The Right Hon. George Canning, (Signed) EE. GREGORY.
—  &e en &e. .

  

First Inclosure in No. 46.

Reportof the Proceedings of the British and Portuguese Court of Mixed
Commission, in the Case of the Portuguese Schooner Nova Sorte, Estevae.
Cazado Lima, Master. —

_ THE Portuguese Schooner Nova Sorte, belonged to Bahia, and was owned by Wenceslaus _
Miguel d’Almeida, of that Place; she had Slave-trading papers authorising her to proceed to
Molembo for slaves; her Royal Passport stated her burthen to be one hundred and forty-oue
and a balf tous, by which rate shé was authorised to, carry three hundred and_ fifty-three Slaves.
There was amongst her Papers a Certificate .of Adineasurement, according to, which therate of. .
tonnage was sta‘ed in the Passport; there were also amongst her Papers two Documents, which
stated the burthen of the Nova Sorte to'be eighty-four tons; the first of these was a Certificates
dated Babia, 15th May 1920, of the Presiden: and Deputies of the Board of Inspection of that
Captaincy, stating, that the Schooner Nova Sorte, bow-d for Rio de Janeiro, and belonging ta

Wenceslaus Migiel d’Almeita, was rated at eighty-four tons, by skilful persons appointed to
ascertain her burthen ; that, according to tharrate, she would have to pay eight thousand and four
dhundred Reas for Light Dues. "The second Document was a Certificate, bearing two signatures,
stating, that in the Book ofReceipts for the Contributionfor Lights, there appeared eightthousand
andfour hundred Reas, paid by Francisco de Souza Lapas, for eighty-four tons, at which, the
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Schooner Nova Sorte, bound fer Molembo, was rated; this Certificate was dated Bahia, the 11th
May 1822, and was one of the Papers for the voyage in which she was detained. Betwixt these
‘Papers and the Royal Passport, there is a difference of fifty-seven and a half tons, a material
difference which calls for explanation, as to the mode adopted in the Brazils of measuring Vessels,
when intended for Slave-trading purposes, and when intended for purposes of innocen: commerce,
The. cargo of the Nova Sorte consisted of 1520 rolls oftobacco, five pipes of aqua urde:-te, and -
eight bales of cloth goods; her Muster-Roll stated her to have a crew of twenty men, she was
commanded by Estevao Cazado Lima. In the course of the ‘rial, the Proctor for the Captor

- objected that the Person who appeared as Claimant in the Case, was not in reality the Master of
the Nova Sorte; be said that the name of the Master was written Silva in the Passport.” The

- Person who appeared as Claimant stated his name to be Lima’; this name appeared twice in the
Muster-Roll, first in its abbreviated form L, and secondly at length Lima, In avother paper the
name Lima appeared at length. In a Petition for a Royal Passport, the name is written in its
abbreviated form Le, the D. is fermed like an §, As the name Silva is often, amongst the Port:
guese, written abbreviatedly Sq it was taken by the Commissioners that the Person who made out.
the Royal Passport for the Nova Sorte, mistook the name Lima for Silya; and the Commissioners

- did not think otherwise than that the Person who appeared as Claimant, was the Person who had:
‘sailed, as Muster of the Nova Sorte, from Bahia. This minuteness will be excused by reason of

‘ the objection advanced against the person who appeared as the Claimant ofthe Nova Sorte, ‘Ibe
Nova Sorte sailed from Bahia on the 24th of May 1822. The Nova Sorte was ‘brought tu. Sierra

* Leone on the. 20th of December 1822. She was, on her arrival, visited by the Marshal/of the
Court, who-reported to the Commissioners, that she was prize to His Majesty’s Brig Suapper,|
and had on board one hundred and twenty-two Slaves. ‘The Surgeon, Dr. Shower, attached to the
British and Portuguese Mixed Commission,reported that he had found the whole of ‘the Slaves,
with the exception of two, who were rather emaciated, to be ina good state-of health and strength,
and perfectly free from any disease. , i
On the same «day the Papers of the Vessel were brouglit into the Registry by Lieutenant Thomas

Henry Rothery, commanding His Majesty’s Brig Snapper. Lieutenant Rothery. brought with
these Papers.a Declaration, to the truth of which he made oath, stating ‘himself to be the Captor
-of the Nova Sorte, ani stating the reason forher detention. Lieutenant Rothery at the same time
presented a Petition, praying that a Monition might be issued, citing all Persons interested in-the
‘Nova Sorte to appear before the British and Portuguese Mixed Commission. A Monition was.
issued tor this purpose on the 23d of December. — ;
The Declaration made by Lieutenant Rothery in the Case, was as follows, viz. ; ;
J, Thomas Heury Rothery, Commander of His Britannick Majesty’s Brig-of-War Snapper,

hereby declare, that, on the 14th day of October 1822, being at Mina Piccaninny, in Latitude
6 deg. 5 min. North, aud Longitude | deg. 25 min. East, of London, I then and there
seized and detained the Polacca, or ‘Vessel, called Nova Sorte, sailing under Portuguese
Colours, and commanded by Estevao Cazado da Silva, bound from Bahia to Molembo,— for
-being engaged in the unlawful Traffick in Slaves, contrary to the Convention entered into between |
His Britanniek Majestyand His Most Faithful Majesty The King of Portugal. ;
And T further declare, that, on the 7th day.of August 1822, I boardedthe said Vessel, she

lying and being at anchor at thesaid Port of Mina Piccaninny, in Latitude and Longitude aforesaid,
‘at which time she had on beard her cargo of merchandize complete,as it was shipped at Bahia

And T farther declare, that,.on boarding the said Vessel, outhe 14th day of October aforesaid,
1 found that the said cargo had been landed at the same Place, viz. Mina Piccaninny «iforesaid, and
thad been there disposed of by the said Master and the Supercargo, for a cargo of Slaves. ,

Given on board His Majesty’s Brig Snapper, _ "1g - > >Y
‘this 14th day of October 1822. id } (Signed) T. i. ROTHERY.

The. Declaration made no mentionofthe Slaves that had been brought to Sierra Leone in the
Nova Sorte, On the 26th December the Master, and on the fellowing day the Boatswain, of
the Nova Sorte were examined upon the Standing Interrogatories : in their answers to these Inter-
“yogatories, no Slave-trading pursuits were acknowledged to have engaged them on the Coast.
They both denied that any Slaves had been on-board of the Nova Sorte at any time during the
voyage in which she was taken. They contradieted each other in regard to the intended disposal
of the cargo. The Master said, in answer to the 13th Interrogatory, thattbe part of the cargo -
which was on-board at the time of his examination, was to have-been delivered-at Mina Piccaninny,
for the account, risk, or benefit ef the Owner. whilst the Boatswain stated, in answer to the

‘-same Interrogatory, that the cargo on board when he was examined, was to be delivered at Mo-
Jembo, for the risk or benefit of the-OQwner. The Master stated, that the Nova Sorte anchored at
Ehnina for water and provisions; at Mina Piccaninny also for water and provisions. The Boat-
swain stated, that the Nova.Sorte anchored at Elmina to take in water and to repair the main
boom ; and at Mina Piccaninny, for water and to répair the top-gallant mast.

After the examination of the Boatswain was taken,on the 27th of December, the Case remained
‘stationary for a few days. The Proctor for the Captor fell sick, and the examination of Witnesses

" Was not immediately resumed, In this suspension of the -Case, it was reported to the Commis~
sioners by Dr. Shower, that since his last Report (the Report made by him on the arrival of the
Vessel in the Harbour), some of the Slaves of the Nova Sorte had beenaffected -with bowel com-
paints 5 that the number of cases was increasing -daily, and he submitted that the whole of the
Slaves shouldbelanded.as soon aspossible. Ss -
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Te was the wish of the Commissioners to give every relief to the Slaves that their state might
require. It had been the practice of Captors, or their Agents, to pray for the immediate landing
of the Slaves broaght to Sierra Leone in Slave-ships.. Bat in this Case of the Nova Sorte, the
practice had not been followed by the Captor, or his Agent. Tue Commissioners cousidering that
the Captor, in, this instance, might have grounds for not seeking the landing of the Slaves,
either as they might be objects of adjudication, and might be demanded shonld a Claimant appeai
in the Case, or either as they might otherwise be connected with the Case, thought it proper that
the matter of the Surgeon's Report should be communicated to the Captor. Mr. Sawyer, the First
Clerk of the Mixed Commission, accordingly communicated, personally, with Lieutenant Rothery
ou board of the Snapper. Lieutenant Rothery was not aware that the Slaves were seriously unwell ;
the Surgeon of the Snapper had reported favourably of the general state of their health; the —
eases of bowel complaint were very few in number, and proceeding only from accidental causes;
he was not disposed to consent to their landing, but would cause every care to be taken of their
health. The Commissioners were not willing to cause the landing of the Slaves, under these
circumstances, in opposition to the wishes of the Captor.

On the 4th January the Case was resumed, by the presentation of a Petition of the Proctor for
the Captor, praying that two Affidavits, thereunto annexed, might be filed in the Court. These»
Affidavits were made, one of them by a Slave brought to Sierra Leone in the Nova Sorte, named
‘Quashee; the other by a black seaman, named Joachim, a Slave, of the Nova Sorte. By these
Affidavits the Case at length appeared to assume a tangible shape. They alleged an embarkatiSth ap] ang Pp ey ales ation
of # certain number of Slaves on board of the Nova Sorte, a short time before the appearance of
the Snapper; a concealment of these Slaves on board of the Nova Sorte, when shewas visited
by the Captor; anda relanding of them in the Night succeeding the visitation of the Captor.
These allegations, it proved, would canse the condemnation of the Vessel.
The Affidavit of Quashee was as follows, viz.:

Saith, that he was the Slave of Captain Blenkarne, Governor of the British Fort of Accra;
that about the time Sir Charles M‘Carthy, Governor and Captain-General of this Colony and
its Dependencies, visited that said Fort of Accra, Deponent was by the said Captain Blenkarneé
given to a woman, a Native cf Africa, who then lived with the aforesaid Captain Blenkarne; that
‘said woman sold the Deponent to a man named Quarte Cudjé, a Native of Africa, and then resident
at Accra; that said Quarte Cudjé took Deponent, ironed by the wrists, in a canoe to a Place on
the Western Coast of Africa, called Mina Piccaninny, and thev and there sold him, the said Depo-
nent, to a Portuguese man, Master of the Portuguese Polacca Nova Sorte, which Vessel was then.
and there lying at anchor, viz : at the aforesaid Place called Mina Piccaninny, which Portuguese
Master being present he identifies, and which Portuguese Polacca he points ont lying at anchor
in this Harbour. That Deponent being ou the beach of the said Piace, called Mina Piccaninny, he
there saw and witnessed the embarkation of many men and womeu Slaves, Natives of Africa, on
board the long-beat of the said Polacca, which long-boat conveyed the said Slaves and put thent
on board the said Polacca, said Slaves being then and there in irons by the neck and wrists; that
four days atter the aforesaid Slaves were so put on board the aforesaid Vessel, he, the Deponent,
with other Slaves not then embarked, perceived a. Vessel approaching the said Place where said Po-
dJacca was lying at anchor, which Vessel he points out to be His Britaunick Majesty’s Brig-of-War
Snapper; that before the Sun rose on the following day, he saw and witnessed the afore-
said Slaves, which were-so embarked, land on the beach of Mina Piccaninuy aforesaid, from three
canoes and the aforesaid long-boat, and that be was with the said Slaves, and others which were
nat embarked, driven by the people of Mina Piccaninny aforesaid into the bush to a considerable
distance.

The Affidavit made by Joachim was as follows, viz.:
Saith, that he isa seaman on board the said Portuguese Polacea Nova Sorte, in which Vessel

he sailed from the Port of Bahia, in the Brazils, about six or seven months ago; that he made
three voyages to the Western Coast of Africa in the said Vessel, viz.: tivo voyages to the River

Calabar, and one voyage to Mina Piccaninny, from which Places the said Vessel took at each time
a cargo of Slaves, Nativesof Africa, to the aforesaid Port of Bahia; that about two months anda_
half ago, being at the aforesaid Port of Mina Piccaninny, on the Western Coast of Africa, in the
aforesaid. Polacea, then and there lying at anchor, many meu and women Slaves, Natives of
Africa, were then and there brought and received on board the said Polacca at two several times,
in the long-boat belonging to the aforesaid Vessel, the said Slaves being ironed by. the neck and
hauds in four separate chains; that four days after the said Slaves were so embarked on board
the said Vessel a strange Vessel came in sight, which said strange Vessel proved to be His
Britannick Majesty's Brig-of-War Snapper; that on the appearance of the said Brig-of-War all
the aforesaid Slaves were driven by the Portuguese mariuers of said Polacca into a part of the
hold of the said Polacca (which place he describes to be under that part of the Vessel called the
Fore Pic), and that the said Slaves were then and there covered and concealed by sails and pro-
visions, the Portuguese mariners of said Vessel threalening to stab with a knite any one of the
said Slaves who should speak or make any noise; that a short time after Sun-set of the same day,

- the boat of the English Brig-of-War aforesaid came alongside the said Polacea and shortly after
left her; that about the middle of the night of that same day, the Portuguese mariners put into
three canoes, and the aforesaid long-beat, all the aforesaid Slaves then on board the said
Polacca, viz. ; one chain of Slaves into each boat, and conveyed them onshore to the aforesaiil
Place called Mina Piccauinny, and. that Deponent remaining on beard the said ,Polacca, he does
notknow how they were after disposed of, —
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This Affidavit of Joachim was made. through the interpretation of the Slave Quashee, The
Commissioners thought that such interpretation might be liable to objection ; on the ground that
the bias of Quashee’s mind might incline him to an interpretation that might tend to confirm the
statement made by himself, in regard to the Slaves in question. Mr. Fitzgerald suggested to the
Proctor for the Captor, that it would be proper that the Deposition of tacts by Joachim should be
taken through the medium of another Interpreter than Quashee.
On the Sth of January, Interrogatories were put on the part of the Captor to three men Slaves,

Accootoo, Desay and Cooma; and to three women Slaves, Accoopee, Caucaw and Eloohoo,
brought to Sierra Leone in the Nova Sorte. The importance that was attached to the Answers of

these Slaves may require that their Answers should be particularly inserted here, They are as
follows, viz.:

Accootoo.—ist Answer. Saith, his name is Accootoo, and his Country, Paupaw. 2d. He is a
Slave, and identifies the Captain of the said Polacca as having bought him. 3d. Saith, the

‘Portaguese of the Polacca put him on board the Vessel which brought him here. 4th. He
points out the above-mentioned Polacca, now at anchor off Free Town. Ath, Saith, that
the said Vessel was then lying off Anucoo, or Mina Piceaninny. (th. Saith, he was put on
board before the English Man-of-War came in sight. He was so put on board four days
before her coming in sight. 7th. Saith, that on the appearance of the Man-of-War, he was
put down below, and covered with sails and yams.

Desay.—Ist Answer. Saith, his name is Desay, his Country, Coromantine. 2d. Saith, he is a
Slave, and was bought by the Captain of the Polacca afore-mentioned. 3d, Saith, he was put
on board said Polacea by the Town’s-people of the Place at which the Captain bought him.
4th. Points out the Polacca Nova Sorte, now lying at Free Town. 5th. Saith, the said Po-
tacca was then lying off Mina Piccaninny. 6th, Saith, he was put on board four days before.
the appearance of the English Man-of-War. 7th. Saith, that upon the appearance of the
English Man-of-War, the Portuguese mariners put him and other Slaves below, and put sails
over him and them.

‘Cooma.—Ist. Saith, his name is Cooma, and his Country, Wigaw. 2d. Saith, he is a Slave, and
points out the Captain of said Polacca, who is present, as having bought him. 3d. Saith,
that the Town's-people of the Town, where said Captain bonght him, put him on board the
Vessel which brought him here. 4th. Points out the Polacea Nova Sorte, aforesaid, at.
anchor, off Free Town, Sth, Saith, that the said Polacca was lying at Mina Piccaninny at
the time he was put on board her. 6th. Saith, he was put on board the said Polacca four.
days before the English Man-of-War came in sight. 7th. Saith, that on the appearance of
the English Man-of-War, the Portuguese mariners of the said Polacca put him below, and’
‘covered hin with sails. ;

Acoopee.—ist Answer. Saith, her name is Acoopee, and her Country, Choma. 2d.. Suith, she
is a Slave, and identifies the Captain of the Nova Sorte as having bought ber. 3d. Saith,
the Portuguese mariners put her on board the Vessel which brought her to this Place.
4th, She points out the above-mentioned Polacea Nova Sorte, as the Vessel which brought
her here. Sth. Saith, that the said Vessel was then lying off Mina Piccaninny. 6th Saith,
‘she was put on board the said Polacca, Nova Sorte, four days before the EnglishMan-of-War..
came in sight. 7th, Saith, that on the appearance of the English Man-of-War,; the Portu-
guese mariners put her below, and covered her with sails, ce

Caucaw,—Ist Auswer. Saith, her nanie is Caucaw, and her Country, Taujapaw. 2d. Saith,
she is a Slave, and identifies the Captain of said Polacca, Nova Sorte, as having bought her.
3d. Saith, the Portuguese mariners of the Polacea put her on board the said Vessel, which
‘brought her to this Piace. 4th. She points ont the Polacca, Nova Sorte, now lying off Free
Town, as the Vessel that bronght her here, 5th, Saith, that the said Vessel was then lying
off Mina Piccaninny. 6th. Saith, she was put on board said Polacea, four days before the
English Man-of-War came in sight. 7th. Saith, that on the appearance of the English
Man-of-War, the Portuguese mariners of the said Polacca put her below in the Vessel, and
covered her over with sails, ,

Blooko.——1st Answer. Saith, her name is Elooke, and her Country, Geau. 2d. Saith, she is a
Slave, and identifies the Captain of the Polaeca, Nova Sorte, as having bought her.
3d. Saith, the Portuguese mariners of the said Polacca put her ou board, the Vessel which
‘brought her here. 4th. She points out the above-mentioned Polaeca, Nova Sorte, now lying
at anchor off Free Town. 5th. Saith, that the said Vessel was then lying off Mina Pic-
caninny. 6th. Saith, she was put on. board four days before the English Man-of-War came’
in sight. 7b, Saith, that wpon the appearance of the English Man-of-War, she was put
below, and covered with sails. :

On the 8th of January also, Special Interragatories were put, on the part of the Captor, to the
Master and Boatswain of the Nova Sorte, with the view to elicit particular information as: to the

‘disposal of the greater part of the cargo at Mina Piccaninny, and also the object of remainitigso
dong at that Place.

The Master said, that it took all the part of the‘cargo that was not-on board at the time of
‘capture to buy water, provisions and palm-oil. The part of the cargo that was onboard at the
time of capture was a very inconsiderable part. He said, that he had a Factory with goods, at’
Molembo, with which goods the Slaves were ta have been purchased; that the remainder. of the
eargo on board was to have been cartied to Molembo, and there landed, In answer to the 13th

Standing Interrogatory, as already mentioned,he said, that the remaining part of the cargo, which
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savas on board, was to have been delivered at Mina Piccaninny for the account, risk orbenefit of
theOwner. He said, that he remained at Mina Piccaninny only two Months; he laid there so
long, om account of the strength of the current not allowing him te proceed to his destinedPort.

He said, that he would swear, ou the Holy Cross, thatno part of the cargo so landed at Mina Pic-

caniuny was employed by him, or the Supercargo, in the purchase of Slaves, The Boatswain
said, that they landed the cargo at Mina Piccaninny to purchaseprovisions, palm-cil,and a top-
gallant-mast ; the cargo was landed by canoes, and the launch of the Polacca. He said that he
would swear, on the Holy Cross, that not one of the Slaves brought to this Port in the Nova
Sorte was purchased by the Master or <Supercargo. of that Vessel, At the same time the Cook of
the Nova Sorte was specially interrogated, on the part of the Captor, as to whether he would.
swear that none of the Slaves brought to this Port, in the Nava Sorte, were purchased by the
Master or Supercargo of that Vessel. He said, that he would swear, on the Holy Cross, that,
none of the Slaves which were brought to Sierra Leone in the Nova Sorte were bought by the
Master or the Supercargo of that Vessel. . —_
On the 9th of January, according to the suggestion made to him by Mr. Fitzgerald, as before

stated, the Proctor for the Captor obtained the information which Joachimhad to give in regard

to the Slaves, through the medium of another Interpreter than Quashee, This information was not
given in the form of an Affidavit as betore; it was giveu in Answers to Questions put to him by
‘the Proctor for the Captor, The Answers are as follows, viz :

Ist Auswer. His nan:e is Joachim. 2d. Saith, he is a mariner on board the Nova Sorte.
3d. Saith, he has been on board the said Schooner Nova Sorte, ever since she sailed from Bahia.
4th. Saith, said Schooner was lying off Mina Piccaninny at the time the said Schooner was seized
by His Majesty's Brig Snapper. 5th. Saith, Slaves bad been on board the said Schooner four days
previous to seeing the Man-of-War. 6th. Saith, that, on the appearance of the Capturing
‘Vessel, the Slaves that were on board were put ina small room where the yams were. 7th, Saith,
that, in the course of the night, the Slaves were sent on shore by the Portuguese mariners of.
said Schooner, .

As yet, the appearance of the Slaves inthe Nova Sorte had not been explainedor accounted for.
by the Captor, or others. ‘The Case remained imperfect in consequence. Presuming that the
Statements of Quashee and Joachim were true, it could hardly be taken that the 122 Slaves that
had been brought to Sierra Leone, were embarked by the Portuguese. The Slaves said to have
een embarked by the Portuguese were stated to have been relanded on.the night of the arrival of
¢the Snapper at Mina Piccaninny; a re-embarkation was not likely to have taken place, at their
instance, in sight of the Snapper, Lieutenant Rothery’s Declaration did not state that he found
any Slaves on board of the Nova Sorte when he detained her, The Commissioners wished that
some information should be given on this point. At the suggestion of Mr. Fitzgerald, this ine
formation was given by Lieutenant Rothery, in an Affidavit made by bim on the }0th of January,
as follows, viz.:

“That being on the 12th day of October last past, in pursuance of Orders, in His Britannick
Majesty’s said Brig, the Snapper, in Latitude 6d. N. aud Longitude } d. 20 m. E, he saw a Po-
Jacca at anchor, off Mina Piccaninny; that at halt-past Six o’Clock of the same Evening he
anchored his Majesty’s said Brig off the same Place, and proceeded in his boat to examine the said
Polacca, she being under Portuguese Colours; that, on boarding her, she proved to be the Por-
auguese Polacca, Nova Sorte, completely ready for taking on board a cargo of Slaves, she having
Janded her former cargo, consisting of tobaceo, rum and cloth, except a few rolls of the former ;
that on looking into the usual Slave-rooms, hé did not perceive any Slaves, and Deponent conse-
quently Jeft her; that, on the same Evening, the Caboceer ot Mina Piccaninny aforesaid, con-
ceiving His Majesty's said Brig to be a Slave-trading Vessel, sent his Messenger on board her,
statingthat he would be bappy to supply her with any number of Slaves she might want, as he
had already supplied the Portuguese Polacca, Nova Sorte, then at anchor in company, with a cargo
of Slaves; that Deponent immediately returned au answer, desiring the said Caboceer to send the
Slaves so supplied, to. the Portuguese Polacea aforesaid, on board her immediately; that, on the
14th day ofthe said Month of October, said Slaves, to the number of twenty, were put on. board
said Polacca, by the canoes and people of the said Caboceer, when Deponent sent his boat, and-
seized her; that 102 Slaves, being part of the aforesaid carga of said Polacca, were subsequently
put on board her when she was sent to this Port for adjudication,

This Affidavit shewed that the embarkation of the 122 Slaves had not been the act of the Pore
tuguese, but of the Captor of the Nova Sorte. .

‘On the 14th of January, a further Affidavit was made by Quashee, the Slave, as follows, viz. :
‘That on the landing of the Slaves from the Nova Sorte, as deposed by this Deponent, in

an Affidavit sworn in this Cause before Daniel Molloy Hamilton, Esquire, Registrar to your
Honourable Court, that he and they, with other Slaves which had not been embarked, were driven
together into the. bush, to a place where the aforesaid Captain had a Factory for the purposes of
purchasing Slaves, and of keeping them until he could embark them; that all the Slaves which
aame to this Port in the Nova Sorte were kept in irons in the said Factory or House, and fed by
two Portuguese sailors of the said Polacca, one of whom sas left in the aforesaid bush, and the |
ather being present, he identifies. ,

This Affidavit, with a further cne made by Lieutenant Rothery, on the 21st January, to the
effect, that. having boarded the Nova Sorte off Elmina, about the 30th July, be found that she
awas furnished with one large copper, such as is usually used for the purpose of cooking provisions
torthe Slaves; closed at this time the evidence for theprosecution,
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Onithe Petition of the Proctor for the Captor, the 21st January was the day appointed by the
aCommissioners for giving their Decision upon the Case.

The impression made by the evidence brought forward in the Case, on the minds of the Com-
smissioners, was, that the original detention of the Nova Sorte, by Lieutenant Rothery, was illegal
sand unjustifiable, the embarkation of the 20 Slaves, which formed the ground of detention, being
‘the act of Lieutenant Rothery, and net the act of the Portuguese of the Nova Sorte. With
‘regard to the alleged embarkation of a number of Slaves by the Portuguese, prior to the arrival of
sthe Snapper at Mina Piccaninny, and of the alleged rélanding of the Slaves on the Night of her
arrival, the British Commissioners were impressed with the belief, that such an embarkation and
aelanding had taken place, and that, therefore, the Vessel must be condemned, (the illegality of
‘the original detention being outweighed by the illegality of the act of the Portuguese,) for having
shad Slaves on board, intended for purposes of traffick, during the voyage in which she was taken,
‘Mr, Altavilla, His Most Faithful Majesty’s Commissioner, in the first stages of the proceedings,
avas understood by the British Commissioners, in the communications that they had with
thim, to incline rather to the belief of such embarkation and relanding of the Slaves, but as the
proceedings were drawing to a close, the balance of doubt in Mr. Altavilla’s mind inclined more
‘to the disbelief of such embarkation and relanding, than otherwise. On the 20th January, the
day before that appointed by the Commissioners to meet in Court, to give their decisions upon
‘the Case, Mr. Altagilla expressed to Mr. Fitzgerald and to Mr, Gregory, the great doubts which
-existed in his mind as to the trath of the alleged embarkation aud relanding of Slaves by the Por-
‘tuguese of the Nova Sorte. He had seen, he said, the Master of the Nova Sorte, who had posi-
‘tively denied the truth of the facts alleged against him ; the Master had complained that he had
mot had the opportunity to detend himself. With respect to: this complaint, the Registrar, Mr.
Hamilton, had told him, when his-first examination was taken, that he might defend himself fron
athe charge brought against him, if he thought proper; and that he might be present at the exami-
nation of the Witnesses if he pleased, and put such questions to them, in the usual course, as he
‘might think fit. The Master, soon after his arrival, had complained that ie was not allowed by
‘the Prize Master of the Nova Sorte, to come on shore when he wished it, Mr. Gregory had
mentioned this to the Proctor for the Captor, as well as that it would be right that the Mas-
iter should bave such facilities as the Vessel affurded for his coming ‘on shore. The Proctor
‘for the Captor said that he would give special directions to the Prize Master of the Nova Sorte,
aot to give ground of complaint to the Master in this particular, ,
_ On the next day, the 2/st January, before the meeting of the Court, Mr. Altavilla called on
Mr, Gregory, and again expressed to him his doubts upon the Case; he was not determined in his
amind what decision to give; be had every wish to do justice between the Parties; justice, he cou-
ceived, would best be done by postponing the decision, in order to give to the Master of the Nova
‘Sorte the opportunity of making his defence. Mr. Gregory conceived that so much time having
elapsed since the arrival of the Master at Sierra Leone, he had had the oppertunity to come forward.
Mr. Gregory was rather averse to extending the proceedings; but if Mr. Altavilla could not im-
mediately come to a decision upon the Case as it then stood, and justice did require that the pro-
‘ceedings should be extended, by giving tothe Master a further opportunity to defend himself from
the charge brought against him, Mr, Gregory could not dissent trom the course proposed by Mr,
Altavilla. Mr. Gregory intimated that it would be well to proceed to the Court-House where they
would meet Mr, Fitzgerald, to whom Mr. Altavilla could also state the perplexity of his mind, and
his wishes in regard to. the postponement of the Case.

It.is right here-to mention that, with the Papers of the Vessel, the Captor gave into theRegistry
@ sort of Protest drawn up by the Master, and dated the 14th of October, wherein he protested
-against the detention of his Vessel,

The Commissioners having met at the Court-House, Mr. Altavilla again expressed his wish that
the Case should be postponed, in order that the Master might have the opportunity to make his
defence, and again stated that he had not come to a decision upon the Case as it then stood; he
-conceived that the Master might give an explanation of the matters that affected him; he repeated
tbat he was anxious to do justice between the Parties, and he conceived that justice would best be
done by allowing the Master a farther opportunity to come forward. *

Mr, Fitzgerald, who ever made it a point of duty to pay every attention to the Foreign Members
of the Mixed Commissions, was disposed te accede to the wishes of Mr, Altavilla, particularly in
consideration of the doubts which existed in Mr. Altavilla’s mind, of the truth of the statements,
touching the alleged embarkation and re-landing of Slaves, Mr, Gregory considered that further
delay in the Case would be hard upon the Captor, as some time had elapsed since the proceedings
‘had been commenced by him, but Mr. Gregory was also disposed to accede to Mr. Altavilla’s wish
to postpone the decision, considering that, in the state of Mr.Altavilla’s mind, he could not press
‘him to pronounce any judgment upon the Case.

The British Commissioners, in accéding in this instarice to Mr. Altavilla’s wishes, bore in nsind
His Majesty’s special commands ‘‘ that throughout the whole of the functions respectively entrusted
to them, they should be careful not to lose sightoftheir judicial character, and should uniformly
endeavour to combine a fair and conscientious zeal for the prevention of the illegal Tyaffick in
Slaves, with the maintenance of the strictestjustice towards the Parties concerned, and with the
promotion of a spirit of conciliation and harmony between His Majesty’s Subjects and those of
“he King of Portugal.” The British Commissioners did not conceive that it would be decorous in
‘them to press Mr. Altavilla to a decision; it was not for them to gain a peint by the condemna-
tion of the Vessel,but to see that they discharged a judicial duty with iwpartiality, andwith-fairness
towards all concerned, particularly towards Mr, Altavilla,
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It was agreed that the Case should be postponed, that the Master might lave the further-oppor-
‘tunity to defend himself. It was proposed by Mr. Altavilla, that the Master should be sent tor
by the Commissioners, and be informed of the postponement of the Case, and of the opportunity
that this postponement would afford him, to state what he might have to‘statein lis own behalf,
and to bring forward Witnesses in support of his statements,

‘The Master was sent for by the Commissioners. The British Commissioners wished that he
should be spoken to in open Court, and in the presence of all who were assembled to hear the
trial,
The Commissioners, on taking their seats in Court, informed the Proctor for the Captor, that it

‘was found necessary to postpone the Case, and to allow the Master the further opportunity to
appear as Claimant. The Proctor tor the Captor observed, that such a postponement would bear
hard upon his Client; that he would have to re-commence proceedings; and that the Master, if
he had thought proper, might have appeared as Claimant before, he having bad ample opportuni-
ties for so appearing.

The Master having appeared in open Court, he was -addressed by the Commissioners and asked
why he had not appeared to defend his Cause; he replied that be was ignorant of the language
and of the ways of the Place: he was told that he might now apply to a Proctor of the Court to
conduct his suit ; he said that he had not the means to employ one ; he was informed of the par-
ticular charge that was against him; he said that the charge was not true: it was observed to.
inn, that his own statement would not beregarded as sufficient, he must bring Witnesses to support
his statement; he said that he would do so: he was told to take them betore the Registrar, who
would receive their Depositions. The Registrar observed upon this, that he had already told the
Master that he would receive the Depositions of any Witnesses that he might think At to bring
before him, and had told him to apply, if he thought proper, to some Legal Adviser,

It may be proper to state that, in the first stages of the proceedings, there were only two
Proctors of the Court in the Colony. One of them was the Procter for the Captor in this Case ;
the other was a Gentleman who had always been retained by Captors, and whose feelings were
likely not to be in favour of the Master of the Nova Sorte. ‘It was only about the close of the
Captor’s Case that a third Proctor returned to the Colony, to whom the Master could apply for
advice and assistance. To him the Master did apply, on the breaking up of the Court on the
2ist January.
On the Evening of the 21st January, a Petition was presented to the Commissioners, by the

Proctor for the Captor, regarding the Slaves which still remained on board the Nova Sorte. ° It is
proper to insert the matter of this Petition bere, to shew the situation of the Slaves, aud the view
that the Proctor for the Capter had taken of the situation of his Client with respect to the Slaves,
The Petition is as follows, viz:— oO

That on the 20th day: of December last, the said Polacca was brought into this Port for adju-
dication by your Honourable Court; that up to this day, a period of 31 days, no claim was made by
any Person or Persons for the said Vessel, although the Master was perfectly at liberty (o claim, was
he minded to do so. That on this day, the day named by your Honours for passing sentence, the
Master puts in his Claim, which Claim is by your Honours admitted, which will not only put off
the trial of the said Vessel for some time longer, but will be the means of increasing considerably
the costs of the suit; that the provisions which were on beard the Nova Sorte are entirely con-
sumed, and as your Honourable Court has declined to make the Claimant liable for costs, should
he fail to substantiate his Claim, your Petitioner is ata loss to know in what manner or by what
means, the said Slaves are to be supported. That your Petitioner cannot venture so far to
commit his Client as to land the Slaves, as, in the event of a decision against him, it would
yender him liable to pay the value of them. And that, as neither Captor nor Claimant have
any funds for their support, your Petitioner hombly prays that your Honours, taking all theseCases into consideration, will be pleased-to order. your Marshal to supply them with provisions,
until your Honourable Court shall be pleased in its wisdom to give Judgment,

Mr. Altavilla was not disposed to give any order to the Marshal to feed the Slaves, he thoughtthat the Captor who bad brought them to Sierra Leone should feed them. But it being repre-
sented to him, that it could not be allowed that the Slaves should perish with hunger, ‘whilst itwas in deliberation who should bear the charge of feeding them, and that the British Commis-
sioners would be responsible that the charge should not fallupon him, Mr. Altavilla concurred
sin the Bripish Commissioners to issue an order that same evening to the Marshal, to feed theSlaves until further-orders. :
The British Commissioners,in acting thus, deemed that they were not going beyond the bounds

-of a fair discretion under the emergency of the Case. ,
On the 23d of January, the Master, with the assistance of the Proctor of the Court, who has

been already alluded to, filed a Claim to the Nova Sorte, her tackle, apparel and furniture, goods,
wares and merchandizes on board thereof at the time of capture, and for all costs, charges, losses,
amages; demurrage, and expences, as had arisen, or might arise, by means of the capture
and detention thereof. The Affidavit of the Master; annexed to’ the Claim, after some ‘pre-pavnary matter respecting the time of capture and the Ownership of the Schooner, stated as’ follows, viz :—
And deponent further maketh oath, that he verily believes the said Polacca aid cargo are pro-tected by the Treaty or Convention between His Britannick Majesty and His Most FaithfulMajesty ; that the Nativesof Africa now on board the said Polacca, are not part of the cargo, orin

anywise belonging or appertaining to the said Polacea 3 that they have, without -~ception, been  



Sierra Lzone. (Portugal.) 113

put on board the said Polacca by the capturing Officer, his boats and crew, without the concurrence
‘ot this Deponent; that the said Natives of Africa, before their forcible entry on board as afore- |
said, were never on board the said Polacca, and that since the arrival of the said Polacea, on the
Coast of Africa, this present voyage, she has not received any Slaves, Natives of Africa, on board,
otherwise than those put on board as aforesaid. . .
On the 25th of Jannary, with the view of confirming the other evidence brought forward on

the part of the Captor, the Proctor for the Captor had taken the following answers to questions
put by him to a female Slave of the Nova Sorte, named Cosebah, viz. : ‘

Ist Answer, Saith, her name is Cosebah, and her Country, Quegia, 2d. Saith, she is a Slave:
she was purchased by the Boatswain. 3d. Saith, she was purchased on shore. 4th. Saith, she
was five days on shore after being purchased, and on the 6th day she was put on board.
Sth. Saith, she was put on board the Vessel that brought her here, by the Natives of Mina Pic-
caninny, 6th. This Witness points out the Nova Sorte, now lying in the Harbour, from the:
Commission-House, 7th, Saith, there were not any Englishmen at that Place at the time.
Sth. Saith, she was on board the said Schooner, four days before the English Ship came in sighe.
$th. Saith, that on the appearanceof the Man-of-War, they were put down in the hold and there
concealed, by first locking them up, and then covering the hatchway over with sails. 10th. Saith,
ahat they were relanded from the Nova Sorte, after the arrival of the Brig-of-War. 11th. Saith,
that they were relanded the same Night that the Brig-of-\Var came there. 12th, Saith, she co-

“habited with the Boatswain, 13th. Saith, she did not cohabit with the Boatswain until she came
on board the said Schooner Nova Sorte. 14th. The Question was, did you cohabit with the
Boatswain since you were embarked? The Note of the Registrar, the Examiner, is «already
answered.” 15th, Saith, she did notunderstand the Boatswain when he spoke to her,
The Proctor for the Captor, to account for the absence of the usual coppers, or boilers, and

irons on board of the Nova Sorte, took-the answers of Joachim, to questions put to him touching
their absence, The answers of Joachim were. to the effect, that the Nova Sorte had sailed
from Bahia, with one large boiler, and with a great quantity of Slave-irons and Slave-chains;
that they were sent on shore at Mina Piccaninny-—the boiler to cook rice in for the Slaves, and the
irons and Slave-chains to be put on the Slaves. ,
Ou the 27th of January, the Proctor for the Claimant brought forward, in support of his Case,

Affidavits of the Boatswain, José Louis Fernandez, and of a-seaman, Francisco José Bellem, ta
the effect, that at the time the Nova Sorte was detained by the Snapper, the Nova Sorte had
no Slave or Slaves then on board; that the Nova Sorte, during her then voyage, had not re-_
ceived any Slave or Slaves on board from any part or Place on the Coast of Africa; that the-
Natives of Africa, or Slaves on board the said Vessel, when she arrived at Sierra Leone, were
brought from the shore in the boats of the Brig-of-War that were manned by her Officers and

. taen, and also in canoes procnred for the purpose by the Commander of the Snapper.
The Proctor for the Claimant at the same time brought forward the Affidavit of another seaman,

Francisco Gomez, touching some particulars of the seizure of the Nova Sorte, at MinaPiccaninny.
‘The Affidavit was as follows, viz. :

‘That, on the 11th of October now last past, the said Brig Snapper hove in sight, with a Colour
flying, which Deponent took either for a French or Portuguese Colour, was not certainwhich..
Soon after said Brig fired a gun, and hoisted English Colours, the Polacca at same timehoisted
Portuguese Colours ; when the Polacca was boarded by the boat of said Brig Snapper, the Officer
in which ordered his men, who were armed with cutlasses, to yo below and search the said Po-.
Jacca, which they did; but said Polacca not having Slaves on board, the said boat left her, and
the next day the Prig-of-War went closer in shore; heard ber fire great guns; same day a boat-
came from said Brig Snapper, commanded by an Officer, who stated, they came in order to be able
to keep watch for another Vessel-of-War they expected to pass, as their own Vessel, theSnapper,
lay so much nore in shore. Same day saw a canoe come from on shore, and go along-side the
said Brig Snapper. The boat which had brought the men of the Snapper on board, had left to.
return to their Vessel, but soon after, she came back, and took away her men; after this, the
canoe which Deponent had seen a-stern of the Brig-of-War came along-side the Polaeca, with
Slaves ; the said canoe was also accompanied by a boatfrom the said Brig-of-War. The Slaves
were ordered out of the canoe on board the said Polacca, by the crew of the boat belonging to said
Brig-of-War. ‘The Captain of the Polacca, LE. C, Lima, objected to this, but the Officer of the
Brig-of-War forced compliance in the Night of same day, being the 12th instant. The Master.
of said Brig-of-War came on board, and took charge of the said Polacca, and on the Morning of.
the 13th instant, said Polacca was in charge ot the said Brig-of-War, and so hath remained; that
en the said 13th instant, other Slaves were brought on board the said Polacea. .
With this Affidavit the proceedings, on both sides, were closed. The Ist day of February was

appointed by the Commissioners to hear the arguments of the Proctors for the Captor, and for
the Claimant, aud for the Commissioners to give ther decision upon the Case.

Shortly after the Master had formally. appeared as Claimant in the Case, there was presented to
the Commissioners a Petition purporting to be from the Negro Quashee, on his own behalf, and.
on the behalf of his fellow Negroes on board of the Nova Sorte, to the effect—that understanding:
he was not claimed as a Slave by the Master of the Nova Sorte, as neither were his fellowNegroes
en board of the Vessel so claimed ; conceiving that no other person than the Master had a right so
to claim him, or his. fellows, he prayed the consideration of the Commissioners towards his and
iheir Case, and that the Commissioners would allow him.and them te be landed, and disposed of,
asthe Commissioners might think fit, oe  



114 Srerka Leonz. (Portugal.)

This Petition was first presented:to Mr, Altavilla who, following the natural impulse of hunianity,
acceded to the prayer of the Slave, by putting the word ‘ granted” on the back of the Petition, with
his signature subscribed thereto. The Petition was next presented to the British Commissioners
who, though, as they trusted they were, alive to the generous feeling which had prompted Mr.
Altavilla immediately to grant the prayer of the Petition, could not but be struck with so unusual
a proceeding as the one which purported to emanate from an illiterate Negro. Jt appeared to the
British Commissioners, that, even allowing the Petition originated with Quashee, they could not
permit him to start up as a third party in the Case, It would be well understood why the Master
of the Nova Sorte, did not include the Negroes in his Claim for the Vessel ana her stores ; he had

been taken on a part of the Coast where the Slave-trade was prohibited; but it was a part of the

question that the Commissioners had to try, whether Quashee and his Companions were, or were

not, the Slaves of the Master, and be and they must abide by the event of the trial, The Proctor

for the Captor had stated, in a Paper that had been given in. by him, that he could not venture so

far to commit his Client, as to land the Slaves, as, in the event ofa decision against him, it would

render him liable to pay the value of them. For the Commissioners to direct the landing of the

Negroes with this declaration on the part of the Captorbetore them, and without the state of

their health requiring am immediate landing, might embarrass the proceedings in the Case. The
trial would soon take place, and the fate of the Negroes would soon be decided. Mr. Altavilla.
acquiesced in this representation that was made to bim ; the Negroes remained on board, and the
Petition was withdrawn. oe

Mr. Efamilton, Registrar, subsequently called on Mr. Gregory, and stated, that having under-

stood that the Petition of Quashee was not approved of by the Commissioners, he took the op-

portunity to say—that he had been instrumental in the drawing up of the Petition in a professional

capacity; that there was not the least intention to embarrass, in any way, the proceedings of the

Commissioners ; on the contrary, that it was thought the best way to facilitate a landing, to which

difficulties had been opposed. Mr. Gregory explained to Mr. Hamilton the reasons already stated,-

why the Commissioners did not grant the prayer of the Petition.
On the Ist February the Case came on for trial before the Commissioners, The Proctors for

both Parties moved the Judgment of the Court upon ‘the Case,

Mr. Gregory delivered, first, his opinion upon the Case. Mr. Gregory commenced by detajling
the citcumstances connected -with the outfit of the NovaSorte, at Bahia, as already detailed at the

commencement of this Report; he then proceeded to comment.upon the circumstances attending:

the detention of thé Nova Sorte, by Lieutenant Rothery, at Mina Piccaninny. . It appeared by
Lieutenant Rothery’s Declaration, that the Nova Sorte was detained, on the 14th October 1822,
tor being engaged in the illegal Traffick in Slaves, The Declaration of Lieutenant Rothery simply
charged this. No Slaves were stated to have been on board of the Nova Sorte at the time of her
detention, or at any time previous, nor was any mention made by Lieutenant Rothery of any

Slaves being sent to Sierra Leone in the Nova Sorte. The Report of the Marshal of the Court,
however; made on the arrival of the Vessel at Sierra.Keone, stated the Nova Sorte to have brought
to Sierra Leone 122 Slaves. The Declaration of Lieutenant Rothery was deficient, inascauch as.
it did not give information of the circumstance of Slaves being on board of the Vessel, which cir-
cumstance wasmaterial to the prosecuting of the Captor’s. Case, without confusion at the outset 5°
for confusion would be introduced into a Case when the: grounds of seizure were not properly
explained. Certainly, the Commissioners were in the dark as to the ground of selzure.in this
Case, until Lieutenant Rothery, in an Affidavit made by him on the 1Uth January, which Affidavit
might be regarded as a Supplementary Declaration of the facts attending the detention of the
Vessel, stated the mainer in which the Slaves brought to Sierra Leone in the Nova Sorte came to
Be on board of that Vessel. From-that Affidavit it seémed that it appeared to Lieutenant Rothery,
that noSlaves. were on board of'the Nova Sorte .at the time that he visited her on the 12th: of
October, and that he had no information of Slaves having been on board of her at any time pre-
vious to that day; that the groundof seizure was the fact of twenty Slaves being on board of the
‘NovaSorteon tlie ‘14th day ofOctober. Theredid not appear to be any other ground than this.
However, the embarkation of twenty Slaves, on the 14th of October, might have been the original.
ground of seizure, the Case, as it then etood before the Court, did not shew that it was the intention
of the Captor to:seek aDecree of condemnation on that ground. The embarkation of the twenty
Slaves, on the 14th of October, was asserted by the crew of the Nova Sorte, to have been the act of.
the Captor, and it clearly:appeared trom Lieutenant Rothery's Affidavit of the 10th of January,
that, in fact, the embarkation’of these and of the other Slaves, making in all 122, was the act of.
Lieutenant Rothery, and not the act..of the Master, or of others belonging to the Nova Sorte.:
The Slaves were demanded of the Cabocéer of Mina Piccaninny, by Lieutenant Rothery, and
were given up by the Cabotger, in consequence of the demand. ee

Tt appeared“ as if the mind of the Captor misgave him as to what might be the result of the
suit, if prosecuted on the ground that 20 Slayes were on board of the Nova Sorte, on the 14th.
of October, for, after the examinations of the Master and Boatswain of the Schooner were taken,
‘on the Standing -literrogatories, it was found that the Case hinged ypon the question, whether
certain Slaves were on board of the Nova Sorte, unknown to the Captor, on the Evening of the

' 12th of October, and whether they were conveyed out of the Schooner and relanded by her crew
or not. This question must be the result of recent enquiry, for [,ieatenant Rothery said in- his.
Affidavit, that when the Schooner was visited, on the Evening of the 12th October, the usual
Slave-holds were looked into, but no Slaves were found in them; the misgivings of the Captor's
mind upon the legality of the original detention, were not without cause, as had the Case-come
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before the Commissioners, on the ground alone of that detention, they would have decided itagainst him, for this reason—that such an embarkation as that of the 20 Slaves, could not have
been considered as the act of the Master of the Nova Sorte, but only as the act of the Captor,and, consequently, not an embarkation of Slaves for the purposes of traffick, according to the.meaning of the Convention. ,
Having commented thus much upon that part of the Case, Mr. Gregory proceeded to observeupon the other prominent part which related to the question, whether certain Slaves were on board.

of the Nova Sorte, unknown to the Captor, on. the Evening of the 12th of October, and whetheror not they were conveyed out of the Schooner and relanded by her crew. With respect to that
question, Mr. Gregory observed, that it was material to bear in mind that the Nova Sorte wasproperly equipped at Bahia, for purposes of Slave-trade. :The Vessel sailed from Babia on the 24th May 1822, about the 30th July she was found bythe Snapper off Elmina ; on the 7th of August, she was found by the Snapper off Mina Piccaninny,
with her cargo on board; and nine weeks afterwards, on the 12th of October, she was again foundby the Snapper, off Mina Piccaninny, with but a small part of her cargo on board.

It was stated by the Master, that he anchored at Elmina for water and provisions. How he.came to be so far North of the Equator, and out of the track from Bahia to Molembo, he doesriot explain, ‘The Master stated, that he went to Mina Piccaninny also for water andprovisions,
The Boatswain said, that the Vessel anchored at Elmiua to take in water, and to repair the mainboom, and at Mina Piccaninny for water, and to repair the top-gallant mast. They denied having °traded in Slaves at Mina Piccaninny, and having had any Slaves on board. Some others of thecrew alsu denied that any Slaves were on board of the Nova Sorte at any time previous to her
detention by the Snapper. ‘Fhe Master had said, in answer to special Interrogatories, that it toukall the part of the cargo that was not on board at the time of capture, to buy water, provisions,_ and palm-oil, Now, this was the most considerable part of the cargo, and the part that remainedonsboard was insignificant in comparison with it, Was it to be believed, that this cargo, which at
Bahia was intended for Slave-trading purposes, could have been employed in the purchase of pro-visions at Mina Piccaninny? An extravagant price, indeed,. must be supposed to have been givenfor the provisions, if it conld possibly be believed that the greater part of the cargo had beenemployed in the purchase of them. But the Master had said, in answer to one question, that theremaining part of the cargo which was ow board at the time of capture, was to have been delivered
at Mina Piccauinny, for the account, risk, or benefit of the Owner: and in answer to anotherquestion, that the remainderof.the cargo on board was to have been carried to Molembo, and
there landed. What did these inconsistencies and contradictions indicate? © They indicated, cer-tainly, that the man had no honest design in remaining so long at Mina Piccaninny. If his
pursuits there had been those of lawful commerce, his statements would have been consistent witheach other, : a .

Mr. Gregory concluded that the Master was engaged atMina Piccaninny in the illegal Traffickin Slaves; he held, that if positive proof of this Traffick were required, it was furnished by theevidence given in the Case, by the Slaves that had been brought to Sierra Leone, in the NovaSorte, . ot
Mr. Gregory, before he referred to this evidence, adverted to what had been observed by the

Proctor for the Claimant, that’ the evidence of the Negroes brought to Sierra Leone in Slave-
ships was not to be relied upon, principally because they were interested Persons, in Cases where
their freedom or slavery was.at issue. Mr. Gregory did not think that such Negroes were disqua-~
lified to serve as Witnesses; for, uninformed and ignorant as they were, they could not possiblbe aware how their answers were to affect the Case in which their evidence was required, Their
situation was widely different from the situation of Europeans who had the misfortune to fall into
‘slavery in some part of this Continent, or elsewhere. In Cases which affected their state of slavery,they would be held to be interested Witnesses, and might be deemed incompetent to vive their
evidence impartially; as, possessed of general information, as they might in general be imaginedto be, the Europeans would be supposed to give such evidence as might favour their own parti-
cular Cases. But what general information bad the poor Africans of theSlave-ships that werebrought to Sierra Leone?) Untutored as they were when they arrived at Sierra Leone, what
nowledge could they possibly have of the Convention respecting the Slave-trade, that existedbetween the Governments of Great Britain and Portugal, orhow could they ‘possibly know the

mauner in which their evidence was to affect their state of slavery? Mr. Gregory considered the
evidence of the Negroes to be good, generally, and that their evidence was to be depended upon
in Cases of adjudication before the Mixed Commissions. _ —

Considering the evidence of the Negroes of Slave-ships to be good, generally, Mr,Gregory
splaced more confidence in the particular evidence of the Negroes in this Case, than in the evidenceof the Master and crew of the Nova Sorte. Mr. Gregory said, that placing out of view the
Affidavit of. Joachim, which in a manner had been impeached by the Proctor for the Claimant,
and the examination of the female Slave, Cosebah, which had been objected to by the sameparty,
‘he should place reliance on the Affidavit of Quashee, and on the statements of the five other
Slaves who had been examined in the Case. Mr..Gregory referred to Quashee’s Affidavit, and
considered that the statement made by him was consistent, and that it was supported by the state-
ments of the five Slaves, as far as the embarkation went. . Mr. Gregory considered it strange that
no questions had been put to Quashee, and to his companions, by the Proctor for the Claimant:
Mr. Gregory thought that the Proctor for the Claimant considered that it would be dangerous to
meddle with their evidence, by questioning them upon. the statements whith their evidence con-tained. Mr, Gregory concluded, by. giving it aé his opinion, that the Nova Sorte had been
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illegally engaged in the Traffick in Slaves; that Slaves had been put on board of her by her
crew, for purposes of Traffick, and that she should, therefore, be condenmed as Prize. Mr,
Altavilla dissented from Mr, Gregory’s opinion: disbelievirg the statements of Quashee and
of Joachim, he did not think that there had been any embarkation of Slaves by the crew of the
Nova Sorte, for the purposes of Traffick. Mr. Altavilla’s opinion was, that the Neva Sorte
should be restored to her Master, with campensation for all losses that the Master might have.
suffered by her detention.
Upon this disagreement of opinion betwixt the Portuguese and British Commissary Judges, the

British Commissioner of Arbitration, Mr. Fitzgerald, was required to pronounce betwixt them,
agreeably to the provision of the Convention.

Mr. Fitzgerald observed, that having considered the conflicting evidence of the Case upon which the.
two Commissary Judges had disagreed in opinion, be should deem it to be his duty to examine Quashee,
and the Slaves themselves, who were stated to have been embarked on board of, and relanded
from the Nova Sorte by her crew. Mr. Fitzgerald wished that the examination of these Slaves
should take place in open Court. Some of the Slaves were landed, and brought before
the Court. The Court continued its sitting after the Commissary Judges had delivered their
opinion upon-the Case, in order that the examination of the Slaves should be proceeded in without
delay. :
The Slaves that were brought before the Court at this sitting were—Appear, Accommo, Desay,

and Quamin, Their evidence cannot be well abridged ; it is, therefore, given as it was taken upon
questions put to them by Mr. Fitzgerald, as follows, viz:—~
Appear.—Saith, his name is Appear, and his Country,Ashantee ; he isa Freeman in his own

Country, but not at this Place ; he is a Slave here; he was purchased by the Captain and
Mate of the said Schooner, (the Nova Sorte) whom he points out in the Court-room ; he.
was put on board the Schooner which brought him here by his own Countrymen. This
Witness points out the Nova Sorte from the Court-reom, lying in this Harbour. Saith,
that at.the time of his going on board, the said Vessel was lying at Noocoo; he was put on
board before the English Vessel came in sight; he was on board four days before that
time 5 on the appearance of the Man-ot-War Ship, the Portuguese people put him down
and covered him up.

To, the question, after the time that they, the Slaves, were hid, what was done with
them ?

Appear answered, thatatthe hour of breakfast they were brought upon deck, after which they
were taken back again ; after they had done eating their breakfast, they were desired to wash
themselves, and if they did not, they were flogged and locked up again; he was never on
shore after the first time of bis being put on beard, until his arrival at this Place; they
were sent on board in three patties ; one consisted of thirty-three, another of twenty, and
another of fourteen; the Party that he went with, were the fourteen (was the party of
fourteen) ; the party of fourteen, was the first that went on board; the fourteen (the party
of fourteen) remained on board four days before they went on shore for the others; during
these four days, in the day-time they were bronght on deck, and at night-time they were
taken below to sleep ; hedid not see the Snapper at that time ; at all times they were put
below in the same manner; they never covered his body with sails; when they put him
below, they put over one thing that fits it, (meaning they put the hatches over the hatchway),
aod then put over it a sail; from the time of his first going on board, he did not go on shore
again until his arrival here; be was on board the Schooner as one of the fourteen, four
days before the others were brought,

Accommo,-—Saith, his name is Aceommo, his Country, Kagoo ; heis a Slave; he was bought by
the Master of the Nova Sorte whom he points out in the Court; he was put on board by the
people where he was; points cut the Nova Sorte from the Court-room, now lying at
‘anchor in the Harbour ; the said Vessel was at that time at Adina; he was put on board the
said Schooner four days before the Brig-ot-War came in sight; on the appearance of the
Man-of-War, the Portuguese locked them up, and covered them over with sails.

To,the question, after the time that they (the Slaves) were hid, what was done with
them ?

Accomm answered, at the time the Man-of-Warcame, they told him not to talk, that if he
did, they would flog him ; that at the time the Man-of-War came they were locked up in a
hole, but they were afterwards set at liberty by the Man-of-War's people ; he remained on
board the said Schooner four days, and on the fifth day, the Brig-of-War took them 3
i did not go on shore at that Place after he went on board, until his arrival at Sierra
eone,

Desay.—Saith, his name is Desay, and his Country, Acomb, he is a Gentleman’s son, but having
got intoalittletrouble, he was in consequence sold ; points out the Captain and Boatswain,
who are now in Court, as the Persons who bought him; he was sold as a Slave for having
had connexion with another man's wife.

To {he question, after the time that they (the Slaves) were hid, what. was done with
en?

Desay answered, after they were locked up, they were put in irons, and remained so until
liberated by the English people; they were afterwards brought upoa deck, and did not goon
shore until his arrival at Sierra Leone ; he was put on beard the first time by the Natives’;
he was on board the Schooner four days before the English came’; does not know the differ
ence between English and Portuguese, unless when he is told; be knows the difference
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from those who came from the Schooner who boaght him, and those who came from the
Man-of-War to take him ; he repeats, that from the first time of bis going on board, he
never went of sh -re again until he came here; those who put them below belongto the
Schooner; they are now on board, and would know them. .

Desay re-examined.—Saith, he knows the two mariners now before the Court, as they used to’
b ing them up to breakfast, and then again to supper; this was done in the same manner
every day; the men had one place to stop in, and the women another; he came on
board the Schooner with the first party of twenty with the other Witness Appear.

Quamin.—Saith, bis name is Quamin, and his Country, Cormantin ; he is a Slave 3 he was pur-
chased by the Captain of said Schooner, whom he points out in the Court-room; he was put
on board by his own Country people. ‘This Witness points out the Nova Sortefrom the Court-
room, lying at anchor in the Harbour; the said Vessel was lying at the time he went on
board at Noocoo ; he was on board four days before the English Vessel came; on the appear
ance of the Brig-of-War the Portuguese locked them below.

To the question, after the time that they (the Slaves,) were hid, what was done with
them? “ :

Quamin answered, at the time the Brig-of-War came, he heard them fire; he was at that time
down below; it was iu the Evening; that at the time the English people took them, they
were brought upon deck, and the irons which were at that time on them, were knocked off;
from the time of their being taken on board, they continued to remain down below, until the
English came on board; from the time of his first going on board, he did not go on shore
again at that Place, until his arrival at Sierra Leone; at the time that they fired, one halt of the
Slaves were on shore ; the English then sent a boat and brought of that part of the Slaves
that remained on shore; they were put down below always in the same manner; he repeats,
that he did not go on shore again at that Place, after having beeen put on board until his
artival at Sierra Leone.

On the 3d of February, Monday, the examinations of the Slaves were proceeded with. The
Slave Quashee, whose evidence had principally determined Mr. Gregory’s decision, was ex-
aitined. This Slave spoke English, not so well but. that it was necessary to have the assistance of
an interpreter, in che course of his long examination.

Quashee.—Saith, his name is Quashee, he was a Slave of Daendals, (General Daendals, formerly
Governor of the Dutch Fort of Elmina) then of Mr. Blenkarne 3 after that, be was bought by
the Master of the Nova Sorte; Mr, Blenkarne’s woman soli him to Quarte Cudjé6; Quarte-
Cudjé then put irons upon him, and put him on board a Schooner belonging to Akotejo, who lives
at Quitcah ; the said Schooner took him from Accra to Mina Piccaninny; Quarte Curjé put him.
in irons ; he was put in irons to prevent him from getting away ; Akotejé was the Person who
bought him, and the Person who sold him to the Portuguese People; the Portuguese Cap-
tain put irons on his neck, on the shore at Mina Piccanninny ; saw the Captain in Akotejd’s
Schooner, who said he wanted to buy Slaves ; the Captain purchased all of them on board,
and sent a hoat on shore to purchase more Slaves at Mina Piccaninny; and Akotejé sent
his own Schooner to Accra for more Slaves; the Portuguese Captain sent Akotejd’s
Schooner to Accra for more Slaves ; they sent him, (this Deponent) on shore, and pot him
in a house; after they had put them on shore, and sold them to the Portuguese ; Akotej6 went
and told the English that he had sold his Slaves to the Portuguese people; on the appear-
ance of the English People, they were sent into the bush ; when the Vessel came that took
them, ke was on shore ; the othets that were left on shore were locked in a house, and would
not be allowed to come out; he was one of them; one halfput on board, the other half
got away on shore; while te was kept on shore, they took him for necessary purposes
in the back yard; he could see the Schooner; they were nototherwise allowed to walk
out; a sentry was kept over them; he could see people go on’ board the Portuguese
Schooner from that house ; every time the Captain came onsbere he took a party of Slaves and
sent them on board the Schooner; the Captain did this every time;‘but when the Man-of- War
came, he stopped sending off any more ; those that they carried on board, they did not put
back on shore again; at the time the Snapper took them, ane halt the Slaves were on
shore, and the Suapper’s boat was sent on shore to take them ; the first party that was put on
board was put down below; one of those who were on board, told him so; it was Accotia told
him so when this Witness and the rest were put on board ; Accotia was the only Person
who told him, and the only one who could speak Cormantin; the time the Snapper
came, the Portuguese told him the Snapper came, to take them, and took.’ them

“aback of the Farm in the bush; be only .saw'the Snapper one day from the Farm ;
the Portuguese Vessel and the Snapper were close to each other; saw the Portuguese Vessel
every time; while he was on the shore lie saw landed every day, tobacco, rum and cloth;
the time the Snapper came, the Captain had purchased ell his | Slaves, and he was about to
provide wood, water and victuals to feed the Slaves; after the Snapper came he did not
see any thing more landed ; at the time the Snapper sent on board the Schooner, the Portus
fuese were going to put Slaves on board from the shore, but on seeing the Snapper, they did
not ; after the Snapper came, he did not see any boat come froin the Portuguese Schooner
to the shore; after the Snapper came he did not see any Slaves come on shore from the
Schooner; a great number of Slaves went on board at the same time with him 3 does not
know the number, -

Muashee re-examined,—Saith, he saw Accotia on shore before his going on board the Schooner;
die saw Accotia on board when he (this Witness) was put onboard; Accotia was put on board
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four days before this Deponent; the same day that he, this Deponent, went on board, the
same day he saw Accotia on board; the time Accotia went on board, he did not see the Brig
Snapper.

Accotia PPaniined.—Saith, bis name is Accotia, and his Country, Zanah ; he was sold for having
another man’s wife; he was bought by the Master of the Nova Sorte, whom he points out
in Court; be was put on board the said Schooner by desire of the Master of the Nova
Sorte; points ont the Nova Sorte from the Court-room, now in the Harbour ; the said,
Schooner at that time was lying of Adina; he was on board the said Schooner before the
Tinglish Vessel came in sight ; he was on beard four days beforethat time, and on the fifth
day the Man-of-War took them ; on the appearance of the Man-of-War they were sent
down below, and the door was shat upon then and covered over with sails, they wanted to
talk, but they would not allow them todo so. _ .

To the question, after the time that they (the ‘Slaves, } were hid, what was done with
them?

Accotia answered, that after they were put down below, they put a man over them, and told
them not to talk; they remained in the hold for a long time; whenthe English came, the
English Cookpulled the irons off their necks; he did not go on shore again after having
been put on board the first time, untilhis arrival at Sierra Leone; they were always put
down in the sameplace every day ; he repeats, that Sierra Leone was the first Place he went
on shore at, after being put on board the Schooner, from the time of his going on board, he.
did not go on shore at the same Place. . / :

Accotto examined.—Saith, his name is Accotto, and his Country, Taffee ; he is not aSlave in his
own Country, but he is one now; he was bought by the Master of the Nova Sorte, whom
he points out in Court; he was put on board the Schooner by the people-of the said
Schooner ; points ouf the Nova Sorte from the Court-réom, now inthe Harbour ; the said
Vessel was lying off Adina at the time of his first going on board ; he was put on board the
said Schooner before the .Man-of-War came in sight; he was put on beard tour days before
that time ; on the appearance of the English Mau-of-War the Portuguese put them down
below, and shut the door upon them, after which they covered it with sails. :

To the question, after the time that they were hid, what was done with them? /
Accotto said, after they were locked up, they were flogged ; they were locked up for a long time

down below; the. English caught them first, and let them out; at day-light they were.
brought upon deck, and at night they were taken down below ; he did not go on shore agaiu
after having, in the first instance, been pat on board the said Schooner, until his arrival at
Sierra Leone ; at the time the Man-of-War came, they were told to go down below : they
shut the door upon them; ‘it was in the same place that they were always put (meaning that
the place in which they were confined, was the same place into which they were always
put) those that did not go down below, were flogged with arope. ,

Cosebah examined.—Saith, her name is Cosebah, and her Country, Amtoy; sbe is a Slave; she
was bought by the Boatswain of the Nova Sorte, whom she points out in Court; she was
purchased on the shore; after she was bought she remained on shore three days, and on the
fourth day was put en board the Schooner; she was. put on board the Schoolier by some
Cormantins who lived there; points out the Nova Sorte from the Court-Room; the Eng-
lish ship was there at the time she went on board the,said Schooner ; she went on board the
said Schooner in the Morning;. the Sun had risen at.the time ; she saw the Snapper aftthat
time; at the time she went on board the said SchoonernotanyEnglishmen were on board

. of that Vessel; a considerable number of. Slaveswere .onboard—more than twenty; they
were on a chain; they kept them below four days; theysent them below, and would not
give them water to drink; they were told not to talk so much, or the English would catch.
them; they weré at the bottom of the Schooner; they pulled them out, and sent them into
the bush. Some wereleft on beard; the Sun had risen at that time; it was not very light
at that time; they only remained one.day ini the bush, and on the second day they were put
again on board the Schooner; there were about twenty in the same boat with her when she
came.on shore; those that remained in the Schooner she did not see again in the bush; when
she went back again to the Schooner, she didnot see them; the two men now before the
Court, Accotto and Accotia, did not go on shore ‘with her;. these two men were sent into-
the bush with her; did-not know them in the Schooner before; she and those men walked
the same road into the bush ; herself and other women. were on one chain, and these men,
with others, were on another chain; these two were on board at the same time she was 3
after that, they put them in the bush; ,

Accotto re-examined,—“aith, he saw Cosebah the first day on beard the Schooner; he saw ber
also the second, third andfourth day on board the said Schooner 3 he repeats again that he
never went on shore after being put on board the said Schooner 3 they brought the men on.
board before the women.

Accotia re-examined.—Saith, himself and Cosebah were bought at the same time by the Portuguese
Captain; theybrought the men on-board before the women; Cosebah was put on board the
Schooner onthe same day as himself; it was day-time when he was put on board,and it was
also day-time, when Cosebali was put on board; healso saw her the second and third day on
board the Schooner ; he has seen the woman Cosebah every day since that; on the appear
ance of the Snapper, they put them.below,and told them -not to talk much, else. the Brig:
S.apper would catch them; he was on beard the said Schooner four days ; the women were
also on board the whole of that time; they were confined the whole four days ; they were
liberated by the Snapper’s people; they gave them a part below tor the purposes of nature5  
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they remained down below four days and four nights ; they did not come on deck during that
time; the people said if they did they would talk too much.

Accotto re-exaubined.—Beith, he was put down below four days; he was liberated by the English.
eople.

Towards the close of the examinations of these last Witnesses, the Proctor for the Captor ex-
pressed an opinion that if the Slaves had not been re-landed, as originally stated by Quashee and
Joachim, they bad remained concealed on board of the Nova Sorte. The reason for this opinion.
was founded upon the statements of some of the Slaves—that they were kept on board for four
days from the time that they were put below, on the approach of the English, until they were re-
leased by the English, having already repeated, that they were put on board four days before the’
English came, and the woman Cosebah having said, that some Slaves were left on board when she.
came on shore, whom she did not see again in the bush. The Proctor for the Captor thought that:
this alleged concealment might be substantiated, and he wished to examine Witnesses in order
that it might be so substantiated. The Practor tor the Claimant observed, that it would be a great
giievance to his Client if the opposite Party were allowed to raisea new Case, upon such slight
‘foundations as might be laid in the evidence that had recently been brought ferward. The Captor
had already been allowed to build one Case upon the Case of the original detention. Both these
Cases, as the Proctor for the Claimant contended, had fallen to the ground; and he was now to
be called upon to prepare fresh defences against the Case intended to be raised by the Proctor for
the Claimant, and which, after a waste of time and trouble, might prove to be without any foun-
dation at all; he thought that the Proctor for the Captor had been sufficiently indulged by
the Conrt. . .
Mr. Fitzgerald was of opinion that the Court was bound to investigate every matter that might

arise, which might appear to be substantially connected with the ends of justice, but it was not
bound to pursue every fleeting shadow that might rise in one moment and pass away in the next,
In this opinion the other Commissioners concurred. The Proctor for the Captor thought that the
concealment of part of the Slaves might be proved. The Proctor for the Claimant was told, that
he might examine such Witnesses as he thought proper upon this new Case, and have the oppor-
tanity of cross-examining the Witnesses brought forward by his Opponent. Upon this the Court

adjourned until the next day. ;

On the next day, the 4th of February, the Commissioners met in the Court,
Mr Fitzgerald addressed the Proctor for the Captor and informed him that, if he conceived that

‘he possessed the means of establishing by proof, the new Case of a possible concealment of the
Slaves on board, instead of a relanding, the Court was ready to go with him into the subject of
that Case. The Proctor for the Captor said, that from enquiries made by him, in the interval
since the adjournment of the Court on the preceding day, he had reason to think that a part of
the Slaves had been landed, and a part had been kept in concealment on board, and that he had
brought as Witnesses, to prove these last newly discovered matters, two boys, wlio were in attend-
ance: it.was desired that the hoys might be brought inte Court. ‘ Ds
' One of the boys was accordingly brought into Court; the Proctor for the Captor requested that
the boy might be examined out of Court. The Proctor for the Claimant begged. that the Court
would not allow the boy to be examined out of Court. . sO
Mr, Fitzgerald said, that the examinations must take place in Court :, the Proctor for the Captor

then requested that a woman, named Jenny Andrews, should be allowed to interpret between the
boy and the Court. ‘The Proctor for the Claimant objected to the employment of this woman;
the request was also refused by Mr. Fitzgerald, who had thought, in the course of the previous
examinations, that Jenny Andrews, and the other Interpreters, who had acted much in those ex

aminations, got into a-kind of hackneyed train, andled the Witnesses in that train. It the Proctor
for the Captor would-examine the boy, he.must examine him in Court, and through the means of
another Interpreter than Jenny Andrews, , oy

Another Interpreter was procured, .The Proctor for the. Captor committed to writing the
. questions which he wished the boy to answer, the Paper containing these questions was given to

the first Clerk of the Commissioners, who was in attendance upon the Court, in the absence of the-

Registrar: the questions were put by the Clerk to the boy: the answers of the boy were as

follows, viz.: / ;

Lochoo exatignued.—Saith, his name is Lochoo; he is a Slave, he was bought by the Persons
who are present; points out the Master of the Nova Sorte, at this time in the Court-House;
he does not see the Person here, who put him on board the Schooner, which bronght him

here; he was put on. board by a Person, who badsomething onhis shonider, (at the same
time. he points at the epaulets on Captain Phillips shoulder,) who‘is at this time in the
Court-Room. . - .

When the last answers were given by this Wimess, marks ofimpatienceweremanifested by the

Proctor for the Captor, but when the boy pointed to one of the epaulets on the shoulderof Captain

Phillips, the Commander of His Majesty's Ship Bann, who was sitting near to the boy, the

Proctor for the Captor said, he did not think the Interpreter a good one. Mr. Fitzgerald,**you can

get another.” The Proctor for the Captor, ‘‘ may the Witness be examined out ofCourt2 Mr. Fitz-

gerald, no.” ‘The Proctor for the Captor, ‘ then I cannot go on with the examination.”. The.

Proctor for ‘the Captor said, that he protestéd against the cross-examination in open:Court as being

irregular. ‘he Proctor for the Captor had previously said, that the examination was not his; ic

was the examination of the Court,
The examination of Witnesses.ia open Court in this Case, had originated with: Mr. Fitzgerald.

But ‘all the Commissioners were of opinion, that it was quite, competent for them to examine

‘Witnesses in open Court, if, in order to.the conscientious discharge of their duty, they thought  
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proper so to ¢xamine them. The British Commissioners, for themselves, thought that they were
fully authorized to take the examinations of Witnesses in open Court, under the Instructions,
dated the S0th October 1822, received by them from His Majesty's Secretary of State forForeign

Affairs, respecting the examination of Witnesses under the Mixed Commissions. ‘These Instruc-
tions were as follows, viz.: ** With respect to the question, whether or not the Commissioners
should be present when the Interrogatories are put to the Witnesses, I have toacquaint you,
that it is the opinion of His Majesty’s Legal Advisers, that, jinless such examination takes place:
dn open Court, it will be more proper that the Commissioners should not be present ; more especi-
ally under the particular form ofJudicature authorized by the Commissions under the Treaties,” :

The examinations in this Case, of the Nova Sorte; were, as the British Commissioners conceived,
within the exception containedinthe foregoing Instructions, they had been taken in open Court, in
the presence of the Proctors for both Parties ; and in as publick a manner as they could be taken,
The Proctor for the Captor declined to examine further the boy Lochoo; he wished the Case to

take its course: and that final Judgment might be given upon it. Mr. Fitzgerald said, that he
would pronounce Judgment upon the Case the next day, the 4th of February.
On the next day the Commissioners met in Court.
The Proctor for the Captor moved that the Nova Sorte be condemned as Prize, and the Slaves

on board of her bé emancipated.
The Proctor for the Claimant, in moving that the Nova Sorte be restored to the Claimant; with

compensation for losses and damages, took occasion to observe, that it was impossible that there
could have been a concealment of Slaves on board of the Nova Sorte,.iu the manner that had been
latterly supposed by the Proctor for the Captor; for it appeared from Lieutenant Rothery’s Affida-
vit, of the 10th of January, that he caused 20 Slaves to be embarked on the 14th of October,
and, subsequently, 102, making in all 122; this number of Slaves only had been brought to Sierra
Leone, as appeared by the Report made by the Marshal, on the arrival of the Vessel in the
Harbour, If Slaves had remained concealed on board, a greater number of Slaves than the

number that was put on board at the instance of the Captor, must now be on board ; this was
not, however, the Case.

’ Mr. Fitzgerald proceeded to give Judgment upon the Case. Mr. Fitzgerald’s Judgment was in
the following terms, viz. :— / - .
The original detention of the Nova Sorte, was decidedly illegal. ‘The only grounds for that

detention, alleged in the Declaration, are-—that when visited by the Snapper, off MinaPiccaninny,.
on the 9h of August, the Nova Sorte had on board her cargo of merchandize, complete as ems
barked at Bahia, and that when visited again, on the 12th October, that cargo, with the exception
ofatrifling quantity, a few rolls of tobacco, had been landed and exchanged at the same Place
for a cargo of Slaves. ck,

It is not alleged that any Slave or Slaves had been found on board at the time of capture, or that
any had been embarked in the course of the voyage preceding the capture, although it is well
known that, according to the sixth Article of the Convention between Great Britain and Portugal,
«* no British or Portuguese Cruizer shall detain any Slave-ship not having Slaves actually on board,”
and that the utmost extension given to this provision is by the Additional Article, declaring that,
«© if there shall be legal proof that one Slave has been taken on board, in any part of the voyage,
for the purposes of the traffick, the Vessel may be lawfullydetained by the Cruizer, and shall be
condemned by the Commissioners,’’ :

I take occasion here to say——that the sufficiency of one Slave, was considered to be according te
the correct understanding of the Convention,-long before the Additional Article was obtained,
The British Commissioners were instructed, in the name of His Majesty's Government, to press
that understanding upon the Foreign Commissioners, and the Foreign Commissioners resident in the
Colony at that time, coincided in-it with some minute. circumstances of reservation ;- in the present -
Case not any embarkation of any Slave or Slaves, in any manner, or at any time, wasalleged,
In the Affidavit of Lieutenant Rothery, of ‘the 10th of January last, stating the manner of the

‘embarkation of the Negroes brought to the Colony on board of the Nova Sorte, we are informed
‘that, on learning from the Caboceer of Mina Piccaninny that the said Caboceer had supplied a.
cargo of Slaves to the Nova Sorte, the Deponent, Lieutenant Rothery, returned an answer desiring
the said Caboceer to send the Slaves so supplied to the Polacca aforesaid, en board her imme-
diately; that, on the 14th day of the said Month of October, said Slaves, to the number of twenty,
were put on board the said Polacca by the canoes and people of said Caboceer, when Deponent
sent his boat and seized-her; that 102, being part of the said cargo of said Polacca, were subse-
quently put on board when she was sent to this Port for adjudication,

In this Affidavit, which has been considered as a kindof, Supplementary Declaration, the de-
tention is stated to have been made upon the embarkation of the twenty Slaves put on board on
the 14th October, by the Caboceer, at the instance of Lieutenant Rothery, and this was evidently
done in order to lay ground for the detention, The Commissioners have always declared that such
embarkations cannot be considered legal grounds of detention, and, therefore, the detention of the
Nova Sorte mustbe considered, in the first instance, illegal.

But in the course of the proceedings, upon this originally illegal detention, a disclosure was
made by the Negro, named Quashee, by which it ‘would appear that, before the detention of the
Nova Sorte, and before the arrival of the Snapper at Mina Piccaninny, a considerable number of
Slaves were put on board of the Nova Sorte, which Slaves were landed privately, ia the Night,
after the Snapper’s arrival at that Place. . :
‘A question having been raised in the later arguments upon this Case, as to the right of engraftiog

upon the matters originally alleged against:‘a Claimant, other. matters, altogether new, and calling
on the Claimant to anewer those new: matters, I think it- expedient to meet that question here,  
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‘ahd to declare it as my opinion that, if any matters amounting to apparent acts of illegal Slave.
trade shall be found in any stage of the proceedings, the right, and I will add the duty, of investi-

gating those acts immediately foows, But the proper mode of pursuing that investigation sliould
be settled and understood. The Claimant should be duly informed of the further charges against
which ‘he is required to make his defence; and the Court should be apprized of the further ques-
tions. which it is called upon to try. This may be done, as I conceive, by adding to the original
Declaration a Supplementary Declaration, intimating that the Captor hath further detained the
Vessel in question, for the acts newly brought forward, which acts should be substantiated by Affi-
davit; and the intention of proceeding apon them should be made known to the Party,tby delivering
a Copy of the further Declaration to himself or to his Proctor, or by some mode equivalent.to
that. In cases of the total insufficiency of the original Declaration, the Commissioners might be
moved or petitioned to allow it to be withdrawnand anew one to be substituted, due notice being
given to the opposite Party in that case also. :

But, in the presentinstance, the Court is in the situationof investigating, as the entire substance
ef the Case, matters which are not alleged either in the original Declaration, or in the Supple-
mentary Affidavit of Lieutenant Rothery, respecting the embarkation of the Slaves put on board of
the Nova Sorte. These matters were first brought under notice in the Affidavits of the Negro
named Quashee, and Joachim, which were filed upon the application of Mr. Austin, by Petition for
that purpose. In the present Case, there is not only the irregularity of a trial without any Decla-
ration of the matters to be tried; but the farther. irregularity of investigating those: undeclared.
matters upon a detention originally illegal,

I have been led to consider that point in the form of a question of this kirid :—Can.a Decree
of coudemuation be passed upon a detention altogether illegal? Unless such a decision could be
pronounced upon such a detention it would be useless to pursne the investigation of this Case
further, 1 think that we may go thus far, at least, in this view: that if the Case should come to
this alternative, whether gross and elearly established acts of illegal Slave-trade should be suffered
to escape the punishment provided for them bythe Treaties, on account of illegality in the de-
tention, or such illegality of detention be considered to be superseded by the illegal acts, I should:
not hesitate to prefer the punishment of the illegal acts, especially if that punishment should be
attended with the emancipation of a number of Slaves, illegally purchased and kept in thraldom,
This. was the course adopted in-the Case of the Conde de Villa Flor, and the decision in that Case
was governed by the principle that I have stated, The enormity and the multitudeofinstangesof
idlegal,Slave-trade, and the vast mass of illegality constituted by those instances, combined together
ia that Vessel, countervailed tne local illegality of seizing her within gun-saot of a- Portuguese
Fortress, J must, at the same time, observe, that the local illegaiity of the Place of seizure in
the Case of the Conde de Villa Flor, does not stand upon such absolute grounds as this prohibition

ef capture, when ue Slave is on board, nor has been during that particular voyage. This last pro-
hibition is of the very substance and essence of the Treaty, and by it the application of the powers
given by the Treaties is tu be guided and governed.

Adverting more particularly to the situationof a Claimant under an illegat detention, or'an tn-
sufficient Declaration, L.think that the Master of a Vessel in such a situation may take the opinion
of the Court—whether he should be called upon to submit to examination, or to make his defence ?
but if he goes to examination he is bound to answer truly ; and the truth of his answers, if property
established, is equally available for his benefit as it would be against him, for the-illegal Captor
would be then bound to make compensation for the injury done. .On the other hand, if acts which
ke had denied in his testimony shall be clearly proved against him, it is just that he should suffer
for these illegalities which would then be aggravated by: fraud and pesjury.

These preliminary observations appeared necessary to open the way to the decision of the pre-
sent, Case, to shew the right to decide upon it, and the principles on which, as I conceive, that:
right rests. Iam not disposed to impute blame to any body for having to examine a-Case.in-
volving so many and such important points, upon the foundation of the Affidavits of two Negroes ;.
for when these Affidavits were admitted by the Commissioners to be filed, the institution of pro-
ceedings upon them was sanctioned. These Affidavits might, however, have been distinctly con-
nected with the Case, by stating in the Petition, that they were designed to bring forward acts of
iMegal Slave-trade, which did not appear in the examinations on the standing Interrogatories, I
hope that more method will be observed in future. In the present Case, as it. stands now,} think
there would not be any violation of the principles of the Treaty in pronouncing a Decree of con-
dempation, if justice should so require, notwithstanding the illegality of the detention and the in-
sufficiency of the Declaration. ‘The Affidavits must, in this respect, be taken in the place of a

special Declaration, and as containing the grounds of the detention, and-the matters to be iztves-
tigated and tried, ‘ , _

I will wow review the evidence in this Case, touching principally upon the facts which éame
forth in the course of theexaminations taken in open Court ; for before these new examinations
were taken, the inclination of my mind, lam free to say, was in coincidence with the opinion of
Nr, Gregory. I coincided with him more fully, before I was aware that Mr. Altavilla bad adiffererit,

opinion, as having now for a considerable time reason to appreciate highly Mr. Altavilla’s rectitude.
and impartiality, and his aceurate discrimination of what is entitled to belief, trom what is not so
entitled; I could not be apprized of hig sentiments, without feeling that I ought to suspend my
decision, antit I should be enabled to give myself better means of directing it. These means [
suught through those further examinations that have taken place before the Commissioners in- open.
Couet, Lhave already more than ounce said, that, by instituting theseexaminitions, I did notmean  



122 Sierra Leonz.  (Portugal.)

to throw the slightest imputation upon the proceedings connected with the evidence; previous!
taken by the Registrar: I had not the slightest doubt that these examinations were conducte
with perfect impartiality, with a due sense of the obligations attached to the Office; with all the
propriety, and all the ability that are known to belong to the conduct and character of the
Gentleman who fills that Office. The examinations originally proposed by me, had a very limited
object, That object was supplementary to the matters declared in the previous testimony of the
Negroes, who had been examined in support of the allegations of Quashee’s Affidavit,

1 also had it in contemplation to put some further questions to Quashee himself: I thought it my
duty to hold these examinations in the open Court, before the Commissioners themselves, in order
that all Parties, and all of the publick, who might be disposed to be present, should be witnesses
of what should pass in them, and this is what I conceive to be the object of the direction given to
the British Commissioners by His Majesty’s Government, that it was thought better that they
should not be present at the examinations, unless those examinations took place in open Court,

Theobject of my further enquiry was to ascertain, whether the Negroes in question were re.
landed after they were embarked, for if they should be found not to have been so relanded, the
embarkation of them would not be consistent with the statement of an embarkation of Negroes,
who were, subsequently, relanded, as described in the Affidavits of Quashee, and Joachim.

‘To put to these Negroes abruptly, and without any introduction, this kind of question :—what
became of you, or what was done with you, after the Portuguese mariners put you in the hold,
upon the approach of the English Vessel? appeared to me not likely to obtain the simple disclosure
that was essential to the formation of my Judgment.—I thought that with these Witnesses some
introductory proceedings would be necessary ; and all of those who have had experience of African
Witnesses, must be aware that such necessity exists, Indeed the experience of these very exami-
nations must have proved it, to all those who were present in Court, while they were passing,
The most proper introduction, according to my opinion, was the repetition of the questionspre-
viously put to them, and I also looked for this advantage from such repetition, that the consistency,
or inconsistency of their present with their former answers, would be a safe and a proper test of
the credit to be given to them in that further evidence, which it would be incumbent on me so
minutely to weigh.

_ The result of this repeated examination, was far from being discreditable to these Negroes,
With the single exception of the woman, named. Cosebah, their repeated evidence coincided with
the answers given by them before to the same questions, and T was, consequently, led to place the
stronger reliance upon their answers to the further questions, which I felt it my duty to put to
them. I will add, that these examinations have tended to confirm my persuasion, that the testi-
mony of the Negroes is the most certain means of ascertaining the simple facts in Cases of Slave«
trade, in which the evidence of white-men is involved in doubt and difficulty, by absolute asser-
tions on one side, and denials as absolute on the other. For circumstantial details they are not
such proper Witnesses, because they do not attend to the minuteness of them, and cannot com-
prebend the value of that minuteness. ,

. All the Negroes stated themselves to be Slaves ; some told how they were reduced to slavery ;
all pointed ont the Master of the Nova Sorte, as the person who had bought them; they gave
nearly the same account of the time and manner of their embarkation, four days before the Man-
of-War came in sight, and of being put down below, on the appearance of the Man-of-War.
When the further question came to be put, by the event of which my decision was to be guided,
my confidence in their veracity was fixed by the consistency that I have noted. That question was ¢
after the time that they were hid, what became of them? In the answer to this question, with
more or less of circumstances touching what had taken place, every one of them declared that he
had never put bis foot on shore at that Place, from the time that he went on board 3 and again,
that he did not go on shore from the time that he went on board there, until he came toSierra
Leone. This, or the contrary of it, being the fact to which I attached most importance, the
question was repeatedly pat amidst the variety of matters declared by each Witness, in explaining

‘the manner of the treatment of the Negroes on board, Those who thus agreed were Desay,
Accommo, Quamin, Accotia, and Accootoo; one man, who had not been examined before, gaye:
the same answers very nearly as the others. ,
The woman Cosebah said, she had been kept on shore three days after she was bought, and on.

the fourth she was put on board the Schooner, In her former examination she said she was five days
on shore, and was put on board on the sixth; she saw the Snapper there at that time. Upon
finding that she persevered in declaring this fact, I was disposed to desist from examining her
farther, as such an émbarkation would not be consistent with the Case ;- but circumstances which
then occurred, induced me to go on a little farther, - She repeated that she saw the Snapper at the
time of her going on board ; that the Slaves were put below and kept there four days; that they
were then landed and carried into the bush ; some were still lett on board, whom shedid not see
-again in the bush, The men, shortly before examined, Accotia and Accommo, were brought inte
sher presence; she said she saw them on board the Nova Sorte and saw them afterwards in the
bush.; they went the sane way that she and the other women did. These men, being afterwards
severally examined, said the woman was on board with them during the whole time of four days,
atthe end of which the English came on board. One of them being asked, whether he had
seen her in the bush, said, he had seen her in the bush ; being asked whether this was before
or after he had seen her on board the Nova Sorte, he said it was after, but.on being tald that he
had-before said he had not put his foot on shore there, he said -it was true, be had not.

I do not. consider that the evidence in denial of the ‘relanding was weakened by what this
man had said of meeting Cosebah in the bush, after meeting her on board of the Nova Sorte ;
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ig-was probably through a misunderstanding as to the time, for he was unaltered in his declara~
tion of not having himself gone on shore. . o
The Negro named Quashee, was re-examined, by putting the substance of his original Affidavit

to him in the shape of interrogatories ; he gave the former details of passing as a Slave”
through several changes, until he was sold by one Akotejé to the Master of the Nova Sorte on
board of Akotejé's trading Schooner, from which he was taken to the Master’s Slave-house on
shore ; but he did not repeat the material fact, to which he formerly deposed, of the embarka-
tion of a number of Slaves in the long-boat of the Nova Sorte, four days before the Snapper
came, although he did say that the Captain took a party of Slaves with him on board, every time that
he came on shore, uutil the arrival of the Man-of-War. The other. material fact contained: in
his former Affidavit, of his having seen anumber of Slaves landed trom the Nova Sorte, at Sun-
rise on the Morning after the arrival of the Snapper, was equally unconfirmed, or rather decidedly
contradicted by his later Declaration; he had not seen any Slave come on shore fiom the Portuguese
Schooner after the Snapper came, The fact of the hiding of the Slaves below, on the approach of
the Snapper, was communicated to him on board of the Nova Sorte, by the Negro pre-
viously examined, named Accutia: this was the only knowledge thathe had of that fact.
The evidence thus recapitulated, left not a doubt in. my mind, that the statement of the

embarkation of Slaves, alledged ia the Affidavits of Quashee and Joachim, and of the subsequent
relanding of those Slaves, was untounded, at least in respect to the relanding, But some of
those Slaves having said that they were kept on board in the hold for four days, from the time that
they were put below on the approach of the English, until they were released by the English, having
already repeated, that they were put on board four days before the English came, and the woman
Cosebah having said, that some Slaves were left on board when she came ou shore, whom she did
not see again in the bush ; I thought it right to notice in a particular manner this entire new
Case ; and, although I saw much inconsistency in it, to put it with some observations, founded on
what Iconcgive a Proctor owes to the Court in which he practises, to the general principles of
justice and propriety, and to his own character, whether he thought that he could sustain that
Case. If he did think so, the Court would go into the investigation of that altogether
new Case, although it would be the third Case in the proceedings, counting from the original De-
claration inclusively. oo a

The reasons for this explanation were these—the Court is bound to investigate every matter that
may arise, which may appear to be substantially connected with the ends of justice; but it is not
bound to pursue every fleeting shadow that may rise in one moment, and pass away in the next
moment, The Court will probably see as soon as Parties can, whether any thing thus presenting
itself, is likely to be substantiated, in fact, or in law, asa matter fit to be taken into account, in the
formation of its Judgment or not ; but the Parties can best judge whether they have or are likely to
find the necessary evidence, and, therefore, the option of proceeding, or not proceeding, ought,
generally at least, to be left to them or their Agents, It must, however, be felt, that the Parties or
their Agents will not deal discreetly, with regard:to their Cause, or to their -principal, nor deal
fairly with the Court, or with the due administration of justice under the Treaties, if they press,
for the investigation of any matter which they have not somereasonable grounds to think that they
can establish. .

These observations I repeat, because I wish to have them fully understood, I am satisfied that
they will be found correct ; and those who make them,.so far as they may be applicable to future
Cases, the rule of their conduct inthis, or in any other Court, will best consult their own respect«
ability, and the due conduct of the business that may be entrusted te them. I will add, that
every suggestion given by the Commissioners, either fram the bench, or in their individual capacity,
during the preparatory proceedings, is always directed to the despatch of the business before the
Court, in the modes most conformable to the due course of justice, according to the Treaties 3-and
that Parties and their Agents would, therefore, act most discreetly in conforming to these sugges~
tions; for they cannot hope to advance the interests for which they appear, otherwise than in con»
formity with the due course of justice, as the Court is bound to administer it under the Treaties,
‘which are the Law of the Court,

On these principles, and with these sentiments, upon the opening of the Court yesterday, I
addressed the Proctor for the Captors again, and informed him, that if he conceived that he possessed
the means of establishing by proof, the new Case of a possible concealment of the Slaves on
‘board, instead of a relanding, the Court was ready to go with him iuto the investigation of that
Case. I understood him to say, that, from enquiries made by him in the interval, since the
adjournment of the Court on the preceding day, he had reason to think, that a part ofthe Slaves
had been landed, and a part had been kept in concealment on board, and that he had brought
as Witnesses, to prove these last newly discovered matters, two boys who were in attendance. These
boys were brought into Court accordingly, but the Proctor for the Captors pressed that they sbould
be examined out of Court. ;

- Having instituted these examinations in the open Court, under the circumstances of having to
pronounce the ultimate decision in a very complex and difficult Case ; having done so in-order that
myself, aud my brother Commissioners should see with our own eyes, and hear with our ears,

‘aud understand with our own faculties of intelligence, and that all who might be present in the
Court should hear, see, and understand concurrently with us ; I did uot think right to depart
from that course, at amoment when the Case was become more critical than ever, It was,there.
fore, determined.that the examination of these boys.should be taken in Court ; very pressingin-
stances were then made, that a woman, named Jenny Andrews, should be-allowed to interpret bow
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eween the-boy and the Court, I thought it right to refuse that also, having had reason to think,
in the course of the previous examinations, that Jenny Andrews and the other interpreters, who.
had acted much in the prior examinations, yot inte a kind of hackneyed train, and led the Wit-
cesses in that train, Tam now fully persuaded, that she had so led the bay in the communications
avith the boy, before he was brought into Court, and that she had further misled the Agent for

the Captors iuto an opinion that he could prove things whicl it was afterwards ascertained that
hehad not any opportunity of observing. Several otherinterpreters were sworn, aud afterwards
dismissed, for leading the boy, in the very commencement,after having been warned not to do so,
A proper interpreter having been provided, the boy, who required much management on the

part of the interpreter, in order to get any answers from him, told his name, but could
not tell the name of bis Country; he pointed cut the Master of the Nova Sorte as the

Person who bought him; being asked who put him on board of the Nova Sorte, he said that
person was not here ; that he was a person who had something on his shoulder, which he shewed ta
be an epaulet, by pointing to the epautet on the shoulder of the Commander of one of His Majesty's
Ships then present. It was evident that this boy was carried on board of the Nova Sorte by
Lieutenant Rothery himself, and that, therefore, he could not possibly have witnessed a previous
embarkation of Slaves, and a subsequent landing of some ‘of them, and the concealment of
others on board of the Nova Sorte ; as the Proctor for the Capturs appeared to have understood;
‘by the interpretation of Jevay Andrews, in the commuuications with the boy before he was
brought into Court. It was then asked by the Court, whether the-Proctor for the Captors
avas disposed to pursue the examiuations of the boy any further, and he declined any
further examination, unless it should be permitted to take place out of Court; T
am sure that any reflecting person who has witnessed, or has heard of the oceur-
rence that I have stated, will be satisfied that the Court would have acted very wrong,

if, after that occurrence, a private examination, with a view to the objects which this boy was
originally expected to prove, had been permitted. It is indeed obvious, that this boy, embarked, as
he must certainly have been, by Lieutenant Rothery, could not prove any thing that had pie-
viously passed on board, and as to what might. have passed, after the embarkations made by
Lieutenant Rothery, the Court cannot possibly be bound to look into such subsequent matters for
acts of illegal Slave-trade, on the part of the Master of the Nova Sorte, or of any of those con-
nected with that Vessel, neither is it possible that such acts ot those Parties, could be found in
these subsequent matters. :

‘Lhe woman, named Cosebah, having said, that some of the Slaves of the shipment, in which
she went, were kept on board of the Nova Sorte, while others were landed and carried into the bush
with her; although I thought her evidence not entitled to myeh consideration, both because she
said the Snapper was at that Place, and io her view when she embarked, that being in the day-
time, as on account of many circumstances inthe matters stated by her; yet, as some of the male
Slavs had said, that from the time that they were put below, on the approach of the English Man-
of-War, they were kept below until the English released them, I did examine and consider very
miuutely, whether that concealment after an embarkation, made by the Master of the Nova Sorte,
hefore the approach of the Snapper, and continued during the presence of the Snapper, could be _
tne, I found that the supposition was subject to a multitude of inconsistencies, amounting to
absolute impossibility, , , ue

Those who say they were so concealed are inconsistent with themselves ; for they say, that they
were tour days on board before the arrival of the Man of;War, and that they were four days
below before they were liberated by the English, and that they were four days on boardbefore.the
English liberated them. They are inconsistent with the other Negroes, who were put on board at
the same time, and who remained on board with them ; never putting foot on shore, as all of them
agree, until they came to Sierra Leone. ;

These others say, that they came upon deck to breakfast; they were then washed; they were
then put down below, flogged with a rope or stick, if they did not go quickly, or if they made a noise
‘below. This was done always and every day in the same manner. When they were put below on
the approach of the Man-of-War, they were put in the same manner as at every other time. “The
hatchway was closed and a sail put over; some appear to say, that the sail was put over the
hatchway; others to say, that the sail was put over them; but they generally agree, thar this was
done alivays in the same manner, and that there was no particular place or manner of concealment
at any time,

I have said, that I consider it quite impossible that a number of Negroes requiring the long.
boat of the Schooner and three canoes to transport them to the shore, could have been con- .
cealed onbeard of the Schooner when Lieutenant Rothery visited her, on the 12th of October,
so as not to be discovered by him, Ido not think that 20 or 14 could have been so concealed,
these being the numbers stated to have been in the first shipment, by Negroes of that shipment ;
the more correct statement appears to be, that 20 was the uumber.
‘With what degree of minuteness Lieutenant Rothery made his search, it is not for me to

enquire ; 1am bound to suppose, that he made it as it ought to be made: hefound that the Vessel
was coinpletely ready for taking on board a carge of Slaves, having landed her former cargo, con
sisting of tobacca, rum, and cloth, except a few rolls of the former; that he looked into the
usual Slave-rooms, aud did not’ perceive any thing. 1 am most anxious to discharge my duty on
this Bench without offence to any body, and 1 hope I shall not be misunderstood so as to give
offence to Mr. Rothery. I must, bowever, take leave to-say, that the paragraph that I have just
eked, while it has noibiug incorrect, nothing inconsistent in it, ‘appears {o have beenadapted to  
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the désclosures made a few days before, in the Affidavits of Quashee and of Joachim, and to leave
room for the proof, that Slaves were on board, although not seen by Lieutenant Rothery, on his
looking into the usual Slave-rooms. It appears, however, by the concurrent testimony of the Wit-
nesses who were re-examined,that they were put below, on that occasion, in the same place, and in
the same manner as at all other times, that they were net put into any extraordinary place of con-
finement, nor in any extraordinary manner,

From all these circumstances, and after due consideration npon them, I am convinced that there
were not any Negroes concealed on board the Nova Sorte, at the time when Lieutenant Kothery
visited her, on the 12th October, and kept in cancealment for.four days after, which would be two
days after Lieutenant Rothery took possession, on the 14th of the same Month, those of such
Slaves, who came upon deck to eat and to wash every day during that time, being unseen from
the Snapper. ; ;

From the best view that I can form of the whole Case, as it has devolved to me for decision,
J am persuaded that these Negroes, re-examined by me, were in the first shipment of twenty
Negroes, put on board at the instance of Lieutenant Rothery, and that what they call the coming
of the Man-of-War, is the final capture and bringing away ot the Nova Sorte. Oue of the Negroes
says, he did not know the difference between English and Portuguese, otherwise than as he was
told’; and again, he says, he knows the English as having delivered them, This explanation will
reconcile some of the circumstantial inaccuracies, more or less to be found at all times in the
evidence of all Negroes, One of the Negroes says, they were fed during the time by the English -
cook; another says, that while they were below he heard a firing, a circumstance that might
have admitted explanation on the part of the Captors, by shewing at what times and in what
manner, for what occasion and purposes the Suapper fired. 1 do think it one of the most extra-
ordinary features of this very extraordinary Case that, although Lieutenant Rothery was of ne-
cessity accompanied by his boat’s crew, not one of them is brought or tendered to confirm his
statements, or to refute those of the other Party, especially the allegations of Francisco Gomez,
who says, that the Officer who boarded the said Polacca ordered his men to go below and search,
which they did, This Gomez also says, that a boat came from the Snapper the next day, and
left some men; that these men were afterwards taken away, and that a canoe with Slaves came.
from a-stern of the Snapper, accompanied by a boat from the Brig-of-War. The Slaves were
then ordered out of a canoe on board the Polacea, and although the Master of the Polacca ob-
jected to receive them, the Officer of the Brig-of-War enforced compliance. Allthese allegations,
or such parts of them as could be contradicted or explained, were open to the testimony of the
Officers and men ot the Snapper, buat from that Vessel we have not more than two Affidavits ot
Lieutenant Rothery himself,

I havenow only to add one circumstance further. In the progress of the examinations instituted
by me, I thought it my duty.to consult with Mr. Gregory and Mr, Altavilla, in order to ascertain
whether the impression of their minds- coincided with mine: I had the satisfaction to find that
their opinions were at every stage precisely the same. :
On asking Mr. Gregory, while the woman Cesebah and the two men confronted with her were

under examination on Monday, whether he thought that the supposition of a concealment of
Slaves on board, during the time from the arrival of the Snapper until the seizure, was entitled to
consideration, so as to make it a matter of duty to investigate'it particularly? Mr. Gregory said,
that such a supposition could not be reconciled with the statement of Mr. Rothery’s Affidavit of
the 10th of January, nor with the numbers of the Negroes stated in that Affidavit. Those num-
bers are 20 in the first shipment, and 102 after; the whole amounting to 122, The Reports of
the Marsha) and the Medical Officer, mentioned 122 as the total number brought to this Colony.
Now, nottiing can be more clear than, if one single Negro was concealed on board at the time of
Lieutenant Rothery’s first shipment, that Negro must be still unproduced, for he would make 123
if he had come forth, and every one of his companions would make one more, It is a matter of
simple addition J-am, therefore, convinced that there was neither an embarkation and relanding,

_ Dor an embarkation and a concealment on board of those so embarked.
My opinion is, that the Nova Sorte should be restored, and 1 am happy in being enabled to say

that it is the unanimous opinion of the Court,
Mr. Gregory.said, that he should desert his duty if he did not declare that the opinion that had-

been pronounced by Mr, Fitzgerald, was the unanimous opinion of the Court; -he, Mr, Gregory,
owed it to his situation, to bis Colleagues, and to himself, to say, that the evidence of the Neg?oes
that had been given in open Court had changed his opinion upon the Case; he concurred in opivion-
with his Colleagues, that the Nova Sorte should be restored to the Claimant.
The Proctor for the Captor then addressed himself to Mr, Gregory, and asked Mr. Gregory how

it happened that his opinion was so much altered from whatit had been; he, Mr. Gregory, having
placed so. much. reliance upon the evidence of Quashee? Mr. Gregory said, that he would tell the
Proctor for the Capter how this alteration bad takenplace. .Quashee said, that a certain number
of Slaves had been embarked and relanded from the Nova Sorte by the Portuguese. Now, some
of the Slaves thus said to have been embarked and relanded, positively declared that having been:
embarked at Mina Piccaninny they were never relanded there, neither had they, to use their own -
expression, put their feet on shure until they came to Sierra Leone.
The Proctor for the Captor moved, that as the Slaves that had been. brought to Sierra Leone

on board of the Nova Sorte were not claimed by the Master of that Vessel, the Court would
decree their freedom, and that Certificates of emancipation should be given to them.

Mr. Altavilla would not interfere.with the Slaves in any manner, as the Slaves bad been diss
Gaimed by the. Mast: of the Nova Sorte, aud as the Vessel had’notbeen condemned, ,

,  
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Mr. Fitzgerald was rather disposed to grant Certificates of emancipation to the Slaves of
the Nova Sorte, conceiving that the spirit of the Convention guaranteed the freedom of Negroes
in the situation of those on board of the Nova Sorte.
Mr, Gregory also thought that the‘ spiric of the Convention guaranteed the freedom of such

Negroes, but he did not think himself authorised to concur with Mr. Fitzgerald in a Decree, en-
titling the Negroes in question to Certificates of emancipation, when he had in recollection Mr.
Secretary Canning’s disapproval of the proceedings of the British Commissioners in the Case of
the Spanish Schooner Rosalia, which proceedings, as Mr. Canning stated, might lay the foun
dation of a Claim for Bounties for the Slaves of that Vessel, as if her seizure had been meritorious.
Jt was not disavowed that the object in moving for Certificates of emancipation for the Slaves of
the Nova Sorte was to lay a foundation for a Claim for Bounties. Mr, Gregory conceived it to
be his duty not to give ground for such a Claim, as he could not hold the seizure of the Nova
Sorte to have been meritorious, he having concurred in a Decree for her liberation.

It was directed that the Slaves should be delivered over to the Colonial Government, under
whose care they would share in the happiness of their brethren in this Coloriy.. The British Com-
missioners said that they would submit to the British Government the question—whether or not
these Negroes should receive Certificates of emancipation ?

The question of costs, damages and expences, the Commissioners said they would take into
consideration. It being, however, represented by the Registrar, that much trouble and inconve-
nience would be saved if the matter of costs, &e. were referred to him; the Commissioners agreed
that they should be so referred, But at the outset, the Commissioners decreed that the Claimant
was not entitled to demurrage, as the Nova Sorte must be taken to be under 100 tons burthen,
upon a comparison of some of her Papers. These Papers were the Royal Passport and two Official
Certificates given at Balia, touching light dues: particular mention is made of these Papers at the —
commencement of this Report. The Proctor for the Claimant subsequently prayed that the Nova
Sorte might be admeasured, in order that her real burthen might be ascertained. The admeasure~
ment of the Nova Serte was accordingly taken; her burthen was ascertained to be eighty-three
tons and fifteen ninety-fourths of a ton, English, which would not be one hundred Portuguese tons,

(Signed) E, GREGORY,

   

Second Inclosure in No. 46.

Papers in the Case of the Portuguese Schooner Nova Sorte,
E. C. Lima, Master,

SCHEDULE,

1. Afiidavit of Lieutenant Rothery ~ ~ ~ » - -. December 20; 1622.
.2, Deelaration of Lieutenant Rothery - - - = - ‘. _ — =
3. Surgeon’s Report - - - - - - ¢ - 7 — —
4. Marshal's Report == ~ = - - = - — — —
4. Petition for Monition - ~ ~ - = - ~  - _ _~
6. Monition - - - - » ~ - -  —_ —_
7. Examination of E, C. Lima = = - s - ~ — ee
8, Examination of José Luis Fernandez - - ~ - - 4 — 27, —
9. Medical Report - ~ - = - - -r 8 « — 30, —
10, Petition of Proctor for Captor, with Affidavits annexed “ - January “7, 1823,
11. Examinations of Accootoo, Desay, Cooma, Acoopee, Caweaw, Elooko _ 8, —
12. Examinations of Master, Boatswain, and Cook, of the Nova Sorte ~ _ —
13. Examination of Joachim - - - - - - - ~ ee
14, Affidavit of Lieutenant Rothery - - - - ~ ~ 10, —
15. Petition of Proctor for Captor, for speedy trial - , = — —_
16. Affidavit of Quashee = - - - - - * ~ ~~ 14, —
17. Petition ot Proctor for Captor + = > - * - - — 21, —
38. Affidavit of Lieutenant Rothery - - - * - — a ae
19. Claim, with Affidavit of Master of Nova Sorte - * . - —_ 23, —
2), Petition of Proctor for Captor, with Examination of Cosebah

annexed. - - - - - - ~ 8 - . — 24, —
21. Petition of Proctor, for Captor, with Examination of Joachim

annexed == - - - - - - - - ~ — —
22. Affidavits of Francisco José Belem, José Luis Fernandez, and

Francisco Gomez - - os - - - - - — 23, —
-23, Examination of Desay + - - - - = - ~ February. 1,
24. Examination ofQuamin - ~ - ~ = - - so —
25, Examination of Appear - - = - - “ = =" — re ene
26. Examination of Accomo.- - - - - - - « — —
27, Examination of Quashee - - - - _» - -  -« — 3 —
28. Examination of Accoottoo « - » - ” -. 0 —_ ae
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99, Examination of Accotia - - February 3, 1823,
30. Examination of Cosebah ~ -
31, Re-examination of Accotia -
32. Re-examination ofAccootoo -
33, Further examination of Accootoo
34. Examination of Lochoo. - -
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(1.) Affidavit of Lieutenant Rothery. December 20, 1822.

 

‘Our Sovereign Lord The King, against thePolacca or Vessel Nova Sorte, Estevao Cazado da
Silva, Master, her tackle, apparel, and furniture, and the goods, wares, merchandize, and
Slaves on board the same, taken by His Majesty's Brig-of-War Snapper, Lieutenant
Thomas Henry Rothery, Commander, and brought to Sierra Leone.

APPEARED personally, Thomas Henry Rothery, Lieutenant, Commander of His Majesty’s
Brig-of-War Snapper, duly authorised and empowered, according to the provisions of the Addi-
tional Convention to the Treaty between His Britannick Majesty and His Most Faithful Majesty,
to make seizures of Vessels under Portuguese Colours engaged in the Slave-trade,’ being duly
sworn, maketh oath, that, on the 14th day of the Month of October 1822, being in Latitude
6 deg. 5 min, North, and Longitude 1 deg. 25 min, East, he seized and detained the Polacca or
Vessel called Nova Sorte, whereof Estevao Cazado da Silva was Master, by reason that the said
Vessel was employed in the Traffick in Slaves, contrary to the existing Treaties entered into with
His Britannick Majesty and His Most Faithful Majesty The King of Portugal. And the Depo-
nent further maketh oath, that the Papers, Writings, and Documents hereunto annexed, marked
from No. 1, to No. 23, inclusive, were given or delivered up to this Deponent by the Master ofthe
said Vessel, and that the same are now brought and delivered up in the same plight and condition
as when so received by this Deponent, without any fraud, addition, subduction, alteration, or em-
bezzlement whatever, save the marking and numbering thereof.

(Signed) T. H, ROTHERY.

On the 20th Day of December 1822, the said Thomas Henry Rothery was duly sworn
to the truth of this Affidavit, before me,

(Signed) D. M. HAMILTON, Registrar.

 

(2.) Declaration of Lneutenant Rothery. December 20,1822.

1, THOMAS HENRYROTHERY, Lieutenant, Commander of His Britannick Majesty's Brig-
of-War Snapper, hereby declare, that,on the 14th Day of October 1922, being at Mina Piccaninny,
in Lat: 6 ad. 5 m. North, Long. 1 d. 25 m. East, of London, I then and there seized
and detained the Polacca or Vessel called Nova Sorte, sailing under Portuguese Colours, and:com-
manded by Estevao Cazado da Silva, bound from Bahia. to..Molembo,. for being engaged in the
unlawful Traffick in Slaves, coutrary to the Convention entered intobetween His BritannickMajesty
and His Most Faithful Majesty The King of Portugal.
And I further declare, that, on the 7th Day of August 1822, I boarded the said Vessel,

she lying and being at anchor at the said Port of Mina Piccaninny, in Latitude ‘and Longitude
aforesaid, atwhich time she had on board her cargo of merchandize complete, as it was shipped
at Bahia.

‘And. I further declare that, on boarding the said Vessel, on the 14th Day of October
aforesaid, I found that the said cargo had been Janded at the same Place, viz :—Mina Picca-
ninny-aforesaid ; and had been there disposed of by the said Master and the Supercargo for a
cargo of Slaves,

(Signed) T. H. ROTHERY.
Given.on board His Majesty’s Ship Snapper, this 14th Day of October.1822.

Thomas. Henry Rothery maketh oath and saith, that theDeclaration by him on_ this
‘Sheet of Paper written, was and is true. (Signed) ’ T. H. ROTHERY.,

Sworn this 20th day of December 1822.
(Signed) | D.M. HAMILTON, Registrar.

 

(3.) Medical Report. December 20, 1822.

The Report. of John Shower, Surgeon.

HAVING proceeded on board the Portuguese Schooner Nova Sorte, Prize to His Majesty's
Brig Snapper, Thomas Henry Rothery, Commander, with 122 Slaves on board,* with the Marshal
of the Court, I find the whole of them, with the exception of two, who are rather emaciated,
to be in a good state of health and strength, and perfectly tree from any disease,

Sierra Leone, December 20, 1822. (Signed) JOHN SHOWER, Surgeon:

* Men 70, Boys 21, Women £9, Girls @;—Total 122.
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(4.) Marshals Report. December 20, 1822.

The Report of the Marshal of the Portuguese Mixed Commission Court.

THE Marshal has to report that he has proceeded, in company with the Medical Officer, on
board the Vessel which has just come to anchor in the Harbour, and finds her to be the Portuguese

Hermaphrodite Nova Sorte, captured by His Majesty’s Brig Snapper, off Mina Piccaninny, with
122 Slaves on board, who are ail well.

Sierra Leone, December 20, 1822. (Signed) Rp. GROVE, for the Marshal.

(5.) Petition for Monition.

Our Sovereign Lord The King, against the Polacca or Vessel Nova Sorte, whereof Estevao
Cazado da Silva was Master, her tackle, apparel and furniture, and the goods, wares, mer-
chandize and Slaves on board the same, taken by His Majesty’s Brig of War Snapper,
Thomas Henry Rothery, Lieutenant, Commander, and brought to Sierra Leone.

THE Petition of Thomas Henry Rothery, Lieutenant, Commander of His Britaunick Majesty’s
Brig-of-War Snapper, humbly sheweth,—‘That the said Polacca, or Vessel, was seized and taken
at Mina Piccaninny, in or about the Latitude of 6d.'5m. North, by reason that she was employed
in the Traffick in Slaves, contrary to the existing Treaties entered. into with His Britannick
Majesty and His Most Faithful Majesty The King. of Portugal, and brought into this Port for
adjudication.

' That your Petitioner has filed the Papers, Writings, and Documents found on board the said
Vessel, with the Declaration in writing of the said Thomas Henry Rothery, ia the Registry of
the Court : —Your Petitioner, therefore, prays, that all Persous whatsoever, who have, or pretend
to have, any right, title and interest in the said Polacca Nova Sorte, and her lading so seized
and taken, be monished, cited and called to Judgmént, so that they appear before your Horiours,
at such time and place as your Honours shall deem meet, to shew and allege in due form of Law,
a reasonable and lawful cause, if any they have, why the said Vessel, and her lading, so seized and
taken, should not be pronounced, at the time of the seizure of the same, to have been employed in
an illegal Traffick in Slaves, and that it may further be intimated to the said Persons, that if they
donot appear at such time and place as your Honours shall appoint, and shew a reasonable and |
just cause to the contrary, your Honours will proceed to adjudication, and will pronounce the
Polacca and her cargo forfeited, and to be disposed of as divected by the said Treaties, and will pro-
nounce all and singular the Slaves found on board to be emancipated :—and your Petitioner will
ever pray, ;

(Signed) T.H. ROTHERY.

 

(6.) Monition. December 20, 1822.

George the Fourth, by the Grace of God, of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and
Ireland, King, Defender of the Faith, to Charles Borrett, Gentleman, or his Deputy
whomsoever, greeting.

WHEREAS our trusty and welt-beloved Edward Gregory, and Joao Yacomo Altavilla, Esquires,
His Britannick and His Most Faithful Majesties Commissary Judges, and Edward Fitzgerald,

. Esquire, His Britannick Majesty’s Commissioner of Arbitration, appointed by Us and His Most
Faithful Majesty The King ot Portugal, to hear aud determine all and all manner of causes and
complaints, as to Ships, Goods and Slaves, seized and taken for the illegal Traffick in Slaves, and
in contravention of the Treaties or Conventions between Us aud His said Mose Faithful Majesty,
specially constituted and appointed, rightly and duly proceeding, at the Petition of Lieutenant
Thomas H. Rothery, Commander of Our Ship-of-War Snapper, have decreed all Persons in
general, who have, or pretend to have, any right, title, or interest in the Brigantine or Vessel
called the Nova Sorte, whereof Estevao Cazado de Lima was Master, her tackle, apparel, and
furniture, and the goods, wares, merchandizé, and Slaves, on board the same, taken by Our said
Ship-of-War Snapper, to be monished, cited, and called to Judgment at the time and place under-
written, and to the effect hereinafter expressed (justice so requiring),
We,theretore, strictly charge and command you, jointly and severally, that you omit not, but

that by affixing these Presents upon one of the Pillars on the Crane at the Publick Wharf, at the
usual time of the publick resort of Merchants. andother’Persons thither, and by leaving thereon
affixed a true Copy thereof, you do monish and cite, or cause to be monished and cited, peremp-
-torily, all persons in general; who have, or pretend to have, any right, title, or interest in the said
Brigantine, her tackle, apparel and furniture, and the goods, wares, merchandize and Slaves, laden
therein, to appear. before-the said Commissary Judges and Commis-ioner of Arbitration, in. our
Colony of Sierra Leone, updn the 3d day after service of these Presents; if it bé a Courteday, or
else on the Court-day next following, between the hours of Ten and Twelve A. Mt. of the same
day, then and there to shew and allege, in due form of Law, a reasonable and lawful cause, if they  
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have any, why the said Brigantine, her tackle, apparcl, and furniture, and the goods, wares, mer-
chandize, and Slaves on board the same, should net be pronouncei to have been employedillegally,
and to.be disposed of as is directed by the ‘I'reaties ov-Conventions in such case made and pro~
vided; and further, to do and receive in this behalf as to justice shall appertain, and that you duly
intimate, or cause to be intimated, peremptorily, to ad] Persons afuresaid in general, to whom, by
the tenonr of these Presents, we also intimate, that if they shall sot-shew a reasonable and lawful
cause to-the contrary, the aforesaid Commissary Judges and Commissioner of Arbitration do in-
tend, and will- proceed to adjudication on the said capture, and may pronounce that the said Bri-

- gentine Nova Sorte, her tackle, apparel and furniture, and the goods, wares, and merchandize as
aforesaid, are liable and subject to be adjudged, forfeited, and to be disposed of, as directed by the
‘Treaties in that case made and provided; and also to pronounce all and singular the Slaves to be
emancipated, the absence, or rather contumacy, of the Persons’ so cited and intimated in anywise
notwithstanding; and that you duly certify to the said Coremissary Judges and Commissioner of
Arbitration what you shall do in the premises, together with these presents.

Given at Sierra Leone aforesaid, under the Seal of the said Commission, this 20th day
of December, in the Year of Our Lord 1822, and of Gur Reign the third.

(Signed)- D. M. HAMILTON, Registrar.
ee

(7.) Lvamination of the Master, December 26, 1822.
ESTEVAO CAZADO DE LIMA, Master on board the Schooner NovaSorte,being produced,

sworn, and examined upon the Standing Interrogatories, deposeth as follows :—
To the Ist Interrogatory.—Saith, he was born at Pernambuco;he also resides at that Place 3 he

is.a Portuguese Subject ; has not been a Subject to any other Prince or State ; he is not
- Iyarried, . ;

To the 3d.—Suaith, he was appointed to the command of sald Schooner by the Owner Vences-
Nair Moguel de Aloda; ‘said Owner resides.at Bahia; he is a Portuguese; took posses-
sion of said Vessel at Bahia, on the twenty-first day of May last past ; possession was given
him by the aforesaid Owner; has known said Schooner for some time previous ta his
‘taking possession of her ; first saw her at Bahia ; does not know where she was built.

‘To the Oth.—Saith, be was present at the seizure and detention concerning which he:is.now
- examined ; does not know upon what pretence or for what reason said Vessel was seized 3.’
she sailed under Portuguese Colours ; had no, other Colours on board. .

To the 6th.—Saith, the name of the Schooner is the Nova Sorte; has been called ‘by that
: maine ever since be has known her 3 does not know of her being called by any other nanie

or names; does not know her tonnage or -burthen; does not know the total number of
' Officers and mariners on-board (exclusive of himself) ; they are all Portuguese ; .they all
came on board at one Port ; they were.all hired by the Boatswain, does not know at what.
time, at Bahia. oe . _- . oo Co,

To the 7th.—Saith, neither himself, Officers, or crew, ‘had any ‘part, share, -or interest, ‘either in
the Vessel or her lading ; he was Captain on board the said Schooner; there weré two

' Passengers on board ; they were not. secreted at the time of capture; the name of one of
the Passengers was Joze Joaquim Refroza ; ‘the name of the other he does not know.; they.
were both Portuguese ; the former was a Minister ; the other was his (the Minister's) own
Slave.; they both canie on beard at Elmina; in-the Month of July last ; they were going.
to Bahia; the Minister was going there to be confirmed as a Head Minister; and
the other as his servant ; neither of them bad any interest either in the Vessel. or her ©
lading. . .

To the 8th.—Saith, the present voyage commenced at Bahia, and was to ‘have ended at the same
Place; the last-clearing Port, -previous to capture,wasElmina; said Schoener during’ the
-voyage.in which she wastaken, touched and-anchored at Elmina 3 and from thatPlace: to
Mina Piccaninny; she anchored and touched at the former Place for water and provisions ;.
and at the latter Place also for water and provisions; no-communication took place between
the boats and :the shore, uo

To the 9th_—Saith, he first saw the capturingVessel-at Mina Piccaninny, in Latitude 6deg,
North, in the Month of August last past ; said Schooner was captured at Mina Piccaninny ;
does not know the time Said Schooner was captured, She was at an anchor at the time; her

- course. was at all times, when the weather would permit, directed to ‘the Ports or Places for
which she appears destined by hier Papers. ; oo, foe .

To the 10th.—Saith, no-guns are mounted on board the said Schooner ; one musket is on board;
no resistance was made at the time of capture;-had no instructions for'resisting, or instructions --
to avoid, or escape from, capture ; or for destroying, concealingor refusing to deliver up, any
or either of theSchooner’s Documents or Papers. oo . .

To the | lth.—Saith, Vericeslair Moguel de Alma was the Owner of -said Schooner at the time
of capture; he knows him tobe the Owner, - because he gave possession of said
Schooner to him, (this Deponent) ; -said-Owner is a Portuguese’; he resides at Bahia.

To the 12th.—Saith, he does not know-if any bill of -sale-was-made:to the aforesaid Owner 3. he
verily believes, that if the said. Schoener should be restored, she will belong to the aforesaid
Owner, and to none others, me : .

To the 13th.—Saith, the aforesaid Owneristhe lader and Owner of the merchandize on board, and
Joaquim de Mererez is the-Consignce; they are both Portuguese, they-reside at Bahia, and
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carry on their business at that Place; has-resided there for a considerable time ; does not
know where. they resided before; the remaining part of the cargo which is now on board,:
was to have been delivered at Mina Piccaninay, for the account, risk, or beuefit of the afore-
said Owner ; the Consignee had not any interest in the merchandize; he can take upon him-
self to swear, that if the merchandize should be restored, it will belong to the aforesaid.
Owner, and to none others ; his ground for such belief is, that the cargo is mentioned in the
Papers, as belongingto the said Owner,

To the 14th.—Saith, he does not know what cargo the Vessel brought out on her last
voyage; the present cargo consists of tobacco, water and provisions, not any Slaves have
been taken on board from the time they commenced trading; said Schooner ‘anchored and
‘touched at Princes Island since capture.

To the 15th,—Suaith, the Passports and other Papers are entirely true and fair; knows of no:
matter or circumstance to affect their credit:

To the 16th.—Saith, the said Schooner was provided with a Royal Passport, conformable to the-
Model annexed to the Convéntion between His Britannick Majesty and His Most Faithful
Majesty, signed at London, the 28th of July 1817. He received such Royal Passport in the
Month of May last-past; said Passport was delivered to him by the Owner ; Tritao Pid da
Santoz was the Minister of Marine of His Most Faithil Majesty, at the time he reeeived
such Passport ; he is also the Principal Naval Authority from whence said Schooner cleared
out ; the signatures affixed to the said Passport ave in every respect true and genuine.

To the 17th.—Saith, not any of the Papers, Bills of Lading, Letters or other Writings, which
were on board the said Schooner at the time she took her departure trom the last clearing
Port, and before the capture, were burnt, torn, thrown overboard, destroyed, concealed, or
attempted to be concealed at any time; not any of the Papers. were delivered out of the:
Vessel,

To the 18th.—Saith, he does not know if there are any other Papers or Writings in any other
Country.

To the 19th.—Saith, he does not know if any Charter Party was signed for the voyage.
To the 20th.—Saith, he does not know if the Schooner or cargo was insured; the direction and

mabagement with respect to her employment in Trade, has usually been perfornredby
the Supercargo; the Supercargo corresponds iu the concerns of the Vessel aud cargo.

‘To the 2lst.—Saith, bulk was first broken at Elmina, then at Mina Piccaniony.
To the 22d.—Saith, not any Slave or Slaves, bave at any time been put or received on board the

said Schooner during thepresent voyage in which she was taken. , ,

(Signed) ESTEVAO CAZADG LA,

his
PHILLIP x ROMAINE,

Mark.

Taken and sworn this 26th day of December 1822, threugh the interpretation of
Phillip Romaine, who was also duly sworn te interpret faithfully, before me,

(Signed) D, M. HAMILTON, Registrar.

 

, (8.) Examinationof Joze Luis Fernandez. December 27, 1822.

JOZE LUIS FERNANDEZ, Boatswain on board the Schooner Nova Sorte, being produced,
sworn and examined upon the Standing Interrogatories, deposeth as follows :—

To the 3d Interrogatory.—Saith, the name of the Master, or- Commander of said Schooner, is
Estevao Cazado de Lima; has known him about six months ; he was born at Pernambuco ;
has no fixed place of residence; he is not married. .

To the 4th.—Suaith, Vencesllair Moguel de Almda appointed the Master to the command; he
resides at Bahia; said Master took possession of her at Bahia, about nineMonths igo ;
possession was given him by the aforesaid Qwner; has known said Vessel sinceJanuary last;

first saw her at Bahia; she was built at Bahia. .
To the 5th.—Saith, he was present at the time said Schooner was seized and taken ; does-not

know why she was so seized; said Schooner sailed ander Portuguese Colours; had no other
Colours ow board. .

To the 6th.—-Saith, the name of said Schooner is the Nova Sorte; does not know how long.she
has been called by that name; does not know of her being called by any other name or
names; does not know her tonnage or burthen; there were seventeen Officers and mariners
on board, (exclusive of the Master), they are all Portuguese ; they-all came on beard at-one
Port, they were hired by himselt about seven or eight Months ago at Bahia. oo,

To the 7th.—Suaith, neither himself, Officers ov mariners on board, had anypart, share, or. interest,
eitherin the Schooner, or herladi:g; he is Boatswain on. board said Schooner; there were
two Passenzers on board said Schoouer; they were not secreted at the time of capture ; does.
not know their names ; they were both Portuguese;one was a Minister, and the other his (the
Minister's) servant ; they were taken on board at Elmina, about three or four Months ago ;
they were destined to Bahia; the Minister was going to Bahia to be confirmed a Head Minis»
der, and the otherashis servant.; had not any interest either in the Vessel or cargo. —  
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To the 8th.—Saith, the present voyage commenced at Bahia, and was to have ended there; the
last clearing Port said Schooner sailed from, previous to capture, was Elmina ; said Schooner,
during the voyage in which she was taken, anchored and touched at Elmina, and Mina Picca-
ninny; she anchored at the first Place to take in water and to repair the main-boom ; and at,
the latter for water and to repair the top-gallant-mast ; no communication took place between
the boats and the shore, _

To the 9ch.~-Saith, he first saw the capturing Vessel at Mina Piccaninny, about four Months ago ;
said Schooner was captured off Mina Piccaninnyat an anchor; her course at all times, when
the weather would permit, was directed to the Ports or Places for which she was destined by
her Papers. , :

To the 10th —Saith, no guns are mounted on board the said Schooner; there is one musket on
board; no resistance was made at the time of capture ; had no instructions for resisting eap~'

_ture, or for destroying, or refusing to deliver up any ofthe Schooner’s Documents or Papers.
To the 11th.—Suaith, Vencesllair Moguel de Alma. was the Owner of the Vessel at the time she

was seized ; knows him to be the Owner, because he gave him the command as Buatswain ;.
he is a Portuguese; he resides at Bahia; does not know how long he has resided there.

To the {2th.—Saith, he does not know if any Bill of Sale was made to the aforesaid Owner; if,
the said Schooner should be restored, she will belong to the aforesaid Owner, and none others,

To the 13th.—Saith, the aforesaid Owner is the lader of the cargo, and Joaquim de Mererez is
the Consignee; they are Portuguese; they reside at Bahia, and carry on their business there ;
does not know how long they have resided there; the cargo now on board was to be delivered
at Molembo, for the risk or benefit of the aforesaid Owner; the Consignee had not any
interest in the cargo; he can take upon himself to swear, that if the merchandize should be:
restored, the same did, does, and will belong to the aforesaid Owner, and to none others ; bis
ground for such belief is, that he never saw any other Owner.-

To the 14th.—Saith, he does not know what the Schooner brought out on her last voyage; her
‘present cargo consists of water, palm-oil, and some yams; no Slaves have been taken on
board siace the time of commencing trade ; said Schooner anchored and touched at Princes
Island since capture,

To the 15th.—Saith, that all the Passports and other Papers are entirely true and fair; knows of
_ ho circumstance to affect their credit. ,

To the 16ih.—Suaith, the said Schooner was provided with a Royal Passport, conformable to the
Model annexed to the Convention between His Britannick Majesty and His Most Faithfal
Majesty, signed at London, on the 28th July 1817; does not know the time when the said
Passport was delivered ; nor who delivered it to the Captain; the name of the Minister of
Marine of His Most Faithful Majesty, is Tritao Pio da Santoz,at the time the said Passport
was delivered ; he is also the principal Naval Authority, from whence the Schooner cleared
out ; the signatures affixed to the said Passportare true and genuine, .

To the.17th.—Saith, not any of the Papers, or other Writings, have been burnt, torn, thrown.
overboard, or destroyed at any time; nor have any of the Papers been delivered out of the.
Vessel. ;

To the 18th.—Saith, there are not in any other Country any Papers belonging to the said Schooner. .
To the 19th.—Saith, not any Charter Party was signed for the voyage.
To the 26th.—Sauith, neither the Vessél nor her cargo is insured ; the direction and management,

with respect to the employment in trade, has usually been performed by the Supercargo ; the
Supercatgo corresponds on the concerns of the Vessel and cargo.

To the 21st,—Saith, bulk was first broken at Elmina, and then at Mina Piccaninny.
To the 22d.—Saith, no Slave or Slaves have been on board at any time during the voyage in.

which the Schooner was taken, (Signed) JOZE LUIS FERNANDEZ,
his

PHILLIP x ROMAINE,
, Mark, we

‘Taken and sworn, this 27th day of Deceniber 1822, through the interpretation of Phillip
Romaine, who was also duly sworn to interpret faithfully, before me,

{Signed} D.M. HAMILTON,Registrar.

 

(9.) Medical Report. December 30, 1822.

‘The Report of John Shower, Surgeon,

- HAVING been on board of the Portuguese Schooner Nova Sorte, and examined into the state
of health of the Slaves on board, I find that since my last Report, many of them have been affected
with bowel complaints, which still continue, and the number increasing daily: as this is the case,
TYhumbly submit that the whole of the Slayes be allowed to be landed as soon as possible,

Sierra Leone, December 30, 1822, JOHN SHOWER, Surgeon,  
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(10.) Petition of Proctor, with Affidavit annexed. January 4, 1823.

THE Petition of Christopher Austin, on the part and behalf of Lieutenant ‘Thomas Henry
Rothery, Commander of His Britannick Majesty's Brig-of- War Snapper, humbly prays, that the
Commissioners will be pleased to alow theannexed Afiidavits, in the Case of the Portuguese Polacea
Nova Sorte, to be filed in their Honourable Court, And your Petitioner. wil ever pray.

Hee Town, Sierra Leone, January 4, 1828, (Signed) C, AUSTIN.

APPEARED petsonally, Quashee, who, upon examination, appears :to understand the prin-
ciples of Christianity, which he professes, and who was, consequently, first duly sworn om the
Holy Evangelists, deposeth aid saith, as fellows, viz. :— ,

That hewas the Slave of Captain Blenkaine, Governor of the British Fort of Accra; that
about the time Sir Charles M*Carthy, Governor and ‘Captain-General of this Colony and its
Dependencies, wisited the said Fort ef Accra, Deponent was by the said Captain Blenkarne given

toa woman, a Native of Africa, who then lived with the aforesaid Captain Blenkarne; that said

woman sold the Deponent ro aman named Quarte Cudjé, 9 Native of Africa, and resident at
Accra; that said Quarte Cudjé took Deponent, ironed by the wrists, in a canoe to a Place on the
Western Coast of Africa, called Mina Ptecaniany, and then and there sold him, the said Deponent,
to a Portuguese man, Master of the Portuguese Polacca Nova Sorte, wlrich Vessel was then and

there lying at anchor, viz. at the aforesaid Place, called Mina Piccaninny {which Portuguese
Master being spresent he identifies, and which Portuguese Polacca he points out lying at anchor ina
this Harbour); that Deponent being on the beach of the said Place, called Mina Piccaninny, he
then saw anil witnessed the embarkation of many men and women Slaves, Natives of Africa, on
board the long-boat-ef the said Polacca, which long-boat conveyed the said Slaves, and put them on
board the said Polacca, said Slaves being then and therein irons by the neck and wrists; that four
days after the aforesaid Slaves weve so put on board the aforesaid Vessel, he, the Deponent, with
other Slaves not then embarked, perceived aVessel approaching the said Place where said Polaeca was
dying at anchor, which Vessel he points out to ‘be His Britannick Majesty’s Brig-of-War Snapper;
that before the Sun rose on the following day, ‘he saw and witnessed the aforesaid Slaves, which
were so embarked, land-on the Beach of Mina Piccaninny eforesaid, from three canoes, and the
‘aforesaid long-boat, and that he was, with the said Slaves and others who were not embarked,
driven by thepeople ef Mina Piccaniany aforesaid inte the-bush to a considerable distance. ,

his
{Signed} QUASHER, x

“Taken and sworn the 4th day of January 1823, before me, Mark, .
(Signed) D. M. HAMILTON, Registrar.

PERSONALLY appeared, Joachim, a seaman on board the said Vessel, who being first duly
sworn-on the Holy Evangelists, through the interpretation of Quashee, one of the Slaves on board’
the suid Polacea, who states himself to have been a Slave ot Captain Plenkarne, Governor ot the
British Fort of Accra, and who, upon examination, appears to understand the principles of Chris-
tianity, and who was, consequently, first duly swernon the Holy Evangelists faithfully to inter.
pret, deposeth and saith, as follows, viz,:— :
Thatheds aseaman on board the said Portuguese Polacea Nova Sorte, in which Vessel he.

sailed from the Port.ofBahia, in the Brazils, about six-or seven Momths ago; that he made three
voyages to the Western Coast.of Africa, in.the said Vessel, viz, two voyages to the River Calabar,
cand one voyage to Mina Piccaninny, from which Places the said Vessel took at each time a cargo

of Slaves, Natives of Africa, to the aforesaid Port of Babia;- that about twe Months and a half.
ago, being at the aforesaid Port of Mina Piccaninny, on the Western CoastofAfrica, in the afore-
said Polacca, then and there lying at anchor, many men and women Slaves, Natives of Africa,
weve.then and there brought and received on board the said Polacca, at two several times, in the
long-boat belonging to the aforesaid Vessel, the said Slaves being ironed by. the neck and
hands in four separate chains; that four days after the said Slaves were so embarkedan boaril the
said Vesgel, a strange‘Vessel came in sight, which strange Vessel proved to ‘be His Britannick
Majesty's.Brig-ot- War Snapper; that on the appearanceof the said Brig-of-War, all the aforesaid
Slaves were driven by the Portuguese mariners of said Polacca into a part of the hold of said

Pulacea, (which place he describes to be under that part of the Vessel called the Fore Pic), and
that the said Slaves were then and there covered and concealed by sails and provisions, the Portu-
guese mariners of said Vessel threatening to stab with a kaife any.one ef the said Slaves whe
should speak or make any noise; that a short time alter Suu-set of the sanie‘day, the beat of the

English Brig-of-War aforesaid, came alongside the said Polacca, any shortly after left her; that
about the middle of the Night of that same day, the Portuguese mariners put into three canoes,
and the aforesaid long-boat, all the aforesaid Slayes then on board the said Polacca, viz..onechain
at Slaves into each boat, and conveyed them on shore to the aforesaid Place called Mina Picca-
ninny, and that Deponent remaining on beard the said Polacca, he docs not know how they were
after disposed of, ” bis

(Signed JOACHIM, x.
- Mark.

his
QUASHEE, x.

Taken and sworn the 4th day of January 1823, before me, Mark,
ASigned) D. M. HAMILTON, Registrar.
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(11.) Lwvamination of Accootoo, Desay, Cooma, Accoopoo, Caweaw, and
Llooko. January 8, 1823.

THE Petition of Christopher Austin, on the part and behalt of Lieutenant Thomas.Henry
Rothery, Commander of His Britanvick Majesty’s Brig-of-War Snapper, humbly sheweth,—that
your Petitioner, conceiving it requisite for the elucidation of the Case of the Portuguese Polacea
Nova Sorte, that the Interrogatories anuexed should be put to the following Witnesses, Accootoo,
Desay, Cooma, Men; Acoopee, Cawcaw,. Elooko, Women; they being Slaves, Natives of
Africa, on board the said Polacca, humbly prays, that your Honours will be pleased to order the
same:—and your Petitioner will ever pray.

Free Town, Sierra Leone, January 4th, 1823, (Signed) Cc. AUSTIN,

_ Questions to be put to the Witnesses above-named.
lst.--What is your name and Country ?
2d:—Are you a Slave, if so, who bought you? .
3d.—Who put you on board the Vessel which brought you here?
4th.—Point out that Vessel?
5th —Where was that Vessel lying at that time ?
6th.—Were you put on beard before the English Man-of-War came in sight, if so, how many

days before ?
-“th.—What did the Portuguese mariners of that Vessel do with you, on the appearauce of the

English Man-of-War2 :

ACCOGTOO, one of the Slaves on board the said Polacea being produced, sworn (by fetish, ae-
cording to the custom of his Ceuntry), and examined on Special luterrogatories annexed, by
permission of the Court, deposeth and saith as follows, viz:—

To the Ist.—-Saith, his name is Accootoo ant his Country, Pawpaw.
To the 2d —Saith, he is a Slave, and identifies the Captain of said Polacca as having bought him.
To the 3d.—Szith, the Portuguese Mariners of the Polacca put him on board the Vessel. which

brought him here. ,
To the 4th.—He points out the above-mentioned PoJacca now at anchor off Free Town.
To the S5th.—Saith, that the said Vessel was then lying eff Anucoo or MinaPiccaninny.
To the 6th.—Saith,he was put on board before the English Man-of-War came in sight; he was so

put on board four days before her coming in sight, _
To the 7th.—Saith, that on the appearance of the Man-of-War he was put down below, and

covered with sails and yams. his
(Signed) ACCOOTOO, x

Mark.
her :

JENNY x ANDREWS,
Mark, ‘

Taken and sworn the &th day of January 1823, through the interpretation of Jenny Andrews,
a Country-woman of. the examinant, who was first duly sworn on the Holy Evangelists
faithfully to interpret, before me, ;

(Signed) D. H. HAMILTON, Registrar. —

DESAY, one of the Slaves on beard the said Polacca, being produced, sworn, (by fetish, accord-
ing to the custom of bisCountry), and examined on Special Interrogatories annexed, by per-
mmission of the Court, deposeth and saith as follows, viz :—

To the Ist.—Saith, his name is Desay, his Country, Coromantin,
To the 2d.—Saith, he is a Slave, and was bought by the Captain of the Polacca afore-mentioned.
To the 3d.—Saith, he was put on board said Polacea by the Tewns-people of the Place at which

the Captain bought him, .
To. the 4th.—Points out the Polacca Nova Sorte, now lying off Free Town.
To the 5th.—Saith, the said Polacca was then lying off Mina Piccaninny.
To the 6th, Saith, he was pst on board four days before the appearance of the English Man-of-

War.
To the 7th.—Saith, that on the appearance of the English Man-of-War, the Portuguese mariners

put him and other Slaves below, and put sails over him and them, his
(Signed) DESAY. x.

x a Mark, /
her

JENNY x ANDREWS,
Mark,

Taken and swom the 8th day of January 1823, through the interpretation of Jenny
Andrews, who was first daly sworn on the Holy Evangelists, faithfully to interpret, before
me, . (Signed) D. M. HAMILTON, Registrar.
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COOMA; one of the Slaves on board the said Polacca, being produced, sworn, (by fetish, accord-
ing to the custom of his Country), and examined on Special Interrogatories annexed, by permis-
sion of the Court, deposeth and saith as follows, viz :—

To the Ist.—Saith, his name is Cooma, and his Country, Wigam.
To the 2d.—Saith, he is a Slave, and points out the Captain of said Polacca, who is present, as

having bought him.
To the 3d.—Saith, the Towns-people of the Town where said Captain bought him, put him on

board the Vessel which brought him here,
To the 4th.—Points out the Polacca Nova Sorte aforesaid, at anchor off Free Town.
To the 5th.—Saith, that the said Polacca was lying at Mina Piccaninny at the time he was put on

board her, ,
To the 6th —Saith, he was put on board the said Polacca tour days before the English Man-of-

War came in sight.
To the 7th.—Saith, that on the appearance of the English Man-of-War, the Portuguese mariners

of the Polacca put him below, and covered him with sails, his
(Signed) COOMA. x

Mark,

his
WILLIAM x WALKER.

Mark,

Taken and sworn the 8th day of January 1823, through the interpretation of William
Walker, a Corporal in the 24 West India Regiment, who was first duly sworn on the
Holy Evangelists, faithfully to interpret, before me,

(Signed) D. M. HAMILTON, Registrar.

ACOOPEE, one of the Slaves on board of the said Polacca, being produced, sworn, (by fetish >
according to the custom of her Country) and examined on Special Interrogatories annexed, by
permission of the Court, deposeth and saith as follows, viz:— :

‘To the Ist,—Saith, her name is Acoopee, and her Country, Choma. . .
To the 2d.—-Saith, she is a Slave, and identifies the Captain of the Nova Sorte as having bought

her.
To the 3d.—Saith, the Portuguese mariners put her on board the Vessel which brought her te.

this Place, , ;
To the 4th.— She points out the above-named Polacca, Nova Sorte, as the Vessel which brought

her here.
To the 5th.—Saith, that the Vessel was then lying off Mina Piccaninny.
To the 6th.—Saith, she was put on board the said Polacca Nova Sorte, four days before the

English Man-of-War came in sight.
To the 7th.—Saith, that on the appearance of the English Man-of-War, the Portuguese mariners

put her below, and covered her with sails, cher
(Signed) ACOOPEE. x

Mark,

his
WILLIAM x WALKER.

Mark.

Takea and sworn the 8th day of January 1823, through the interpretation of William
Walker, a Corporal of the 2d West India Regiment, who was first duly sworn on theHoly
Evangelists, faithfully to interpret, before me,

(Signed) D. M, HAMILTON, Registrar.

CAUCAW, one-of the Slaves on board the said Polacca, being produced, sworn (by fetish, ac-
cording to the custom of her Country) and examined on Special Interrogatories annexed, de-
poseth and saith as follows, viz:— .

To the Ist.—Saith, her name is Caucaw, and her Country, Tanjapau. :
To the 2d.—Saith, she is a Slave, and identifies the Captain Me -said Polacca Nova Sorte, as

having bought her. / .
To the 3d.—Saith, the Portuguese mariners of the Polacea put her on board the said Vessel

’ which brought her to this Place,
To the 4th.—She points out the Polacca Nova Sorte, now lying off Free Town, as the Vessel that

brought ber here,
To the 5th.—Saith, that the said Vessel was then lying off Mina Piccaniany.
To the 6th.—Saith, she was put on board said Polacca, four daysbefore the English Man-of-War

came in sight, . Coes -



Sierra Leone. (Portugal.) 135

To the 7th.—-Saith, that on the appearance of the English Man-of-War the Portuguese mariners
of said Polacca put her below in the Vessel and covered her over with sails,

her
(Signed) CAWCAW. x

Mark.
her

JENNY x ANDREWS,
Mark.

Taken and sworn the 8th day of January 1823, through the interpretation of Jenny Andrews,a Country-woman of the examinant, who was first duly sworn on the Holy Evangelists
faithfully to interpret, before me,

(Signed) D. M. HAMILTON, Registrar,
ELOOKO, one of the Slaves on board the said Polacca, being produced, sworn, (by fetish, accord-

ing to the custom of her Country), and examined on Special Interrogatories annexed, by per~
mission of the Court, deposeth and saith as follows, viz :—

To the Ist.—Saith, her name is Elooko, and her Country, Gean.
To the 2d-—Saith» she is a Slave, and identifies the Captain ofthe Polacea Nova Sorte, as having

bought her. .
To the 3d.—Saith, that the Portuguese mariners of the said Polacca put her on board the Vessel

which brought her here,
To the 4th.—She points out the above-mentioned Polacca Nova Sorte, now lying at anchor off

Free Town.
To the 5th.—Saith, that the said Vessel was then lying off MinaPiceaninny.
To the 6th.—Suith, she was put on board four days before the English Man-of-War came in sight,To the 7th.—Saith, that upon the appearance of the English Man-of-War, she was put below

and covered with sails, her
ELOOKO, x

Mark.
this. -

WILLIAM x WALKER, —
Mark,

_ Taken and sworn this 8th day of January 1823, through the interpretation of Willfam
Walker, a Corporal of the 2d West India Regiment, who was first duly sworn on the
Holy Evangelists, faithfully to interpret, before me,

(Signed) D. M. HAMILTON, Registrar.

(12.) Lwvamination of Master, Boatswain, and Cook. January 8, 1823.
THE Petition of Christopher Austin, on the part of Thomas Henry Rothery, Lieutenant and—

Commander of His Britannick Majesty's Brig-of-War Snapper, humbly sheweth,—that your
Petitioner, conceiving it necessary{for elucidating the Case of the Portuguese Polacca Nova Sorte,
that the annexed Special Interrogatories should be put to the Master, the Boatswain, and the
Cook of the said Polacca; humbly prays,—that your Honours will be pleased to order the same :—~
and your Petitioner will ever pray. :

Free Town, Sierra Leone, January 4, 1823, _ {Signed) C. AUSTIN,

Special Interrogatories to be put, with permission of the Court, to the Master
of the Portuguese Polacca Nova Sorte.

Ist.—-How much of your original cargo had you on board when captured?
2d.—Did it take all the remainder to purchase water and provisions ?
3d.—With what were you to have purchased your cargo of 353 Slaves at Molembo ? .
4th.—For what purpose was that part of the cargo, still on board, to have been landed at Mina

Piccaninny ? ,
5th.—Youremained at Mina Piccaninny four months ; can you say for what purpose you stayed

there so long? ,
6th.-What is become of the Slave passenger you took on board at Elmina?
7th.—Will you swearon the Holy Cross, that no part ofthe cargo so landed at MinaPiceaninny,

was employed by yqu or the Supercargo in the purchase of Slaves ?

Special Interrogatories to be put, by permission of the Court, to the Boat-
swain of the Portuguese Polacca Nova Sorte.

ist.—How much water did you take in on board at Elmina ?
2d.—-How many days were you going from Elmina to Mina Piccaninny ?



136 SaerRA Leone. (Portugal, )

3d.—Did you consume all that water in that time?
4th.—For what purpose did you land your cargo at Mina Piecaninny ?
5th.—By what means was the cargo so landed ?
6th.—With what did you intend to purchase your cargo of 353 Slaves at Molembo ?
7th.— Will you swear on the Holy Cross, that not one of the Slaves brought to this Port in

the Nova Sorte, were purchased by the Master or Supercargo of that Vessel ?
8th.—Jt they were, for what purpose were they so purchased ?

Special Interrogatory to be put by permission of the Court, to the Cook
of the Portuguese Polacca Nova Sorte.

Wiil you swear on the Holy Cross, that none of the Slaves brought to this Port in the Polacca
Nova Sorte, were purchased by the Master or Supercargo of that Vessel ?

ESTEVAO CAZADO DE LIMA, Master of the said Polacca, being produced, sworn, and
examined on Special Interrogatories annexed, put by permission of the Court, deposeth and
saith as follows, viz :—

To the Ist Interrogatory.—Saith, that he does not recollect what quantity of his original cargo
was on board when the Vessel was captured; that not being his business, but that there was
some left,

To the 2d.—Saith, that he took all the other part of the cargo to buy water, provisions, and.
alm-oil.

To the 3d.—Saith, that they don’t always carry the number of Slaves as is stated in the Pass-
port; and that he has a factory with goods at Molembo, with which goods, the Slaves were
to have been purchased.

To the 4th.—Saith, the remainder of the cargo on board was to have been carried to Molembo,
and there landed.

To the 5th.—Saith, that he remained at Mina Piccaninny only two months, he laid. there so
Jong on account of the strength of the current not allowing him to proceed to his des-
tined Port. ,

To the 6th,—Suaith, that at the time of capture, the Slave Passenger was on board His Bri-.
taunick Majesty’s Brig-of-War Snapper, and was afterwards landed at Princes Island.

To the 7th.—Saith, that he will swear on the Holy Cross, that no part of the cargo so landed
at Mina Piccaninny was employed by him or the Supercargo in the purchase of Slaves.

(Signed) ESTEVAO CAZADO DE LA,
SIMAO RODRIGUER.

Taken and sworn the Sth day of January 1823,* through the interpretation of Simao
Rodriguer, who was first duly sworn on the Holy Evangelists, faithfully to interpret,
before me, (Signed) D. M. HAMILTON, Registrar.

LUIS FERNANDEZ, Boatswain of the saidPolacea, being produced, sworn, and examined on
Special Interrogatories annexed, deposeth and saith as follows, viz. :—

To the Ist Interrogatory.—Saith, that they took on board three bareka of water at Elmina.
To the 2d.—Saith, that they were a few days going from Elmina to Mina Piccaninny, but does |

not remember how many days. oo
To the 3d.—Saith, that they consumed the whole of the three barekas of water, except a very

little, in that time, a
To the 4th.—Saith, that they landed the cargo at Mina Piccaninny, to purchase provisions, palm-

_ oil, and a top-gallant-mast. .
To the 5th.—Saith, that the cargo was so landed by canoes, and the launch of the saidPolacca,

_ To the 6th.—Saith, that Wencesllair Moguel de Aimda, the Owner of the Polacca Nova Sorte,
has a Factory at Molembo, for the purpose of purchasing Slaves.

To the 7th.—Saith, that he will swear on the Holy Cross, that not one of the Slaves brought tothis Port in the Nova Sorte, were purchased by the Master or Supercargo of that Vessel.
(Signed) JOZE LUIS FERNANDEZ,

- SIMAO RODRIGUER.
Taken and sworn the 8th day of January 1823, through the interpretation of Simao Rodri-quer, who was first duly sworn on the Holy Evangelists, faithfully to interpret, before me,., So (Signed) D. M. HAMILTON, Registrar,

DUARTE VARGE, Cook of the said Polaeca, being produced, sworn and examined on the Spe-cial Interrogatory annexed, deposeth and saith, as follows, yiz. :—
To the Ist Interrogatory.—Saith, that he will swear on the Holy Cross, that none of the-Slaveswhich were brought here in the Polacca Nova Sorte, were bought. by the Master or Super-cargo of that Vessel. , : his

(Signed) DUARTE x VARGE,
Mark.. . SIMAO RODRIGUER.

Taken and sworn the 8th day. of January 1823, through the interpretation ‘of Simao’ Ro-driguer, who was first duly sworn on the Holy Evangelists, faithfully to interpret, beforeme, (Signed) D. M. HAMILTON, Registrar,
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(13.) Examination of Joachim. January 9, 1823.

THE Petition of Christopher Austin, on the part and behalf of Lieutenant T. H. Rothery,
Commander of His Britannick Majesty’s Brig-of-War Snapper, humbly sheweth,—that your Pe-

‘ditioner wishing, at the suggestion of His Britannick Majesty’s Commissioner of Arbitration, ta
take the Affidavit of Joachim, one of the seamen on beard the Portuguese Polacca Nova Sorte,

through the medium of another Interpreter, was unable to find such another as could speak his
Janguage with the fluency of the former, or to the satisfaction of the Registrar of your Honourable
Court; he, therefore, humbly prays, that yonr Honours will be pleased to allow the annexed In-
terrogatories to be put to the said Joachim, and your Petitioner will either withdraw the aforesaid
Affidavit, or let it remain on the file, as your Honours may judge expedient :—And your Petitioner
will ever pray.

Free Town, January 9, 1823. | (Signed) C, AUSTIN.

faterrogatories to be put, by permission of the Court, to Joachim, one of the
Seamen of the Portuguese Polacca Nova Sorte.

Ist Interrogatory.—What is your name?
2d.—Are you a seaman on board the Polacca Nova Sorte?
3d.—Were you on board of that Vessel ever since she sailed from Bahia last?
Ath.—-Where was she lying when she was seized by His Britaynick Majesty’s Brig-of-War

Snapper ?
5th. Hae she received any Slaves on board previous to the appearance of said Brig-of-War; if

so,—how long previous ? :
6th.—If so,—what was done with those Slaves on the appearance of said Brig-of-War ?
7th.—Was any thing further done with said Slaves, either by the crew of said Polacca, or by any

other Persons ?

Answers ofJoachim, a Seaman on board the Portuguese Polacca Nova Sorte,
to Special Interrogatories by permission of the Commissioners.

Thursday, January 9, 1823.
To the Ist Interrogatory.—-Saith, his name is Joachim. a,
To the 2d.—Saith, ke is a mariner on board the Nova Sorte.
"To the 3d.—Saith, he has been on board the said Schooner Neva Sorte, ever since shé sailed

from Bahia.
“To the 4th.—Saith, said Schooner was lying offMina Piccaninny at the time the said Schooner

was seized by His Majesty’s Brig Snapper. . ; :
To the 5th,—Saith, Slaves had been on board the Schooner four days. previous to seeing the

Man-of-War.
To the 6th.—Saith, that on the appearance of the capturing Vessel the Slaves that were on board

avere put in a small room where the yams were.
To the 7th.—Saith, that in the course of the Night the Slaves were sent on shore by the Porta-

guese mariners of said Schouner. his
(Signed) (JOACHIM «x ©

Mark.
her:

SALLY x CUDJAC,
- Mark.

Taken and sworn this 9th day of. January 1823, through the interpretation of Sally Cudjac,
avho was first duly sworn to interpret faithfully, before me, - oo

(Signed) . DD. M. HAMILTON, Registrar.

(14.) ‘Affidavit of Lieutenant Rothery. January 10, 1823.

 

PERSONALLY appeared, Thomas Henry Rothery, Commander of His Britannick Majesty’s
Brig-of-War Snapper, who being duly sworn on the Holy Evangelists, deposeth and saith as
follows, viz. :— . 0

_ That being, on the 12th day of October last past, in pursuance of Orders, in His Britannick
- Majesty's said Brig, in Latitude 6d, North, and Longitude 1d. 20m. East, he saw a Polacga at
anchor off Mina Piccaninny ; that at half—past Six o’Clock of the same Evening, he anchored
His Majesty’s said Brig off the same Place, ‘and proceeded in his boat to examine the said Polacca,
she beisg under Portuguese Colours ; that on boarding her she proved to be the Portuguese Po-
iacca Nova Sorte, completely ready for taking on board a cargo of Slaves, she having landed-her
former cargo, consisting of tobacco, rum and cloth, except a few rolls of the’ former; that’ on
Jdoking into the usual Slave-rooms, he did not perceive any Slave, and Deponent consequently
deft her; that on the same evening, the Caboceer of Mina Piccaninny (conceiving His-Majesty’s
said Buig to be a Sleve-trading Vessel), sent his Messenger on board ber, stating that he wauild
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tbe happy to supply her with any number of Slaves she might want, as he had already supplied the
Portuguese Polacca Nova Sorte, then at anchor in company, with a cargo of Slaves; that De-
ponent immediately returned an answer desiring the said Caboceer to send the Slaves, so supplied
to the Portuguese Polacca aforesaid, on beard her immediately; that on the 14th day of the said
Mouth ofOctober said Slaves, to the number of twenty, were put on board said Polacca by the
canoes and people of the said Caboceer, when Deponent sent his boat and seized her; that 102
Slaves, being part of the aforesaid cargo of said Polacca, were subsequently put on board her
when she was sent to this Port for adjudication, (Signed) T. H. ROTHERY.,

Taken and sworn this LOth day of January, in the year of our Lord 1823,

(Signed) D. M. HAMILTON, Registrar.

 

(15.) Petition of Proctor. January 10, 1823.

‘THE humble Petition of Christopher Austin, on the part and behalf of T, H. Rothery, Lieutenant
and Commander of His Britannick Majesty’s Brig-of-War Snapper, humbly sheweth, —that your
Petitioner having filed the Evidence in this Case, which he trusts will be sufficient to substantiate
the charge of illicit Slave-trading against the said Polacca, and no Claim having been filed on the
part of any Person or Persons, humbly prays, that your Honours will be pleased to name as early
a day for passing Sentence as in your wisdom your Honours may deem meet:—And your Pe-
titioner will ever pray.

Free Town, January 10, 1823, (Signed) C. AUSTIN,

 

(16.) dfidavit of Quashee. January 14, 1823.

THE humble Petition of Christopher Austin, on the part of Lieutenant Thomas Henry Rothery,
sheweth,—that your Petitioner wishing to prove clearly to your Honourable Court that all the
Slaves which came to this Port in the Nova Sorte, were purchased for her, humbly prays, that the
sauuexed Affidavit may be filed in your Honourable Court :~-And your Petitioner, as in duty
‘bound, will ever pray.

Free Town, January 14, 1823. | (Signed) Cc, AUSTIN.

' PERSONALLY appeared, Quashee, one of the Slaves on board said Vessel, whe, being first
duly sworn on the Holy Evangelists, deposeth and saith, as follows, viz, :—
That on the landing of the Slaves trom the Nova Sorte, (as deposed to by this Deponent in an

Affidavit sworn in this Cause, before Daniel Molloy Hamilton, Esquire, Registrar to your
Honoarable Court), that he and they, with other Slaves which had not been embarked, were driven
together into the bush, to a Place where the aforesaid Captain had a factory for the purpose of
purchasing Slaves, and of keeping them until he could embark them; that all the Slaves which
to this Port in the Nova Sorte, were kept in irons in the said factory or house, and fed by two
Portuguese sailors of the said Polacca, one of whom. was left in the aforesaid bush, and the other
being present, he identifies, his

(Signed) QUASHEE, x
. , Mark,.

On the 14th day of January the said Quashee was duly sworn to the truth of this Affidavit,
- before me, (Signed) E. GREGORY, C. Judge.

 

(17.) Petitionof Proctor. Janyary 21, 1823.
THE humble Petition of Christopher Austin, on the part and behalt of Lieutenant T. H.

Rothery, Commander of His Britannick Majesty’s Brig-of-War Snapper, sheweth,—that, on the
20th day of December lust, the said Polacea was brought into this Pore for adjudication, by your
Honourable Court; that up to this day, a period of thirty-one days, no claim was made by any
Person or Persons for the said Vessel, although the Master was perfectly at liberty to claim, was he
minded so to do; that on this day, the day uamed by-your Honours for passing Sentence, the
Master puts in his Claim, which Claim is by your Honours admitted, which will not only put off
the trial of the said Vessel for some time longer, but will be the means of increasing, considerably,
the costs of the suit.

That the provisions which were on board the Nova Sorte are entirely consumed, and as your
Honourable Court has declined to make the Claimant liable for costs should he fail to substantiate
his Claim, your Petitioner is at a loss to know in what manner or by what means the said Slaves
are to be supported.

That your Petitioner cannot venture so far to commit his Client as to land the Slaves, as in the
event of a decision against hin it would render him liable to pay the valne of them; and that as
neither Captor nor Claimant bas any funds for their Support, your Petitioner humbly prays, that
your Honours, taking all these cases into consideration, will pe pleased to order your Marshal to
supply them with provisions until your Honourable Court shall be pleased in its wisdom to give
Judgment :—And your Petitioner, as in duty hound, will ever pray.

Free Town, January 21 1823, (Signed) C. AUSTIN.’
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(18.) Affidavit of Lieutenant Rothery. January 21, 1823.

THE humble Petition of Christopher Austin, on the part and behalf of Lieutenant Rothery,
Commander of His Majesty's Brig Snapper, hambly sheweth,—that it is alleged by the Parties
‘opposite in ‘the Cause of the Portuguese Polacea Nova Sorte, that there were no coppers, such
as are used for preparing Slave previsions, on board the said Vessel at the time of capture; your
Petitioner therefore humbly prays, that, in order to shew that the said Vessel was originally fur-
nished with such coppers, the armexed Affidavit may be filed in your honourable Court ; and your
Petitioner, as in duty bound, will ever pray.

Free Town, January 21, 1823. (Signed) C. AUSTIN,

PERSONALLY appeared, Thomas Henry Rothery, Commander of His Britannick Majesty's
Brig-of-War Snapper, who. being duly sworn on the Holy Evangelists, deposeth and
maketh oath as follows, viz. :—

That on ‘or about the 30th or 29th day of July last past, this Deponent boarded the said
Polacca, she being and lying at anchor under the Dutch Fort of Elmina, on the Western Coast of
Africa; thatthe said Polacca was at that time furnished with, and had on board, one large
copper, such as jis usually found on board Slave-vessels; the same being used in such
Vessels for the purpose of cocking provisions for Slaves,

(Signed) T. H. ROTHERY.

On the 2Ist day of January, this Deponent was duly sworn to the truth of this Affidavit,

(Signed) D. M. HAMILTON, Registrar.

 

(19.) Claim, with Affidavit o, ‘daster. January 23, 1823.

APPEARED personally, Estevao Cazado Lima, Master ofthe Polacea Nova Sorte, and maketh
oath, that heis a Subject of His Most Faithfal Majesty The King of Portugal, and was Master af
the said Polacca at the time of the capture thereof, by His Majesty’s Brig-of-War Snapper,
Lieutenant T. H. Rothery, Commander, and that the said Polacca was so captured on the 13th day
‘ofOctober now last past, in the prosecution of her voyage from the Brazils, to the Coast of Atrica,
and at the time at anchor off Mina Piccaninny, with a cargooftobacco, palm-oil and rum, and
brought to Sierra Leone. And he farther maketh oath, that Vencisllow Moguel d’Almaida, of
St. Salvadore, aSubject of His Most Faithful Majesty, was at the time of the said capture, and
now is, the true, lawful, and sole Owner, and Vroprietor of the said Polacca Nova Sorte, her
tackle, apparel, and furniture, and merchandize on board the same, And Deponent further
maketh oath, that he verily believes the said Polacca and cargo are protected by the Treaty or
Convention between His Britannick Majesty and His said Most Faithful Majesty ; that the Natives
of Africa now on board the said Polacca, are not part of the cargo, nor in any wise belonging or
appertaining to the-said Polacca; that they have, without exception, been put on board the said
Polacca by the capturing Officer, his boats and crew, without the concurrence of thisDeponent.
That the said Natives of Africa, before their forcible entry on board as aforesaid, were never on
board the said Polacca, and that since the arrival of the said Polacea, on the Coast of
Africa, this present voyage, she has not received any Slaves, Natives of Africa, on board, other
than those pnt om board’as aforesaid, And he further maketh oath, that no person or persons
other than the person before mentioned, hath any right, title, or interest in the said Polacca, her
tackle, apparel, and furnitare,goods, wares, and merchandize on board the same, at the time of
the said capture, and seizore thereof ; that he is duly authorised to make the Claim hereunto
annexed; and that the sameisa true and just Claim, and that he shall be able to make due proof
and specification thereof. (Signed) E. C, LIMA,

On the 23d day of January 1823, the said Estevao Cazado Lima was duly sworn to the
‘truth of this Affidavit, made through the interpretation of Francisco Gomez, and of.
the Claim thereto aimexed ; the said Francisco Gomez being first duly sworn faithfully to

. duterpret, before we, (Signed) D, M. HAMILTON, Registrar,

THE Claim of ‘the said Hstevao Cazado Lima, the Master of the said Polacca, a Subject of
His Most Faithful Majesty The King of Portugal, for the said Polacca, her tackle, apparel, and
furniture, goods, wares, and merchandize on beard the said Polacea, at the time of the capture
‘thereof, by His Majesty’s Brig-of-War Snapper, Lieutenant T. H. Rothery, Commander, and
‘brought into Sierra Leone, for the said Polacea, her tackle, apparel, and furniture, and her cargo,
as the sole property ot Vencisllow Moguel d’Almaida, an inhabitant of St. Salvadore, in the’
‘Brazils, and as protected by the Treaty or Convention between His Britanuick Majesty and His
said Most Faithful Majesty, dated 2¢th of July 1817; and for all costs, charges, losses, da-
mages, demurrage, and expences as have arisen or shall or may arise by means ofthe capture
and detention of the said Polacea-and her-cargo as-aforesaid, ,

(Signed) ESTEVAO CAZADO LIMA,
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(20.) Petition of Proctor, with Examination of Cosebah. Fan. 24, 1823.

. THE humble Petition of Christopher Austin, on the pant and behalf of Lieutenant T. H.
Rothery, Commander of His Britannick Mojesty’s Brig Snapper, sheweth,—that your Petitioner,
anxious to substantiate the other evidence he has had the honour to lay before your Honours in
this Cause, humbly prays, that the annexed Inter rogatories may be putto Cosebah, oneof the female
Slaves on board the said Vessel. —And your Petitioner, asin duty bound, will ever pray.

Free Town, January 24, 1823, (Signed) C, AUSTIN,

Special Interrogatories to be put to Cosebah, one of the Female Slaves
of the Portuguese Polacca Nova Sorte, by permission of the Court.

First.—What is your Name and Country ?
Second.—Are you a Slave, if so, who purchased you?
Third, —Were you purchased on shore? a ;
Fourth —If so, how many days after were you put on board the Vessel which brought

you here ?
Fifth.—Who put you on board that Vessel ?
Sixth.—Can you point out the Vessel that you were first put on board of ?
Seventh.—Were there any English in that Place, at that time? .
Eighth —If not, how many days did you remain on board, before the English came in sight,
Ninth.—What did the Portuguese do with you then?
Tenth,—Were you relanded after the English came ?
Eleventh.—If so, how soon after?
Twelfth.—Did you.cohabit with the Boatswain ?
Thirteenth.—If so, did you eo before you were embarked ?
Fourteenth.—Did you so since?
Fifteenth.Do you understand the Boatswain when he speaks to you ? .

(Signed) C, AUSTIN.

Answers, to Special Interrogatories, (put by permission of the Court) of
Cosebah, one of the Female Slaves on board of the said Schooner.

To the Ist.—-Saith, her name is Cosebalr, and her Country, Quigidl.
To the 2d.—Saith, she is a Slave, she was purchased by the Boatswain.
To the 3d,— Saith, she was purchased on shore. _ / .
To the 4th.—Saith, she was five days on shore after being purchased, and on the sixth day she

was put on board. oo " _ Wrote geTo the 5th.—Saith, she was put on board the Vessel that brought her here, by the Natives of
Mina Piccaninny. .

To the 6th.—This Witness points out the Nova Sorte now lying in the Harbour, from the
Commission-House, a

To the 7th.—Saith, there were not any Englishmen at that Place at the time. - oo
To the 8th.—Saith, she was on board the said Schooner four days before the English Ship came

in sight,
‘To the oth -Saith, that on the appearance of the Man-of-War, they were put down in

‘the hold, and there concealed, by first locking them up, and then covering the-batchway
over with sails, Se,

To the 10th._—Saith, that they were relanded from the Nova Sorte, after the arrival of the
‘Brig-of-War. .. . a

To the }1th.—Saith, they were relanded the same Night that the Brig-of-War came there,
. To the 12th.—Saith, she cohabited with the Boatswain. . 7
To the.13th.—Saith, she did not cohabit with the. Boatswain, until she came on board-the said

‘Schooner Nova Sorte;
To the 14th —Already answered. , a ,
To the 15th.—Saith, she did not.understand the Boatswain, when lie spoke to her,

mS her’
(Signed) COSEBAH

“Mark,

her .
JENNY} ANDREWS,

. Mark.

Taken and sworn this 25th day of January 1823, through the interpretation. of Jenny
Andrews, who was first-duly sworh to interpret faithfully, before me,

- , (Signed) D. M. HAMILTON, Registrar,
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{21.) Petition of Proctor, with Examination of Joachim annexed.
January 24, 1823.

THE humble Petition of Christopher Anstin, on the part and behalf of Lieutenant T. Hy
Rothery, Commander of His Britannick Majesty's Brig Snapper, sheweth,—that your Petitioner
feeling himself called on to account for the Polacca Nova Sorte not having on board the usual
coppers or boilers, and the irons used.in Slave-ships, humbly prays, that the annexed Tnterroga-
tories may be put to Joachim, one ofthe mariners of the said Vessel :—-And your Petitioner, as
in duty bound, will ever pray.
Free Town, January 24, 1823. (Signed) C. AUSTIN,

Special Interrogatories to be put ie Joachien, one of the Mariners of the
Portuguese Pelacca Nova Sorte, by permission of the Court.

Ist.--Had the Nova Sorte, in which you came here, any coppers or boilers on board at the time
she sailed from Bahia, such as are used for cooking Slave provisions ?

9d.—If so, when, where, and for what purpose were they put out of the Vessel?
3d.—Had she any ‘quantity of Slave-irons on board at the time she sailed from Bahia?
dth —If so, when, where, and for what purpose were they put out of the Vessel?

Answers of Joachim, a Mariner on board the Portuguese Polacca ivova:
Sorte, to'Special Interrogatories put by leave of the Court.

Saturday, January 25, 1823.

To the Ist.—Saith, the said Schooner Nova Sorte had one large boiler on board at the time she
sailed from Bahia.

To the 2d.--Saith, the said boiler was landed at Mina Piccaniney; it was so landed to cook rice
for the Slaves belonging to the said Schooner Nova Sorte. .

To the 3d. —Saith, there were a great quantity of Slave-irons and Slave-chains on board the suid
Schooner Nova Sorte, at the time she sailed from Bahia. :

To the 4th.-~Saith, that the Slave-irons were sent on shore at Mina Piccaninny, for the purpose
of putting on the said Slaves, The boiler and Slave-irons were sent on shore at the same
time. his

(Signed) JOACHIM x
Mark,

his
JOHN x CONOLLY.

Mack.
“Taken and sworn this 25:h day of January 1823, through the interpretation of John Canolly,

who was first duly sworn faithfully to interpret, before me,
(Signed) D, M. HAMILTON, Registrar.

 

(22.) Affidavits of Francisco Joze Belem, Joxe Luis Fernandez, and
Francisco ‘Gomez. January 27, 1823. -

THE humble Petition of William H. Savage, Proctor of the said Court, and on the part and
behalf of Claimant for said Vessel, humbly sheweth,—that it being deemed essential to the interest
of said Claimant, and to the due course of justice in the Cause now pending, that theAffidavits
herewith may be allowed to be filed in Court among the other Papers and Documents pow before
your Honours, prays the same may be so filed accordingly :—aud, as in duty bound, will ever
pray.
free Town, January 27, 1823. Signed) W. H. SAVAGE, Proctor for Clts,

_  Fanuary 27, 1823,
APPEARED personally, Francisco Joze Belem, mariner belonging to the said Vessel Nova

Sorte. ‘That at the time the said Vessel was seized and detained by His Majesty's Brig-of-War
Snapper, Lieutenant T. H. Rothery, Commander, the said Vessel had no Slave or Slaves then on
board; that the said Vessel, during her then voyage, had not received.on board, from any Port or.
Hace on the Coast of Africa, any Slave or Slaves; that the Natives of Africa, or Slaves on board
the said Vessel, when she arrived in the Harbour of this Colony, were brought from the shore in
the boats of the said Brig-of War, and were manned by her Officers and men, and also in canoes
procured for the purpose by the Commander of said Brig-of- War. ,

(Signed) FRANCISCO JOZE BELEM,
his

FRANCISCO x GOMEZ,
; Mark.

‘On the said 27th January 1823, the said Francisco Joze Belem was duly sworn to the truth.
of this Affidavit through the interpretation of Francisco. Gomez, first duly sworn faithfully

. to interpret, before me, (Signed) = D. M, HAMILTON, Registrar,
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January 27, 1833,
APPEARED personally, Jose Luis: Fernandez, Boatswain of the saidVessel Nova Sorte, and

being duly sworn, maketh oath and saith, that at the time the said: Vessel was taken possession of
by His Majesty's Brig-of-War Snapper, Lieutenant £,H. Rothery, Commander, the said: Vessel had
no Slave or Slaves on board, nor-had the said Vessel, during her then. voyage, at any Port or Place
in Atrica, received on board any Slave or-Slaves; that the Slaves on board the ‘said: Vessel, when
she was brought into the Harbour of this Colony, were‘Natives of Africa, taken from the shore
anil brought-on board the said Vessel Nova Sorte, in the boats of, and manned -by, the- said Brig«
of-War Snapper, or in canoes procured to be so employed by said Brig-of-War, ,

: (Signed) JOZE LUIS FERNANDEZ,
his

‘FRANCISCO 4 GOMEZ,
Mark.

Sworn to the truth of the above Affidavit, through the interpretation of Francisco Gomez,
first duly. sworn to interpret faithfully, this 27th January 1823, before me,

(Signed). D, M. HAMILTON,
Registrar,

January 27,1823, ©

APPEARED personally, ‘Francisco’ Gomez a mariner of, -arid on board the said Vessel at
time of capture by His Majesty's Brig-of-War Snapper; that, on the lith.of October now last
past, the said Brig Snapper hove in sight with a Colour flying, which Deponent took either for
a French or Portuguese Colour, was not certain which; soon after said Brig fired a gun, and
hoisted English Colours; the Polacca at same time hoisted Portuguese; when the Polacca was

boarded by the boat of said Brig Suapper, the Officer in which ordered his men, who were armed
with cutlasses, to go below and search the said Polacca, which they did, but said Polacca not
having Slaves on board, the said boat left her, and the next day the Brig-of-War went closer in
shore ; heard her fire great guns; same day a boat came from said Brig Snapper, commanded by
an Officer, who stated they came in order to be able to kecp watch for another Vessel-of-War they
expected to pass, as their own Vessel, the Snapper, lay so much more inshore; same day sawoa
canoe come from on shore and gu alongside the said Brig Snapper; the Boat which had brought
the men of the Snapper on board had left.to return to their Vessel, but soon after she came back
and took away. ber men; after this the canoe which Deponent had seen-a-stern of the Brig-of.
War, came alongside the Polacca with Slaves; the said canpe was also accompanied by a boat
from the said Brig-of-War; the Slaves were ordered out of the canoe on board the Polacea, by
the crew of the boat belonging to said Brig-of-War; the Captain ot the Polacea, E. C, Lima, ob-
jected to this, but the Officer of the Brig-of-War forced compliance In the night of same day,
being the 12th instant, the Master of said Brig-of-War came on board, and took charge of said
Polacca, and on the-morning of 13th instant, said Polacca was in charge of the said Brig-of-War,
and so hath wemained; that.on the said ]3th-instant other Slaves were brought on board the said
Polacea. his ,

FRANCISCO. GOMEZ,
Mark,

‘The said Francisco Gomez was swern to the truth of this Affidavit, this 27th January 1823,
betore me, D.M. HAMILTON,Registrar,

 

(23.) Examination of Desay. February 2, 1823.

EXAMINATION of Desay, a Slave, on board the Schooner Nova Sorte, by desire of the British
Commissioner’ of Arbitration, who was first duly-sworn in the custom ofhis Country :—

First.—Saith, his name is‘Desay, and.his Country, Acomb,
Second.—Saith, he is a Gentleman’s-son, but havinggot into.alittle trouble, he was in consequence

sold; points out the Captain. and: Boatswain, who are now present in Court, as thepersons
who bought him; he was sold as a Slave for having-had connexion with another man’s -wife.

Question. —Atter that time that they were hid what was done with them? /
ainswer,—Saith, after they were locked up they were put in irons, and remained.so until liberated

by the English people; they were afterwards brought up on deck, and did not go on shore
until bis artival at SierraLeone; said he vas put on board the first time by the Natives ;
says, that he was on board the Schooner four days before the English came; does not know
the difference between English and Portuguese, unless when he is-told; says, he knows the
difference between these who came from the Schooner who bought him, and those who came.
from the Man-of-War to take him; he repeats, that from the first time of his. going on board,
he never went on shore again until he came here; those who put them below belong to the,

. Schooner; they are now on board, and would know him, hig

{Signed} DESAY, 4
Mark.

his
DANIEL #4 MACKENZIEz,

. Mark.
Sworn ‘in Court, this 2d day of February’ 1823, through the interpretation of.Daniel Mac-
ekenzig, who-was also duly sworn to interpret faithfully,



Szrra Lzeonwz. Portugal.) 143

DESAY further examined by desire of the British Commissioner of Arbitration :——

Saith, he knows the two Mariners now before the Court, as they used to bring them up.to
breakfast, and then again to supper, this was doné in the same manner every day; that the
men had one place te stop in, and the women another. He says that he came on board of
the Schooner.with the first party. of twenty, with the other Witness Appear.

his
(Signed) DESAY,

Mark,
his

DANIEL. MACKENZIE,
Mark,

 

(24:) Examinationof Quamin. February 2, 1823.

EXAMINATION of -Quamin, a Slave on board the Schooner’ Nova Sorte, on Special In-
terrogatories, put by desire- of the British Commissioner of. Arbitration, the said Quamin,
being first sworn in’ his own Country-fashion :—

First.—Saith,hisname isQuamin, and-his Country, Cormantee,
Second.—Saith, he isa Slave, he was purchasedby the Captain of: thesaid Schooner, whom he

points out in the Court Room, :
Tiird.—-Saith,he was put on board by his own Country people. ;
Fourth.—This Witness points out the Nova Sorte from the Court Room, lying at anchor in

the Harbour.
Fifth—Saith, the said’ Vessel was lying, at the time be went on ‘board, at Nocoo,
‘Sixth.—Saith, -he was on board four days before the EnglishVessel came. :
Seventh.—Saith, that on the appearance of the. Brig-of-War, the Portuguese locked.them. below,
Question.—After that time that they were hid what was done with them?
Answer.—Saith, -that at the time the Brig-of-War came, he heard them fire, he was at that, time

down below, it was in the evening; that at the time the English people took them, they
were brought upon deek, and the irons which were at that time on them were knoeked off;
trom the time of their being taken on board, they continued to remain down below, until
the English came on board; from the time of his first going on board, he did not go on
shore again at that Place until his arrival at Sierra Leone 3 at the time that they fired, one
‘halt of. the Slaves were on-shore, the English then-sent a boat and brought off that part
of the Slaves that remained on shore; that they were put down below always in the same
manner; he repeats that he did not go on shore-again at that Place after having been put-
on board, untilhis. arrival.at Sierra. Leone. . his

(Signed) -QUAMIN,.
' Mark. |
his

DANIEL +} MACKENZIE,
Mark,

‘Taken and sworn inCourt, this 2d day ef ‘February 11823, through -the-interpretation of
DanielMackenzie, who was first duly sworn to. interpret faithfully, ,

 

(25.) Examination of Appear. February-2, 1823.

ANSWERS of Appear, a Slave on board the SchoonerNova Sorte, to Special Interrogatories,
put by desire of the British Commissioner of Arbitration,the said Appear being first- sworn in
his country-custom :—

First.—Saith, his name is Appear, and his Country, Ashantee,

Second.—-Saith, he-is a free-man in his own Country, but not vat this Place ; he is a Slave here;
saith, he was purchased by the Captain and Mate of the said Schooner, whom he points out
‘inv the Court Room. . . :

Third.—Saith, he was put on board the Schooner which brought him here, by his own Countrymen,

Fourth.—This Witness points out the Nova Sorte from the Court Room, lying in this Harbour,
Fifth.—Saith, that at the time of his going on board, the said Vessel was lying at Nocoo, __
“Sixth —Saith, he was put on board before the English Vessel came in sight ; he was on board

four days before that time. . a ; .

‘Seventh.—Saith, that on the appearance of the Man-of-War Ship, the Portuguese people put him
down and covered him up. _ 4 ; :

Question —After that time that they were hid, what was done with them? . .

Answer.—Saith, that at the hour ofbreakfast, they werebrought upon deck, after which they were
taken back again; after they had done eating their breakfast, they were desired to wash

' themselves, and if they did not they were flogged, and locked up again; he was- never on
shore.after the first time of his being put om board, until his arrivalat this Place; says, that
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they were put .on board in three parties, one consisted of thirty-three, and ancther of

twenty-two, and another of fourteen; the party thac he went with were the fourteen; the
party of fourteen were the first who went on board; thar the fourteen remained on board
four days before they went on shore for the others ; during these four days, in the day time,
‘they were brought on deck, and at night time they were taken ‘below to sleep; saith he did
not see the Snapper at that time; that at all times they are put below in the same manner;
they never covered his body with sails; when they put him below they put over one thing
that fie it, and:then put over it-a sail; from the time of his first going ou board he did not
go on shore again until his arrival here; he was on board the Schooner as one of the
fourteen, four days before the others were brought. his

(Signed) APPEAR, 4K
Mark.

his
DANIEL K MACKENZIE,

Mark.

Taken and sworn in Court, this 2d February 1823, through the interpretation of Daniel
Mackenzie, who was first daly sworn to interpret faithfully,

 

(26.) Examination of Aecomo. February 2, 1823.

EXAMINATION of Accomo, a Slave on board the Schooner Nova Sorte, on Special Inter-
rogatories put .by desire cf the British Commissioner of Arbitration, the said Accomo being
first sworn in his own Country-custom :—

‘First, —Saith, bis name is Accomo, and his Country, Hogoo,
Second.—Saith, he is a Slave, he was bought ‘by the Master of the Nova Sorte, whom. he points

out in Court.
Third.—Saith, he was put on board by the people where he was.
Fourth —Points out the Nova Sorte from the Court Room now flying at anchor in tle

Harbour.
Fifth —Saith. the said Vessef was lying at that time at Adina.
Sixsth.—Saith, he was put on board the said Schooner four days before the Biig-of-War came in

sight.
Seventh.—_Saith, that on the appearance of the Man-of-War, the Portuguese locked them up

and covered them over with sails.

Question. —Atter that time that they were hid, what was done with them?

Answer.—Saith, that at thetime the Man-of-War ‘came, they told him not to talk, that if he did
they would flog him; that at the time the Man-of-War came, they were locked up in a hole,
bat they were afterwards set at liberty by the Men-of-W'ar's people; he remained on board
the said Schooner four days, and on the fitth day the Brig-of-War took them; he did not
go.on shore at.that Place after he went on board, until his arrival at Sierra Leone.

his
ACCOMO, 4

Mark,
ther /

JENNY * ANDREWS,
Mark.

Taken and sworn in Court, this 2d day of February 1823, through the interpretation
ofJenny Andrews, who was first duly sworn to interpret taithfully,

 

(27.) Examination of Quashee. February 3, 1823.

EXAMINATION of Quashee, a Slave on board the ‘Schgoner Nova Sorte, on Special Tnter-
voyatories, put-by desire of the British Commissioner of Arbitration, the said Quaslee being
sworn in his Country-fashion :—

Saith, his name is Quashee,

Saith, he was.a Slave of Dandels, then of Mr, Blenkarne, after that he was bought by the Master
of the Nova Sorte. ;

Saitb, Mr. Blesikarne’s woman sold Lim to Quarte Cudyé, Quarte Cudgé then put irons upon him,
- and put ‘him on board a Schooner belonging to Akotejé, who lives at Kittah,

Saith, the said Schoon.r took.him from Accra to Mina Piccaninny.
_Saith, that Quarte Cudgé put him in irons, he was putin irons to prevent -him from getting away;

says Akotej6 was the Person who bought him, and the Person who sold-lim to the Portuguese
people; the Portuguese Captain put irons on his neck on the shore at Mina Piccaniany ; saw
the Captain in Akotejés Schooner, who said he wanted to buy Slaves; the Cantain purchased
all of them onboard, and sent a’boat on shore to purchase more Slaves at Mina Piccaninny,
and nbkotejé sent his.own Schooner to Accra for more Slaves; the Portuguese. Capiain sent
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Akotejo’s Schooner to Accra for more Slaves ; they sent him (this Deponent) on shore, and
put him in a honse; after they had put them ou shore and sold them to the Portuguese,
Akotejo went and told’ the English that he had sold his Slaves to the Portaguese people;
on the appearance of the English people, they were sent into the bush; when the Vessel
came that took them he was on shore ; the others that were left on shore were locked in a
house, and would not be allowed to come out ; he was one of them 3 says, one half were put
on board, and the other half got away on shure; while he was kept on shore they took
thim for necessary purposes in the back yard; he could see the Schooner 3 they were not
otherwise allowed to walk out ; a sentry was kept over them; he could see people go on
tboard the Portuguese Schooner from that house; every time the Captain came on shore, he
‘took a party of Slaves and sent on board the Schooner 3 the Captain did this every time ;
‘Dut when the Man-of-War came, he stopped sending off any more ; those that they carried on‘board, they did not put them back on shore again ; at the time the Snapper took them, one half
‘of the Slaves were on shore, and the Snapper’s boat was sent onshore to take them ; the firstparty that were put on board were put down below ; one of those who were on board told him 80,
{itwas Acquiteer) ; Acquiteer told him so, when this Witness and the rest were put on board ;
Acqniteer was the only person who told him, and the only one who could speak. Cromontee 5.
says, the time that the Snapper came, the Portuguese told him the Snapper came to take
them, and took them aback of the farm in the bush 3 says, he only saw the Snapper one day
from the farm; the PortugueseVessel and the ‘Suapper were close to each other; saw the
Portaguese Vessel every time while he was on the shore 3 he saw landed every day, tobacco,
yum and cloth ; the time the Snappercame, the Captain had purchased all his Slaves; and he
avas about to provide wood, water, and victuals to feed the Slaves 3. after the Snapper camehe did not see any thing more landed; at the time the Snapper sent on board the Schooner,
the Portuguese were going to put Slaves on beard from the shore, but on seeing the Snap-
per they did not; after the Snapper came,‘hedid not see any beat come from. the Portuguese
Schooner to the shore; after the Snapper came, he did-not see any Slaves come oa shore
from the Schooner; a great number of Slaves went on board at the same time with him ;
does not know the number,

his
(Signed) QUASHEE,

Mark.

his
DANIEL 4 MACKENZIE,

Mark.

‘Taken and sworn in Court, this 3d day of February 1823, through the interpretation of
Daniel Mackenzie, who was first daly sworn to interpretfaithfully,. :

SAITH, he saw Acquiteer on shore before his going on board the Schooner ; ‘he saw Acquiteer
on board when he was (this Witness) put on board ; Acquiteer was put on board four
ilays before this Deponent; the same.day that he (this Deponent) went on board, the same
day he saw Acquiteer on board ; the time Acquiteer went on beard he did not see the Brig
‘Snapper.-

bis
(Signed) _ QUASHEE, 4.

Mark.

his

DANIEL oh MACKENZIE, |
Mark,

Taken and sworn in Court, this 3d day ofFebruary 1823, through the interpretatioa of Daniel
Mackenzie, who was first duly sworn to interpret faithfully.

 

(28.  Laamination of Accootoo, February 3; 1823.

‘EXAMINATION of Accontoo, a Slave on board thé VesselNova Sorte, on Special Interrogatoe
vies, put by desire of the British Commissioner of Arbitration, the said Accestoo, being first
sworn in his Country-custom,

_First.—Saith, his nameis Accootoo and his Country, Taffce. . :
Second.—Saith, be isnot a Slave in his: own Country, but he is one now; hewas bought

by the Master of the NovaSorte, whom: he points ont in Court.:
Third.—Saith, he was pnt on board the Schooner by the people of the said Schooner. -
Foarth.—Points out the Nova Sorte from the Court- Room, now in the Harbour.

Fifth,—Saith, the said Vessel was lying off Adina at the timeof his first zoing onboard.

Sixth.—Saith, he was put on board the said Schooner before the Man-of-W ar came in sight’; he
3 nard four days before that time, : a 4

Sorenth Satethat ontheappearance of the English Man-of-War, the Portugueseput therm
down below, and shut the door upon them, which they afterwards covered with sails,
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Question. —After that time that they were hid, what was done with them 2 oo
Answer.—Saith, that after they were locked up, they were flogged ; they were locked up for along

time down below; the English caught them first, and then let them ont; says, that at day-light
they were brought on deck, and at night they were taken down below; he did not go on
shore again after having, in the first instance, been put on board the said Schooner, until his
arvival at Sierra Leone ; that at the time the Man-of-War came, they were told to godowa
below and shutthe door upon them; it was in the same place that they were always put ;
those that did not go down below were flogged with a rope.

bis
(Signed) ACCOOTOO, K

Mark,
his

GEORGE WM KENDAL,
Mark,

-Taken and sworn in Court, this 3d day of February 1823, through the interpretation of
George Kendal who was first duly sworn to interpret faithfully.

|

 

(29.) Examination of Accotecr. February 3, 1823.

EXAMINATION of Accoteer, Slave on board the Vessel Nova Sorte, on Special Intérragato-
ries, put by desire of the British Commissioner of Arbitration, the said Accoteer being first
sworn in his Country-fashion :—

First.—Saith,hisname is Accoteer, and his Country, Zanah.
Second.—Saith, he was sold for having another man’s wife 3 be was bought by the Master of the

Nova Sorte, whom he points out in Court.
‘Third.—Saith, he was put on board the said Schooner by desire of the Master of the Nova

Sorte. oo
Fourth.—Points out the Nova Sorte from the Court-room, now in the Harbour.
Fifth,—Saith, the said Schooner at that time was lying offAdina.
Sixth.—Saith, he was on board the said Schooner before the English Vessel came in sight,

he was on board four days before that time, and on the fifth day the Man-of-War
took them.

Seventh.—Saith, that on the appearance. of the Man-of-War they were sent down.below, aud
the door was shut upon them, and covered over with sails; they wanted to talk but they
would not allow them to do so,

Question.—After that time that they werehid, what was done with them?
Answer,—Saith, that after they were put down below, they put a man over them, and told them

not to talk; they remained in the hold a long time; when the English came, the English
-Cook pulled the irons off their necks ; he-did not go on shore again after having been put
on board the first time, until his arrival at Sierra Leone ; they were always put down in the
same place every day ; he repeats, that Sierra Leone was the first Place he went on shore
after being put on board the Schooner; from the time of his going on board he did not go
on shore at the same Place,

his
(Signed) ACCOTEER, P4

Mark.

his

GEORGE }.KENDAL,
Mark,

Taken and sworn in Coust, this 3d day of February 1823, through the interpretation of*
George Kendal, who.was first duly sworn to interpret faithfully,

 

(30.) Examination of Cosebah, February 3, 1823.
EXAMINATION of Cosebah, a Slave on board the Vessel Nova Sorte, on SpecialInterroga-

tories,’ put by desire of the British Commissioner of Arbitration, the said Cosebah beingfirst
sworn in her Country-fashion :—

First.—Saith,hername is Cosebah, and her Country, Amfoy. . -
‘Second.—Saith, she is a Slave, she was bought by the Boatswain of the Nova Sorte; whom she

points out‘in Court. ,
Third.—Saith, that she was purchased on shore.
Fourth.—Saith, after she was bought, she remained on shore three days, and on the fourth day

was put on board the Schooner, . :  
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Fitth.—Saith, she was put on board the Schooner by some Cormenteens, who live there, |
Sixth,—-Points out the Nova Sorte from the Court-room.,
Seventh.—Saith, the English Ship was there at the time she went on board the said Schooner ;

saith, she. went on boardthe Schooner in the Morning, the sun had rose at the time ; she saw
the Snapper at that time; at the time she went on board the said Schooner not any English-
men were on board of that Vessel ; a considerable number of Slaves were on board 3 More than
twenty ; they were on a chain; they kept them below four days; they sent them be-
low and punished them, and would not give them water to drink; they were told not to
talk so much, or the English would catch them ; they were at the bottom of the Schooner;
‘they pulled them out, and sent them into the bush ; some were left on board; the sun had
Tose at that time; it was not very light at that time ; they only remained one day in the bush,
vandon the second day they were put again on board the Schooner; there were about twenty
‘in the same boat with her when she came on shore; those that remained in the Schooner
she did not see again in the bush; when she went back again to the Schooner she did not
sce them ; says, that the two men now before the Court, named Accootoo and Accoteer, did
not go on shore with her ; these two men were sent into the bush with her ; did not know
them in the Schooner before ; she and these men walked the same road into the bush; herself
and other women were.en one chain, and these men with others were on another chain 3 these

. two men were on board at the time she was; after that they put them in the bush.
her

(Signed) . COSEBAH, b¢
Mark,

- his

GEORGE }4 KENDAL,
“Mark, ,

‘Taken and sworn in Court, this 3d day of February 1823, through the interpretation of
‘George Kendal, who was first duly swoin faithfully to interpret.

 

(31.) Re-examination of Accoteer. February 3, 1823.

RE-EXAMINATION of Accoteer at the desire of the British Commissioner of Arbitration, the
said Accoteer being first sworn in his Country-fashion :—

Saith, himself and Cosebah were bought at the same time by the Portuguese Captain ; they
brought the men on beard before the women 3 Cosebah was put on board the Schooner on
the same day as himself; it was day-time when he was put on board, and it was also day-~
time when Cosebah was put on board; he also ‘saw her the second and third day on board
the Schooner; he has seen the woman (Cosebah) every day since that; on the appearance of
the Snapper they put them below,and told theni not to talk much, else the Brig Snapper
would eatch them; he was on board the said Schooner four days; the women were also on
board the whole of that time; they were confined the whole four days ; they were liberated
by the Snapper’s people; they gave them a pail below for the purposes of nature; they
remained down below four days and fournights; they did not come on deck during that
time; the people said if they did they would talk too much, his

(Signed) ACCOTEER, 4.
Mark.

. - > his.
GEORGE p4 KENDAL,

Mark,
f

Taken and sworn in Court, this 3d February 1823, through the interpretation of George
Kendal, who was first duly sworn, faithfully to interpret. .

 

_ 82.) Re-examination of Accovtoo. February 3, 1893.

RE-EXAMINATION of Accootoo, at the desire of the British Commissionerof Arbitration,
the said Accootoo being first sora in his Country-custom:—

‘Saith, he saw Cosebah the first day on board the Schooner; he saw her also the second, third, and
fourth days on board the said Schooner ; he répeats again, that he never went on shore after
being put on board the said Schooaer ; they brought the men en board before the women,

his
Signed) ACCOOTOO, >4.

Mark,

his
GEORGE > KENDAT,

. Do Mark, °°
“Taken and sworn in-Court, this 3d February 1823.  
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(33.) Further Re-examination of Accootoo. February 3, 1823.

Monday, February 3, 1823.

FURTHER re-examination of Accootoo, at the desire of the British Commissioner of Arbi-
tration, the said Accootoo being first sworn, in his Country-fashion :—

: Saith, that he was put‘down below four days; be was liberated by the English people,
his

(Signed) ACCOOTrOO, x
Mark,

his
GEORGE x KENDAL,

Mark.
Taken and sworn in Court, this 3d February 1823, through the interpretation of George

Kendal, who was first duly sworn, faithfully to interpret,

 

(34.) Ewamination of Lochoo. February 4, 1823.

Tuesday, February 4, 1823.
EXAMINATION of Lochoo, a Slave on board the said Schooner Nova Sorte, on Special In-

terrogatories, put by the Court at the suggestion of the Agent for the Captors, the said Lochoo
being first sworn in his Country-custom :—

ist. —Saith, his name is Lochoo.
2d.—-Saith, he is a Slave.
3d.—Saith, he was bought by the Persons who are present, Points out the Master of the Nova

Sorte, at this time in the Court-House.
Ath.—Saith, he does not see the Person here who pnt him on board the Schooner which brought

him bere; he was put on board by a Person who had something on his shoulder; at the
same time he points at the epaulets on Captain Phillips’ shoulder, who is at this time in the
Court-Room. . his

(Signed) LOCHOCO, x
Mark,

her
SALLY x BATTESLIE,

: , Mark. .
Taken and sworn in Court, this 4th day of February 1823, through the interpretation of

Sally Batteslie, who was first daly sworn to interpretfaithfully,

 

No. 47.

£. Gregory, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning. —(Received
October 10, 1823.

(Extract.) Sterra Leone, June 7, 1823.
ON the liberation of the Portuguese Schooner Nova Sorte, under a

Decree of the British and Portuguese Court of Mixed Commission, theProctor for the Captors moved, that the Court would Decree that the Slavesthat had been brought to Sierra Leone on board of the Nova Sorte, as be-longing to her, were entitled to Certificates of emancipation.
The Portuguese Commissionerwas not disposed to accede to this motion

or to interfere with the Slaves in any manner, as the Slaves had been
disclaimed by the Master and Claimant of the Nova Sorte, and as the Vessel
had not been condemned. The Portuguese Commissioner apprehended thata Decree granting Certificates of emancipation, could only be consequent
upon the condemnation of a Slave-vessel. . oS
Mr. Fitzgerald was rather disposed to grant Certificates of emancipation

to the Slaves of the Nova Sorte, conceiviiig that the spirit of the Conventionguaranteed the freedom of Negroes in the situation of those on board of the- Nova Sorte Co
For iny own part, Sir, my ownopinion was in unison with that of Mr.

Fitzgerald, ‘but I did not think myself authorized to concur with Mr. Fitz.
gerald in a Decree, entitling the Slaves in question to Certificates of emanci-  



SIERRA Lzone. (Portugal.) 149

pation, whea I had in recollection the Letter that Mr. Fitzgerald and
myself had the honour to receive from you, Sir, wherein our  pro-
ceeding, in passing a special Decree of condemnation against the
Spanish Schooner Rosalia, was disapproved of, partly on the ground that a
foundation was laid by such Decree for the Captor of the Rosalia to
claim bounties for the Slaves in that Case, as if he had made a meritorious
seizure.

It was directed that the Slaves should be delivered over to the Colonial
Government, under whose fostering care they would share in the happiness
of their brethen in this Colony. The British Commissioners said, that they
would submit the question, whether the Slaves should receive Certificates. of
emancipation or not, to His Majesty’s Government.

Again, Sir, in the Case of the Portuguese Schooner Sizceridade, liberated.
by a Decree of the British and Portuguese Mixed Court, .the Proctors for the
Captors shewed a disposition to move the Commissioners, to grant Certificates
of emancipation to the Slaves of that Vessel, who were directed by the Com-
missioners to be delivered over to the Colonial Government, in virtue of an
agreement that had been entered into by the Parties in that Case.
The Commissioners did not grant any Decree for the formal emancipation

of those Slaves. The Sinceridade having been liberated, it could not be held
that her seizure was meritorious. The British Commissioners said, that they
would submit the question of the formal cmancipation of the Slaves, to the
Superior Authority, in the same manner as they would submit the similar
question as to the Slaves of the Nova Sorte.
__f think it right, Sir, in submitting to your consideration, whether the
Slaves of the Nova Sorte, and of ihe Sinceridade in particular, and whether,
‘generally, Slaves placed in the situationof not being restored to the Slave-
dealer with his Vessel, are entitled to Certificates of emancipation, to repre-
sent to you, that an idea has been entertained that if bounties are granted upon
Certificates of emancipation, given to Slaves in the situation already described,
such bounties may be a set off against damages to be awarded for illegal
seizures ; and that, therefore, such seizures may not only be made“in Cases
where tiere are many Slaves, without much risk, but even with benefit to
the illegal Captor. oe :

I have the honour to be, &e.
Lhe Light Hon. George Canning, (Signed) E. GREGORY.

 &e. &e. &e.
 

No. 48.

E. Gregory, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Received Sept. 17.)

(Extract.) Sierra Leone, June 7, 1823.
_ EN connection with the Case of the Portuguesé Schooner Nova Sorte,
berated under a Decree of the British and Portuguese Court of Mixed Com-
mission, onthe 5th of February last, [ have now the honour to state to you

. Certain proceedings, taken in that Court by the Proctor for the Captor, with
a view to obtainanew trial in that Case. a

These proceedings were, by the Proctor for the Captor, founded on the
observation made by Mr. Fitzgerald, on passing Judgment upon the Case,
with regard to the absence of statements on the part of the boat’s crew, that
accompanied Licutenant Rothery on his visitation of the Nova Sorte, on the
avening of the 12th of October. Mr,.Fitzgerald observed, that “ be did
“think it one of the most extraordinary features of this very extraordinary
“ Case, that, although Lieutenant Rothery was, ofnecessity, aceon panied by
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€ his boat's crew, not one of them was brought or tendered to confirm his“ statements, or to refute those of the other Party, especially the allegations
“ of, Francisco Gomez, who said, that the Officer who boarded the said** Polacca, ordered his men to go below and search, which they did.”

_ With reference to this observation, the Proctor tor the Captor presented tothe British and Portuguese Court, a Petition, dated the 18th of March 1823,accompanied by Affidavits of Lieutenant Rothery, of some of the Officers, andof some of the seamen of the Snapper, and of Joachim, the black seaman ofthe Nova Sorte. The Petition prayed, that the Commissioners wouldallowthe Affidavits to be filed in Court, and if, in taking them into consideration,the Commissioners should see ground for rescinding their former Decree, thatthey would so rescind it. A copy of the Petition, with copies of the Affidavits,(1 to 12) are herewith inclosed.
‘The Affidavits were directed to several points in the Case, as it stood at thetime of the final decision, on the 5th of February.
1st. To the point, contended for by the Proctor for the Captor, of theconcealment of the hatches which closed those parts of the hold wherein theSlaves, alleged to have been embarked by the Portuguese previous to the12th of October, were said to have been concealed on the evening of thatday;—T'wo seamen of the Snapper, John Gahagan, and William Rivett, sworeto.such concealment; the first, to the “ concealment of the fore-hatch, by a“‘hawser being coiled over it;” the second, to the “concealment of the*¢ after-hatch by two casks, and some farina bags.” The Prize Master, Mr.Jeayes, who took charge of the Nova Sorte, on the 15th of October, swore,that “ soon after going on board of her (the Nova Sorte) he perceived a hatch* in the fore pic, which led to a detached part of the hold, capable of con-“* taining, at least, 16 men; and in the after Slave-room, or cabin, he per-‘* ceived another hatch, or scuttle, opening, likewise, into another detached“* part of the hold, which part was capable of containing about nine grown per-“ sons, and further, that neither ofthose hatches were concealed in any manner** whatever.”
2d. To the point, of the asserted relanding of the Slaves by the Portugueséof the Nova Sorte, in the night of the 12th of October ;—Two seamen of theSnapper, John Bedford and David Griffiths, swore, that “in the night of the“ 12th of October, one of them, John Bedford, had charge of the watch ; and* the other, David Griffiths, was sentinel between the hours of eight and“« twelve, P. M., on board of the Snapper; that, at about a quarter of an“hour from the said hour of twelve, P. M., as near as they could recollect,“* they saw two canoes very near the NovaSorte,and rowing directly towards“the beach of Mina Piccaninny, the canoes and the Vessels being in the** situation represented in the drawing annexed;” they further swore, that“ they did verily believe that the canoes did come last from the Nova Sorte,“at the time of their pereeiving them.” Lieutenant Rothery, and Mr,Cowie, Master of the Snapper, swore, that “ a drawing which was annexed“ to their Affidavit, was a true representation of the situation of the Snapper,.“« and of the Nova Sorte, as they lay at anchor off Mina Piccaninny, in the“ night of the 12th of October.” This was the drawing mentioned. by thetwo seamen, Bedford and Griffiths. The Proctor for the Captor wishingclearlyte prove that the places, in which it was saidthe Slaves were con-ecealed, at the time the boat of the Snapper boarded the Nova Sorte, were_ fully capable of holding the Slaves, caused those places to be admeasured.ae admeasurement was sworn to by the admeasurer, Mr. WilliamPaulett.

__ 3d, To the point, upon which some of theSlaves had said they were putbelow upon their being embarked, and: were kept in irons some time aftertheir embarkation ;—William Parr, Quarter-master of the Snapper, swore, that“ he was left in charge of the Nova Sorte, onher being scized on theEvening  



Sizpra Leone.  (Portugal.) 151

*¢ of the 14th ofOctober, and remained in charge ofher until the next morning,
“« when he was relieved by Mr. Jeayes, Master's Mate of the Snapper ;_ that
“« during the time he se remained in charge of the Polacca, all the Slaves then
* on board her, about 20 in number (men, women, and children) remained
** on the upper deck, and that they were not in any manner prevented from
“* going where they pleased about the Vessel, nor from speaking, or making
“as much noise as they liked to make.” Mr. Jeayes swore, that “on the
“ morning of the 15th of October, he took charge of the Nova Sorte, and
* remained in charge until she was restored by the Court; that during the
* time he was in charge of the Polacca, no Slave was kept in iron, or in
** any manner concealed below, nor was there any Slave mal-treated in any
** way, or prevented from speaking, or. making as much noise as-heor‘she
“ thought proper; nor were they prevented from diverting themselves in any
“manner they chose.” oo

Ath. To the point, upon which one of the Slaves ‘had said, that when below
in the hold, he heard a firing; Mr. Cowie and Mr. Jeayes, of the Snapper,
swore, that “ on tlic evening of the 12th of October, at the time of rounding
“the Snapper to, in order to anchor off the Port or Place called Mina
* Piccaninny, one gun was fired from the Snapper.” Lieutenant Rothery
and Mr. Cowie swore, that “no gun was fired from the Snapper, after the:
“¢ first canoe, containing Negro Slaves, left the beach of Mina Piccaninny to
“* go on board of the Nova Sorte on the evening of the 14th of October.”
The Affidavit of Joachim, the black seaman of the Nova Sorte, contained

several matters to the effect, that:“ at the time the Snapper detained ‘the
** Nova Sorte, Lima, the Master of the Nova Sorte, called the men, and begged
“‘ them to be of one mind, and say that he did not buy Slaves; that every
« day he begged the same; that when he, Joachim,went before the Court as
“a Witness,—(he was examined by the Registrar)—Lima took him by both
“hands, and said, ‘Joachim, be a friend to me; I want to get back mv
“ Schooner; I want you to say that I did not buy Slaves; if you sav so, I
“will give you ten dollars; he said this twice; sometimes he told him,
*« Joachim, that if he did not say that he, Lima, did not buy Slaves, that
* when he left this Country he would cut his, Joachim’s, throat; that at the
“time the Snapper detained the Nova Sorte, Slaves were on board; the’
*¢ were at the bottom of the Vessel; the people of the Man-of-War did nét
* see them; when the night came, they (the people of the Nova Sorte) took
“them and put them on shore.” -
Upon these Affidavits, the Proctor for the Captor rested his prayer for ‘a

new trial. In some interviews that the Commissioners, separately,had with
the Proctor for the Captor, in the course of the different proceedings relative
to this Case, it was intimated to him, by two of. the Commissioners, Mr.
Altavilla and Mr. Gregory, that they were disposed to think that a new trial
could not be granted under the provisions of the Convention. By Mr.
Fitzgerald it was intimated, that he was rather disposed to. think a new trial
might he granted, ifjustice so required it. ‘The Proctor for the Captor was
understood to have said to each of the Commissioners, that, leaving the
“Affidavits brought forward by him for the consideration of the Commissioners,
he left it for them to do what might appear to them to be proper in the
Case. . oe - :

‘The Commissioners, upon giving their attention to the stipwlations of the
‘Convention, and to the Affidavits brought forward, as I have mentioned, by
the Proctor for the Captor, were not, upon coming to a resolution on the Case,
inclined to grant a new trial. Mr. Altavilla and Mr. Gregory were not so
inclined, because they conceived that the decision for the restitution of the
Nova Sorte, must, under the stipulations of the Convention, and with res
to the Mixed Court, be considered tobea final decision. Mr. Fitzgerald was
‘not inclined to grant a new trial, as he did not think that the matters-con-
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tained in-the Affidavits, affected the decision that had been given for the
restitution. The Proctor for the Captor did not press for a new trial, and the
matter rested until the 27th of May, when the Commissioners met in Court
upon the Petition of the Proctor, for the Claimant to consider of the
Registrar's Report upon the question of costs, damages, and expences in the
“Case of the Nova Sorte. Qn that occasion, before the business upon which
the Commissioners had met was entered upon, the Proctor for the Captor
moved that a new trial be granted in the Case. ‘This motion was supported
by the Proctor for the Captor, by a reterence to the merits of the Athdavits
that have been mentioned.

The’ Proctor for the Claimant opposed the motion-of the Proctor for the
Captor, on the ground that a new trial could not be authorised by the terms
of the Convention.

The Commissioners severally gave their opinions upon this motion of the
Proctor for the Captor. Mr. Gregory did not think that a new trial could be
granted under the provisions of the Convention. The first Article of the
Regulations for the Mixed Commission, annexed to the Convention, said,
“ the Commissioners shall give sentence as summarily as possible, and they
“< are required to decide (as far as they shall find it practicable) within the
“space of 20 days, to be dated from that on which every detained Vessel
“© shall have been brought into the Port where they shall reside ;—1st, upon
“the legality of the capture; 2d, in the Case in which the captured Vessel
“ shall have been liberated, as to the indemnification which she is to receive.
-“ And it is hereby provided, that in all Cases the final Sentence shall not be
* delayed, on account of the absence of Witnesses, or for want ofother proofs,
“ beyond the period of two months, except upon the application of any of the
** Parties interested, when, upon their giving satisfactory security to charge
“ themselves with the expence and risks of the delay, the Commissioners
“may, at their discretion, grant an additional delay, not exceeding four
“* months,” The third Article of the same Regulations, said, “ the Commissary
“ Judges of the two Nations, shall, in the first place, proceed to the exami-
“* nation of the Papers of the Vessel, and to receive the depositions on oath,
-* of the Capiain, and of two or three, at least, of the principal individuals on
““ board of the detained Vessel, as well as the Declaration on oath of the
‘‘ Captor, should it appear necessary, in order to be able to judge and to pro-““ nounce if the same Vessel has been justly detained or not, according to. the
** stipulations of the Additional Convention of this date, and in order that,
“ according to this Judgment, it. muy be condemned or liberated. And in the
“event of the two Commissary Judges not agreeing on the Sentence theyought to pronounce, whether as to the legality of the detention, or the
‘* indemnification to be allowed, or on any other question. which might result© from the stipulations.of the Convention of this date, they shall draw by lot“the name of one of the two Commissioners of ‘Arbitration, who, after
“ having considered the Documents of. the Process, shall consult with the‘‘ above-mentioned Commissary Judges on the Case in question, and the
“final. Sentence shall be pronounced conformably. to the opinion of the“majority of the above-mentioned Commissary Judges, and of the above-** mentioned Commissionerof, Arbitration.”— .

It appeared to Mr. Gregory, from the letter of these Articles, and fromtheir spirit, which, discountenancing litigation productive of delay, requiredthe speedy termination of Causes, that a decision for the. condemnation, orfor the restitution of a Vessel, once passed by the Mixed Court, accordingto the tenour of the third Article that has been cited, could not be rescinded.The decision must be-final. Mr. Altavilla was of the same opinion.Mr.Fitzgerald did not-say, whether he agreed inthis opinion or not. ButMr. Fitzgerald did not think that a new trial could be granted in the Case,
.upon a view of the merits of the further evidence that had been brought
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forward by the Proctor for the Gaptor, since the Decree for the restitution
‘of the Vessel had been passed. Mr. Fitzgerald commented at length upon
this Evidence, as well as upon the evidence that had appeared previous to
the Decree of restitution, and compared the one with the other. Mr. Fitz-
gerald’s comments were partly committed to paper. Upon Mr. Fitzgerald’s
lamented death, Icollected his Papers that had relation to this part of the
Case of the Nova Sorte, with a view of putting you, Sir, in possession of-
Mr. Fitzgerald’s sentiments upon the Case, as he would himself have done,
if it had pleased the Almighty to have spared his valuable life. I only found
such of his comments upon the evidence as he had already committed to
writing, on the occasion of the Motion of the Proctor for the Captor for a
new trial. Those comments that were given at the time, upon an immediate

_ consideration of the arguments of the Proctor for the Captor, founded upoa
the matter of the Affidavits of the crew of.the Snapper, did not appear to
have been placed beyond the reach of death. Indeed, no time was allowed
to my late respected Colleague to put them in a permanent form, for, on the
eighth day of the delivery of his Decision, upon theMotion for a new trial,
he was deprived of life. I have hesitated, Sir, whether I should lay before
you such part of Mr. Fitzgerald’s sentiments upon this occasion. as have been
preserved to me; but I think that I shall best discharge the duty that I-owe
-to ithe memory of my late Friend, if I do lay them before ‘you for your
information. I accordingly beg leave to inclose herewith, a Copy of the
Paper that contains them. . .

. dn giving an opinion upon the Motion of the Proctor for the Captor for a
new trial, I did not think it necessary to enter upon the merits of the Eyi-

- dence that had been brought forward by him, as I founded that opinion upon
a construction of that part of the Convention that applied to the point in
uestion. But I may be permitted, Sir, to say, with reference to that
vidence, that it could not change the opinion that I had given for the

restitution of the Vessel; because, the fact. that had altered my previous opinion
for her condemnation, as stated in another Despatch of this date, that I have
had the honour to address you—the fact stated bythe Slaves, * that they were
never relanded at Mina Piccaninny, after having been-once embarked at that
Place,” remained uncontradicted by themselves, the Proctor for the Captor
not having thought fit to re-examine them on that point. _
You may be desirous, Sir, to know why the Commissioners disregarded the

renewed statements of Joachim, the black seaman of the Nova Sorte, that he
was a witness to the re-landing of the Slaves from the Nova Sorte, ‘in the
night of the 12th of October. The Comnunissioners thought the Evidence of
the Slaves who had been stated to have been relanded, and who had been
examined in open Court, more worthy of credit than the Evidence of
Joachim, as they were more untutored than Joachim, and, consequently,
dess subject to the suspicion of being partial Witnesses.

_ Ihave thus, Sir, related to you the proceedings of the Mixed Court in
regard to the trial of the Nova Sorte. I trust, that you will approve of
the conduct pursued by the British Commissioners in those . proceedings.
With respect to my late esteemed Friend, Mr. Fitzgerald, I may be per-
mitted to say,—that his conduct throughout that trial was guided bya strict
regard to principles of justice, and that he was unwearied in his exertions to
arrive at the truth in the Case—the truth which should be the aim of impar-
tial Judges, as it should be the guide oftheir conduct.

fhe Right Hon. George Canning, (Signed) E. GREGORY.
&e. Se. be .
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First Inclosure in No. 48.

Petition of Christopher Austin, Proctor, with Affidavits of Officers and
Men of His Majesty's Brig Snapper.

THE Humble Petition of Christopher Austin, on the part and bebalf of Lieutenant Rothery,
and the Officers and Ship’s company of His Majesty’s Brig Snapper, sheweth,—that His Majesty’s
said Brig sailed from this Harbour on the day on which the Claim of the Master of the said Nova
Sorte was filed in your Honourable Court, which debarred your Petitioner from taking advantage
of the annexed Affidavits of the Officers and Ship's company of His Majesty's said Brig,
That His Majesty's Commissioner of Arbitration, on whom the decision of the Case devolved,

expressed his regret at the absence of said Affidavits. Your Petitioner has now the honour of lay-
ing the same before you, accompanied by an Affidavit of one of the then Seamen of the Nova
Sorte.
Your Petitioner, therefore, hambly prays, that your Honours will allow the same fo be filed in

your Honourable Court, and if, in taking them into consideration, your Honours shail see
ground for 1escinding your former Decree in this Case, your Petitioner humbly prays your.
Honours will be pleased to do so :—and your Petitioner, as in duty bound, will ever pray.

Free Town, March 18, 1823, (Signed) C. AUSTIN.

— (1.) Affidavit of John Gahagan.

PERSONALLY appeared, John Gahagan, able seaman on board His.Majesty’s Brig Snapper,
who, being duly sworn on the Holy Evangelists, deposeth and saith as follows, viz:
That, on the evening of the 12th dayofOctober 1822, Deponent was sent by LieutenantRothery,

Commander of his Majesty’s said Brig, to examine the Slave-rooms of the said Polacea Nova Sorte 3
that Deponent did not then see any Slaves; but, on looking into the fore-pic, he saw a hawser
coiled, which hawser, he has since discovered, concealed a hatch, which opened into a part of-
the hold, where this Deponent has siace been, and which he maketh oath, is of sufficient size
to contain. twelve or fourteen men. ,

; (Signed) JOHN GAHAGAN,
On the 10th day of March 1823, this Deponent was duly sivorn to the truth of this Affidavit,

‘before me,
(Signed) D.M,. HAMILTON, Registrar,

 

(2.) Afidavit of Wilham Rivete.

PERSONALLY appeared, William Rivett, able seamen of His Majesty's Ship Snapper, who;
being duly sworn on the Holy Evangelists, deposeth and saith as. follows, viz. :—That be was
sent on the evening of the 12th day of October 1822, by Lieutenant Rethery, of His Majesty’s
said Brig Snapper, to examine the after Slave-room of the said Pelacca Nova Sorte, that there-
was there two casks and some farina bags, which concealed ascuttle, or hatch, which Deponent has
since discovered, and which opened into a detached part of the hold.

. (Signed) WILLIAM RIVETT.
On pe 1Uth day of March 1823, this Deponent was duly sworn to the truth of this Affidavit,

efote me, ‘
(Signed) D,M. HAMILTON, Registrar.

 

(3.) . Affidavit of Tohn Teayes.

PERSONALLY appeared, John Jeayes, Master’s Mate of His Majesty’s Brig Snapper, who,
being duly swornon the Holy Evangelists, deposeth and saith as follows, viz.:—-That, on the
15th day of October 1822, this Deponent {in pursuance of orders from Lieutenant Rothery,
Commander of HisMajesty’s said Brig) took chaige of the said Polacca Nova Sorte, that, soon
after going on board her, he perceived a hatch in the fore-pic, which led toa detached:part ofthe
hold, capable of containingat least sixteen men, and, in the after Slave-room, or Cabin, heper-
ceived another hatch or scuttle, opening likewise into another detached part of the hold, which
part was capable of containing about nine grown persons; and further, that neither of those
hatches were concealed in any manner whatsoever,

(Signed) JOHN JEAYES,
Ou the 10th day of March 1823, this Deponent was duly sworn to the truth of this Affidavit,

betore me, ,
(Signed) D.M, HAMILTON, Registrar,  
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(4.) Affidavit of John Bedford, and David Griffiths.

PERSONALLY appeared, John Bedford, gunner's-mate, and David Griffiths, private marine of
His Majesty’s Brig Snapper, who being each duly sworn on the Holy Evangelists, depose and say
as follows, viz:— _ /

That on the Night of the 12th day of October 1822, the said John Bedford had charge of the
watch, and the said David Griffiths was sentinel, between the hours of eight and twelve o’Clock,
P M, on board His Majesty’s said Brig, that, at about a quarter of an hour from the said hour of ~
twelve Pp. m, (as near as these Deponents can recollect), they saw two canoes very near the sail
Polacca Nova Sorte, and rowing directly towards the beach of Mina Piccaninny, the said éances
and the said Vessels being in the situation represented in the annexed drawing. And these De-.
ponents further swear that they do verily believe that the said canoes did come last from the said
Nova Sorte at the time of their perceiving them. ,

(Signed) JOHN BEDFORD.
D. GRIFFITHS.

On the 10th day of March 1823, these Deponents were duly sworn to the truth of this Afi-
. davit, before me, (Signed) D. M. HAMILTON, Registrar.

 

(5.) Affidavit of Lieutenant Rethery, and David Cowie, Master.

PERSONALLY appeared, Thomas Henry Rothery, Lieutenant and Commander of His
Majesty’s said Brig, and David Cowie, master of the same, who being each duly sworn on the
Holy Evangelists, depose and say as follows, viz :—

That the annexed drawing, signed with their respective names, is a true representation. of the
situation of His Majesty’s said Brig and the Portuguese Polacca Nova Sorte, as they-lay at anchor
off Mina Piccaninny, on the niglit of the 12th day of October 1822,

(Signed) T. H. ROTHERY.
D. COWIE.

On the 10th day of March 1823, these Deponents were duly sworu to the trath of this Affi-
davit, before me,

(Signed) D. M. HAMILTON, Registrar,

AND further, this Deponent, Lieutenant Thomas Henry Rothery, maketh oath, that after
boarding the said Nova Sorte, the boat of His Majesty’s said brig left that said Vessel about the
hour of seven o’Clock, Pp. m. on the same 12th day of October, and from that time no person be-
longing to His Majesty’s said Brig was on beard of or bad any communication with the said
Nova Sorte until the Evening of the following day, viz. the 13th day of October 1822.

(Signed) TT. H. ROTHERY.

On the 17th day of March 1823, this Deponent was duly swom to the truth of this Aff-
dayit before me,

(Signed) D. M. HAMILTON, Registrar,
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This is.therepresentation referred ‘to in the annexed Affidavit. Dated March 19, 1823,

{(Sigued) =D. M. HAMILTON, Registrar.

. ' WRERERENCES,
1 ‘Nova Sorte
2 Snapper
3 & 4 Canoes rowing towards the sh ore
(Sigued) T. H. ROTHERY.,

D. COWL,

o Mina Piccaniuny.
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(6) Petition of Christopher Austin, Proctor.

THE humble petition of Christopher Austin, on the part and behalf of LieutenantRothery,
and theOfficers and Ship’s company of His Majesty’s Brig Suapper, sheweth,—that your Petitioner,
wishing to prove clearly to your Honourable Court that the places where it is said the Slaves
were concealed, at the time the boat of His Majesty's said Brig boarded the Nova Sorte, were and
are fully capable of holding them, humbly prays, that the annexed Measurement and Affidavit
amay be filed in your Honourable Court :—And your Petitioner, as in duty bound, will ever pray.

Free Town, April 25, 1823. (Signed) Cc. AUSTIN.

(7.) Affidavit of William Parlett.

PERSONALLY appeared, William Parlett, who being duly sworn on the Holy Evangelists,
deposeth, and saith as follows, viz :—

That on the 24th day of April last past, Deponent went on board the Portuguese Polacea Nova
Sorte, then lying in the Harbour, and carefully measured a part of the hold of the said Vessel,
and found it to measure, as set forth on the other side, viz:—In extreme length from the stern to
the chime of the foremost water casks, 12 feet; in extreme breadth, 15 feet; in breadth, at 7.
feet 2 inches from the stern, 13 feet 6 inches; and in mean height from the kilson, 4 feet.
And Jurther, Deponent measured another part of the hold of the said Vessel, situated under

the cabin, and abate the after-bulk-head-of the afier-hold, and found it to Measure, as set forth
eu the other side, viz:—im extreme length, from the after-bulk-head to the stern-post,
9 feet 1A inches; in extreme breadth, 10 teet 5 inches ; in breadth, at 4 teet distance from the
after-bulk-head, or extreme breadth, 6 feet-4 inches; and in mean height from the kilson, 2 feet
5 inehes. ,

(Signed) |WILLIAM PARLETT.
On the 25th dey of April 1823, this Deponent was daly sworn to the truth of this Affidavit,

before me, Signed) D, M, HAMILTON, Registrar.
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Plan of part of the Hold ofthe Portuguese Polacca
Nova Sorte, from the Z Stern to the fore part
of theforemost tier of Water Casks.
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(8.) Affidavit of William Parr.

PERSONALLY appeared William Parr, Quarter-Master of His Majesty's Brig Snapper, who
being duly swora on the Holy Evangelists, deposeth and saith as follows :—viz.

‘That he was left in charge of the Polacea Nova Sorte, on her being seized by His Majesty's said
Brig, on the evening of the 14th day of October 1822, and remainedin charge of her until the
mext morning, when he was relieved by Mr. Jeayes, Master's Mate of His Majesty's said Brig;
that during the time Deponent so remained in charge of said Polacca, all the Slaves then on board
ther (about twenty ia number, men, women, and children) remained on the upper deck, and

that they were not in any manner prevented from going where they pleased about the Vessel, nor
from speaking or making as much noise ag they liked to make.

(Signed) WILLIAM PARR,

Sworn at Free Town, Sierra Leone, the 7th of March 1823, before me,

(Signed) D, M. HAMILTON, Registrar.

(9.) Affidavit of Tohn Teayes.

PERSONALLY appeared John Jeayes, Master’s Mate of His Majesty's Brig Snapper, who
being duly sworn on the Holy Evangelists, deposeth and saith as follows, viz :—

That on the merning of the 5th day of October 1822, Deponent took charge of the
Polacca Nova Sorte, and remained in charge of her until the Decree of restoration, made in the
above Cause by the above Court; that during the time Deponent so remained in charge of said
Polacca, no Slave was kept in irons, nor in any manner concealed below, nor was there any Slave

mal-treated in anyway, or prevented from speaking or making as. much noise as he or she thought
proper, nor were they prevented from diverting themselves in any manner they chose.

(Signed) JOHN JEAYES.
Sworn the 7th March 1823, before me, :

(Signed) -D. M. HAMILTON, Registrar.

 

(10.) Affidavit of David Cowie and John Jeayes.

PERSONALLY appeared David Cowie, Master, and John Jeayes, Master's Mate, of His
Majesty’s Brig Snapper, who being each duly sworn on the Holy Evangelists, depose and say
as follows, viz :— :

That on the evening of the 12th day of October 1822 (at the time of rounding the said Brig
to, in order to anchor), off the Port or Place called Mina Piecaninny, one gun was fired from the

‘said: Brig.
8 (Signed) DAVID COWIE.

JOHN JEAYES.
On the 10th day of March 1823, these Deponents were duly sworn to: the truth of this

Affidavit, before me,
(Signed) =D. M. HAMILTON, Registrar.

{11.) Affidavit of Lieutenant Rothery, and of David Cowie, Master.

PERSONALLY appeared Thomas Henry Rothery, Lieutenant and Commander, and David
Cowie, Master of His Majesty’s Brig Snapper, who being each duly sworn on the Holy Evan-
gelists, depose and say as follows, viz :— . _

That no. gun was fired from His Majesty’s said Brig. after the first canoe, containing Negro
Slaves, left the beach of Mina Piccaninny to go on board the Polacca Nova Sorte, on the
-evening of the J4th day:ofOctober 1822, . .

(Signed) THO. H. ROTHERY.
a DAVID COWIE.

On the 10th day.of March 1823, these Deponents were duly sworn to the truth of this

Affidavit, before me, : .
(Signed) D.M. HAMILTON, Registrar.
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(12.) Affidavit of SFoachim.

‘PERSONALLY appeared Joachim, formerly a Slave, and a seaman on board thePolaccaNovi
Sorte, but now a free-man aud a resident at Free Town, in this Colony, who being duly sworn
on the Holy Evangelists, through the interpretation of Aude, who was first duly sworn faith- .
‘fully to interpret, deposeth and saith as follows, viz :—

That time Man-of-War take Nova Sorte, Lima call all men, he beg them be all one mouth,”
cand say he no buy Slaves ; every day he tell them so; that time 1 go Court speak palaver; Lima
call me, he take me in two hands, he say, Joachim be friend for me, I want to get back my
Schoonér, I want ‘you say T no buy Slave; suppose you say so, I give you ten dollars; two time he
tell meso; some time he tell me, suppose 1 no say he no buy Slave, that time he leave this
Country he cut my throat; that time Snapper been took Schooner (Nova Sorte) Slave live.
aboard; that tiffe, he live down in bottom ; Man-of-War no see them; that time night come we
take them put them ashore, his

(Signed) - JOACHIM, +
Mark,

his
AUDE, >

_ Mark,
‘On the 17th day of March 1323, this Deponent was duly sworn to the truth of thisAffidavir,

before me,
(Signed) D. M. HAMILTON, Registrar,

  

Second Inclosure in No, 48.

Notes of Mr. Fitzgerald for Judgment, on the Petition of the Captorsfor
a New Trial, m the Case of the Portuguese. Schooner Nova Sorte.

THE original Affidavit of the Negro Quasbee, upon which the Case of the Captors is founded,
for they had no Case whatsoever until that Affidavit was brouvht forward, states, that * being ou
the beach of the said Place, called Mina Precaninny, he there saw and witnessed the embarkation
of many men and women Slaves, Natives of Africa, on boar, the long-boat of the said Polaeca,
which long-boat conveyed the said Slaves, and put them on board the said Polacea, said Slavesbeing then and there in irons by the neck and wrists; that four days after the aforesaid Slaves
were so put on board the aforesaid Vessel, he, the Depouent, with other Slaves, not then em-
barked, perceived a Vessel approaching the said Place, where the said Polacca was then lying at
anchor, which Vessel be points out to be His Britapnick Majesty’s Brig-of-War Snapper; that,
‘before the sun rose on rhe following day, he saw and witnessed the aforesaid Slaves, who wereso embarked, land on the beach of Mina Piccaninny aforesaid, from three canoes, and the afore-‘said Jong-boat; and, that he was with the said Slaves and others, who were not embarked,driven by the people of Mina Piccaninny aforesaid, into the bush to a considerabledistance,’'

In corroborationofthe statement thus made by Quashee, there wasa collateral statement by aNegro belonging to the Nova Sorte, named Joachim. ‘his Negro was on board the Neva Sorte,‘Yn the capacity of a Slave Mariner. His statement was brought forward, in the first instance, inthe shape of an Affidavit, but the substance of that Affidavit was afterwards put into the form ofInterragatories, with answers :—of these, the most material are, the answer to the fifth Interro-gatory, which says, ‘‘that Slaves had been on board the said Schooner four days previous to see-ing the Man-of-War;” and the answer 10 the sixth, saying, ‘‘that on the appearance of thecapturing Vessel, the Slaves that were on board were put in a small room where the yams were ;”
and the answer to the seventh, which is, “« that in the course of the night, the Slaves were sent onshore by the Portuguese Mariners of said Schooner.” In hisAffidavit, this Joachim says, that on‘the appearance of the said Brig-of-War, all the aforesaid Slaves were driven ly the Portuguese
Mariners of said Polacca into a part of the hold of the said Polacea, which place he deseribes tobe under that part of the Vessel called the fore-pic, aud, that the said Slaves were then and therecovered and concealed by sails and provisions. .

In further corroboration, six Negroes, belonging to the Nova Sorte, were examined on SpecialInterrogatories ; the names are, Acovtoo, Desay, Coma, Accoopee, Cawcaw, and Ellookeo,All these prr-ons say, in answer to the sixth interrogatory, that they were put on board thePolacea four days before the English Man-of-War came in sight. In answer to the seventh Inter-rogatory, they say, that on the appearance of the English Man-of-War, they were pat below andcovered with sails. The one named Acootoo, says, he was covered with sails and yams ; he is‘the only one that says any thing of yams. The addition of yams in the answer of this individualzequires particular notice, because the manner of the alleged concealment of the Negroes stated to‘have been on board of the Nova Sorte, on the approach of the Snapper, was one of the points mostparticularly investigated in the examination held in open Court, under the direction of the Arbi-trator, : Do :
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Tt was necessary for the Captors to shew that there was a concealment in another place than in
‘the ordinary Slave-hold, for they had searcheé the ordinary Slavé-hold, and found nothing there;
or else of concealment in a particular part of the Slave-hold, by extraordinary means, such as heap-
ing yamstandsails upon the bodies of the Negroes; and, if the Captors were not themselves doubt-
-fal as to which of these two modes of concealment they would imaintain, certainly the mode of
proceeding and of argument on their behalf, appeared to the Court to vibrate between the one
miode and the other. Although each is evidently contradictory #f the other, tbe confusion origi- -
nated probably from the very different terms in which this thing is. described by Joachim, in his
Affidavit and in his answers to the Interrogatories, leading in one instance to a concealment in a
small separate room ; in another, to a-concealment in the hold, covered with sails and provisions :
these two statements rest equally upon the credit of Joachim.
The addition of yams to the covering of sails, which the Slave Acvotoo says were put over him

and the other Slaves when they were put below, appears to be loosely and inaccurately mentioned
by him, -but, of such yams, the other five say nothing. A female Slave, named Cosebah, was also
examined ; she says, that on the appearance of the Man-of-War they were put downin the held
aad there concealed, by first locking them up, and covering the hatch-way over with sails. This
‘woman says, they were relanded the same night that the Brig-of-War came there.

In the examination, under the direction of the Arbitrator, the concealment was described by all
‘the Slaves, as that they were put below in the ordinary place, and in the ordinary manner as they
‘were at all times ; they were covered with sails in the same manner as at all other times 3 there
~was nothing of being placed in a room under the ordinary Slave-hold, nor of any extraordinary
concealment by means of sails heaped on the bodies tor the purpose, ‘as the Capters contended,
‘The Slaves examined in Court were, Appear, Accommo, Desay, Quamin, Accootia, Accootoo,
and Leochoo. : . ‘

In the proceeding under the direction of the Arbitrator, it was intended merely to, re-examine
upon one or two particular points, those who had been before examined on behalf of the Captors,
and (o put one or two further questions to them ; it happened, however, that those: who were
thus examined were, with the exception of two, altogether new Witnesses ; this coincidence, with
.those previously examined, was consequently a further assurance of the truth of the matter af-
firmed by both. ,

But, besides the denial of a concealment, in an extreordinary place, and in. an extraordinary
manner, or by exordinary means, upon the approach of the Snapper, there was another point of
still greater importance on which there was a denial equally uniform, That point was, the land-
ing after the concealment ; for, if every Negro concealed in the manner alleged had not been
landed, the numbers on board would not be consistent, for the number brought to the Colony was
precisely the number delivered up by the Caboceer of the Place, on the requisition of Lieutenant
‘Rothery, consisting of twenty in one shipment, and subsequently one hundred and two, making a
-total of an hundred and twenty-two, .

With respect to a relanding after the first embarkation at Mina Piccaninny, every one of those
‘examined in Court, says distinctly, ‘that he never put his foot on shore at Mina Piccaninny after
he was first embarked on board the Nova Sorte ; that the first Place where he did put his foot on
shore was at Sierra Leone. oe

This was the principal point to which the examination, under-the directionofthe Commissioner
of Arbitration, was addressed; for, if a concealment.and a landing, such as those alleged on be-
half of the Captors, bad taken place, every individual that was included in the concealment, must.
-also have been included in the landing. They would have been landed in the very particular man=
ner alleged ; they would have been subsequently conveyed into the bush, and there fartt¥er con-
cealed together; and, subsequently, again, they would have been delivered up tu Lieutenant Rothery
by the Caboceer, and to all these matters they would have been able to depose, and to relate the
eircumstances attending them. On the other hand, if not any one of those brought forward in
proot of the concealment had been landed, the concealment and the landing, upon-tyhich the Case
of the Captors was founded, would be altogether unsupported by the evidence. adthiced in corrobera-.
tion of it ; or, rather, they would be altogether disproved by that very evidende, .

__ This was in fact the termination of the Case of the Captors by the result of the examination in
Court: besides the Negroes already enumerated, there was a woman, named Cosebuah, in- whose
testimony, upon re-examination, there was so much inconsistency and apparent -prevarication that.
no reliance could be placed on it. The Slave seaman, named Joachim, was represented to the Court
as ready to retract all his former testimony, respecting the concealment.and the embarkationof the
Slaves in the. Night, for the purpose of being landed, and to state that all this had been sworn by
bim under undue influence. Counter statements of undue influence by the other Party were ad«
vanced, and proof was tendered ia support of them. It appeared advisable to the Bench to form its
decision on the testimony of Witnesses, not entangled in these accusations and counter accusations,
and not affected by the imputations necessarily resulting from them. The deposition of Joachim
was, therefore, left out of consideration, except insomuch as it may be confirmedby the testimony
‘of Witnesses not open to similar impeachment. : , :

The Negro Quashee, from whose communication the Case of an. embarkation and subsequent
Janding of Negroes, prior to the detention of the Nova Sorte, appears to have been derived, was
necessarily regarded as .a Witness.ofgreat. importance, in the further examinations under the di-
rection of the Commissioner of Arbitration. The circumstances of the history of that Negro;
his residence in the family of ‘a British subject of high consideration, as Governor of one. ofHis
Majesty’s Forts, and holding the rank: of a Member of the Council of Administration for-the
British Settlements on the.Coast; his transfer from that service to another in the sameFort,from
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which he was sold as a Slave; his arrival in this Colony, so providential for his deliverance; edn-'
spired to give currency to reports, somewhat exaggerated, respecting his character and attainments;!
at least, Tam led to think that such reports tended to form in every mind excessive expectations;
J did expect to find that this Quashee was an African of superior intelligence antl instruction, I
was, therefore, greatly disappointed when IT found that his knowledge of the English language
(the medium of perceiving and estimating all his other acquired knowledge), was so imperfect that
it did not enable him to understand what was said to him, nor to make himself understood when

he spoke; it became necessary, in consequence, to examine him by meaus of an Interpreter, but
even then, his understanding of the questions put to him, and his answers to those questions,

skewed him to be far inferior in poimt of iutelligence to the other Negroes examined iv the Case,
whom he had been stated greatly to surpass; he did, however, confirm, with additional circam-
stances of sonie importance, every part of his original statement, with the exception of the main
fact, which was alone material to the Case to be decided.—the landing of the Slaves from the
Nova Sorte before Sun-rise, on the Morning of the day after the arrival of the Snapper, which
Slaves he had seen carried on board of the Nova Sorte four days previously. He stated in his
original Affidavit that these Slaves were landed in three canoes and the long-boat of the Nova
Sorte, and that they were afterwards driven into the bush with himself aud other Slaves who had
not been previously embarked. In his examination in Court, he distinctly and repeatedly said,
that after the Snapper came he did not see any boat come from the Portuguese Schooner to the
shore, After the Snapper came, he did not see any Slave come on shore from the Schooner, He
had previously stated, in the same examination, that he received the information of the Slaves, having
been put down below on the approach of the Snapper, from the Slave named Accotia, after he
himself went on board; it was not tll then that he heard of it, and it was from Accotia alone
that he had the information. Now, itis obvious that if a number of Negroes, previously embarked,
hadbeen concealed on board, in order to escape discovery by the people of the Snapper, and had
been landed clandestinely before sun-rise on the next Morning, as stated in Quashee’s original
Affidavit, those Slaves, when driven into the bush with him, as that Affidavit also states, would
have made those occurrences the immediate subject of their conversation, Accotia would have
told alt to Quashee at once, instead of waiting to tell him on board. What Quashee saw and
what he heard, and the time and place of seeing and hearing, would have concurred to confirm his
statement, by the coincidence. of the others concerned with him,—The coincidence is, indeed,
found, bat is Found by Quashee’s denial of that which he was before understood to have asserted, ~
that he had seen the Slaves, who had been embarked four days before the arrival of the Snapper,
‘landed before sun-rise on the Morning after that arrival. His denial of having seen any such
landing, and the uniform declaration of the others, that they had not been so landed, established a
tall conviction that no such landing had taken place; the supposition of a concealment on board
without a landing, was refuted by reference to the numbers actually on board, which were pre-
cisely the numbers delivered up by the Caboceer of Mina Piceaninny, on the requisition of Lieu-
tenant Rothery, and not one more; 20, and 102, / :

_ The evidence thus-recapitulated did net appear to. the Captor sufficient to warrant the Decree
for-the liberation of the Vessel, which the Commissioner ‘of Arbitration founded upon it, with the
concurrence of His Majesty's Commissary Judge, who, on the primary evidence, had_pronounced
for a Decree of condemnation. -
‘Fhe Proctor for the Captors, advertiag to some remarks made by the Arbitrator on the want of

evidence that might have been furnished from the Snapper, which Vessel had then sailed from
Sierra-Leone on a particular service, presents now several Affidavits from persons belonging to
that Vessel, who were concerned in the searching and the detention of the Nova Sorte, and with
them a Petition for a new trial, founded on the matters. which the Affidavits contain,

Whether the nature of the jurisdiction coufided to the Court ofMixed Commission canauthorise
the granting of new trials, is a question of much difficulty and delicacy. : ‘

I will venture to ‘say thus much, that I sliould be sotry to think those Courts debarred from
- reconsideringand rectifying decisions, which anay be reasonably and fairly regarded as incorrect
or ill advised, in Cases of restitution, subject to demands for costs and. damages, especially in.Cases
in which the primary decision for the liberation of the Vessel may be open to other views,arising
from the evidence forthcoming upun the investigation of those demands,

It must, however, be admitted that, in these ourts, as in all those inwhich new trials are com-~
monly allowed, a decision once pronounced ought not to be disturbed, unless stroug reason shall
be shewn for thinking that a different decision would be more proper; or, at least, that the de~
clared grounds of the existing decision were inaccurate.
Do the Affidavits and the Petition now before the Court give reason to think that the groundsof the Decree of liberation in the Case ot the Nova Sorte were inaccurate, or that a different de-

cision would be more correct 2
‘The remarks of the Conmiissioner of Arbitration, on the want of evidence from the Snapper,

-Wereliterally these,—one of the Negroes says, that “‘they were fed during the time by the English_ Cook, that is, during the time between tbeirembarkation and the detention of the Nova Sorte bythe Snapper; another says, that while they were below they heard a firing, a cireumstance that
might have admitied explanationon the part of the Captors, by shewing at what times and inwhat manner, for what occasions and purposes, the Snapper fired. Ido think it one of the mostextraordinary features of this very extraordinary Case, that although Lieutenant Rothery was ofnecessity accompanied by his boat's crew, not one of them is brought or tenidered to confirm hisstatements, ‘or to refute those of the other Party, especially the allegations of Francisco Gomez>who says, that the Officer who boarded .the saidPolacca,.ordered his men to go below and search,
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which they did. This Gomez also says, that a boat came from the Snapper the same day and left
sonie men; that these men were afterwards taken away, and that a cance with Slaves came from
a-steri of the Snapper, xecompanied by the boat of. the Brig-of- War; the Slaves, he says, were
then ordered out of the canoe on board the Polacea,—and although the Master of the Polacea
refused to receive them, the Officer of the Brig-of-War enforced compliance. . All these allegations,
or such parts of them as could be contradicted or explained, were open to the testimony of the
Officers and men of the Snapper, but from that Vessel we have not more than the Affidavit of
Lieutenant Rothery himself.”

This recital will shew that the language of the Commissioner of Arbitration has been rather in-
accurately described in the Petition now before the Court on behalf of the Captors, where he is
represented as expressing his regret at the absence of further evidence trom the Snapper. It is to
be supposed that Parties bring, for their own interests, the best evidence that they can, and the
Rench, which bas no interest but that of impartial justice, cannot, with propriety, have any
‘feelings of regret, that either Party has not better evidence than that which it brings.

‘The want of evidence, trom a source so obvious and so accessible as the boat's crew of the
Snapper, was a deficiency that conld not well be passed over withont some remark in pronouncing
Judgment on the Case. But it does not follow, that this deficiency could, with propriety, be sup-
plied after trial hac taken ‘place upon the Petition of the Paities, and after Judgment pronouneed
in a two-fold form ;. first, by the Commissary Judges, and inthe second instance,.by the Commis-
sioner.of Arbitration, a,

Parties are bound to see what evidence their Case requires, before it comes to Judgment ; and.if
they have the means of bringing that evidence they ought to obtain leave to addit, aud if a day
be fixed for trial, they should apply to the Court to defer it until the evidence can be completed.—
But to suffer Judgment to be pronounced, and then to bring further evidence to supply the defi-
ciencies noticed by the Bench, in the Case as it comes to trial, would be to render remissness of
Parties ground for a new trial, in order that they may supply in the second instance what they
ought to have produced in the first. The present Case may, however, have some excuse in the
peculiarity of the circumstance; and the chiet ebject is to ascertain, whether justice has been done
between the Parties in the Judgment already pronounced ;, or, whether the Affidavits annexed to
the Petition, on behalf of the Captors for a new trial, give reason to think that a fresh investiga-
tion would lead to a different and a more accurate and more equitable result, :
One of the first and most important Instructions to the British Commissioners, conveyed in

Lord Castlereagh’s Letter, accompanying the Standing Interrogatories, dated the 19th February
1819, is, “* that they should be always mindtul and cautious to obtain and weigh the whole facts
of the Case, before they give their Judgment upon it.” The object of this admonition, “was
steadily pursued in the present Case, andwas, as I thought,sufficiently attained by the results of
the various examinations previous to the Judgments that have been passed. m
We will now examine, whether the Affidavits brought forward, since Judgment, om behalf’ of

the Captors, lead to other and more correct conclusions, rs
The Petition for a new trial is founded upon séveral Affidavits made by Lieutenant Rothery,

and by other Officers and seamen of the Snapper, and an Affidavit by Joachim, the Negro Slave:
seaman of the Nova Sorte, who describes himself as being uow a free-man anda resident of Frég
Town, in this Colony. : . ,
The Affidavit of Lieutenant Rothery, and of Mr. Cowie, Master of the Snapper, states, that

no gun was fired on board of the Snapper, after the first canoe containing Negro Slaves left the
beach of Mina Piccaninny, to go on board of the said Polacca NovaSorte,ont e Evening of the
14th day of October; this Affidavit is dated the 19th of March 1823, ot
The Affidavit ot Mr. Cowie and Mr,Jeayes states, that, on the 12th day of October 1822, at

the time of rounding the said Brig to, in order to anchor off the Port or Place called Mina Pic-
eaninny, one gun was fired from the said Brig; this Affidavit also is dated the 10th of March.) __
An Affidavit by William Rivett, seaman of the Snapper, says, that he was sent on the Evening of

the 12th day of October 1822, by Lieutenant Rothery, ot His Majesty’s said Brig Snapper, to
examine the after Slave-room of the said Polacca Nova Sorte, that there were there two casks
and some farina bags, which concealed a scuttle or hatch, which Deponent has since discovered, and
which opened into a detached part of the hold; this Affidavit is dated the 10th of Mareh,
The Affidavit of John Gabagan, able.seaman on board His Majesty’s Brig Snapper, states, that,

on the Evening of the 12th day of October 1822, Deponent was sent by Lientenant Rothery,
commanding His Majesty's said Brig, to examine the Slave-rooms ofthe said Polacca Nova Sorte,
that Deponent did not then see any Slaves, but on looking into the fore-pic he saw a hawser
coiled, which hawser he has since discovered concealed a hatch which opened into’a part of the
hold, where this Deponent has since been, and which he maketh oath, is of sufficient size to
contain 12.or.14 men. .

Another Affidavit by Mr. Jeayes, Master’s Mate of the Snapper:—‘‘ That, on the 18th day of
October 1822, this Deponent, in pursuance of orders from Lieutenant Rothery, commanding His
Majesty’s said Brig, took charge ofthe said Polacca Nova. Sorte; that-soon after going on board
her he perceived a hatch in the fore-pic, which led to a detached part-of. thehold, capable of
containing almost sixteen men, and in the after Slave-room, or cabin, he perceived another hatch
or-scuttle, opening likewise into another detached part of the hold, which part was capable ofcon-
taining about nine growa persons, andfurther,that neither of those hatches was concéaled in any
manner whatsoever.’ This Affidavit is:dated the 10th of March. Oy, a

. ‘TheAffidavit of Joachim, given. by the interpretation of a person named Aude, and expressed
dn the.African. style ofEnglish, sayse—- os
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That time Man-of-War take Nova Sorte, Lima eall all men ; he beg them be-all one mouth,
and say he no buy Slaves; every day he tell them so; that time I go Court speak. palaver, Lima
call me, he take me in two hands, he say Joachim be friend to me, I want to get back my
Schooner, I want you say I no buy Slave,—suppose you say so, I give you ten dollars; two time
he tell ine, suppose I no say he no buy Slave, that time he leave this Country he cut my throat ;—
that time Snapper been look Schooner Nova Sorte, Slave live a-board; that time he live down in
bottom; Man-of-War no see them; that time night come we take them and put them on shore,
Sworn on the 17th day of March 1823.

William Parr, Quarter-Master of His Majesty’s Brig Snapper,swears,that he was left in charge
of the said Nova Sorte on her being seized by His Majesty’s said Brig, on the Evening of the
14th day of October 1822, and remained in charge of her until the next Evening, when he was
relieved by Mr. leayes, Master’s Mate of His Majesty’s said Brig; that, during the time Deponent
so remained in charge of said Polacca, all the Slaves then on-board her, about twenty in number,
men, women and children, remained on the upper deck, and that they were not in any manner
prevented from going where they pleased about the Vessel, nor from speaking or making as much
noise as they liked to make. This Affidavit was sworn the 7th of March.
Mr Jeayes, the Master's Mate, says, in another Affidavit, intended apparently to connect itself

with this of William Parr, that, on the Morning of the 15th day of October 1822, Deponeut took
charge of the said Polacca Nova Sorte, and remained in charge until the Decree of restoration
made in the above Cause by the above Court; that during the time Deponent so remained in
charge no Slave was kept in irons, nor in any manner concealed below, nor was there any Slave
mal-treated in any way, or prevented from speaking or-making as much noise as he or she thought
proper ; nor were they prevented from diverting themselves in any manner they chose. Sworn the
7th Mareh.
John Bedford, gunner’s mate, and David Gritfiths, private marine of His Majesty’s Brig Snapper,

sweat, that, on the Night of the 12th day of October 1822, the said John Bedford had charge of
the watch, and the said David Griffiths was sentinel between the hours of eight and twelve o’ Clock
pv. m. on board His Majesty's said Brig; that at about a quarter of an hour from the said hour of
twelve P.M. as near as these Deponents can recollect, they saw two canoes very near the said
Polacca Nova Sorte, and rowing directly towards the beach ofMina Piccaninny, the
said canoes and the said Vessel being in the situation represented in the annexed drawing;
and these Deponents further swear, that they do verily believe that the said canoes did come
last,from the Nova Sorte at the time of their perceiving them. This Affidavit is dated the 10th
of March. ,

There is annexed to this last mentioned Affidavit a drawing, accompanied by an Affidavit of
Lieutenant Rothery and Mr. Cowie, Master of the Snapper, stating, that the annexed drawing
signed with their respective names, is a true representation of the situations of His Majesty’s said
Brig and the Portuguese Polacca Nova Sorte, as they lay at anchor off Mina P-ccaninny, on the
Night of the 12th of October 1222. This Affidavit is sworn on the 10th March; there is sub-
joined to it a further Affidavit by Lieutenant Rothery, which says, that after boarding the said
NovaSorte, the boat of His Majesty’s said Brig left that said Vessel about the hour of seven
o'Clock rp. w., on thé said 12th day of October, and from that time n> person belonging to His
Majesty's said Brig was on board of, or had any communication with the said Nova Sorte, until
the Evening of the following day, viz: the 13th day of October 1822.

‘The object of all the Affidavits furnished from the Snapper, is to eonfirm the statements of the
Negro Joachim, late a Slave seaman on board of the Nova Sorte, but now a free-man, and a resi-
dent at Sierra Leone, according to the description prefixed to his last Affidavit,—Iit is, therefore,
essential to ascertain precisely what this Joachim has successively stated in the several Papers, in.
which his testimony has from time to time been brought forward.
The first of these Papers is an Affidavit sworn by him, ou the . of January, by the interpre.

tation of Quashee, the Neyro formerly in the service of Mr. Bienkarne, who may be regarded as
the originator of this Case, of an embarkation of Slaves on board of the Nova Surte, before the
seizure of that Vessel by Lieutenant Rothery, and of a relanding of those Negroes on the Morn-
ing after the arrival of the Snapper. The Affidavit first made ‘by Joachim, was given to the
Court ir connection with that of Quashee, for the confirmation of Quashee’s statement, by its
coincidence with that Statement, in relating the transactions on board of the Nova Sorte, ~
Phe Affidavit agrees with the Statement of Quashee in stating, that many wen .and women

Slaves were embarked on board of the ‘Nova-Sorte, at Mina Piceaninny, before the arrival of the
Snapper.—The Affidavit says, that these Slaves were broaght and réceived on board of the said
Polacca at two several times in the long-boat’ belonging to the aforesaid Vessel, the.said Slaves
being ironed by the neck and hands in four separate chains :
That four days after the said Slaves were so embarked on board the said Vessel, a strange Vessel

came in sight, which strange Vessel proved to be His Britannick Majesty’s Brig-of-War Snapper ;
that on the appearance of the said Brig.of-War,all the aforesaid Slaves were driven by the Porta- ,
_guese mariners of said Polaeca, ‘into apart of the bold of thesaid Polacca, (which place-he describes
to be under that part of the Vesselcalted the fore-pic), and that the said Slaves were then and there
covered and concealed by sails and provisions, the Portuguese mariners of the Vessel threatening to
stab with a knife any one of the Slaves, who should speak or make any noise ; that ashort time after
sun-set of the same day, the boat of the English Brig-of-War aforesaid, came along-side the said
Polacca, and shortly after left her; that about the middle of the Night of that same day, the Portu-
guesemariners put into three canoes and the aforesaid Jong-boat all the aforesaid Slaves then on
board the said Polacca, viz: oue chain of Slaves inte eack:boat, and conveyed them on shore-té the
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aforesaid Place, called Mina Piccaninny; and that Deponent re naining on board the said Polacca,
he does not know how they were after disposed of. Sworn the 4th day of January 1325
The description of the mode of embarking these Slaves, by means of the long-boat loajed with

chains and irons, is the same as given by Quashee,—with this difference, if it can he calleda
difference, that Joachim mentions the embarkation having been made at two several times, but
‘Quashee does not specify, whether it was'at one time or at several.—In respect to the manner of
landing, by three canoes and the long-boat, both coincide,

It was suggested, that Quashee, having originated this Case of a previous embarkation, followed
‘by @ concealment during the search by the Snapper's people, anda relanding in the Night, he could
not, for obvious reasons, be aproperInterpreter, for any testimony to be given by Joachim in sup-
port of his own statement; aud further, that Affidavits were not the most proper form of evidence,
being generally prepared by the Parties in the Cause, and sworn to ina summary manner. In con-
sequence of these suggestions, Quashee was examined on Interrogatories by the interpretation of
‘another person, named Sally Cudjoe. os ‘

To the 4th Interrogatory.—Saith, said Schooner was lying off Mina Piccaninny, at the time.the
said Schooner was seized by His Majesty’s Brig-of-War Snapper.
To the 5th.—Saith, Slaves had been on board the said Schooner four days, previousto seemg

the Man-of-War. . :
To the 6th.—Saith, that on the appearance of the capturing Vessel, the Slaves that were on

board were put in a small room where the yams were.
To the 7th,—Saith, that in the course of the Night, the Slaves were sent on shore by the Por-

tuguese mariners of said Schooner. Sworn the 9th January. The difference between the facts, as
stated in the answers to the Interrogatories, and as stated in the Affidavit, is greatand obvious.—
The circumstance of embarkation by the means of the long-boat, and of conveyance to the shore in
the Night by the long-boat and three canoes, in which circumstances the Affidavit of Joachim coin~
cidedwith that ot Quashee, are not found in the answers to the Interrogatories. The manner ofthe
concealment below is differently described,—it is merely said, that on the approach of the capturing
Vessel, the Slaves that were on board were put in asmall room where the yams were, In the Affidavit
itis said, that on the approach of the said Brig-of-War, all the aforesaid Slaves were driven by the
Portuguese mariners of said Polacca into a part of the hold of the said Polacca, (which place he de-
scribes to be under that part of the Vessel called the fure-pic), and that the said Slaves were theré
covered and concealed by sails and provisions, _ Neither do we find any mention of the Portuguese
mariners of the said Vessel threatening to stab with a knife any one of the said Slaves who should
speak or make.a noise, ns
Of all this threatening to stab with a knife, not one word is mentioned by the Negroes examined

on behalf of the Captors. In their examination in open Court, they spoke of their being threatened
with flogging if they should make a noise, in the same manner as at alt other times, and some of
themmentioned being commonly flogged with a rope-to make them go below, or to prevent them
from making a noise. ‘This is surely very different from Joachim’s allegations of thePortuguese.
mariners threatening to stab them with a knife if they should speak or make a noise.
"So in respect to the concealment, they merely say that they were put below and covered
with sails, my

NE
 

Thus far extend Mr. Fitzgerald's written notes upon the motion of the Proctor for the Captor
for a new trial. But Mr. Fitzgerald, in giving his opinion upon the evidence that, in order to a
new trial, had been brought forward by the Proctor for the Captor, commented further’ upon the
evidence that had been first brought forward ia the Case. He concluded his comments by observing
“‘ that the broad fact remained uncontradicted. which had guided his decision tor the restitution
of the Vessel,—namely, the fact stated by the Slaves who had been examined in open Court,—that
they had never set their feet on shore at Mina Piccaninny after they were first embarked on board
of the Nova Sorte that the first Place where they did set their feet on shore was at Sierra Leone.”
Mr, Fitzgerald was of opinion, upon his view of the merits of the evidence in the Case, that a new.
trial could not be granted, E. G.

No. 49.

E. Gregory, Esq. io Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Received September 17.)

Sir, . _ Sierra Leone, Jue 8, 1823. .
IN the Report on the state of the Slave-trade, that Mr. Fitzgerald and I

had the honour to address to you, under date of the 29th of April last*, we
noticed an abuse that was practised, as we conceived, on the part of the Por-
tuguese Authorities in the Brazils, by overrating the tonnage of Vessels
engaged in the Slave-trade, so as to enable them to carry, with the appearance.
ot legality, an extraordinary number ofSlaves. — Do,

_ The great importance that is attached to the suppression of‘all illegal
*® See Sierra Leone, (General.)
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Traffick in Slaves will be my excuse with you, Sir, for bringing again, and
more particularly, under your notice, some instances, as they would seem to
be, of overrate in the tonnage of Portuguese Slave-trading Vessels, that have
come under the view of the British and Portuguese Mixed Commission.

‘The appearance of this overrate is found by a comparison of the tonnage of
Vessels, as stated in. the Royal Passport, and in the Certificates of admeasure-
ment, with their tonnage, as stated in the receipts, for money paid on account
of light dues. The overrate of the tonnage of four Vessels lately adjudicated
in the British and Portuguese Court of Mixed Commission, as it appeared by
a comparison of the Documents that I have mentioned, was as follows, viz.:

Schooner Nova Sorte; tonnage as stated in her Passport, 1413 tons; as
stated in the Certificate of Admeasurement, 1414 tons; authorized to carry
353 Slaves ; tonnage as stated in the Receipt for Light Dues, 842 tons; differ-
ence of tonnage, 573 tons; excess of Slaves 142 Slaves. This Vessel was
admeasured by order of the Mixed Court; she was found to admeasure83
tons and 15-94ths of a ton, English.

Schooner Conceicao; tonnage as stated in her Passport, 1671 tons; as
stated in the Certificate of Admeasurement, 1674 tons; authorized to carry.
417 Slaves; tonnage as stated in the Receipt for Light Dues, 108 tons ; differ-
ence of tonnage, 59% tons ; excess.of Slaves, 147 Slaves. :

Schooner Lisboa; tonnage as stated in her Passport, 1182 tons; as stated
in the Certificate of Admeasurement, 1182 tons; authorized to carry 295
Slaves ; tonnage as stated in the Receipt for Light Dues, 92 tons; difference of
tonnage, 26i tons; excess of Slaves, 65 Slaves. This Vessel had, when
detained, 336 Slaves on board.

Brig Comerciante; tonnage. as stated in her Passport, 245 tons; as stated
in the Certificate of Admeasurement, 245 tons; authorized to carry 612
Slaves ; tonnage as stated in the Receipt for Light Dues, 162 tons; difference
of tonnage, 83 tons; excess of Slaves, 207 Slaves.
The Certificate of Admeasurement is given by ecmpcetent Persons, as is:

expressed, in order that the tonnage of a Slave-trading Vessel may be stated
in the Royal Passport, for the purpose of specifying the number of Slaves that
a Vessel may carry. The Certificate of Admeasurement is, therefore, an im
portant Paper that ought to be given upon an honest admeasurement of a
Slave-trading Vessel.

Possibly, Sir, the Certificates of Admeasurement that have come under the
view of the Commissioners may have been given upon an honest admeéasure-
ment of the Vessels to which they respectively belonged, and the tonnage of

. a Portuguese Vessel may be rated less by custom than it really ought to be.
rated, when the rate is ‘to preportion the payment of Jight dues, But the
Commisssioners, not having the means of ascertaining whether this be the
custom in the Brazils or not, must view with suspicion a difference of tonnage
that appears upon the face of Papers belonging to one Vessel. The Com-
missioners must viewthis difference with the greater suspicion, as they are
well aware that the inveterate habits of Slave-traders will lead them to commit
every fraud they can devise to crowd their Slave-holds.

I beg leave, Sir, to request your consideration to-what-I have in this Letter
deemed it to be my duty. to state to you, as the minds of the Commissioners
aré unsettled in regard to the faith ohserved by the Authorities in the Brazils
in fixing the tonnage of Slave-vessels. It is of the utmost importance that
the tonnage of Slave-vessels should be honestly fixed; for by the tonnage, as
stated in the Passport, the conveyance of Slaves is regulated. In Cases of
restitution, the tonnage which proportions the number ef Slaves allowed to
be carried, is to regulate the damages to be awarded for loss of Slaves. In
such Cases, it always serves to shew, at first view at least; the rate at‘which
demurrage should be charged, when demurrage may be deemed to be-due by
the Commissioncrs. ° : : :
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I beg leave, Sir, to inclose herewith, for your information, a Copy of the
Certificate of the admeasurement of the Schooner Nova Sorte, with Copies
of the Certificates of, or receipts for monies paid tor light dues on account of
that Vessel; also translations of these Papers; with a Copy of the Report
made to the Commuissioners by the Person appointed by them to admeasure
that Vessel. I have the honour to remain, &e.
Lhe Right Hon. George Canning, (Signed) E. GREGORY.

&e. &e. &e.

(First Inclosure in No. 4g.)

Certificate of Admeasurement of the Schooner Neva Sorte,

Illustrious Intendant of the Department of the Marihe,
Granted, House of the Intendancy of the Marine. Bahia, June 28, 1821,

(Translation.) C, Carvatzo.

WENCESLAUS MIGUEL DE ALMEIDA, Owner of the Polacca Nova Sorte, that’ is
ready to sail for Cabinda, makes known, that he requires, under Certificate, the Report of the ad-
measurement made by direction of the Intendancy; he, therefore, prays that you may be pleased to-
grant him said Report. .

I. Lazare Joze Muniz de Medeiros, Notary in the Intendency of the Marine in this. Town of
Bahia for His Most Faithful Majesty, &c. do certify, that, on examination of the secoud Book of
the Reports of Admeasurement, at folio 143, there appears as follows :—** On the 23d day of the
Month of May.of the year 1821; in this Town of Bahia, on board of the Polacca Nova Sorte, at
the instance of Wenceslaus Miguel de Almeida, asserted Owner of the same, there appeared, by
order of the IHustrious Intendant of the Department of the Marine and of theRoyal Arseuals, ‘the
Commander Antonio Vaz de Carvallo, Adjutant of the said Intendant; FranciseoLopez-de Car-
vallo, Builder; the Captain-Lieutenant, Manoel da Costa; and the secondLieutenant, Manoel
Joaquim Joze da Cruz; the Master Caulker, Joao Baptista. Correa; and the Master Sail-Maker,
Antonio Bernardo Joze Vianna; all belonging to the Arsenal ; with myself, the.Notary of the
Intendancy of the Marine, hereinafter declared, for the purpose of admeasuring the said Schooner,
in conformity with the Alvari, having the force of law, of 26th of January,of 1818.° In effect,
having admeasured the deck, (eonvez); the cabin, (camara); the false deck, (baileo}; the fore-
castle, (castello) ; places proper for the conveyance of Slaves; there were given 1412 tons, whrict,
divided by two and multiplied by five, produce 353 heads of Slaves; which number js in
the proportion of two tons for five Slaves, ‘agreeably to the tenour of the aforesaid
Alvara, In faith and testimony whereof, they, the aforesaid persons, signed this Report, which I,
Lazaro Joze Munis de Medeiros, Notary of the Intendancy of the Marine, caused to be written:”*
Francisco Lopez de Carvailo. « There appeared the Rubrick of the Attorney of the Crown,
Manoel da Costa; Manoel Joaquim Joze da Cruz; Joao Baptista Correa; and Antonio Bernardo
Xavier Vianna. And.that the same may appear where necessary, I give these presents ia the In-
tendancy of the Marine of Bahia, on the i3th day of June, of the year 1821,’ The samewas

- caused to be written, and is signed by me,
LAZARO JOZE MUNIS DE MEDEIROS,
rt

WE certify that the Polacca Nova Sorte, bound to Rio de Janeiro, owned by. Wenceslaus Mi-
guel de Almeida, bas been rated at eighty-four tons, by skilful persons appointed for the purpose,
in virtue of the Royal Orders; that, therefore, the contribation to be paid on her account for
lights is 8400 reis; in faith and testimony whereof we give these presents, signed byus, and
sealed with the Seal of the Royal Arms. Bahia, 15th May 1820. Written by Jose Francisco
Cardozo de Moraes, Secretary of the Board. | ‘

(Signed) JOZE PERp. LOPEZ SD. DE CARDO,
JOAO, FERREIRA BETANCOUNT Sp.
RAIMUNDO JD. DO VALLE. :
JOZE FRANCISCO CARDOZO DE MORAES,

    

Regd, at f. 23.

 

onset

(Second Inclosure in iNo. 49.)

(Translation.) Receipt for Light Duties.

‘AT folio 79 of the Ist.Book of the Receipts of Contributions on aécount of lights, there.
appears.the sum of 8400 reis paid by Francisco dé Souza Lapa, for 84 tons, at which thePortu-
guese Schooner Nova Sorte, bound t6 Molembo, has been rated: Bairia, | [th May 1822, -

(Signed) PAULINO DA SILVA LISBOA..
FRANCISCO JOAQUIM GOMEZ,
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(Third Inclosure in No. 49.)

Report of William Cole, Sworn Measurer.

HAVING proceeded on board the Portuguese Brigantine Nova Sorte, to ascertain her ad-
measurement, do report as follows: —

Her extreme length is 64 feet, 8 inches; ‘her breadth is 17 feet, 10 inches; admeasures by the
British method, 83 tons, and 15-94ths of a ton. a

(Signed) W, COLE, Sworn Admeasu

 

No. 50.

Messrs.Gregory andHamilton to Mr. Secretary Canning: -(Received Oct.11.)

Sir, Sierra Leone, September 1, 1823.

WE beg leave to inform you, that Mr. Altavilla, His Most Faithful Ma-
jesty’s Commissioner at this Colony, has verbally acquainted us, that it is his
intention to avail himself of leave of absence that has been granted to him by
his Government, and to return to Europe by His Majesty’s Brig Snapper,
which quits this River to-day. , .
Mr. Altavilla has promised to address to us an official Communication of

his intended departure from this Colony ; but, fearing that sach Communica-
tion may be delayed to the last moment of Mr. Altavilla’s stay in the Colony,
we hasten, Sir, to apprize you of his intentions to depart.

We have the honour to be, &c.

The Right Hon. George Canning, (Signed) E. GREGORY. .
&e  &e. =& e. D. M. HAMILTON.

 

No. 51.

Messrs.Gregory and Hamilton to Mr. Secretary Canning--(Received Oct. 22)

Siz, . Szerra Leone, Sept. 1, 1823.

WE have the honour to inclose herewith, for your information, a Copy of
a Letter.that we have just received from Mr. Altavilla, His Most Faithful
Majesty’s Commissioner at this Settlement, announcing his intention to pro-
ceed to England in His Majesty’s Brig Snapper, which is at thismoment
quitting this Harbour.

We have the honour to remain, &c.
The Right Hon. George Canning, (Signed) KE. GREGORY.

&e. &e. Se. - D. M. HAMILTON,

(Inclosure.in No. 51.)

The Portuguese Commissioner to. the British Commissioners.

GENTLEMEN, Free Town, September Ist 1823,

1 HAVE the honour to acqnaintyou that my Government having been pleased to grant me leave
to return te Europe for the recovery of my health, it is my intention to avail myself of such leave,
by the opportunity of His Britannick Majesty’s Brig Snapper, which proceeds immediately to Eng-
land. With best wishes for your health and prosperity, — I -have the honour'to be, &c.oe . ; (Signed) '  43,G, ALTAVILLA., .
To His Britannick Majesty's Coinmissioners, .

Be Bt. Bla
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No. 52.

Messrs. Gregory and Hamilton to Mr. Secretary Canning— Received
January 30, 1824.)

(Extract.) Sierra Leone, September 6, 1823.
WE have now the honourto inform you that Mr. Altavilla quitted this

Colony for England, in His Majesty’s Brig Snapper, on the Ist of this
Month. So
We were informed by Mr. Altavilla, upon his departure, that we mightsoon expect the arrival of a Gentleman deputed by the Government of His

Most Faithful Majesty to supply Mr. Altavilla’s place in the Mixed Com-mission. No such Gentleman has yet arrived. We propose to act in theabsence of Portuguese Commissioners, so that the business that may be
brought before the Mixed Commission may not suffer by delay.

We have the honour to be, &c.
(Signed) E. GREGORY.

The Right Hon. George Canning, D. M. HAMILTON.
&e. Se. &e.

 

No. 53.

Mr. Secretary Canning to Messrs. Gregory and Hamilton.
GENTLEMEN, Foreign Office, November 1, 1823.

I HAVE referred to His Majesty’s Advocate-General, your Despatehof the 7th of June 1823, for the opinion of that Officer, — whethera Sentence, pronounced in full Court, by the Mixed Commission under
the Treaties for the suppression of iHegal Slave-trade, is final, or whethera new trial may in such Case be granted.
The opinion of The King’s Advocate is,—thot a new trial cannot be granted. on any rules of analogy derived from the practice of the Courts of common

Law; or otherwise than as matter of special exception, arising out of some
conduct of the litigant Parties, of fraud or surprise on the Court, which would
virtually render the Sentence obtained, under such circumstances, a mere
nullity. The general principles ofjustice would support such an exception;-
but The King’s Advocate is not aware of any other ground whichwould jus-tify a Court, of the description of the Mixed Commission, in proceeding to re-hear a Case on which Sentence has. been pronounced and recorded. Tn the
particular Case of the Mana Sorte, described in the Papers sent by you, The.King’s Advocate is of opinion—that the Commissioners were periectly right
in refusing the prayer for a new trial. Iam &c, ‘

(Signed) GEORGE CANNING.
The British Commissioners, Sierra Leone.

 

No. 54.
Air. Secretary Canning to Messrs. Gregory andHamilton.

GENTLEMEN, Foreign Office, November 12, 1823.
1 HAVE received your two Despatches of the 22d April, and the 6thof June 1823, relative to the capture of the Portuguese Slave-Ship LaSinceridade, by His Majesty’s Ship Bann, and the subsequent liberation ofthat Vessel, after a trial under the Mixed British and Portuguese Court —
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at Sierra Leone :—Your conduct on this occasion appears to have been guided
by a due sense of justice, and in strict accordance with the Treaties under
which you act; andI transmit, for your further information, the Copy of a
Despatch, dated the 25th ultimo, upon the Case of the Sinceridade, which, by
His Majesty’s Commands, I have addressed to The King’s Minister at Lisbon.

Iam, &e.

(Signed) GEORGE CANNING.
The British Commissioners, Sierra Leone.

 

No. 55.

Messrs. Gregory and Hamilton to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Recewed
April 26.)

Sir, Sierra Leone, February 8, 1824.

WE had the honour to receive, on the Ist instant, your Despatch, with its
Inclosure, of the 12th of November 1823, acquainting us that you had
received the Despatches of the 22d of April, and the 6th of June 1823,
which His Majesty’s Commissioners had the honour to address to you,
relative to the capture of the Portuguese Slave-ship La Sinceridade, by His
Majesty’s Ship Bann, and the subsequent liberation of that Vessel, after a
trial under this British and Portuguese Mixed Court.
We are happy, Sir, to learn that the conduct of the Commissioners on

that occasion has met with your approbation.

We have the honour to be, &c.
(Signed) E. GREGORY.

TheRight Hon. George Canning, D. M. HAMILTON.
&e. &e. &e.
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SIERRA LEONE. (Netherlands.)

No. 56.

Messrs.GregoryandHamiltontoMr. Secretary Canning--(ReceivedSept.17.)

Srr, Sterra Leone, August 14 1823.

WE have had the honour to receive your Despatch of the 19th of April
1823, inclosing ten Copies of certain Articles, explanatory of, and additional
to, the Treaty concluded at theHague, on the 4th of May 1818, for -prevent-
ing illegal Slave-trade, which explanatory and additional Articles were
signed at Bruxelles, on the 31st December 1822, and on the 25th of Ja-
nuary 1823, between the Plenipotentiaries of His Majesty, and The King of
the Netherlands, duly authorised to that effect.
We shall, agreeably to your instructions, consider these Articles as binding

upon us, for the guidance of our conduct, in giving effect to His Majesty's
intentions, in regard to the Stipulations therein recorded.
We beg leave, Sir, respectfully to offer our congratulations upon this ex-

tension of the powers that have been given to all who are concerned in the
execution of the Treaty of the 4th of May 1818. It cannot fail to be bene-
ficial to the cause of humanity.
M. de Marrée, His Netherlands Majesty’s Commissioner at this Colony,

has not received from his Government the notification of this extension of the
powers given under the Treaty of the 4th of May 1818, but we have given
to him one of the Copies of the explanatory and additional Articles relating
thereto, with which you have been pleased to furnish us.

We have the honour to be, &c.
The Right Hon. George Canning, (Signed) E. GREGORY,

 

&e. &e. &e. D. M. HAMILTON.

No. 57.

Afr. Secretary Canning to the British Commissioners at Sierra Leone and
Surinam.

GENTLEMEN, Foreign Office, Dec. 31, 1823.

I HAVE to acquaint you, for your information, and the information of the
other Gentlemen forming the Board of which you are Memibers, that a com -
munication bas been made to this Court by the Netherlands Ambassador, pur-
porting, that the Netherlands Frigate, the Dageraad (Aurora) of 32 guns
and 250 men, Captain Van der Hart, bound for the Coast of Guinea and
‘the East Indies, has been furnished with a Copy of the Treaty of the 4th of
May 1818, between His Majesty and The King of the Netherlands, and of
the several Documents annexed thereto.

Iam, &e.

(Signed) GEORGE CANNING,

The British Commissioners at Sierra Leone, and Surinam.  
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No. 58.

Mr. Secretary Canning to Messrs. Gregory and Hamilton.

GENTLEMEN, Foreign Office, February 4, 1824.

IN reference to my Despatch to you, of the 6th of November 1823,* ‘upon
the subject of the charges of the Marshal of the Court, I furnish you, for
your information and guidance, with a Copy of a Despatch, dated the sth
ultimo, and of its Inclosure, from His Majesty’s Minister to the Court of the
Netherlands, containing the acquiescence of that Government to the propo-
sition made to them, as to the payment of the expences which may be in-
curred by the Marshal of the Mixed Commission Courts at Sierra Leone and
Surinam.

Tam, &e.
(Signed) GEORGE CANNING.

HisMajesty's Commissioners, Sierra Leone.

* See No. 9,
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No. 59.

| Messrs. Kilbee and Jameson to Mr. Secretary Canning.— (Received
June 10.)

Sir, Havannah, April 16, 1823.
SINCE the date of our Despatch of the 27th of February, we have not

observed that any Vessel has entered this Port under circumstances which-
would induce a suspicion of its being engaged in illicit Slave-trade; but we.
have heard it reported that two Spanish Slave-ships have lately been captured
to the Eastward of Matanzas by an insurgent Privateer, and that their cargoes
have been sold on that Coast; a
The new Spanish Penal Code is to be in force throughout this [sland from

the 21st instant. We have the honour to inclose a translation of the Article.
which regards the illicit traffick of Slaves. The penalties denounced against
the Captains, Supercargoes, and Masters of Vessels, both Spanish andForeign, :
who shailimport Negroes into the Spanish Dominions, or,in thecaseofSpanish:
Vessels, which shall be found with Negroes on board,—are,the forfeiture of.
such: Vessels, and ten years hard Jabour at the publick works. The Negroes:
are to be delared free, and are to receive 100 dollars each, provided half the.
value of the Vessel be sufficient for that purpose; if not, such half is to be-
equally divided amongst them. The purchasers ofNegroes, thus illegally im-
ported, are subject to the forfeiture of such Negroes, and toa fine equal to the
price paid for them, the half of which fine is to be delivered to the purchased.
Negro. .

Tt would have been desirable that some reward should have been offered to
any person informing against such illegal importation of Negroes, and the:
purchasers of them. It is true that the Negro himself, as the Law now
stands, has a two-fold incitement, namely, his own liberty and the halfof the
fine; but fora long period after his arrival here, he will be too ignorant to
avail himselfof the provisions of the Law, and after the lapse of many years,
he will find it very difficult to prove the time of his importation. ~_

But, however vigorous and perfect the Law may be, we are warranted, by
the experience of nearly four years, in stating—that it will prove, like the:
present, to be a mere dead letter, unless greater activity and-energy than
hitherto, shall be manifested by the local Government upon this ‘interesting
subject. A short summary of the result of our experience will, we trust,
prove the justice of this opinion. -

At the period of our arrival, in the year 1819, the Slave-trade to the North
_ of the Line was illegal; and although it was a matter of notoriety that many,
if not the greater number, of the Slave-Vessels which entered this Port,
brought their eargoes from the Northern Coast, yet we never heard of any.
step having been taken by the Government to punish those infractions of
Lawand Treaty, to prevent their repetition, or indeed to investigate. the
matter at all.
On the 30th May 1820, the term expired which was allowed by Treaty

for the clearing out of the Spanish Slave-ships for any part of the Coast of
Africa; and yet several Vessels have sincé that period cleared out publickly
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for that Coast “ with effects for the Slave-trade.” The publicity thus given to
the object of their voyage was indeed subsequently put a stop to, but, till very
lately, Vessels continued to sail for the Coast of Africa, without specifying
for what particular branch of commerce, although it is well known that it
could be but for one purpose.
On the 30th October of the same year, the term finally expired for the ad-

mission of Slave-ships from the Coast of Africa into the Spanish Dominions;
yet numerous Vessels have been admitted since that date, generally upon the
plea that they had cleared out in lawful time, and had not had sufficient
time to complete their voyages, although many of them were foreign
Vessels, belonging to Powers which had abolished the Slave-trade, and which,
therefore, had no lawful time for clearing out.
At length the Government at Madrid issued orders, which were received

here in November 1821, that no more Slave-ships should be admitted, and
that the Stipulations of our Slave-trade Treaty should be strictly carried into
effect.—Since that time, indeed, no Slave-ships have actually been allowed to
enter this Port, but the most open contraband trade has been carried on.
Vessels land their cargoes on the Coast, some even at the Mouth of the
Harbour, and then come in, in ballast,professedly from the Danish Island of
St. Thomas. The greater part of ihem are French, but many of them are
Spaniards, notorious Slave-traders, and some of whom had publickly cleared
out from hence for the Coast of Africa, after the legal time, with effects for
the Slave-trade; and they are thus allowed to enter without any examination
whatever, although no doubt can be entertained of the nature of their voyages. -
Indeed, the Persons engaged in this traffick, at length becanie so bold, from
the impunity with which they were suffered to carry on their dealings, that,

_ within the last eight Months, they ventured publickly to expose their newly
‘imported Negroes for sale at the depéts here, which were used for that purpose,
previous to the abolition ;—but this has been put astop to. ,

It is quite imposible for us to form any correct calculation as to the extent:
to which this illicit trade has been carried on; but, there can be no doubt,
that. it has been very considerable. The extensive Coasts of the Island
afford great facilities, as well as the numerous out-Ports, into which, we have -
good reason to believe, that, at least until very lately, Slave-ships were
admitted and allowed to dispose of their cargoes without any diffteulty.

Latterly, indeed, the traffick has not been so brisk, but this isprincipally
to be attributed to the present depressed state of commerce and agriculture in
this Island ;—and we do not yet see any reason for altering the opinion, we
gave in a former Despatch to the late Marquess of Londonderry, namely,—
that, but for these temporary causes, the Slave-trade with this Island would at
this: moment be as brisk and extensive as during any period whatever.
The powers of His Majesty’s Commissioners, under the Treaty of 1817,

between Great Britain and Spain, are limited to the adjudication of such
British and: Spanish Slave-ships as shall be detained ‘and brought in here by
the Cruizers of cither Nation. As yet no Case has come before the Mixed
Commission, but that of the Spanish Schooner Antonica, as reported in our
Despatch of the 10th ofDecember 1821, of which, as the detention was not
effectedby aVessel of the Royal Navy, furnished with the necessary Instruc-
tions, we were not authorized by Treaty to take cognizance. We have,
however, regularly reported to His Majesty’s Government, the Cases of open
violation of.our Treaty, alluded to in this Despatch, and such suspicious Cases
of illicit traffick.as have reached our knowledge ;—and we have also brought
them under the consideration of the Principal Authority here, not in the shape
‘of a remonstrance, which we are not warranted in making, but, considering
it to béamark of respect due to him, that he should be apprized of those
infractions of Law and Treaty which we conceived it to be our duty to report
to our Government. The late Marquess of Londonderry- was pleased to
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approveofthis line of conduct; and, in bis Despatchof July 27th of last
Year, he directed us to continue to pursue the same.

His Majesty’s Commissioner of Arbitration, being about to avail himself of
the leave of absence, which has been granted him, will be the bearer of this
Despatch ; and we have taken this opportunity of thus drawing your atten-
tion, generally, to the state of the Slave-trade carried on with this Isiand, as
the local experience which he has acquired by a residence ofnearly four Years,
will enable him to furnish you with the fullest information upon the subject.

It is a matter of the deepest regret and mortification to us, that we cannot
make a more favourable report of the result of our proceedings, since we
have been employed in this Mixed Commission; but we trust that it will be
evident to you, that the little success, which has hitherto attendedthe exer-
tions of His Majesty’s Government, for the suppression of the nefarious
traffick in this Quarter, is not in any manner to be attributed to a want of
zeal on the part of His Majesty's Commissioners resident here.

We have the honour to be, &c.

(Signed) H.T. KILBEE.
Lhe Right Hon. George Canning, R. F. JAMESON.

&e. &e. ‘&e.

Inclosure in No. 59.

a

 

Article 273 of the Spanish Penal Code.

(Translation.)

THE Captains, Supercargoes, and Masters of Spanish Vessels who shall purchase Negroes on
the Coast of Africa, and shall import them into any Spanish Port, or shall be found-with them on
board their Vessel, shall forfeit such Vessel, the value of which shall be applied as a fine ; and they
shall, moreover, suffer thepenalty of ten years hard labour at the publick’ works. The Captains,
Supercargoes, and Masters of Foreign Vessels who shall, in like manner, import Negroes into any
Port of the Monarchy, shall suffer similar penalties. In anyof ‘the Cases “included in the present
Article, the Negroes found on board, or imported, shall be declared free; and each of them shall
receive 100 dollars, provided the half uf the value of the Vessel shall be sufficient tor this purpose ;.
and if not, the said halt shall be equally divided amongst them. /

Those who shall purchase Negroes thus imported, contrary to the provisions of this Artiele,
being aware of their illegal importation, shall forfeit such Negroes, who. shall be declared free, -
and they shall also pay a fine equal to the price they may have paid for them, the half of which
fine shall be delivered to the person thus purchased.

No. 60.

H. T. Kiibee, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(ReceivedJuly 10.)

Sir, Havannah, May 24, 1823.

On the 2d instant, Major-General Don Francisco “Dionisio Vives, landed
here and assumed the chief command, Civil and Military, of this Island.
Iam sorry to have to announce to you, that, on the 5th and 13th instant,

three Spanish Schooners, namely,—the Zeisa, Don. Prancisco Loureiro,
Master ;—the Fabiana, Don Juan Manuel Maria ;—and the Liberal, Don An-
tonio Sanjurjo ; sailed from hence for St. Thomas, on the Coast of Africa, for
the purpose, little doubt can be: entertained, of engaging in the Slave-trade. _

Shortly after the arrival of the new Governor, I took an opportunityof
calling his attention to the. subject of illicit Slave-trade. 1 explained to His
Excellency, generally, the nature of this Mixed Commission, and apprized.
him that His Majesty’s Commissioners were in the habit of mentionimg to.
the Local Authorities of His Catholick Majesty, those Cases of illicit Traffick
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which came under their observation, and which,. although not within the
limits of their Powers to take cognizance ‘of, they yet conceived it to be their
duty to report to their Government. IT informed him of the general manner
in which illicit Slave-trade is now notoriously carried on, without any effec-
tual attempt having as yet been made by the Government here to put a
stop to it. I then noticed the Cases mentioned in this Despatch, of three
Vessels having lately cleared out from this Port for the Coast of Africa,
adding, that although I was aware that legitimate commerce with that Coast
was not prohibited to Spanish Subjects, yet, as little doubt could seriously be
entertained as to the nature of the traffick in which these Vessels were about
to be engaged, I trusted that, upon their return, their Papers and crews would |
undergo a strict examinatination, and that the penalties denounced by the
Spanish Penal Code should be inflicted, if they should be found to have been
engaged in illicit Slave-trade. I concluded by venturing to observe, that, in
my opinion, the surest mode of gratifying and securing the good opinion of
the British Nation and Government, would be by the mianifestation of a
decided resolution on the part of His Catholick Majesty’s Authorities,
to carry into effect the Stipulations of the Slave-trade Treaty, and to
do all in their power to check and, if possible, completely to suppress that
abominable traftick. .
The Governor replied, by assuring me of his disposition (in conformity with

the Instructions of his Government) to fulfil strictly the engagements entered
into by Spain with Great Britain. He observed, that his authority, with
respect to maritime and commercial affairs, was very limited, but he promised
to do all in bis power towards the suppression of illicit Slave-trade, and he
assured me of his readiness, at all times, to attend to any suggestions which I
should think it advisable to make to him upon that subject.

_ Ihave the honour to be, &c.

The Right Hon. George Canning, (Signed) H. T. KILBEE.
&e. &e. &e.

 

No. 61.

H. T. Kilbee, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Received August 4.)

Sin, Havannah, June 28, 1823.

ON the 21st instant the Spanish Schooner Amable Socorro, Don Jose
Inzua, Master, consigned to Don Jorge Pioli, entered this Port in ballast
trom the Coast of Africa.

{ lost no time in apprizing the Governor and the Intendant, of the cireum-
stances which precluded all reasonable doubt as to the nature of the traffick
in which this Vessel has been engaged. I informed them that she was a Slave-

‘trader, during the time that that trade was lawful, under ber present Master ;
that since the Abolition she has made two voyages to the Coast of Africa, and
upon her return from each has entered this Port in ballast:; that she is con-
signed to a Person deeply engaged in the Slave-trade ;—and, finally, that there
is not an Individual who has anypractical knowledge of this Place, that is
not perfectly convinced that she landed her cargo of Negroes on the Coast,
previous to her arrival in Port. _ . :

_ -Both the Governor and the Intendant agreed, as tu the suspicions which
justly attached to this Case, and promised to make enquiriesabout it. . Some
days after, the former stated to me, that he had ordered the matter to be investi-
gated; that the Captain and Consignee had declared that the object of the
voyage had been to obtain ivory and gold dust, in which they were disap-
pointed: that although. this story was not credited, yet as no fact had come
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to light which would justify the prosecution of the Captain for engaging in
illicit Slave-trade, the matter had dropped. His Excellency, however, assured
me that he had given positive orders, that all Vessels arriving from the Coast
of Africa should undergo an immediate and strict examination, and that all
Vessels clearing out for that Coast, should give ample security that they were
about to engage in lawful commerce, and not in the Slave-trade. These
orders have caused considerable alarm among the Slave-traders; and, I am
informed, that the Governor upon this occasion made use of strong language
to the Subaltern Authorities, and that he manifested a firm resolution to do all
in his power to check illicit Slave-trade, and, at all events, effectually to put a
stop to the barefaced manner in which it has hitherto been carried on.
The Governor likewise informed me, that some Spanish Subjects, Inhabitants —

of the Floridas, who are desirous of emigrating to this Island, had applied to
him for permission to bring their Negroes with them, which permission he
had granted upon the express condition that they should produce the most
satisfactory Certificates from the Local Authorities there, proving that the
Negroes were, bondfide, their property, and that they had been imported
from the Coast of Africa, previous to the abolition of the Slave-trade by His
Catholick Majesty. I have the honour to be, &e.
The Right Hon. George Canning, (Signed) H. T. KILBEE.

&e. &e. &e.

 

No. 62.

H, T. Kilbee, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Received October 4.)

Sir, Havannah, August 9, 1823..

ON the 8th instant the Spanish Schooner Descamisada, Don Juan San-
drino, Master, entered this Port in ballast from the Coast of Africa. This
Vessel sailed from hence for that Coast in the month of February last, as
reported by Mr. Jameson and myself, in our Despatch of the 27th of that
Month. Previous to her arrival here it was commonly reported that she
landed a cargo of nearly 300 Negroes ia the neighbourhood of Bahiahonda.

It (is with deep regret that I have to announce this event, after the ©
strong and satisfactory assurances which I lately received from the Governor
upon this subject, and of which I apprized you in my last Despatch. I have
not yet had an opportunity of drawing His Excellency’s attention to the
present Case; but I shall not fail to do so as early as possible.

I have the honour to be, &c.

The Right Hon. George Canning, (Signed) H. T. KILBEE,
Se. fe. &e.

 

No. 63.

Hi. T. Kilbee, Esq. to Mr. Seeretary Canning.—(Received November 18.)

Sik, Havannah, August 25, 1823.

FOR some days, after I had the honour of writing to you on the 9th
instant, the Governor was so much engaged, in consequence of thediscovery
of a conspiracy for the establishment of the Independence of this Island,
that I had not. an opportunity of speaking to him on the subject of the —
Schooner Descamisada, mentioned in my Despatch of that date: Yesterday,
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however, I had an interview with His Excellency, and I stated the cireum-
stances of the Case; arid added, that it was with much regret thatI had been
under the necessity of reporting them to you, so shortly after I had, in eon-
sequence of His Euxcellency’s former assurances upon this subject, expressed
to you my firm conviction that transactions of this description were not
likely again to be allowed to pass with impunity.
The Governor informed me, in reply, that several days previous to the

arrival of the Descamisada at this Port, he had received information that she
had landed a cargo of Negroes near Bahiahonda. That, without loss of time,
he had sent an Officer with a Detachment of Troops to take possession of
the Negroes, but that the Officer had unfortunately been detained on the
road by the bad weather, and upon his arrival he could find no traces of
them whatever. . His. Excellency added, that as soon as the Vessel arrived
here, he had directed the Captain of the Port to examine her Papers and
crew; but that no suspicious ciréumstance had been reported to him which:
would justify further proceedings. His Excellency lamented that his ex-
ertions in this instance had not been attended with success; and again
expressed his firm resolution to do abl that was in his power to puta stop
to illicit Slave Trade; adding, that he would be always most. willing to hear
any suggestions from me upon the subject.

I have the honour to be, &c.

Lhe Right Hon. George Canning, (Signed) 1. T. KILBEER.
&e. &e. Se.

 

No. 64.

AL. TT. Kithee, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning,—(Received December 24.)

Sir, Havannah, September 29, 1823.

I HAVE the honour to.acknowledge the receipt of your Despatch of the
16th of May last, in which you haye been pleased to transmit. to. His

Majesty’s. Commissioners. here, ten copies.of certain 4rticles explanatory-of,
and udditional to, the Treaty concluded at Madrid on. the 23d.September
1817, for, preventing illegal Slave Trade ; and directing us to consider the
same.as binding upon us, for the guidance of our conduct.in future.

T lost_ no time in forwarding a copy of those Articlés to His Catholic Ma+
jesty’s Commissioners, requesting atthe same time that they. might be added
to the archives -of. the Mixed:-Commission for our future guidance. The.
Spanish Commissioners, replied; that as the Articles in question had been

- transmitted to. me, officially, by my Government, they had no objection to
aceede to my request, although, as yet, they had received no communication
whatever upon the subject from their own Government.

I have the honour to be, &e.
The Right Hon. George Canning, (Signed) H.T. KILBEE,

&e. &e. §e.

 

No. 65..

47. PF. Kilbee, Esq.to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(ReceivedDecember 24.)
‘ Str, favannah,.October 20, 1823.

I HAVEthe honour to acknowledge the.-receipt:of your: Despatch ot theIst of August last *, together with the,Correspondence on the:Slave Trade.

#* See No,5,
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laid before Parliament in the course of last Session, which you have been
pleased to transmit for the information and guidance of “His Majesty’s
Commissioners.

I have the honour to be, &c.

The Right Hon. George Canning, (Signed) | H. T. KILBEE.
&e. &e. &e.

 

No. 66.

Hi. T. Kilbee, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Received December 24.)
Str, Havannah, October 25, 1823.
ON the 19th instant three Spanish Vessels cleared out from this Port for

the Islands on the Coast of Africa, namely, the Brig Orestes, Don Domingo
Zurbano, Mester, for San Thomas’; and the Brig Zeresa, Don Juan San-
drino, Master, and the Schooner Socorro, Don Antonio Pulles,; Master, for
Princes Island. The declared object of their Voyage is, of course, lawful.
Commerce in those parts, but their real object is undoubtedly the Slave
Trade.

T am told that these Vessels have been fitted out in consequenceof a report
which has reached this Place, that our Squadron on the Coast of Africa -has
been considerably reduced in number. _ -
On the 2ist mstant the Spanish Brig Lideral, Don Antonio Sanjurjo,

Master, entered this Port in ballast, professedly from Baltimore. This
Vessel was reported’ to you in my Despatch, of the 24th of May, of this
year, as having’ sailed from hence on the 13th May, for'St. ‘Thomas’, on the
Coast of Africa. This circumstance, the character of the Consignee,. who
has always been largely concerned in the Slave Trade, and common report,.
afford to my mind the conviction, that this Vessel has not Been atBaltimore,
but has come direct from Africa with a cargo of Negroes, which she has pro-
bably landed on some part of the Coast of this Island; but at the same time
Iam in possession of no positive proof whatever to-support my conviction.

I have the honour to'be, &c.
The Right Hon. George Canning, (Signed: HH. T. KIEBEE.

&e. &e. &e, -

 

| No. 67.

H. T. Kitbee, Esq. to Mr.Secretary Canning.—(Received Fan. 16, 1824.)
Sir, Havannah, November26, 1893,

ON the 16th instant the Spanish Brig Vengador, Don Joaquim Zotrilla,
Master, cleared out for Princes Island on theCoast ofAfrica... -
In a conversation which, upon a late occasion, I had: with the Governor, I

mentioned thenumber ofVessels which had oflate sailed from. hence for the _
Coast of Africa. His Excellency said, that he-was well aware of the truth
of what I stated, which he sincerely lamented ;.but that he had been informed
by his law advisers that he had no authority to prevent any Vessels ‘clearing
out for that Coast, and could only continueto require from them,.as hitherto,
anassurancethat they were. about-to.engage in Jawful commerce, and ‘not. in
the Slave Trade. slant hee ag bee
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I took this opportunity to allude to the Case of the Spanish Brig Liberal,
(mentioned in my last Despatch), which cleared out for Africa in May last,
and arrived professed/y from Baltimore in October. I observed how im-
robable this story was; and lamented that, if it were not true, some of the

Officers of the department of the Custom-house, or of that of the Captain of
the Port, must have lent themselves to the transaction, by suffering a false
place of departure of the Vessel to be published. His Excellency promised
to enquire into the matter.

I have the honour to be, &c.

The Right Hon. George Canning, (Signed) H. T. KILBEE,
&e. &e. &e. 7

 

No. 68.

H. T. Kilbee, Esq. to Mr. Seeretary Canning,—(Received Jan. 16, 1824.

Sr, . Havannah, December 5, 1823.

I HAVE been informed by Commodore Sir Edward Owen, that a Vessel
was captured on the 3d ult. by one of his cruizers, having on board 237
Negroes. The Master stated he was from Calabar, and bound to Santiago
de Cuba. The Vessel is called the Hugenie, under Dutch Colours, from
St. Eustatia, but last cleared from St. Thomas, is manned by Frenchmen,
the Master being of the same nation. The Commodore found it necessary
to land the Negroes, in consequence of the state they were in, and the small-
ness of the Vessel.
On the 2d instant the Spanish Privateer Romano, Don Joze del Cotarro,

Captain, having14 guns and 140 men, sailed from this Pert. This Vessel
was fitted out forthe purpose of cruizingagainst French Commerce, but as _
it is now too late for that, she is said to be destined tor Costafirme; it is
much to be feared, however, that she will ultimately try her fortune on the
African Coast.

oo I have the honour to be, &e.
The Right. Hon. George Canning, — (Signed) H.T. KILBEE.

&e. Se. &e.

 

No. 69.

Hi. T. Kilbee, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Received March 14.)

Str, Havannah,January 12, 1824,

SINCE the date of my Despatch of the 26th of November last, five
Vessels, the names of which are contained in the inclosed list, have cleared
out from this Port for the Coast of Africa. I-did not fail to call the atten-
tion of the Governor to the departure of these Vessels, stating that I was
aware, from what His Excellency had said to me upon a former occasion,
_that their clearing. out for that coast could not be prevented, as they would
all, of course, declare that it was for the purposes of lawful Commerce; but
that I trusted that, at their return, they would undergo a rigid examina-
tion. The Governor assured me that ‘he had already given strict orders to

_ that. effect. . . .
Although I have thad frequent opportunities ‘of conversing with the

Governor, lately, he has never thought proper to renew the subject of the
Spanish Brig Liberg/, mentioned in my Despatches of the 25thGetober and
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26th Novemberof last year: and asin that Case the conduct of Individuals
under the employment of this Government was directly implicated, I con-
sidered that I should be arrogating to myself functions which I do not pos-
sess, were I to press the matter farther than I had already done.

Since the fall of the Constitutional System, the new Penal Code, framed by
the Cortes, has been declared-null and void, and, consequently, the Decree of
His Catholick’ Majesty, of December, 1817, respecting illicit Slave-trade,
is again in force. This Deerce is conceived in very vague and loose terms,
and is likely to become again, as it was formerly, a mere dead letter. It is
not possible, in a Country like this, to point out an effectual remedy for the

evil of illicit Slave-trade; but, ifa revision of the Law now in force should be
in contemplation, I venture to recommend strongly the expediency of
granting to any Person who shall denounce such illicit traffick, a liberal
reward, to be recovered by summary means, from the property of the importer
and possessor of Negroes illegally. imported; and 1 think that the onus
proband: of the legal importation should rest with the possessor of the
Negroes, as, for this, it will be merely requisite to present the Papers with
which, according to Law, all Negroes are or ought to be sold.

I am convinced that such a measure would have the effect of deterring
persons from purchasing Negroes illegally imported, more than. the most
severe Laws.

] have the honour to be, &e.
The Right Hon. George Canning, (Signed)  H.T. KILBEE.

&e. &e. §e.

(Inclosure in No. 69.)

List of Vessels which have cleared out for the Coast of Africa from the
, Port of Havannah.

December 7, 1823, Spanish SchoonerChatica, Don Joze Iriza, Master,
January 2,1824, - - - + - - Feliciana, Don Jayme Anlet, ~ = «9
~ = 2 Be + - - + = = = FEspeculadora, D. Santiago Mauzana,- - -
- - + 4,+ + Swedish Brig Rom-prinsen, M,N. C, Collwilly, - - -
~ + » 9,- + Spanish Schooner Paulita,.  D. Ante. Sanjurjo, -
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No. 70.

Messrs. Hayne and Cunningham to Mr. Secretary Canning.—-
(Received June 25.) aan

Sir, Rio de Janeiro, March 3, 1823.
WE have the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your Despatch of26th November 1822, together with itsseveral Inclosures, viz: theCorrespon-dence with His Majesty’s Chargé d’Affaires at Lisbon, and the Draft of: anAdditional Article to the Convention of the 28th July 1817; the purportof which being, to extend the provisions of the Convention, for the case ofthe death of one of the .Commissioners, to the’ case of Vacancies, occur-ring in the Commission from illness or leave of absence. Conveying alsoHis Majesty’s Commands that we should, without loss of ‘time, come to anunderstanding with our fellow Commissioners to act in the spirit of the in-tended arrangement, until some more specifick agreement shall be entered intobetween the Contracting Parties.
In reply, we have the honour to state, for your information, that the Casein question was agitated in the course of lastSummer at the Board of Com-mission, when Mr, Hayne, from ill Health, wished to go into the Countrfor the change of air; the Case-was referred to tbe Principal Secretary of‘State for Foreign Affairs, who, after reference to thePortugueseCommissaryJudge, decided in adopting the same enlarged view of the Case which is pro-posed by the intended Additional Article. .
We have the honour to enclose, Sn". Jozé Bonifacio’s Portaria to the Com-missary Judge on the subject, together with its translatiou, which we feelconfident will be even more satistactory to you than any agreementmade by us with our Colleagues, more especially as the same Minister stillholds the reins of Government. We have, therefore, merely communicatedthe contents of your Despatch to our Portuguese Colleagues, who expressed.themselves ready to act upon the Minister’s Portaria on the subject, which, inpoint of fact, for the time being, fully meets the object of theAdditionalArticle.

fo.As Mr. Hayne has since made an application to His. Majesty’s PrincipalSecretary of State, for leave of absence, it is butjust that you, Sir, should beinformed, that he did not avail himself of the permission of this Government,to absent himself from his Post in consequence of indisposition.

Wehave the honour to be, &e.

(Signed) HENRY HAYNE, —
os ALEXANDER CUNNINGHAM. -

The Right Hon. George Canning,
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Inclosure in. No. 70.

Portaria of the Minister of State to the Portuguese Commissary Judge.

(Translation.) Palace, April 17, 1822.

THE Prince Regent orders the Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs to acknowledge
the receipt of the information of the 13th of the present Month, which the Portuguese
Commissary Judge of the Mixed Commission, José Silvestre Rebello, transmitted through
tris Secretary of State, in consequence of the Portaria sent on the Ith of the present
Month, relative to the leave of absence granted to the British Commissary Judge, to go to

. the Minus Geriies and St. Pauls, for the benefit of his health ; and on the subject of bis tempo-
rary substitution in the above-mentioned’ Commission ; and His Royat Highness is pleased to
order, at the sight of the said information, that the Vacancy of the British Commissary Judge
‘should be filled provisionallyby the Deputy Consul-Generat of the same Nation, and that the Place
of CommissionerofArbitration should be substituted by the Vice-Consul, who resides at this Place,
as is established by the Convention signed on the 28th July 1817, it being right, on no ac-
count whatever to alter what is therein adjusted and sanctioned by their Britannick and Most
Faithful Majesties. This the Portuguese Commissary Judge will present to the Mixed Commis-
sion for its information,

(Signed) |JOZE BONIFACIO DE ANDRADAE SILVA.
BRAZ MARTINS COSTA PASSOS, Secretary.

 

No. 71.

Messrs. Hayne and Cunningham to Mr. SecretaryCanning.—
(Recewed June 25.)

Sir, Rio de Janeiro, March 28, 1823.
We had the honour to receive on the 26th instant, your Despatch of the

10th January 1823, in which you were pleased to advert, in terms of appro-
bation, to that part of our Despatch of the 19th of October ‘1822, wherein’
we stated that we felt it to be our duty to remain at our Post, and perform the
functions of our Office in every respect, notwithstanding the political changes
which are taking place in the Kingdom of Brazil.
We beg to express ourselves highly flattered by your approbation ;

and we earnestly hope, Sir, that our future conduct may prove equally satis-
factory to you. . . .
We beg to state, for your information, that we have uniformly found our

Brazilian Colleagues, as well as the Government, ready to fulfil the Stipula-
lations of the Convention as far as the Commission, has been concerned,’

We have the honour to be, &c.
(Signed) HENRY HAYNE. .

ALEXANDER CUNNINGHAM.Lhe Right Hon. George Canning
Se = §ee. &e. .

 

| No. 72.
Henry Hayne, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning—(Received July 6 )
Sir, Rio de Janeiro, April 26, 1823.

I HAVE the honour to annex a List of the Slave-Ships, with the amount
of Slaves embarked, the number that died on the passage, and the number  
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landed in this Port, during the Months of January, February, and March ofthis Year, whch I have the honour of transmitting for your information.
I have the honour to be, &c. ,

The Righta“ George gunn: (Signed) HENRY HAYNE.c. e = &e.

  

Inclosure in No. 72.

List of Slave-ships and Slaves arrived at Rio de Janeiro during the Months.ofJanuary, February, and March 1823.

  

 

 

 

 

 

Date of Arrival. |Description Ship’s Name. Parcose, Whence, Embarked. | Died.Reached Total.

1823..
. .January 6 -|Ship - -|Lucrecia - ~ | — Angola -- -| 292 13| 279» 16 = » Flor de Sintra - -| 55 jMosambique |: 492 521 440‘oo 99 {Brig = -Zephiro - ---- 48 ‘Quilimane -| 416 9} 4072 os ” Dezengano - ~~ -| — Benguela- -| 460 | 14] 446»» 20 -|Ship - -;Principe Regente -| — Mogambique| 733 44] 689|» 22 -|Brig ~ -/Trajano - ~~.- 54 jQuilimane -| 517 24| 493:

2754February 3 - os Boa Jesus Triumphe 39 jAngolo- ~ -| 526 65 461» 5 *(Ship - -/Henriqueta- ---| 47 {Cabinda - - 542 10} 532» 9 -|Brig - -|Amazona -~+--! 66 Mogambique; 465 8| 457» J3 -jShip - -/Mariana ----.) 65 [2 22. 520 79| 44)
Mogambique

oo» » Nove de Janeiro +| 108 by Bengella| 594 06| 528

2419March 5 - [Brig - -iConde dos Areos -| 63 |Quilimane - 402 57| 345» 6 -{Ship - -\Leopoldina- - - -| 65 |. ~~ ~~ -| 48] 201| 280x» os [Brig - -\Minerva - ----| 64 [2 - 202. 440 45 5 385yy 7 o  {8ua-da Guia ~~.) 66 f[- - 2... 338 98 | 240» 48 -|Ship - -/Camillus - - -. — jBahia - - -| 239 0} 238» »» {Brig - -}Sna.de Baluarte--| 96 Quilimane -| 335 | 48| 287» 21 - x» [Mercurio- -- - -| 41 |Benguela- -| 427 | 12] 409
~ 194

‘8212. 845. | 7367         
 

No. 73.

Henry Hayne, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning —(Received September 18.)

Sir, Rio de Janeiro, June 19, 1893.
_ HAVING resolved upon availing myself of His Majesty’s gracious per-.. mission to return to England, which you were pleased to communicate to me,in the Month of January last, I failed not to follow implicitly your Instrue~tions, of making my intention known to the Board of Commission, and tothe Local Authorities, as well as to His Majesty’s Consul-General, on whom -my duties devolve during my absence. There being no impediment to. mleaving this, I purpose embarking this day for England, on board of HisMajesty’s Ship Creole. I have the honour to be, &e.
The Right Hon. George Canning, (Signed) HENRY HAYNE.&e. Se. —&e.  
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. No. 74.

Henry Chamberlain, Esq. toMr.Secretary Canning.—(Received Sept. 18.)

Sir, Rio de.Janeiro, July 5, 1823.
I BEG leave ‘to :inclose a Letter, dated the 19th ultimo, addressed to His

Majesty’s Principal Secretary of State, left with me by Mr. Hayne, His
Majesty’s Commissary Judge -of the Mixed Commission, when that Geptle-
aman embarked for England, on the 19th of last Month, on-board the Creole
Frigate: and at the same time.to.inform you, that, in:compliance with a sug-
gestion contained ina Letter from him, addressed to myself, which -has been
inclosed to the Commission, to be.entered upon the Books, I have notified my
readiness, to take the requisite. oaths to enable me to take my seat at the Board
as Commissary Judge,during the absenceofMr. Hayne.
The Brazilian Commissary Judge being absent in the Interior, no further —

steps have yet been taken in the matter. —
I have the honour to be, &c.

(Signed) HENRY CHAMBERLAIN.
The Right Hon. George Canning,

&e. &e. &e.

 

No. 75.

Mr. Secretary Canning to the British Commissioners at Rio de Janeiro.

GENTLEMEN, Foreign Office, dugust 25, 1823.
IN reference to the Accounts of the Emilia, and the expencesof the Slaves

found on board of her, I furnish you, for your information and guidance, with
a Copy of a Despatch which I have addressed, under this day’s date, to His
Majesty's Consul-General at Rio de Janeiro,* for regulating the principle on
which the eapences of Slaves are to be borne, between the period of their
detention and.that of the sentence on the detained Vessel, when that sentence
is a condemnation.
You will be so good as to furnish His Majesty’s Consul-General with every

information you may possess on this head. Iam, &c.

(Signed) GEORGE CANNING.

The British Commissioners at Rio de Juneiro.

* See Class A.

 

No. 76.

Messrs. Chamberlain and Cunnimgham to Mr. Secretary Canning.—
(Recewed December 20.)

Sir, Rio de Janeiro, October 18, 1823.

WE have been honouredby thereceipt of your Despatch, dated 1st August
1823,* inclosing, for our information and -guidance, a Cepy of the Cor-
respondence on the Slave-trade, which hasbeen laid before Parliament, in the
course of the last Session; for which we beg leave to return our thanks,

We have the honour to be, &e. :

(Signed) H. CHAMBERLAIN.
. ALEXANDER CUNNINGHAM.

The Right Hon. George Canning,
Se. &e. &e.

‘* See No. 4.
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No. 77.

Mr. Secretary Canning to the British Commissioners at Rio de Janeiro.
GENTLEMEN, ‘Foreign Office, November 6, 1823.

1 FURNISHyou,for your information and guidance, with a ‘Copy of a
Despatch, with its Inclosure, which I have.this day addressed to His Majesty’s
Commissioners «at Sierra Leone,* upon the subject of the.charges of the
Marshal of the Court; and I have to desire that you will consider the
Instructions therein conveyed as equally binding upon yourselves, in any
Case,onwhich-occasion may arise for their application. |

Tam, &c.

(Signed) GEORGE CANNING.
Lis Majesty's Commissioners at Riode. Janéiro.

* See No. 9.

 

No. 78.

Messrs. Chamberlain and Cunningham to Mr. Secretary Canning.—
(ReceivedJanuary 24, 1824.)

‘Srr, = Rio de Janeiro, :iNov. 12, 1823.

"WE have been ‘honoured by the recéipt of your Despatch of August 25th
1823, respectingthe Accounts of the Emilia,and the expences of the Slaves
foundon board ofher; and furnishing us, for our information and guidance,
with a Copy of a Despatch, which you have addressed, under.the above date,
to His Majesty’s Consul-General in this City, for regulating the principle on
which the expences of Slaves are to be ‘borne, between the period.of their
detention, and that of -the sentence on the detained Vessel, when that sentence.
is condenmation: and you desire, that we will furnish His.Majesty’s Consul-
‘General with every information we may possess on this head.

In reply, we beg leave, ‘Sir, to assure you, that wewill pay strict attention
to-your commands, and will be ready, atall times, to furnish His Majesty’s.
Consul-General with every information which we may possess, concerning.
the expencesof Slaves, between the period of their detention and that ofthe
sentence on the detained Vessel, when that sentence is a condemnation.

, - We have the ‘honour to be, &e.
(Signed) H. CHAMBERLAIN. .

ALEXANDER CUNNINGHAM.
The Right Hon. George Canning,

&e. &e. &e.

 

No. 79. |
Messrs. Chamberlain and Cunningham to Mr. Secretary Canning.—

(Received January 24, 1824.) oo.

Extract.) _. Rio de Janeiro, November 12, 1823.
WE embrace this opportunity of informing you, that no Vessel has been

brought into this Port for adjudication by His Majesty’s Cruizers, under
suspicion -of having been engaged.in the illicit Traffick for Slaves, since the
Case of the Zmilia Brig,.condemned here on the 31st of July 1821.

oo _ We-have the honour to be, &e.

(Signed) H. CHAMBERLAIN. .
; ALEXANDER CUNNINGHAM.

The Right Hon. George Canning,
&e =. &e. Se.
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No. 80.

Messrs. Chamberlain and Cunningham to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Received
March 23.)

(Extract.) Rio de Janeiro, January 22, 1824.

IN compliance with the Instructions, dated 20th February 1819, directing

us to transmit to His Majesty’s Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs, Quar-

terly Reports of such Vessels as may be brought into this Port, for adjudica-

tion by His Majesty’s Cruizers, under suspicion of having been engaged in

the illicit Traffick for Slaves; we have the honour to inform you, that since

our last Report, no Vessel has been brought into this Harbour by any of His

Majesty's Ships-of-War, under the above-mentioned circumstances.

We have the honour to be, &c.

(Signed) H. CHAMBERLAIN.

The Right Hon. George Canning, ALEXANDER CUNNINGHAM...
&e. &e. &e.

 

No. 81.

Messrs. Chamberlain andCunningham to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Received
April 14.) .

“Sir, Rio de Janeiro, February 16, 1824.

WE have had the honour to receive your Despatch of the 6th November

1823, inclosing for our information and guidance, a Copy of a Despatch,with

its inclosures, which you had addressed to His Majesty’s Commissioners at

Sierra Leone ; and in which you desire that we will consider the Instructions

therein conveyed, as equally binding upon ourselves, in every‘Case on which

occasion may arise for their application. .

We have also had.the honour to receive your Despatch of the 17th of

November Jast.* In reply, we beg leave to assure you, that we will pay strict

attention to those Instructions upon all occasions, and we will take the earli-

est opportunity of communicating with the other Commissioners, acting with

us, upon the subjects to which they refer; but, in the mean time, we beg

leave to observe, that the Act of the I. and II, George IV. to which we are

referred, (particularly Cap. 99, the sixth Section), has not been transinitted to
us from the Foreign Office.

Wehave the honour to be, &e.

. (Signed) H. CHAMBERLAIN.

The Right Hon. George Canning, ALEXANDER CUNNINGHAM.

Se. §e. Se.
* Same as No. 1}.

 

No. 82.

Joseph Planta, Jun. Esq. to the British Commissioners at Rio de Janeiro.

-GENTLEMEN, _ Foreign Office, May 10, 1824,

IN compliance with the request contained in your Despatch,of the 16th
_ of February 1824, Iam directed by Mr. Secretary Canning to furnish you .

for your information, with a Copy of the Act of the I. and II. George Iv.
Cap. 99,—relating to the proceeds of Vessels and cargoes of Vessels con

demned for Slave-trade. Tam, &c.
(Signed) J. PLANTA,Jen:

His Majesty's Commissioners, Rio de Janeiro.  
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No. 83.0 |
J. H. LanceEsq. to Mr.Secretary Canning—(Received July 12.)

(Extract.) Surinam, May 11, 1823.

1 BEG leave to inform you, that the Schooner Snow, captured by

the Netherlands Sloop-of-War, the Kemphaan, was condemned as_ prize

on the 5th instant.
Inclosed I have transmitted an Abstract of her Case. .

One of the Negro women taken in her, died since her arrival, and after

she had been landed in this Colony; the remaining Slaves, 49 in number,

have received their Certificates of Freedom, and have been placed by the Go-

yernor under the care of that very uscful and respectable religious body, the

Moravians, to the end, that when sufficiently instructed in the truthsof the

Christian Religion, they may all be baptized, after which, it is the intention

of the Governor to employ them as Free Labourers.

Iam sorry to be under the necessity of informing you, that one of the

‘Sailors found on board the Slave-Schooner, named /Villiam Askens, is a

British Subject, having acknowledged himself to be one, in two examinations

which he underwent. Such being the case ; immediately after the condemna-

tion of the Schooner, I conceived it to be my duty, upon referring to a

Despatch from the late Marquess of Londonderry to His Majesty’s Com-

tissioners at Surinam, dated 28th Nov. 1820, and toa Note from His Excel-

-Jency the Earl of Clancarty, to His Excellency M. le Baron de Nagell, dated:

Brussels, Feb. 26, 1821, to claim the above-mentioned William Askens, of the

Governor, for the purpose of having him sent by the earliest opportunity to

somé British Settlement, with a Copy of the Sentence of theMixedCourt

here, and of such parts of the examinations as affect him, that he may take

sis Trial under the Act 51, Geo. III. c. 23, for being engaged in the Slave-

arade.-
His Excellency the Governor, after some consideration, in a conference

which I had with him, admitted my claim, and kindly agreed, not only to

lend me his assistance in keeping William Askens m safe custody, until an op-

portunity should occur, but to afford me the means of sending him to one of

the British Settlements. His Excellency informed me, .that the Kemphaan

was then preparing for sca, and, as.soon as some Ships should arrive from

Holland, which he expected during the present Month, he should be able to

‘spare her, and, if the Plan met with my approbation, she should convey

William Askens to Barbadoes. I regretted extremely the necessity of keep-

ing that individual in custody so long, but not being able to suggest any

other safe method of disposing of him, I accepted of His Exccllency’s pro-

position. | oe oo

. Tam happy to be able to inform you, that, during the whole of the pro-

ceedings no difference of opinion has existed been the Dutch Commissary

Judge and myself. The Form of Process adopted, was that which had been

agreed upon between him and Mr. Lefroy, and a Copy ef which [ believe Mr.
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Lefroy transmitted to you. The examinations were framed upon the printed
Interrogatories with which the Commission has been furnished.
The Schooner, with her apparel and furniture, was sold by Inventory at

Public Auction, on the 9th instant; but I have not yet received an Official
Report of the Sale. As soon as I shall receive a moiety of the Proceeds, I
shall transmit it to Demerara in Bills of Exchange.

It gives me pleasure to be able to say, that no reports of fresh importations
of Slaves have reached me since my last Despatch; but, I have heard it
rumoured, and have reason to believe, that two Cargoes of Slaves which had
been clandestinely imported from Africa, have beer re-embarked in the
same manner, and exported from this Colony.

| have the honour to be,
The Right Hon. George Canning, (Signed) J. H. LANCE. »

&e. &e. &e.

Inclosure in No. 83.

Abstract of the Case of the Slave-Schooner Snow.
‘THE Schooner Snow was fitted out at the Havannah for the purpose of Slave-trading, On the

Coast of, Africa she fell in with, and was captured by the Leona, a Colombian Privateer, com-
manded by a Lieutenant John Welsey, at which sime she had not received any Slaves on board.
The Captors put 54 Slaves on board of her, and gave the command of her to a James Conning-

ham, with a very mixed Crew of six men from their own Vessel. On the ist of March 1823, His
Netherlands Majesty's Sloop-of-War, the Kemphaan, fell in with her in lat. 17 mm. 55 dez.; long.
64 m. 18 deg. west of Greenwich ; when discovered she was carrying Netherlands Colours, but,
afterwards hoisted the Colombian Flag, . ; ,
The Commanding Officer of the Kemphaan, Lieutenant Godsen (the Captain being dead)

upon bringing her to, found that she had water and provisions for 4 days only on board, and,
therefore, took her into St. Bartholomew’s to get provisions sufficient to enable him to send her
to this Colony, where she arrived on the 7th ultimo. :
At St, Bartholomew’s James Conningham contrived to take four of the Slaves on shore, with

whom be absconded. ; The only papers on board were an old Passport for a Schooner, called the
Haarlem, from the present Governor of this Colony, when Governor at St. Eustatia, a Copy
of a Colombian Letter. of.Marque, and a Letter purporting to be from the Commander of the
Leona to James Conniigham, relating.to his taking care of the Vessel and Cargo of Slaves,
The Master having disappeared as above stated, the Ciew alone could be examined
The Mixed Court-having made three Proclamations for the Master, or a Claimant to appear,

and allowed three days between each Preclamation, and no_ person having’ appeared to Claifn on
the last day, proceeded.on the 5th instant to pass sentenceof condemnation against her; and de-
«teed her Slaves to be emancipated,

 

(Signed) J..H. LANCE.

 

No. 84.
J. H. Lance, Esq. to Mr. Sceretary Canning. (Received July 12.)

Sir, Surinam, May 18, 1823.
J HAVE the honour to acknowledge the receipt on the 13th instant of your

Despatch of the 25th of October 1822, containing your observations upon the
Mode of Process for the Mixed Court of Surinam, which Mr. Lefroy had
transmitted to you. I lost no time in acquainting the Dutch Commissary
Judge with your sentiments on the subject, and I received an answer from
him yesterday.
With respect to the application of the money produced by the Sale of the

Slave-Schooner Sxow, the condemnation and sale of which I mentioned in
my Despatch of the 11th instant, he informs me, that the Secretary hadalready made the payments for the necessary expences of the proceedings ‘be-fore the arrival ofyour Despatch of the 25th of October 1822, which conse-quently. came too late to regulate the Court in that ins¢ance. :  
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He then proceeds to observe, that the instructions from the British Minis-
try, though obligatory upon the British Commissioners here, are by no means
so upon the Court; that “ the Regulations” do not prescribe the form of Pro-
ceeding, but are merely Formularies, which have been conformed to as much
as possible, except that more care has been taken to prevent prolixity in the
Proceedings, or delay and expences to the Parties. oO
That His MajestyThe King of The Netherlands, by His Decree of the 20th

January 1820, has ordered a Mode of Procedure to be submitted to bim,.
and, in the meantime, has given the Court the latitude to act accordingto.
circumstances. That the mode of Procedure which has been submitted to
you cannot be considered as. a Law, but only asa Projet, which the Commis-
sary Judges have submitted to His Majesty, and as a Rule for their conduct
while awaiting the decision of His Majesty; that Mr. Lefroy’s zeal
had induced bim to have it printed, without his Colleague’s consent or
authority; ‘that the Clause, nevertheless, by which the Projet had been
adopted under the express condition of the approbation of His Majesty
The King of The Netherlands, was so salutary, that though there should
be absurdities, he should not consider himself compromised thereby. He con-
cluded by observing, that Articie Seven of the Projet, declaring that there
shall be delivered Copies to the Parties requiring them, had been inserted con-
trary to his opinion, as, if it was adopted, it would not be possible to deter-
mine an Affair within the term prescribed by the Treaty; but that he bad
yielded it to Mr. Lefroy, solely on the principle of shewing respect to his
Colleague. | a sO

In addition to the above observations, I beg to submit to you, that-an ob-
jection exists here to the Court proceeding, de die in diem, on accountofthe
Dutch Commissary Judge being also President of the Court of Civil Justiee,
with the Proceedings of which such a regulation might interfere.

For a further and more satisfactory explanation of what can be considered
only as the temporary Rules of the Court, with the reasons of their adoption,
T beg leave to refer you to Mr. Lefroy, who assisted in drawing them up, and
‘who is now in England. In the meantime, until the Mode of Procedure is
definitively settled, I shall not fail, in every Case which shall come beforé the
Court, to impress upon it the necessity of acting as. much as possible up to
the spirit of the Treaty, so that all its provisions may be carried fully into
effect. oo

, 1 have the honour to be, &c.
The Right Hon. George Canning, (Signed) J. H. LANCE.

&e. &e. &e, OO

 

No. 85.

J. H. Lance, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Received August 7)
Sr, . . a _ Surinam, June8, 1 823.

1 HAVEthe.honour to acknowledge the receipt ofyour Despatch ofthe
‘e7th of December 1822, informing me that His Mayjesty’s Ambassador at
the Court of The King of the Netherlands had been instructed to request ‘an
explanation of the conduct of the Fiscal, in restoring to the Consignee the
Negroes brought into Surinam by Charles Beverley, and .alsu. to express a

desire that inquiries might be instituted, as to whether the escapeofBeverly
was favoured by any Persons in the employment of the loeal Government,
and whether any other British Subject besidesBeverley, was concerned in the
importation of Slaves with which that Person was charged.
I conclude from this that no mterference on my pari is expected.
I regret that it has been considered necessary by His Majesty's Ministers  
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so frequently to impress upon the British Commissioners here, the necessity
of confning themselves to the Treaty, and the Act of Parliament founded
thereon ;. but I hope that, in future, no circumstances will arise rendermg it —
needful to repeat the admonition.
I am sorry to. say, that in the memory of the oldest inhabitants, the

Colony never was so sickly as it is at present. An epidemic fever, accom-
panied hy a violent cough, has spread so rapidly both in the white and black
population, that there is scarcely.an individual in the largest families not
affected; most of the houses in the town are shut up, the Public Offices are.
closed, and the streets are empty; [am also informed that on a considerable
number of che plantations, all the works have been stopt, the greater part. of
the Negroes being in the hospitals.

I have the honour to be, &c.

TheRight Hon. George Canning, (Signed) JH. LANCE.
&e. &e. &e. -

No. 86.

J. H. Lance, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Received October 11.)

(Extract.) Surinam, July 20,.1823,

_ L HAVE the honour to acknowledge thereceipt of your Despatch of the
1gth April 1823, together with the Inclosures, and I immediately forwarded
a copy. of the Additional Articles to the Treaty to each of the Members of the

~ Mixed Court. oO
In consequence of some reports which reached me the beginning of this

month,oftwo Slave Ships being in the River Surinam, I procveded in a
boat to the spot where 1 had been told they were, for the purpose of ascertain-
ing as far as possible the truth of the report, beforeI called upon the Go-
vernor to put in force the laws of the Colony against any importation of
African Negroes. When I arrived at the place, I found no trace of any such
Wessels; I. have since spoken with the Governor on’the subject, and he
informed me that a large Vessel under French Colours, laden with Slaves,
and bound from Gaudaloupe to Cayenne, had put into the river for water and
provisions about the time I mentioned, that he had caused a strong detach-
ment of military tv be put on board, who did not leave hertill she was
fairly out at sea; that he had not allowed a single Negro to be landed, and
had made the Captain pay 100 guilders a day as long as he remained; which.
was only three days, and that. he had himself examined her papers, which|
‘ere perfectly correct, or he should have seized her. :
Notwithstanding this, I am still of opinion that a clandestine importation

of Slaves is carried on, but to what extent I am unable to say, asit is entirely
out of my power to substantiate the reports which I hear, so:as to enable me
to make-an application to the Governor. : .
Jam happy to be able toadd, that the health of the Colony is now re-

established. ; oO
I have the honour to be, &c.

The Right Hon. George Canning, (Signed) J.-H. LANCE.
§e. &e Se. : :
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No. 87.

-J. H. Lance, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Received October 11.)

(Extract.) Surinam, dugust 2, 1823.

IN consequence of some reports which I had heard, and which I thought
I could rely on, I wajted onthe Governor on the 31st ultimo, and presented
him a Note, of which the inclosed is a Copy. oo oo

His Excellency, after reading it with great attention, observed to me, that,
under these circumstances, the best thing to be done was to have a search,
towhich I immediately assented, adding, that the sooner it was made the
more chance there would be of making discoveries. His Excellency ex-
pressed a determination of going himself to inspect the Plantation which I
ad pointed out as the depdt for newly imported Negroes, and made me an

offer to accompany him. I replied, that having come with the intention of
accepting such a proposal if offered, I. was perfectly ready to accompany
His Excellency immediately, and that 1 considered the promptitude with
which His Excellency decided to act upon my information, as a most con-
vincing proof of the sincerity of His Excellency’s previous declarations to me,
and of good faith on the part of the Netherlands Government. - Forafull.
detail of the further proceedings of that day, in whichI was engaged, I beg to
refer you to my Report inclosed, which Idrew up yesterday at the request
of the Governor. I wish to add; that, in the interval of time while waiting
till the boat was made ready, His Excellency informed me, that he had full
ower to seize and detain any new Negroes, conducted about the Town for

sale in the manner mentioned in my Note, that he shou!d consider the not
being able to speak the usual Negro language of the Colony, or any Europeaa
language, as a suificient proof thatthey were newly imported Africans; that

_the fact had never come under his own observation, and that he shauld feel
much obliged to me if the first time I saw such a circumstance I would in-
form him immediately, and he would take care to follow it up properly.

For an account of the proceedings instituted by His Excellency, upon the,
information afforded to him by the Government Secretary and myself, on our
return to Town, and also upon discovering that the Negroes whom we had’
seen, had been. clandestinely removed, previous to the arrival of the Persons
he had sent to apprehend them, I beg to refer you to the inclosed Proclamax
tion, of which I also send a translation. It was made too late yesterday to

appear in the Courant of to-day, but it will,I understand, be inserted in the
Courant of Monday next the 4th instant. In this state the matter rests dt.
present, andI shall not fail to give you early information ofwhat further steps.
are taken, in bringing the business toa conclusion.

1 cannot close this Despatch without expressing to you the high sense F-
entertain of the readiness ‘and alacrity displayed by the Governor in thé
whole affair, as without the very prompt assistance which he afforded, Iam.
convinced my exertions would have been entirely fruitless. The sensation
which it has created in the Town, and. the consternation into which it has’
thrown those Persons who are reported to be engaged in the Slave-trade, are
such, that it will, I have very little doubt, tend more than any event which.
has hitherto taken place to repress that infamous traffick.

I have the honour to; be, &c. |

‘The Right Hon. George Canning, (Signed) J. H. LANCE.
 - &e.  &e.  &e. .
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First Inclosure in No. 87.

The British Commissioner of Arbitration to the Governor of Surinam.

Paramaribo, July 30, 1823.

MR. LANCE, believing His Excellency to be actuated by a.sincere desire to put an-end te the
abominable traffick in Slaves, wishes to draw His Excellency’s attention to some facts relative to
their importation into this Colony.

From what has fallen under Mr. Lance's observation publickly in the Streets, he has strong
reasons for believing, that a clandestine importation of Slaves still continues. Mr. Lance has tres
quently seen Negroes who were evidently new, conducted about. the Town for sale. Mr. Lance
hasalsoreason to believe that there is in'Paramaribo more than one yard set apart for the recep-
tion of fresh imported Negroes, and, moreover, that there are.at the present moment a great
pulecr of newly imported AfricanNeg:oes for sale on a; Plantation in the River Surinam. called
ellward. ,
Ignorant as Mr. Lance is, how far His Excellency’s Authority extends, in entering Private

Yards for the purpose of searching tor newly imported Negroes, when the Vessel which bronght
them into the Colony is not known, er of seizing and entancipating them when found, it is im-
possible for Mr. Lance to suggest any course to be pursued by His Excellency; yet, situated as

t. Lance is, he feels it to be his duty to direct His Excellency’s attention to the above cireum<
stances, as being too notorious to be passed oyer silently, not dowbting but that His Excellency,
will do his utmost to put an end to the evil, which must be regarded as a most glaring infraction
of the Treaty now subsisting betweea the I'wo Governnents.

His Excellency General De Veer,

  

SecondInclosure in No..87,

The British Commissioner of Arbitration to the Governor of Surinam,

(Report) | | | August 1, 1828,
THE Undersigned, being. requested by His. Excellency. the Governor to make. a Report of

the proceedings in which he, the Undersigned, was yesterday engaged, the 3ist day of July, de-
elures as follows :— ; oo

That, in consequence of a written Communication be made to HisExcellency, about 9 o’clock
in the Morning, His Excellency ordered a boat to be made ready immediately, and authorised the
Undersigned to proceed to Plantation Rellward, situate oa the River Surinam,tomake an inspeé-
tion for the purpose.of ascertaining whether.a number of newly imported African: Negroes werg
not.there for sale. That His Excellency at first expressed a determination to go with the Under-
signed himself ; but, after a litle consideration, said, that having been indisposed, he bad taken
seme medicine thatMorning, which would prevent bim from puting this intention into effect; that
in his place, and for the purpose of giving effect and. authority to'such Commission, His.Excel-.
lency ordered the Secretary to the Government to accompany.the Undersigned to,the ‘abeve-
mentioned Plantation. That, accordingly, a litle before 10 o'clock in the sanve Morning, the Secre-
tary to the Government and the Undersigned embarked together, and arrived at Plantation Bellward
about-1}. The Undersigned-immediately on landing, saw a number of Negroes bearing every ap-
pearanceof newly imported Africans, but to convince himself of the fact, he addressed some: of
them, but.found them totally ignorant of the Language.of the Colony. That the Secretary and
the Undersigned proceeded onto the house, where they founda, number of other Negroes, both male.
and female, andall bearing evident masks of being newly imported from Africa, A white Person
then came forward, who spoke the Ficuch Language, ‘avd appeared-to-be a Frenchman, Upon
asking him to whom the Plantation -bélonged, ‘he said, that he and.a Mr. Gard’, of Paramaribo,
werejoint Proprietors, but that the, sale had not been completed, in. conseqnence of 20,000 Florins
béing asked, when they would only give 18,000 Florins forit; he fucther said, that his own’
name was Fromentin ; that there were 69 new Negroes there, that is, 61 healthy, and 8 sick ; that
they had been there about.five Months ; and that he was the Captain of the Vessel which brought
them there; that it was his, and Mr. Gardé’s, intention now to put the Estate in cultivation of
sugarwith these Negroes ; and the Dndersigned, in accordance.wwith that déclaration, saw apume
ber of Cane-tops lying near the landing place ; that the Government Secretary then addressed
Mr. Fromentin, informing him that we were specially sent by the Government, that in the name
and on the part of the Governer, he prohibited Mr. Fromentin from sending or allowing to be
sent or taken awaya single Person from the Plantation, patil he received further orders from the

4  
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Governor, and that the Governor would consider Mr.Fromentin as responsible forevery person
so removed fromthe Plantation. ‘ThattheGovernment Secretary and the Undersigned ‘then re-
embarked and returned to Town. And to this effect the Undersigned is ready to depose upon oath,
if required.

His Excellency Genéral De Veer. (Signed) J.H.LANCE.

 

Third Inclosure in No. 87.

Proclamation of the Governor of Surinam.

_(Translation.) Paramaribo, August 1, 1823.

WHEREAS, on yesterday the 31st of July, a certain white person calling himself Fromeztin,
‘end pretending to be a Frenchman, having been in, the dwellings onthe Plantations called Bel-
waarde, situated in the River Surinain, together.with sixty-nine Negroes, intimated by. the said
Fromentin to -be Slates: ,

_ And whereas we having ordered the. said Person of Fromentin not. to absent himself, nor any
of the Slaves, from the said Place, but, on the contrary, to remain there, together with-tlie said

Slaves, till our further commands against him and these Slaves should be given:
And whereas the said Person, Fromentin, having absented himself from, the before-mentioned

Place, togétlitt with the aforesaid Slaves, éontrary to these our Commands } iv consequencewhereof
the pergons whom We have despatched td Jetch them, and to carry them betore us, not having

Deen able to trace them : . -
All and every one are hereby cautioned not to harbour or to conceal the aforesaid Person

of Fromentin.and the said Slates, inuch less to give them any opportunity, or to assist them in
their escape; but, on the contrary, knowingwhere the aforesaidPerson and Slaves are concealing
themselves, to give immediate totice thereof to the nearest Pablick Authority, either Military or
Civil, and to assist in their apprehension; and that otherwise, all and every one who shall act
on the contrary shall be proceeded against according to Law. 7

All Publick Authorities in the Divisions of this Colony, and moreover all Officers and other
Military men on the Posts upon the borders, are hereby.invited, and forasmuch asneed be, eom-

manded, carefully to look out that thesaidfugitive Person and Siaves do not pass their Residences

or Posts, but attempting the sanie, to, detain them ; and further to make the necessary searches,

and on discovering them, immediately to arrestthe same, and to send them in safe custody te

Paramaribo, .
Theafdrésaid Peison of Fromentin was dressed with a white shirt ; trowsers; a waistcoat ;.

without a neck-handkerchief,—and is, by guéss, fifty years of age—full five feet tall—brown, and.
of a healthy. colour,— .

Forehead = - = + “broad.
‘Cowitendnce ~ - - round. -
Byes - - 2 = «+ fray. —
Hyebrows - - - - light brown.
Nose - - - = = -eommpn,
Mouth - - - + + middling.

to ,Cbib s - > +) - round.
And in order that this may come to the knowledge of every one, We hereby command and

order that this shall. be published and affixed,:and further be sent round the Colony from Plan-

tation to Plantation.
(Signed) A. DE VEER.

Given at the Goverment-Honse, at Paramatibo, By command of His Excellency.

, this Ist of August 1823. (Signed) J. C. GUICHERIT,
Government Secretary,

Faithfully translated from the Dutch Language, by,
oe , CHS; LIONARONS, Sworn Translator,

 

| No. 88.

Mr. Sceretary Canning to J. Hi. Lane, Esq.

Si, Foreign. Office, August4, 1823:

TL HAVE to acknowledge the receipt ofyour Despatch of the.11th of May
1823, respecting the capture and-condemnationof the Slave-schoonerSnows
and_Ihave to convey.to.you His Majesty’s approbation‘af your conduct,both.

in regard to the measures taken by you, conjointly with the Netherlands  
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Commissary Judge, for the condemnation of the Vessel, and to your exertions
for bringing to trial the British seaman, William Askens, found on board of
the condemned Vessel. Iam, &c.
J. H. Lance, Esq. (Signed) GEORGE CANNING.
 

No. 89.

Mr. Secretary Canning to the British Commissioners at Surinam, and
Sierra Leone.

GENTLEMEN, Foreign Office, September 3, 1823.
I HAVE to acquaint you, for your information, and the information of

the other Members of the Boardof Commission in which you act, that it has
been duly notified to His Majesty’s Government, through the Netherlands
Minister at this Court, that the Netherlands Brig Mercury, (DeMerkuur),
of 18 guns and 100 men, commanded by Captain P. Muller, and destined
for the Island of Curacoa, will be furnished with a Copy of the Treaty of the
4th of May 1818, for preventing the Traffick in Slaves, and of the Docu-
ments annexed thereto. Tam, &c. ©

(Sigued) GEORGE CANNING,
The British Commissioners at Surinam, and Sierra Leone.

 

No. 90.

Mr. Secretary Canning to J. H. Lance, Esq.

Sir, Foreign Office, September 3, 1823.-
IN reference to your Despatch of the 11th of May 1823,I have to acquaintyou that the Goveruor of Barbadoes has been instructed by His Majesty'sSecretary of State for Colonial Affairs to prosecute William Askens, for being

concerned in the Slave-trade on board ofthe Snow. You will, theretore, send’
to the Governor of Barbadoes ‘whatever information you may be able to obtainupon the subject. Tam, &e.
J. H. Lance, Esq. (Signed) GEORGE CANNING.
 

No. 91.

JH. Lance, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Received December 13.)

(Extract.) '. Surinam, September 20, 1823.
WITH regard to the sixty-nine newly imported African Negroes, mentioned.in my Despatch of the 2d ultimo; as having been seen by the GovernmentSecretary and myself upon a Plantation in the River Surinam, and as having~ been afterwards clandestinely removed from thence, I have now to mentionthat the whole affair has been put into the hands of His Honour the Fiscal,whose particular province I-understand it is to make the necessary enquiries,and bring the offenders to Justice.
A Court was accordingly held by his Honour, on the 5th ultimo, before_ which I was examined upon oath, relative to the facts stated in my Note andReportto the Governor, Copies of which I inclosed in my. abovementionedDespatch, Since that time I have received no further Communicationsfrom  
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the Authorities here on the subject; but having learnt, on the 6th ultimo, by
a Report upon which I thought I could depend, where the Negroes had be¢n
removed to, I deemed it right to acquaint His Excellency the Governor, and
His Honour the Fiscal, with what I had heard, and the Inclosure is a Copy
of the Note I addressed to the Fiscal onthe occasion.

I understand that a search was made in consequence on the day following,
upon the Estate I had mentioned; but as [ bave not been officially made ac-
quainted with the result, I conclude that it was unsuccessful, .
On the 10th instant, a large Brig, called La Légére, with 354 African

Negroes on board, was brought into this Port, under the following circum-
stances, which I learnt from Captain Rich, of His Majesty’s Ship Ringdove.

_ On the 7th instant, Captain Sir Thomas Cochrane, of His Majesty’s Ship
Forte, in-company with Captain Rich, discovered her at anchor off the Coast
of this Colony, without any Colours. Upon a signal being made for her to
shew her Colours,she immediately cut her cable and endeavoured to escape,
but finding that impossible, she hoisted the French Flag, and struck it again
to Captain Richat the same instant. As soon as she was boarded the Captain
(a Frenchman), declared at once, that he knew he was a good prize aud should,
therefore, not attempt to conccal any thing. He informed Captain Rich, that
his Supereargo had landed, and been in Paramaribo for three days, looking
for a market, and if he could not suceeed here, it was, he said, his attention,

_ however absurd, to go on to Berbice and Demerara, and try to dispose-of the ©
cargo there. : See

Under these circumstances Captain Sir T, Cochrane detained her, and dis-
patched Captain Rich to Paramaribo, togive her up to the Authorities bere.
Although this was a Case clearly not within the jurisdiction of the Mixed
Court, I thought it right to see His Excellency. the Governor on the subject,
and I was gratified to find that he had agreed to receive her as a Vessel taken
in the actof attempting to violate the Decrees of The Kingof the Netherlands,
and a force was accordingly dispatched to take possessionof her,and bring
her into this Port, where she is now laying for adjudication.bythe Fiscal.
The Captain-and one of the Officers of the Brig, (neither. of whose names.

have I been able to learn), have been put in close confinement,
The Negroes have all been landed, and I understand from His Excellency

the Governor, that, as soon as the Fiscal shall have given Judgment,it is Hits

Excellency’s intention to apprentice them out to different Persons asfree ~

Negroes, accordingto the method pursued in the British Colonies with|
Negroes brought in there, since the abolition of the Slave-trade..

Co I have the. honour to be, &e.

The Right Hon. George Canning, (Signed) J. H. LANCE.
&e. &e 2 &a co

  

. Inclosure in No.-91.

The British Commissioner of Arbitration ‘to the Fiscal..

Paraniaribo, August 6, 1823.

MR. LANCE, wishing to assist the object of the Proclamation issued by His. Excellency the

Governor, .on Friday last, the Ist instant, for the discoveryofthe Negrpes who were:clatidestinely:

removed from Plantation Bellward, begs to communicate to: His Honour the Fiscal a report

which has reached Mr. Lance to-day, and to which. he.thinks some credit may be attached, of

those Negroes being at present on dn estate next to-Plantation Zoelen, in the River Cosmewine,

but the name of which Mr. Lance has beep unable to learn. oO

Mr. Lance has imparted the above intelligénce'to His Excélency the Governor, by whomhe

Awas requested to. fay it before His Honour, and: Mr.Lance does nat doubt but that His Honvitr

will take ull the necessary measures for ascertaining its correetness as soon as possible,

fis Honour ithe Fiscal.  
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No. 92.

Mr. Secretary Canning to the British Commissioners at Surinam.

GENTLEMEN, Foreign Office, October 30, 1823.

IN reference to your Despatch of the 18th May 1823, on the subject of
Regulations for the proceedings of the Mixed Board of Commission at Suri-
nam ;—I transmit to you, for your information, the Copy of a Despatch,
dated the 5th ultimo, with its Inclosure, which I have received from the Earl
of Clancarty, His Majesty’s Ambassador to The King of the Netherlands,
stating, that Instructions were sent, on the 24th of June last, to the Local
Authorities at Surinam, for the settlement of the Form of Process requisite for
the direction of the proceedings of the Commission.

I am, &c.

(Signed) GEORGE CANNING.

‘The British Commissioners at Surinam,

 

No. 93.

Mr. Secretary Canning to the British Commissioners at Surinam.

GENTLEMEN, Foreign Office, December 26, 1823.

IN reference to your Despatch of the 11th of May 1823; I send to you the
Copy of a Communication which has been made by the Governor of Barba-
does to the Under Secretary cf State for the Colonial Department, shewing
that the Grand Jury at Barbadoes, upon hearing the evidence in the Case of
William Askens, taken on board the Slave-vessel the Snow, threw out the
Bill, and that the Judge of the Vice Admiralty had expressed his opinion,
that William Askens had been harshly and improperly treated.

Lam, &c.

(Signed) GEORGE CANNING.
‘The British Commissioners at Surinam.

  

omy

Inclosure in No, 93.

The Governor of Barbadoes to the Under Secretary of State for- the
Colonial Department.

Sig, Government-House, Burbadoes, October 16, 1823.
1 HAVE been bonoured by your Communication of 21st August last, covering various Docu-

ments relative to William Askens, taken on board the Slave-vessel the Snow, by His Netherlands
Majesty’s Sloop the Kemphaan, and in reply, bave to state the following particulars with regard
to that individual: _ :
W. Askens arrived here from Surinam, in the Kemphaan, .on the 4thof Jast July, and J, at the

same time, received a Communication from Mr. Lance, the British Commissioner of Arbitration
inthat Colony, stating the circumstances of Askens’ Case, and transmitting several Documents
relatingthereto, and requesting that he might be tried. The Documents alluded to were imme-
diately forwarded to the Judge of theVice- Admiralty Court of this Island, with my orders to bring
him to trial without delay. "On the 9th of the same Month, William Askens was brought before
a Court of Vice-Admiralty Session ; the Grand Jury, on hearing evidence in the matter, threw
out the bill, and no charge appearing against him, he was in consequence discharged ‘by my Order,
on the requisition of the Judge of the Vice-Admiralty Court to that effect, who stated, that it
appeared that Askens had been hardly dnd improperly used.

, : Ihave, &e,

; (Signed) HENRY WARDE,
Wilmot Horton, Esguire, ,
“Be. &e, &e, ,  
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No. 94.

J. H. Lance, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning.—({Received April 26.)

Sir, Surinam, February 4, 1824,

I HAVE the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your several Despatches
to the 3d of September last, and also of the several Papers laid before Par-
liament relating to the Slave-trade, all of which arrived here on the 25th
December last. [ should have acknowledged the receipt of them much earlier
had I not been prevented by illness, from which, owing to the unusual length
and severity of the late dry season, few people in this Colony have escaped.

I shall take particular care to regulate all my future Correspondence with
His Majesty’s Government, in conformity with the instructions contained fu
your Despatches.

I acquainted the other Members of the Board of Commission in which I
act, with the information contained in your Despatch of the 3d of Septémber,
that the Netherlands Brig Mercury (de Merkuur) ot 18 guns, and 100 men,
commanded by P. Muller, and destined for the Island of Curacoa, would be
furnished with a Copy of the Treaty of the 4th of May 1818,for preventing
the traffick ia Slaves, and the Documents annexed thereto. OO
A Form of Process has been serit out by the Netherlands Government for’

the use of the Mixed Court here on future occasions. |
In reference to my Despatch of August 2, 1823, and the Inclosures

therein contained, I have now to request your attention to the singular cir-
cumstance, that six months heve elapsed, and. nointelligence whatever has
been gained of the 69 newly imported African Negroes, whom I, in company
with the Government Secretary, saw upon a Plantation, called Bellward, in
the River Surinam.
The prosecution ofthe whole affair, after the first discovery, rested with

Elis Honour the Fiscal, and the conduct of that Officer in this business has
been such as to impress me with a very unfavourable idea of his sincerity in
enforcing the Decrees of His Majesty The King of the Netherlands for
abolishing the Slave-trade. That I may not be thought to have formed
this opinion upon insufficient grounds, I will detail the circumstances of
the Case: =

Plantation Bellward lies between the Town of Paramaribo and Fort 4Am-
sterdam, being on the same side of the River with the latter, from which it
is about two miles distant, and it is impossible for Vessels of any description
to reach either the Plantation or the Town without passing that Fortress. .
Now, it is sufficiently surprising that the Vessel containing all those

Negroes, and I believe many more which had been disposed of previous to
ny gaining information of them, should have eluded the vigilance of the
scptinels of that Fort, in their way to Plantation Bellward, but that such a_
number of people should privately escape from thence, when they must have
passed either the Town or the Fort in their flight, and that they should do
that, not only without the knowledge of, but in the face of the measures
taken by His Honour the Fiscal, and set at defiance all lis enquiries aftcr-
wards, is to me so extraordinary that I think I am fully warranted by the
facts, when I state, though with great reluctance, I cannot come to any other
conclusion than that there must have been either great negligence or con-
nivance on the part of the Fiscal, orof those employed uader him.

I also think that other and more decisive measures might have been
adopted for apprehending the accused party than the issuing the Proclama-
tion, of which I inclose a Translation, citing him to appear before the Court’
of Policy and Criminal Justice on the 28th November last! Myr. Fromentin,
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“who had acknowledged himself to be a part Owner of the Negroes, and to
have been the Captain of the Vessel which-imported them, and was by such
confession reiudered liable to afine’of 5000 guilders, and five year’s imprison- |
‘ment, was not likely to give himself up to a simple citation ; .and-no reward,

~ has been offered either-for his apprehensionor thatof the Negroes in any
‘stage of the proceedings.
Tam happy to be able to add, in reference to my Note to His Excellency

the Governor, inclosed in my Despatch ofthe 2dof August, that a com-
plete stop has been put to selling newly importedAfricans publickly in the
Streets; nor do I believe that any Depét for their reception exists at present
in the Town, and though the importation may still possibly continue, it
must be. at a great distance from the Town and of a comparative limited
extent. — oo
Indeed His Excellency has repeatedly informed: me, that, unless he is

allowed more Ships-of-War by his Government to cruize off the Coast, it ts
absolutely impossible, with the best intentions, for him to put an entire stop
to the importation; and when I state to you, that no Vessels-of-War of any
description have been here from the end of June last, to the middle of De-
‘cember Jast,. I think you will agree with me in considering it as a matter of
surprise ‘that more advantage has not been taken of such apathy or neg-

_ ligence on the part of the Netherlands Government, bypersons interested in
carrying on the African Slave-trade.
me , I have the honour to be, &c.

The Right Hon. George Canning, (Signed) J; H. LANCE,
oo &e &e. &e,.

 

(Inclosure in No. 94.)

(Translation.) Proclamationofthe Fiscal of Surinam.

CITATION BY EDICT.

IN pursuance of Authority granted by the Honourable Councillors, Commissaries of the Roll
of the Court of Policy and. Criminal Justice of this Colony, bearing date the 4th ‘instant.
On the request of E, L. Baron Van Heeckeren, L. L. D. Councillor, Fiscal of the'sdid Colony,

R, O, Plaintiff, of the one Part, upen andagainst the Person. of Fromentin, Defendant, on the
other Part. ,
Inthe affair of sixty-nine (so called), New African Negroes, on the 31st July last; on the

" Plantation Belwaarde, situated on the left hand side.in going up the River of Surinam, discovered
by Messrs. J. H. Lance, Arbiterin the Mixed Court, and J. C Guicherit, Government Secretary.
(‘who were commissioned by His Excellency the Governor to that effect) whom the Defendant,

then there present, declared he had imported into this Colony five mouths before in his
own Vessel, and had put. them on the said Plantation, in order to cultivate the sanfe; andwhich
69 Negroes, early on the morning of. the Ist August last, were not found on the Plantation

’ Belwairde,.nor was the person of the defendant then there present, notwithstanding Mr. Govern-
-ment Secretary, on behalf of Eis Excellency the Governor, did interdict the Defendant on his
own. responsibility, not-to move any of the said Negroes, before he should have received the

. commands of Lis Excellency respecting the same. And whereas such importation having been
. éffected’ in -a clandestine manner, and without the knowledge of the Colonial Government, the
same thereby gives birth to suspicions ofa violent nature, that such importation has either been
effected direct from the Coast of Guinea, or from some Colony where the direet Siave-trade from

_ the Coast of Guinea is still allowed; and -His Efonour the Fiscal aforesaid, on account of the
Police deeming it proper to take cognizance of such a deed, in order that_ those concerned in the
same, for the exainpl: of others, should be convicted and punished, did apply for, and obtain

: from His Excellency the Governor (on account of the Court of Policy and Criminal Justice not
being then sitting) a Decree of personal summons against. the said Fromentin, in conformity
whereof His Honour the Fiscal, by exploict from the door-keeper, bearing date 17th September
1823, did summons the said From:ntin to appear in person this day at the Criminal Rell Court,
for all such parroses a3 is described in the said Act of Summation

Andwhereas the defendant aforesaid not having complied with the said summons, as appears
“by bis non-appesrance, His Honour the Fiscal, R.O. did apply, that.a summons should be
served against the said Defendant, with the clause of edicte ad valvas curiz.

’ We therefore, for the second time do hereby summons. the said Fromentin to appear in person
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on Friday the 28th day of this month of November, in the morning, at nine o'clock, at the
Criminal Roll Court, in order that he may purge himself of his former non-appearance, in default
ot which he will be proceeded against according to Law. .

his Summons by Edict will be published after the diam being first beaten from before the
front of the Court-house, andaffixed ad valvas curiae.

Paramaribo, dated ut supra.
. By command of Messrs. Counsellors Commissaries aforesaid,

(Signed) J. BROMET, First Commissioner.
Faithfully translated from the Dutch language by . oe .

(Signed) CHS. LIONARONS, Sworn Translator.

 

| No. 95.
J. H. Lance, Esq.toMr.Secretary Canning—(Received April 26.)

Sir, a a Surinam, Feb. 6, 1824,

IN obedience to the directions which I have had the honourto receive,
concerning the Office of Marshal of the Court of Mixed Commission esta-
blished here, I have to inform you, that, in the only Case which has’ hitherto
been brought before this Court, the services usnally réndered‘by a Marshal
in our Courts of Admiralty, were performed partly by the Secretary of the
Court, and partly by the Person who has acted as door-keeper. As the Se-
eretary has a regular Salary allowed by the Netherlands Government, no ac-
count of Services has been given in, nor anycharge made by him. __

As‘no provision had:been made by the Netherlands Government, either iti
respect to the Personexercising the Office of Marshal, or the fund out of
which the expences should be paid, the Court was obliged to take. upon
itself the appointing a Person, and the charges were defrayed out of the gross
sum produced by the sale of the Vessel: The expences of the Crew and the
Slaves on board of the captured Vessel; previous to her arrival at this Port,
were also deducted out of the same fund, but, after herarrival, the Crew
being plaeed in confinement till the decision of the Court was known, their
expences were paid by this Government, while those of the Negroes were
still deducted in the same manner as before. I presume a similar course will
be pursued upon the capture of other Slave-vessels, until instructions arrive
to the contrary ; and, as it appears upon the whole to be fair and equitable,
1 humbly conceive that an alteration, with regard to this particular Court,
would very probably not be more effectual for the purposes required, or give
‘greater. satisfaction than the present arrangement. OO

_ Tnow wish to draw your attention to a fact which probably you may. deem.
worthy .of,some representation to the Netherlands Government, namely,‘that’.
the.Officers and Crew of the Vessel capturing, are not entitled to any part of
-the money produced by the sale of the Slave-vessel, nor are they, J-am in-
formed, allawed anyequivalent by the Netherlands Government. .I mention
this circumstance, because I think it cannot fail to have great-influence with|
Dutch Ships-of-War, in making future captures, as the Captain nowruns all
the risk of the Slave-vessel not being condemned, and of being thereby ren-
‘dered liable himself to an action for damages by the Owners, for having
illegally detained her, without any compensation for such a risk. oo

, | J have the honour to be, &.
The Right Hon. George Canning, (Signed) = J. H. LANCE,

&e &. &e. :
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. No. 96.

J. H. Lance, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning—(Received April 26.)

Str, Surinam, Feb. 16, 1824,

IN reference to my Despatch of the 20th of Septemberof last Year, I have
now the honour to inform you, that the French Brig La Légeére, with 353
Slaves on board (stated by mistakeat354 in my former Despatch) detained
and sent in by His Majesty’s Ship Forte, Captain Sir Thomas Cochrane, on
the 9th of September last, was, after a very long investigation before the
Fiscal and Court of Policy and Criminal Justice, acquitted of the intention of
smuggling the Slaves into this Colony, and was accordingly restored to Jean
Marie Bled, the Supercargo, and Pierre Pousin, the Captain, upon payment of
all the legal and other expences incurred here ;—the being found at anchor off
this Coast, with provisions for forty days on board ; the endeavouring to es-
cape; the Supercargo being on Shore for three days, and coming to ‘Town
for fresh provisions only ; and the Declaration of M. Pousin to Captain Rich
at the time of the capture; being all considered as insufficient evidence of
such an intention, so as to bring her within the Decrees of His Majesty The
King of the Netherlands.

Such being the case, His Excellency the Governor determined upon send-
ing her to Martinique, under escort of the Netherlands Sloop-of-War, the
Kemphaan, there to be delivered up to the French Authorities, and, in pur-
suance-of such determination, the Slaves were re-embarked on the 6th ultimo,
and the Vessel was ordered to sail as soon as possible.
On the 8th she‘got under weigh, but, in proceeding down the River, ac-

companied by the Kemphaan, ran aground between the Town and Fort
Amsterdam. The Captain of the Kemphaan immediately dispatched an
Officer with some men to give the requisite assistance in getting her a-float
again. The Officer, on going on board, found that the Supercargo and M.
Pousin had absconded, and acquainted the Captain of the Kemplhaan with
that circumstance, who, thereupon, reported it by Letter to the Governor, and
requested to know whether he should still carry the Brig to Martinique, and
whether any fresh instructions were necessary,
The Governor instantly decided, that the absence of the Supercargo and

M. Pousin was not of sufficient importance to prevent or delay the intended
voyage, and, therefore, ordered the Captain to proceed with his charge forth-
with; but shortly after, hearing a report that all the Negroes had been
again disembarked and carried away, His Excellency dispatched:an Officer on
board to learn the truth, who, upon his return, brought the information, that
only fifteen Negroes remained in the Brig, the others having been smuggled
-out of her in the most daring manner, while she lay under the guns of Fort
Zealandia on the one side, and within musket-shot of the Kemphaan on the
other. .
Upon the receipt of this intelligence, the Court of Poliey and Criminal

Justice was immediately summoned, and the inclosed Proclamation (marked
A,) was issued, “ prubibiting ali persons from concealing the Negroes, and
offeringa reward-of ten thousand Guilders to whoever. would give informa-
tion, so -as te apprehend and convict the persons guilty of carrying them
away”; and the Governer, by the inclosed Proclamation (marked ‘B) ‘in
order to take away all means by which the Supereargo and Captain, together
with part of the Crew of the Brig might eseape, by €landeatinely leaving the
Colony”, laid an embargo upon all Vessels then in this Port, or which should
arrive afterwards, except the Dutch Merchant Ships, which, nevertheless,
were to be subject to all such searches as should be deemed proper.  
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Troops were also dispatched to the Mouths of all the Rivers and Creeks
eommunicating with the Sea, with orders to arrest every boat or canoe pro-
ceeding out to Sea, and the reputed Agerit and Consignee of the Brig, a Mr.
Richard O’Ferral, junior, was placed in close confinement in theFort.
In consequence of all these measures, His Excellency very soon obtained

information of the Place where the Negroes were concealed, which he no
sgoner ascertained, than, having stationed a number of armed Sloops in dif-
ferent parts of the River, so as to preclude the possibility of any boat or canoe
passing for the purpose of giving the alarm, he dispatched a strong detach-
ment of troops, whoarrivednear the place, where the fugitives were all en-
camped in huts hastily erected, about 4 o’clock in the Morning of the 13th,
(it being in a part of the bush ‘near the Mouth of the Surinam ‘River, called
Younkerman’s Creek,) and having surrounded the whole, succeeded in taking
them into custody, together with the Supercargo, and a white man from
Martinique, who had been on board the Brig, and-one of the sailors, without
any resistance or accident. Indeed, the Negroes were so well satisfied with
the treatment they had experienced during the time they had been here, that
they hailed the soldiers as their old friends, and the Supercargo and the sailor,
the only persons who were prepared for, and most probablywould have
made, resistance, were disarmed andsecured while sleeping.
The anxiety of the Governor for the success of the undertaking was so

great, that he went in person to the spot and superintended thewhole busi-
ness.
The Negroes were all then conveyed to Town, arid the past events having

set at rest all doubts concerning the intention of smuggling them into this
Colony; the Brig was immediately taken possession of by theGovernment;
the Negroes were declared free, and.all the white people concerned in car-
trying them away were placed in confinement, where they still remain await-
ing the decision of the Court.
The conduct of the Governorthroughout this whole affair has been such as

to evince his sincerity in executing the Decrees of The King of the Nether-
lands against the Slave-trade, and I firmly believe that it is wholly owing to
his individual exertions, made too at a period of the greatest family distress,
from the death of oneof his sons,.and the severe illnessof a daughter, that
the recapture ofthe Negroes was effected; and this mostbarefaced attempt at
settinghis authority and the laws at defiance, met with the reward it merited.
You will observe by the inclosed Proclamation (marked C) by which the

embargo is taken off, that only 269 Negroes are mentioned as being retaken.
This is accounted for by the circumstance that 44 of the original number had
been in theHospital, and never were re-embarked on board the Brig, ‘but iad
been secreted ‘bytheConsignee, anda false Certificate givento tlieFiscalof
their having been taken onboard. ‘The person having them in charge, find-
ing the danger he-ran in harbouring them, deliveredthem up to the Fiscal the
day after the first Proclamation. Se a
' Ithas been ascertained that the Captain of the Brig took two Negro girls
withhim when he left the Vessel,. who have not yet been discovered; that:
one Negro died in the bush, during. the time .of their concealment, and 22
diedinthe Hospital since their arrival, which, with the 15 left on board,
make up the original number of 353. . oe
The embargo was continued some days longer in hopes ofretaking M.

Ponsin, but no intelligence was gained concerning him, and,most probably,
he has effected his.escape.
a __ [havethe honourto be, &c. | 7
‘The Right Hon. George Canning, (Signed) J. H. LANCE.

&e. &e = & _
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First Inclosure in No. 96.

Proclamation (A.) of the Governor of Surinam,

(Translation.) CAUTION, Paramaribo, January 10, 1824,

WHEREAS the Court of Policy and Criminal Justice of this Colony, having with indignation
discovered that a great number of Negroes, who were on board of the French Brig LaLégire,
after their embarkation in the said Brig, on the Morning of the 6th January this Year, have been
taken off and carried away, without the place of their present residence being known.

All and every one are hereby cautioned and forbidden not'to secrete, or to conceal any of these
Negroes, much less to buy any ofthem, on pain that those who shall befound to have secreted, con-
cealed, or bought one or mage of the said Negroes, shall incur the same punishments as are fixed
by His Majesty’s Decree of the 17th September 1818, against the Slave-traders,

Moreover all and every one knowing the person or persons guilty: of carrying’ away the said
Negroes, or the accomplices of such person or persons, are invited immediately to give notice to
the Fiscal in such manner that the same may be convicted thereof, and in which case, a premium
of ten thousand Guilders will be paid to any such person or persons, and his or theirnames, if rer
quired, be co.cealed. .. °
And in order that nobody may pretend any ignorance hereof, this shall bepublishedand affixed,

where-it is customary to be done,
. (Signed) ‘A. DE VEER.

Paramaribo, January10, 1824. oe .

By.Command.of the Court,

. (Signed) .R. VAN REESAZ, Secretary.

Faithfully translated from the Dutch Language, by _
Loc (Signed) . CHARLES LIONARONS, Sworn Translator.-

ee

_ Second Inclosure in No. 96.

Proclamation. (B.) of the Goverpor of Surinam.

(Translation.) == - | Paramaribo, January 10, 1824,

“We, Abraham de Veer, Sie. Be. &e.
_WHEREAS we deem it of importance to discover where the fugitive Persons, Jean Marie

Bled, Supercargo, and Pierre Pousin, Captain, -along with some of the crew of the French Brig
La.Légére, together with the Slaves clandestinely. carried. away on the River of Surinam from on
board of the said Brig, do conceal themselves, and in order to avoid all means by which they might
escape our pursuit, by clandestinely leaving the Colony, or be carried away: ;
"We have thought proper to command, as we do command by these presents, that an embargo
be laid through the whole extent of this Colony, on all Ships and Véssels which are here, or those
whith shall’arrive, with the exception of Netherlands Merchant-vessels belonging to Subjects of
thatKingdom, which Vessels will, nevertheless, on their departure, be subject to all such searches
and regulations as we shall deem proper tor the aforesaid purposes: ~~ , 7
And this measure shall take effect until the same shall be removed,

‘And We do further command that this shall be published, affixed, andinserted in the Government
Pap-r and Gazette.

Done at Paramaribo, in the Colony of Surinam, this 10th January: 1824, in the eleventh year
of His Majesty's réign: (Signed) . A. DE VEER.

By command of His Excellency, in the absence of the Government
Secretary. (Signed) J. G. RINGELING,

ist Comnis,
Faithfully translated from the Dutch Language, by

, {Signed} CHS, LIONARONS, Sworn Translator,
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Third Inclosure in No. 96.

Proclamation (C.) of the Governor of Surinam.

PUBLICATION,

(Translation.) Paramaribo, January 23, 1824,

We, Abraham de Veer, &c. &c, &c.
TO all men unto whom this shall come, greeting. Whereas; the causes which have given oc-

easion to the laying on of an embargo on the Ships, by our Publication of the 10th of this Month,
now, for the most part, have ceased to exist, inasmuch as the fugitive Person of Jean Marie Bled,
and one of the missing sailors of the Slave-trading French Brig La Légére, together with the number
of 269 African Negroes, clandestinely carried off from the same Vessel, have been since appre-
hended by this Government, and the African Negroes freed from the Slavery into which the drivers
of that prohibited and detestable trade carried them away.
And whereas, we trust that. the Caution issued on the 10th of this Month, by the Court of Policy

and Criminal Justice, willhave its due influence onall the inhabitants of this extended Colony, and,
that nobody will harbour, conceal, secrete, or clandestinely and criminally carry away from this
Colony the Persons and Negnoes of the aforesaid French Brig, still missing, that the same may
get into the hands of Government.
And in order to ease and promote navigation and trade, we have resolved to remove the

interruption which was occasioned by the embargo, and by these presents do free all Vessels and
Ships from the same

All Captains and Commanders are yet earnestly prohibited, on pain of being liable to a severe
prosecution and punishment, not secretly and criminally to carry away any of the Persons or Alri-
can Negroes still missing, in order that they may not escape our pursuit.
We do further command that this shall be published, affixed, and. inserted in the Government

Paper and Gazette, ,

Done at Paramaribo, in the Colony of Surinam, this 23d day of January 1824, in the eleventh
year of His Majesty's reign,

Published and affixed the 24th following. (Signed) A. DE VEER,

By command of His Excellency. (Signed) J. C. GUICHERIT,
Government Secretary,

Faithfully translated from the Dutch Language, by
(Signed) CHS, LIONARONS, Sworn Translator.
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J. H. Lance, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Received May 1.)

(Extract.) Surinam, February 26, 1824.

_ I HAVE the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your Despatches to the
6th of November 1823, which arrived on the 22d of this Month.

I forwarded an Extract from your Despatch of the 6th of November, to the
British Commissioners at Sierra Leone, upon the subject of a Marshal of the
Mixed Court, to the Dutch Commissary Judge, and I have since had a con-
versation with him on that subject,inwhich he expressed his perfect readiness
to concur, provisionally, with the British Commissioners upon the points
mentioned in your Despatch, in any case on which occasion niay arise for
their application. I have the honour to be, &c.

The Right Hon. George Canning, (Signed)  J.H. LANCE.
Ke. &e. &e.
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Mr. Secretary Canning to J. H. Lance, Esq.

Sir, Foreign Office, May 9, 1824.

YOUR Despatches up to the 26th of February 1824, have been received
and laid before The King.
The King has been graciously pleased to signify His approbation of the

fidelity and discretion with which you appear to have exercised the duties of
your Situation: and, in acknowledging the receipt of your Despatch, of the
16th of that Month, His Majesty’s Government are glad to express the
gratification with which they have perused the Report which yougive,
of the highly honourable conduct of the Governor of Surinam, on the
occasion of the detention of the French Brig La Lévére.

Tam, &c.
J. H.Lance, Esq. (Signed) GEORGE CANNING,

‘nintanneetererentygen Sey sine

Printedby R. G, Clarke, at the Lonton Gazette Office, Westminster,

 


